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Key figures

The 2023/24 financial year was very challenging for all market participants, including the 
Otto Group, due to geopolitical changes, high interest rates and inflation, as well as persistent 
consumer restraint in important sales markets. The Otto Group’s revenue in the 2023/24 financial 
year was around EUR 15 billion, around 6 percent below the previous year on a comparable basis. 
E-commerce revenue was around EUR 11 billion. Significant progress was made in regard to oper-
ating profitability. The advancement of strategically relevant topics continued, despite challenging 
market circumstances. Targeted investments in the transformation of business models, e.g., in the 
e-commerce platform OTTO, and in logistics processes, including in the locations in Altenkunstadt 
and Iłowa, strengthen the future viability of the Otto Group.

Group 2023/24 2022/23

Revenue EUR billion 15.0 16.2

thereof e-commerce revenue EUR billion 10.8 12.0

EBITDA EUR million 744 589

EBIT EUR million 11 22

EBT EUR million – 350 – 224

Loss for the year EUR million – 426 – 413

Group equity EUR million 4,657 5,168

Net financial debt EUR million 2,676 2,813

Free cash flow EUR million 689 – 1,219

Employees number 38,456 41,186

thereof domestic number 22,503 24,282

thereof foreign number 15,953 16,904

Key performance indicators on financial position*

Cash EBITDA EUR million 1,364 1,177

Group equity ratio in % 33.8 36.8

Debt service ratio in years 2.0 2.4

Debt to equity ratio ratio 0.6 0.5

Sustainability indicators (selected goals from the CR strategy**) 2023 2022

Reduction of adjusted CO₂e emissions (compared to the base year of 2018) in % – 30 – 21

Proportion of “preferred fibers” in % 59 55

Proportion of FSC®-certified furniture products in % 83 83

Proportion of sustainable catalog paper in % 94 90

Proportion of sustainable packaging in % 94 78

*	 For a definition of these financial indicators, please refer to the Group management report.
** 	 �The CR strategy covers all Group companies that make a sizable contribution to the Otto Group’s external revenues in two consecutive  

financial years. For a detailed description of the CR strategy, please refer to the Sustainability part.
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The world is in turmoil. The conflict in the Middle East has 
flared up again, while the war in Ukraine continues to rage 
and the values embraced by Western democracies appear 
under threat. Even the economy is navigating stormy seas. 
So now more than ever, the Otto Group must ensure that its 
sails are trimmed the right way. It helps that we are used  
to weather any storm. We seize opportunities, even those 
that emerge in crises and make ourselves fit for the future. 
We have sharpened our focus, optimized cost structures, and 
streamlined processes. Our shared goal of prioritizing our 
customers’ wishes more than anything else is what drives 
us forward. Our motivation is to harness innovative techno-
logies that make the shopping experience even more inspi-
rational and personal, and our everlasting ambition going 
forward remains to embody our values and responsibility for 
people and nature. 
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Foreword Alexander Birken

cost structures in regard to income and liquidity, 
review the future viability of our business models 
and optimize synergies between the business 
units. Our focus nonetheless is on the performance 
we deliver to customers. We will only achieve 
long-term success if they appreciate and endorse 
the services of our company amid highly price- 
sensitive competition.

Included in this is the tireless quest for process- 
and customer-relevant innovations. Generative 
artificial intelligence will play a major role  
in this context. The manner in which we have 
embraced the opportunities of a new era 
shaped by GenAI is virtually unparalleled in the 
corporate world. Now it’s about integrating 
our value-added processes and business appli-
cations – from marketing to logistics.

In all of this, products and services should remain 
imbued with the values we embody as a family- 
driven corporate group. Our quality standards, 
after all, extend to inner values as well. Since the 
1980s, we have defined sustainability as a further 
corporate goal. We are now setting out an ambi-
tious strategy, including a science-based target, 
to achieve our ambitious social and environ-
mental goals. 

Our customers can trust us, and so can you as 
our partners and friends.

Yours,

Dear partners and friends of the Otto Group,  
ladies and gentlemen,

The Otto Group has coped well with a very 
extraordinary financial year. We have success-
fully continued the course set by corporate 
management based on earnings and liquidity, 
divested ourselves of unprofitable business 
activities and lost comparatively little revenue  
in the process. 

I would therefore like to extend my deep grati-
tude to all fellow members of the Executive 
Board and the almost 40,000 employees within 
the Group. And this also extends to the share-
holders Prof. Dr. Michael Otto and Benjamin Otto 
for their unwaveringly constructive-critical 
support.

We do not expect any real tailwind from the 
markets in the financial year ahead. Geopolitical 
upheavals and their macroeconomic conse-
quences will continue to dampen the consumer 
mood on the markets that are relevant to us  
in Europe and the USA. So it is all the more impor-
tant that we trim the Group’s sails the right way. 
And we have.

We continue to steer the holding company and 
the Group companies on the basis of improved 

“�We have trimmed our 
sails the right way – for 
performance, innovation 
and responsibility.”

Alexander Birken
Chairman of the Executive Board and 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
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The Executive Board

Petra Scharner-Wolff
Chief Financial Officer (CFO),  
Member of the Executive Board 
Finance, Controlling, Human Resources

Sebastian Klauke
Member of the Executive Board 
E-Commerce, Technology, Business 
Intelligence and Corporate Ventures

Dr. Marcus Ackermann
Member of the Executive Board 

Multichannel Distance Selling

Sergio Bucher
Member of the Executive Board
Brands and Retail

Kay Schiebur
Member of the Executive Board  

Services
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As announced already, I am handing responsibility 
for the Group to the third generation so that I 
can devote more time to my various foundation 
activities. 

With effect from 1 March 2026, my son Benjamin 
Otto will take over as head of the Board of  
Trustees and Shareholders and assume strategic 
control of the Group. Together with long-
standing CEO Alexander Birken, who will take 
over as Chairman of the Supervisory Board  
on 1 March 2025, this will ensure that the Group 
has strong entrepreneurial and value-oriented 
leadership. 

With Petra Scharner-Wolff, the Executive Board 
will soon be headed by an outstanding leader who 
has left an indelible her mark on the Group of 
companies over her many years of service to the 
Otto Group. She will give the Group some fresh 
impetus together with the Executive Board and 
the excellent Katy Roewer as her successor in the 
finance and HR department. 

I am extremely confident that my son Benjamin –  
with Alexander Birken at his side and a strong 
Executive Board – will guide the Otto Group  
into a positive economic future and but also 
keep the particular values of our family business 
alive as well.

Yours,

Dear ladies and gentlemen, 
dear friends,

The challenges facing the Group remain stiff. 
Our past financial year proved that the Executive 
Board, managers and employees are adept  
at adapting quickly and flexibly to new market 
circumstances, without losing sight of the 
Group’s basic orientation and value-oriented 
economic activity. This fills me with gratitude.

We have charted the right course to ensure 
success in the years ahead. Performance, inno-
vation and responsibility are the driving forces. 
What matters most from my perspective is to 
continuously improve the delivery of our services 
to customers. They must be at the heart of 
everything we do.

In recent months, the shareholders and Super
visory Board have also focused their attention on 
how the Group will be managed in the medium 
and long term to ensure its viability going forward. 
Let us not forget, successful generational transi-
tions are one of the biggest challenges for family 
businesses.

“�We have charted the right 
course to ensure success 
in the years ahead.”

Foreword Prof. Dr. Michael Otto
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Prof. Dr. Michael Otto
H A M B U R G

Chairman, Entrepreneur

Alexander Otto
H A M B U R G

Chairman of the Executive Board  
ECE Group GmbH & Co. KG

Benjamin Otto
H A M B U R G

Chairman of the Foundation’s Board 
Holistic Foundation

Birgit Rössig* 
H I T T B E R G E N 

Deputy Chairwoman of the  
Works Council Otto (GmbH & Co. KG)
Chairwoman of the Works Council Otto Group

Frederic Arndts
H A M B U R G

Member of the Board  
OTTO Aktiengesellschaft für Beteiligungen

Marius Marschall von Bieberstein 
(until 29 February 2024) 
B E R L I N

Managing Partner  
evoreal Holding GmbH & Co. KG

Jürgen Bühler* (until 23 May 2023)
H A N A U

Chairman of the Works Council sheego AG

Petra Finnern* (as of 23 May 2023)
H A M B U R G

Full-time member of the Works Council  
EOS Region Germany

Torsten Furgol*
M A G D E B U R G

Division Manager ver.di Trade Union  
Saxony, Saxony-Anhalt, Thuringia 

Rolf Gnatzy* (as of 23 May 2023)
A L T E N K U N S T A D T

Deputy Chairman of the Works Council BAUR Group

Oliver Grund* (as of 23 May 2023)
H Ü C K E L H O V E N

Chairman of the General Works Council  
Hermes Group Germany

Dr. Rainer Hillebrand
H A M B U R G

Independent management and strategy consultant

Dr. Nicolai Johannsen* (as of 23 May 2023)
H A M B U R G

Vice President Consumer Interactions  
Otto (GmbH & Co. KG)

Heike Lattekamp*
H A M B U R G

Deputy Regional Manager  
ver.di Trade Union Commerce Hamburg

Thomas Mort*
L U H E - W I L D E N A U

Deputy Chairman of the Works Council Witt Group

Heinrich Reisen* (until 23 May 2023)
G R E V E N B R O I C H

Chairman of the General Works Council  
Hermes Group Germany

Sarah Reitemeyer (as of 1 March 2024)
H A M B U R G

Member of the Executive Board  
BPO Capital GmbH & Co. KG

Lars-Uwe Rieck*
G R I N A U

Regional Specialist ver.di Trade Union Post and 
Logistic Hamburg/North

Benjamin Schaper
H A M B U R G

Managing Director GFH Gesellschaft für  
Handelsbeteiligungen m.b.H.

Hans-Otto Schrader
H A M B U R G

Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
OTTO Aktiengesellschaft für Beteiligungen

Dr. Winfried Steeger
H A M B U R G

Attorney

Monika Vietheer-Grupe* (until 23 May 2023)
B A R S B Ü T T E L

Chairwoman of the Works Council  
bonprix Handelsgesellschaft mbH

Sandra Widmaier-Gebauer* 
(until 23 May 2023)
H A M B U R G

Executive Employee  
Group Vice President Human Resources

Prof. Dr. Peer Witten
H A M B U R G

Member of the Supervisory Board 
OTTO Aktiengesellschaft für Beteiligungen

Inka Wolff*
H A L D E N S L E B E N

Works Council Member
Hermes Fulfilment GmbH

The Supervisory Board
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Our strategy

Navigation

“�Setting clear priorities and  
maintaining focus enables us  
to drive innovation in the  
technology sector. In doing so,  
we remain flexible, to actively 
shape our business in a complex 
world.”
Johanna Hinz, 
Division Manager Tech Strategy Otto Group
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→ �Group management 
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Being better with AI

Innovation

The Otto Group has invested in the potential of artificial intelligence for 
a long time – and is making great strides forward. We had already deployed AI many 

years before the hype emerged 
around generative AI. Its uses in
cluded improving the predictability 
of order volumes – which signifi-
cantly reduced the amount of sur-
plus goods. AI was also incorporated 
into a nascent chatbot assistant 
that provided competent responses 
to complex inquiries. 

Artificial intelligence (AI) is sweeping 
through the industrial and retail 
sectors like a hurricane. The Otto  
Group believes that its disruptive 
potential possesses a similar magni-
tude to what was experienced with 

electrification. This development 
has not taken us by surprise. Quite 
the contrary: We see ourselves 
as pioneers of this technology and 
are driving it forward decisively. 
But only on our terms.

Remaining navigable in stormy seas – our solid financial basis equips us for this challenge.  
In order to emerge even stronger from these critical times, we continue to invest,  
especially in strategically relevant areas and despite the demanding environment.  
Examples include the state-of-the-art logistics hubs in Altenkunstadt, Germany,  
and in Iłowa, Poland. Or innovative technologies that build on artificial intelligence. We  
are anticipating dramatic changes in this area – along with tremendous opportunities 
that we intend to embrace proactively. 

Otto Group 
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But that was only the start. Our 
approach to AI from an early stage 
was always intended to be large 
scale. In which areas of our core 
business would it unleash the great-
est disruptive potential? We knew: 
Logistics would certainly be one of 
them. So last year we entered into  
a strategic partnership with the 
Californian robotics company 
Covariant. The purpose of this 
collaboration was for machines to 
observe, learn and align their actions 
with the knowledge they have 
acquired in order to perform com-
plex tasks such as gripping a steady 
stream of different objects both 
spontaneously and autonomously. 
The Otto Group concluded another 
strategic agreement with Boston 
Dynamics, probably the most well-
known robotics companies. “Stretch”, 
the unloading robot, and the four- 
legged “Spot” will make warehouse 
activities more attractive and safer 
and ensure improved efficiency  
and speed – also because the fleet 
of logistics robots are able to learn 
communally irrespective of their 
location. 
The constant stream of new appli-
cations is merely indicative of the 
dizzying pace at which AI is evolv-
ing. This process is equally evident 
at the Otto Group. An important 
element of this development is that 
individual Group companies occa-
sionally make progress in the devel-
opment of applications – but then 
make the results transparently 
available for the entire Group to 
learn. Baur, for instance, harnessed 
generative AI to build a “search 
buddy” that responds to customer 
queries and provides tailored prod-
uct recommendations based on  
tailored style preferences. The Witt 
Group deploys AI and gamification 
to improve the shipping experience. 
The Group company OTTO joined 
with Google to test an AI-controlled 
shopping assistant and already runs 
over 65 AI applications in continu-
ous operation – ten in the area of 
generative AI. Whether it is in fraud 
prevention or marketing – AI has 
already optimized processes 

throughout the Otto Group and in 
doing so has cut costs. One of the 
enterprise-wide Otto Group projects 
involves the use of ogGPT – a chat-
bot that is tailored to the needs  
of the Group, which was developed 
by colleagues on the basis of the 
leading chat GPT technology from 
OpenAI and Microsoft’s Azure 
OpenAI service, which is hosted in 
the EU. And this is the crucial differ-
ence: ogGPT is therefore a 

proprietary and secure variant – 
one that, above all, complies with 
data protection requirements – in 
which business documents from 
within the Otto Group can also be 
used. It is ensured that information 
cannot be leaked outside the 
company. This allows employees 
to exploit the application’s full 
potential in their professional lives 
and even experiment with new 
use cases.

Sebastian Klauke, 
Member of the Executive Board, E-Commerce,  
Technology, Business Intelligence and Corporate Ventures

“Artificial intelligence has gigantic 
potential. No other technology will 
unleash the same disruptive force 
in the years ahead.”

Five AI highlights for 2024

ogGPT
AI language model for  
26,000 employees that complies  
with privacy requirements

Intelligent 
logistics robots
Strategic agreements with  
Covariant and Boston DynamicsNatural language 

processing
Proposals for optimized search 
interactions on otto.de

AI-optimized 
route planning
More efficient transport routes with 
lower emissions for HermesSearch buddy

Smart, personalized inspiration  
in the Baur online shop

Otto Group 
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Performance

over one billion euros in the past 
financial year – recording year- 
on-year sales growth despite the 
challenging market environment. 
The key to building a vertically  
integrated fashion company lies  

With a clear focus on our target 
group, decades of experience in 
developing product portfolios and 
an internationally positioned multi- 
brand concept, the Witt Group  
once again generated revenues of 

in a sophisticated blend of proven 
principles and prudent decisions for 
necessary modernization. This is why 
the company continues to publish  
its catalog and even managed to 
significantly increase the Witt brand’s 
brick-and-mortar business with a 
new store concept. At the same 
time, the Witt Group’s online share 
has now grown to around 38 per-
cent; the established Heine brand –  
part of the Witt Group since 2019 –  
already accounts for around 66 per-
cent. The Witt Group takes a cost- 
sensitive approach – accompanied 
by cutting-edge technology: Stand-
ardized layout templates, reduced 
formats and digital image generation 
are used across the Group to lever-
age synergies in catalog production. 
AI is used to optimize the newsletter 
and to improve the efficiency of 
returns forecasting. Expansion of the 
Witt shopping app to accommo-
date the needs of the target group 
stands as a prime example of  
modern customer centricity. Witt 
learned from its print activities  
that customers appreciate playful-
ness – prompting the addition of 
attractive gamification elements to 
the app. But will it work? Certainly 
there has been a 66 percent 
increase in the number of app users 
during the first half of the financial 
year compared to the same period 
in the previous year.

We cannot change the direction of the wind. But we can trim the sails the right way. 
What this means for the Otto Group: We are steering our company with a rigorous  
focus on results and liquidity and not on revenue. The significant improvement in  
our operating profitability for the 2023/24 financial year merely confirms the success 
of our strategy and focused decisions. The strength of the Otto Group is equally 
evident in the fact that we have grown our market share in many business models, 
despite the current crisis.

Maintain the course,  
remain open
The Witt Group shows how success can come from the right combination 
of expertise and an eagerness to experiment, even in challenging times.

Otto Group 
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Adapting the digital business to the rapidly changing customer needs: 
You can do that at Scayle. The About You Group subsidiary opens its 
platform solutions to external companies as well.

Our clear intention to secure results makes it easier for the entire Otto Group to respond to 
market circumstances. We have optimized cost structures across the Group and slimmed 
down our processes – a strategy we are determined to maintain. We have also consciously 
discontinued some business models or placed them in a fresh set of hands in order to emerge 
from the crisis with improved performance and a brighter future:

Tarek Müller, 
Co-Founder and Co-CEO About You Group

“The success of Scayle and 
the continuing high market 
demand for a state-of-the-art 
shop system bode well for  
the years ahead.”

Scaling success with  
new platform solutions

Focusing on the results

Mytoys
Business operations at  
Mytoys.de GmbH were 

discontinued. The brand  
has been given a new stage 

on otto.de, while the  
chain of outlets was trans-

ferred to Toysino.

DBR
The Brazilian e-commerce 

provider failed  
to live up to its growth  

potential and was  
then sold to Loghaus BR.

Unigro
The online shopping  
brand discontinued  

operations due to a lack of 
viable perspectives.

Agediss
Promising sale:  

The 2-man handling  
specialist from France,  

Girard Agediss,  
was taken over by 

Jacky Perrenot.

Ramping up business when things 
are working. Responding directly to 
the dynamic needs of customers. 
Stepping up the pace of market 
activities with the numerous inte-
grated functions of a modern and 
cloud-based shop system. What has 
for years been part of About You’s 
recipe for success can also be trans-
ferred the needs of numerous other 
companies. Ever since Scayle –  
the competent business unit within 
the About You Group – has oper-
ated as an independent company, 
its business performance has 
remained extremely positive despite 
the fraught market situation in 
e-commerce. Even prior to the spin-
off, numerous complex migration 
projects went live on the technical 
platform provided by Scayle, includ-
ing ones for S.Oliver, Fielmann and 
Deichmann. The team also man-
aged to acquire new customers, 
such as the Walz mail order company, 

Europe’s largest online shop for 
baby and toddler products Baby-
markt.de and soccer clubs such as 
FC Bayern Munich and Manchester 
United. This has created win-win 

scenarios: Brands and retailers  
benefit from a proven shop system 
that uses tech-assisted discount 
systems to boost profitability and 
deploys customized front ends, 
omnichannel experiences, inte-
grated third-party services, and 
modern CRM measures to help 
attract customers and inspire their 
loyalty. At the same time, Scayle 
GmbH acquires more experience 
with each partner company –  
along with additional material for 
its success story.

Otto Group 
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Prof. Dr. Tobias Wollermann,  
Group Vice President Corporate Responsibility

“With our climate targets,  
we are making an important  
and measurable contribution  
to limiting global warming.”

Otto Group. Faced with the worsen-
ing climate crisis, we entered into 
a commitment in 2022 to develop 
new, holistic and science- 
based climate targets for the 
Otto Group that are in line with the 
1.5 degree target of the Paris  
Climate Agreement – and which 
were officially validated by the  
Science Based Targets Initiative 
(SBTi) at the end of February 2024 
( → see the Climate chapter ).  
By 2031/32, our aim is to cut abso-
lute greenhouse gas emissions 

Here at the Otto Group, we have been 
working to reduce our environmen-
tal footprint for almost 40 years. 
Protecting the climate is among the 
decision dimensions that are firmly 
enshrined in our strategic goals.  
“We have achieved our climate tar-
gets so far by rigorously avoiding 
and reducing emissions and without 
offsetting. These measures to fight 
climate change were right, impor-
tant and successful”, emphasizes 
Prof. Dr. Tobias Wollermann, Vice 
President Corporate Responsibility 

across the entire Group by 42 per-
cent compared to the 2021/22 
financial year.* The science-based 
target (SBT) enables us to appraise 
greenhouse gas emissions through-
out our value chain – from the  
cultivation of raw materials and 
production to the use and disposal 
of goods. Integrating the market-
place business as part of the target 
is a particular feature within the 
competitive environment. By doing 
so, we are exceeding the minimum 
requirements for successful valida-
tion and customary practice among 
competitors. Overall, the SBT means  
yet another significant expansion 
and notable intensification of  
our climate protection activities. 
In addition to our SBT, we intend 
to achieve net zero emissions by 
2045 – which means reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions along our 
entire value chain by at least 
90 percent and offsetting only the 
remaining 10 percent by engaging 
in measures to remove CO2 from 
the atmosphere. Our long-term cli-
mate target and the validated SBT 
demonstrate yet again the signifi-
cant importance of climate protec-
tion within the Otto Group, even  
in economically challenging times.

Responsibility
Headwinds show how firmly you stand. Our shareholder vision is concise: “Responsible 
commerce that inspires”. Even in challenging times, we as a Group of companies are 
committed to taking responsibility – for the world we live in, for society, but also for the 
digital transformation. We take a public stand, for freedom and democracy. And we 
are even more binding in regard to climate targets, as evidenced by the introduction  
of a science-based target.

Ambitious climate targets –  
evidence-based
The Otto Group has reached a major milestone with the validation of 
its new climate targets by the Science Based Targets Initiative. Not only 
are the targets evidence-based and in line with the 1.5 degree target  
of the Paris Climate Agreement, they also meet the highest standards.

*	 �The official wording of the target is accessible 
on the SBTi website. 
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Germany, says, especially on the 
last mile. In Hamburg, this involved 
establishing a separate infrastruc-
ture with sufficient numbers of 
charging stations, including an 
e-mobility hub with 96 charging 
points. Doing so laid the founda-
tions for the deployment of over 
240 fully electric vehicles. Going for-
ward, they will travel as far as  
the outskirts of the Hanseatic city, 
delivering up to twelve million con-
signments per year without gener-
ating any local emissions on the last 
mile. But that’s far from everything: 
The parcel services provider will 
deliver consignments without any 
local emissions in 80 German city 
centers by 2025.

The logistics provider is not known 
for empty promises. Hermes Ger-
many is making good on its promise 
to implement its “local zero emis-
sion” program for the delivery of all 
parcels and packages in Germany’s 
second-largest city, just in time for 
the end of the year. Effective imme-
diately, Hermes Germany will move 
every shipment in its home city of 
Hamburg – whether to a private 
doorstep or one of the 337 parcel 
stores – without any local emis-
sions. There has been slow progress 
in the reduction of greenhouse 
gases in the transport sector –  
even in Germany – and decarboni-
zation is “a Herculean task”, as 
Marco Schlüter, COO Hermes 

Hermes Germany has organized zero-emission local deliveries 
throughout Hamburg and its outlying districts since the turn of the year.

We firmly believe that value-ori-
ented business is a vital component 
of a secure and liberal society. 
Equally: Ethical trade can only exist 
in a peaceful and free society. 
That’s why we will always take a 
stand whenever these things are  
at risk. Examples of our commit-
ment last year:

Flying the flag 
for freedom and 
democracy

Sustainably electric: Green delivery  
on the last mile

#Niewiederistjetzt 
(Never again is now) 

We endorse the initiative 
against antisemitism.

#Wirsindmehr  
(We are more) 

Numerous colleagues 
gather for the demon-
strations in Hamburg to 
protest against extremism. 
Employees at other 
German locations also take 
part in local rallies against 
extremism and racism.

#Zusammenland 
(Togetherland) 

We support the campaign 
for openness and diver-
sity and the fight against 
populism and right-wing 
hate.

Find more stories on 
the topics of innovation, 
performance and 
responsibility at

ottogroup.com/bpk2024
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**  Investment companies* Unito Group until 29 February 2024

Baur Logistics

Evri**

Hermes Einrichtungs Service

Hermes Fulfilment

Hermes Germany**

Otto International

Eos Group

Hanseatic Bank**

Bonprix

Crate and Barrel

Heine

Küche & Co

Sheego

Witt

Baur Retail

Frankonia

Freemans Grattan

Limango

Manufactum

Otto Austria Group*

Platforms

Services

RetailersBrand Concepts

Financial Services

About You

OTTO

Headline** Project A** Betterdoc Medgate

 Corporate  
overview
Selected companies and brands

The Otto Group as a globally active retail and services group is  
represented by 30 major company groups primarily in the three  
economic areas of Germany, the rest of Europe, and the USA.
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The climate crisis and  
circularity acquire greater 

relevance

Even ethical consumption is trans-
formed radically by the turbulence 
around the world. Germans have 
become significantly more price-sen-
sitive, although the majority is drawn 
to sustainability when deciding on 
which product to buy. According to 
the sixth trend study commissioned 
by the Otto  Group, “Ethical Con-
sumption in Transition”, the major-
ity of respondents consider ethical 
consumer behavior to be an inte-
gral part of their purchasing consid-
erations. People now are more about 
the long-term goal of combating cli-
mate change, and they are calling on 
brands and companies to become the 
driving force behind the transforma-
tion towards climate neutrality. 

Emergency consultations 
via the Onedoc app

A new partnership means that  
Onedoc users in Switzerland can now 
contact the Medgate medical team 
in the event of an emergency in order 
to discuss their situation. This gives 
patients quick and simple access 
to telemedical assistance via their 
Onedoc app. 

The 2023/24 financial year was again shaped by multiple geopolitical crises, 
ongoing macroeconomic challenges and the ensuing, significant public  
uncertainty. Insolvencies and inflation shaped the economic climate and led  
to a continuation of the extremely cautious behavior among consumers.

We used the crisis to make ourselves fit for the future, make the most of every  
tailwind and exploit opportunities. Our focus in the 2023/24 financial year 
remained on our responsibility towards society, our partners and, of course,  
our employees. 

A brief review of a demanding year.
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Mytoys.de GmbH  
ceases business 

operations

The Executive Board and shareholder 
bodies of the Otto  Group decide 
that Mytoys will discontinue business 
operations at the end of the 2023/24 
financial year. The monothematic 
multichannel concept is no longer 
sustainable in the highly competitive 
toy market with its small margins. 
The decision also involves closing the 
Mytoys headquarters in Berlin by Feb-
ruary 2024. In the future, the myToys 
brand will be offered exclusively on 
the platform tun by the Group com-
pany OTTO. The company’s 19 over-
the-counter-retail shops will be taken 
over by Toysino GmbH in October. 

New style  
for Bonprix

Bonprix adopts a new brand look: A 
one-line logo in black – more modern, 
digitally compatible and an expres-
sion of its positioning as a smart fash-
ion brand – together with the new 
claim “Fashion made smarter”, sums 
up the Bonprix value proposition.

OTTO cuts its sea  
freight emissions

OTTO is determined to ensure that its 
goals and climate protection activ-
ities are in line with the 1.5 degree 

target enshrined in the Paris Climate 
Agreement. This also includes reduc-
ing its CO2 emissions on transport 
routes by 15 percent in the 2023/24 
financial year. The online retailer is 
now cooperating with Goodshipping, 
a pioneering company and market 
leader in the field of reducing trans-
port emissions. 

Young Europeans  
prefer cash

The latest Eos Consumer Study 
indicates that young adults aged 
between 18 and 34 have a strong 
interest in finance. What catches the 
eye is that almost half of all respond-
ents – 45 percent in Germany – have 
resorted more frequently to cash in 
the previous six months. This may be 
motivated by the desire to keep track 
of personal spending and steer away 
from debt. 

April

Collection  
with  

circular fashion

The first Circular Collection from  
Bonprix centers on summery, recy-
clable styles for women, men and 

children. The design is geared towards 
reuse and durability and is based  
on the Circular Design Criteria issued 
by the Berlin company Circular  
Fashion. Aside from the use of more 
sustainable materials, the develop-
ment process also focuses on the  
end of a product’s life cycle and recy-
cling. A second Circular Collection 
with fall styles will follow in Septem-
ber 2023.

The Michael Otto  
principle

Birthday of an entrepreneurial leg-
end. Prof. Dr. Michael Otto publishes 
‘Das Michael Otto Prinzip’ to mark his 
80th birthday. The Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board of the Otto Group 
pens eight essays that set out the 
principles of his entrepreneurial 
activities and social commitment. 
Readers are given profound insight 
into the global companies, founda-
tions and projects run by the multi-
faceted entrepreneur, philanthropist 
and honorary citizen of Hamburg, 
Germany. To mark his round birth-
day, the jubilarian remains true to his 
principles and donates a million euros 
to the NDR charitable organization 
“Hand in Hand für Norddeutschland”. 
The declared goal is to help people in 
need in northern Germany who have 
been forced to flee due to the Ukraine 
war or are particularly affected by its 
consequences.

May

Strategic partnership  
with Covariant

The Otto  Group is entering into  
a long-term strategic partnership 
with Covariant, the world leader  
in artificial intelligence (AI) in robot-
ics from the USA, as a foundation  
for future growth. Covariant’s AI-
powered robots will automate a 
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variety of manual fulfillment tasks that 
require hand-eye coordination. They 
help the Otto Group to improve ser-
vice delivery to customers and to take 
another important step towards a dig-
italized and AI-driven future. The part-
nership aims to create new job profiles 
and attractive workplaces, increase 
overall performance in fulfillment and 
ensure more reliable delivery times. 

New foundation 
established

With the Michael Otto Foundation for 
Sustainability, Prof. Dr. Michael Otto, 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of 
the Otto Group, is adding a new char-
itable organization to his longstand-
ing social commitment. It will focus on 
the preservation of biodiversity and 
on promoting democracy and human 
rights around the world. 

Manufactum  
goes live  

in Belgium

Manufactum has launched its online 
shop in Belgium, manufactum.be,  
as part of its internationalization 
strategy. Given the official lan-
guages in Belgium, the local Manufac-
tum shop will be available in Flemish  
and French. This is the third interna-
tional shop following the Netherlands 
and Luxembourg. 

June

Quelle Austria  
becomes Universal

Quelle Austria is merging with the 
online mail order company Universal 
to adopt an even more strategic posi-
tion on the market. This step brings 
together two Austrian online shops 
within the Otto Austria  Group (for-
merly Unito Group). The merger does 
not affect Quelle Germany, which will 
continue to operate independently in 
the German market.

Public affairs  
office opens  

in Berlin

Around 80 invited politicians, VIPs and 
association functionaries attend the 
opening of the Otto Group’s new pub-
lic affairs office in Berlin, Germany. The 
new office will enable the Otto Group 
to play an even stronger role in the 
political opinion-forming process and 
to respond more quickly to develop-
ments affecting its business. More-
over, the office is intended to act as 
a gathering place for various deci-
sion-makers in Berlin and Brussels to 
exchange their views. 

Second hand 
cooperation  
with Momox

Momox, a leading re-commerce com-
pany, is the new partner to About You 
and is therefore expanding the port-
folio of thrifted fashion in the “Second 
Love” category on aboutyou.‌de. Over-
all, About You will quadruple its sec-
ond hand selection in the months 
ahead and offer its customers a 
steadily expanding range of alterna-
tives to new items. 

Sustainability award  
for Eos

The Eos Group receives the German 
Award for Sustainability Projects in 
recognition of the Finlit Foundation 
non-profit organization. In the Char-
itable Initiative category, the jury 
honored Eos’ efforts to teach finan-
cial literacy as a means of preventing 
excessive debt.
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Sheego wins  
the German  

Brand Award 2023

Sheego pockets the top prize in 
two categories of the German 
Brand Awards 2023 for its exclusive 
“Passt-mir-Garantie” service for guar-
anteed fits: Winner in the Brand Inno-
vation of the Year category and Gold 
for Excellence in Brand Strategy and 
Creation – Brand Strategy – B2C. 

Fulfilling the new  
reporting requirements  

in the supply chain

The Group company OTTO, the Witt 
Group and Hermes Fulfilment submit 
their reports to the Federal Office of 
Economics and Export Control (BAFA) 
in accordance with the German Sup-
ply Chain Due Diligence Act (LkSG), 
with simultaneous publication on their 
websites. They are therefore among 
the first companies in Germany to ful-
fill the reporting obligations. 

Unigro discontinues its 
business activities

After consultation with the Advisory 
Board, the management of Saint 
Brice, an Otto Group company from 
Belgium, has decided to cease all busi-
ness activities, along with the Unigro 
online shopping brand in Belgium 
and Luxembourg. This strategic deci-
sion was reached in response to the 
fraught financial circumstances with 
which Saint Brice has struggled for 
several years. Despite intense auditing, 
none of the options for restructuring 
the business were ultimately deemed 
financially and economically viable.

July

New distribution center  
in Italy

Hermes Fulfilment is expanding its 
international network of locations 
and taking over a Bonprix distribu-
tion center in Valdengo, northern Italy, 
approximately a hundred kilometers 
west of Milan. The site is specialized 
in the logistic fulfillment of small-vol-
ume traffic. Over the coming months, 
Bonprix goods destined for Southern 
Europe will gradually move to Halden-
sleben in Saxony-Anhalt and will be 
handled from there.

OTTO tests  
AI assistant

OTTO becomes Germany’s first online 
shop to test an AI assistant – in the 
desktop version and the app. The 
company is using generative artifi-
cial intelligence (GenAI) to continue 
improving product advice for custom-
ers. The AI assistant draws on product 
reviews and descriptions to answer 
even complex questions in just a few 
seconds. 

August

New bicycle  
logistics 

hub in Munich

Hermes Germany is participating in 
a newly opened bike logistics hub in 
Munich’s city center to continue its 
expansion of zero-emission delivery 
in the Bavarian capital. Starting now, 
the cargo bikes will be on the road for 
the parcel service provider in the Dre-
imühlen and Glockenbach districts 
and in Isarvorstadt, adding to the cur-
rent fleet of e-vehicles. 

OTTO invests in  
circular fashion

OTTO is presenting the next itera-
tion just eighteen months after the 
launch of its first Circular Collection. 
Customers can choose between 
pants, tops, dresses, blouses and much  
more at prices ranging from 19.99 to 
69.99 euros. What sets the collection 
apart: All styles come with a digital 
product passport and are therefore 
suitable for higher-quality recycling 
later on, as the ID contains more pre-
cise information about the compo-
nents. This ensures that they can be 
turned more easily into fibers for new 
garments.
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Scayle becomes 
independent 

The About You Group is spinning off 
the highly successful Scayle business 
unit into a separate subsidiary to pave 
the way for further growth. Now an 
autonomous enterprise, Scayle GmbH 
provides a modern, cloud-based shop 
system that enables brands and 
retailers to scale their digital business 
quickly and flexibly and to respond to 
more demanding customer needs. 

September

Cooperation with  
Boston Dynamics

The Otto  Group signs a strategic 
agreement with Boston Dynamics, the 
world’s leading mobile robotics com-
pany, to continue the automation of 
its logistics processes. Over the next 
two years, a fleet of Boston Dynamics 
“Spot” and “Stretch” robots will be 
deployed in the Otto Group logistics 
centers, starting with Hermes Fulfil-
ment. As with the partnership with 
Covariant, the aim of the collabora-
tion is to increase operational effi-
ciency and occupational safety and 
to add to the attractiveness of ware-
house work in response to the short-
age of skilled workers. 

Alliance for  
climate-friendly  
goods transport

Prompted by the Baden-Württemberg 
Ministry of Transport, Hermes Ger-
many and other well-known compa-
nies and business and industry associa-
tions have joined forces to establish the 
“Fleet conversion of commercial vehi-
cles” alliance for climate-friendly goods 
transport. The alliance calls for more cli-
mate protection in road freight trans-
portation. Baden-Württemberg is the 
main focus. The aim is to improve the 
climate impact of at least 50 percent of 
the light and medium-sized commer-
cial vehicles up to twelve tons used on 
the roads of the federal state by 2030. 

#CRX23 – sustainable 
business and  

digital data cleaning

The Otto Group organized the first 
digital Sustainability Week with the 
motto “Acting responsibly together”. 
Around 1,500 decision-makers from 
politics, business and civil society as 
well as Otto Group employees take 
part in the digital discussions and 
shared their views on topics such as 
social and ecological governance in 
supplier markets, sustainability in the 
capital market and the climate crisis. 
The Otto Group is also organizing its 
second enterprise-wide digital data 
cleaning as part of #CRX23. This time 
it even received support from the CDR 
initiative by the Federal Ministry for 
the Environment and Consumer Pro-
tection. This initiative brings together 
around 50 partner companies who 
are determined to clean up their data-
bases and raise awareness for the 
responsible use of digital resources. 

Recycled return bags

Hermes Germany is now cooperating 
with Wildplastic to offer its customers 
a simple and free returns solution. The 
shipping bag developed by the Ham-
burg company is made from plastic 
that is collected outdoors in countries 
that lack an adequate recycling sys-
tem. This process returns even “wild” 
plastic to the materials cycle. All of 
the more than 16,500 Hermes parcel 
stores across Germany will receive the 
bags so that customers can even pack 
their returns on site. 

Expansion into 
Luxembourg

About You is now offering its exclusive 
fashion and lifestyle range in French 
for the Luxembourg market and is 
therefore active in 28 European coun-
tries. This gives Luxembourg residents 
access to exclusive fashion collections 
that are only available at About You 
and nowhere else in the world. 
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Voluntary advance  
pay rise 

The Otto  Group has agreed to the 
voluntary advance pay increase of 
5.3 percent for companies operating 
in Germany that are bound by the col-
lective bargaining agreement for the 
retail sector and all eligible employ-
ees. In doing so, the Group is following 
a recommendation by the German 
Retail Association (HDE) in response 
to the logjammed wage negotiations 
with the Verdi trade union. 

Opening of the bicycle 
logistics hub in Dresden

Hermes Germany is further expand-
ing its green delivery services in the 
Saxon state capital by investing in 
a new micro-depot in Dresden’s city 
center. Starting immediately, four 
cargo bikes will be used to deliver up 
to 400 consignments a day with zero 
local emissions. They are therefore an 
important addition to the current fleet 
of e-vehicles. 

Otto Group launches the 
internal ogGPT chatbot 

At the end of September, the Otto   
Group launches its own proprietary 
chatbot based on OpenAI’s chat GPT 
technology and Microsoft’s Azure 

Open AI service: ogGPT, a solution 
that complies with all data protection 
requirements. Around 26,000 employ-
ees in the DACH region are invited to 
experiment with the various poten-
tial uses of generative AI in a secure 
environment and apply the new tech-
nologies to continue improving online 
retail and the customer experience. 

Hamburg Founder Award 
for Prof. Dr. Michael Otto

Prof. Dr. Michael Otto, Chairman of 
the Otto  Group Supervisory Board, 
receives the Hamburg Founder Award 
2023 in the Lifetime Achievement cat-
egory. The initiators – Haspa and the 
“Hamburger Abendblatt” – confer the 
award in recognition of various entre-
preneurial initiatives, courage and 
success in the metropolitan region. 

October

Lingerie collection  
raises awareness for early 
breast cancer detection

Bonprix has been collaborating with 
“Brustkrebs Deutschland e.V.” since 
2017 to make women aware of the 

importance of early screening for 
breast cancer. In fall 2023, its activ-
ities have focused on a specially 
developed, broad-based campaign 
with the slogan “Routine interven-
tion. Extraordinary impact”. It helps 
women to learn how to check their 
own breasts. This year’s campaign will 
again feature a limited edition of the 
lingerie collection entitled the “Pink 
Collection”.    

Collective  
cultural change:  

#CDX23

More than 300 participants – repre-
sentatives from over 200 corporations, 
SMEs, NGOs, educational institutions 
and the Otto  Group – will experi-
ence and discuss cultural change at 
the sixth Cultural Development Expe-
rience (#CDX23). A company’s abil-
ity to adapt flexibly to new market 
situations is becoming increasingly 
important in a challenging macroe-
conomic environment. This year’s vir-
tual #CDX23 will therefore prioritize 
focus and performance through cul-
tural change and shared learning in 
the cultural change collective. 

Silver at  
the German  

Logistics Awards

Hermes Germany is awarded silver 
by the German Logistics Association 
(BVL) for its “Green Delivery Hamburg” 
sustainability project. Zero-emission 
delivery is an important lever for the 
courier, express and parcel service 
(CEP) industry to reduce its carbon 
footprint and contribute to protect-
ing the climate and environment.

Never again  
is now

The Otto  Group supports the initi-
ative emanating from the center of 
the German business community to 
combat antisemitism and hatred of 
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Jews #Niewiederistjetzt. In doing so, 
the Group is joining with numerous 
other companies in Germany to take 
a public stand, condemn the attacks 
of 7 October and express sympathy 
for the civilian victims. Large adver-
tisements bearing the logos of com-
panies involved in the initiative are 
published in various daily and weekly 
media to draw public attention to the 
declaration.  

Careers in the Group

The Otto Group is launching an enter-
prise-wide initiative entitled “Your 
Next Move” to promote talent. Its 
aim is to greatly facilitate transfers 
between divisions and Group compa-
nies by offering support to local tal-
ent brokers – an important lever for 
retaining specialists within the Group 
in view of the current challenges on 
the labor market. 

November

Diversity dialog:  
Dive in – be part of it

Diversity, equity, inclusion and belong-
ing were the driving forces behind 
the first diversity dialog between 
250 experts, network initiators and 

managers from the Otto  Group as 
well as external participants from sci-
ence, business and politics. They came 
together to discuss the current chal-
lenges facing diversity in the working 
world, to work on potential solutions 
and define diversity as a manage-
ment task. 

OTTO: Record-breaking 
traffic on Black Friday

Black Friday is one of the high points 
of the year in terms of sales for online 
retailers. This year, a lot of the demand 
at OTTO was for games consoles. At 
peak times, the largest German online 
shop received more than forty orders 
per second. This 2023 Black Friday 
shattered all records for traffic at 
OTTO. 

Sustainability award  
for furniture

The Otto Group is honored as a pio-
neer of sustainable change in the 
“Furniture and Electrical Retail” cat-
egory at the German Sustainability 
Award ceremony. This award reflects 
the many years of work and the out-
standing commitment in the various 
areas of sustainability and confirms 
the Otto Group strategy of connect-
ing sustainable practices to corporate 
success.

Signing of a  
new International Accord

As a pioneer in the sector, the Otto  
Group was among the first compa-
nies worldwide to sign a new agree-
ment introducing improved working 
conditions and safety standards in 
the textile and clothing industry. The 
International Accord for Health and 
Safety in the Textile and Garment 
Industry (International Accord) repre-
sents a decisive step forward in regard 
to improving the conditions in the sup-
ply chains.

30th anniversary  
of the Michael Otto  

Environmental  
Foundation

The Michael Otto  Environmental 
Foundation was founded in 1993 with 
the guiding principle of preserving the 
environment and nature for future 
generations. It has been a source of 
inspiration ever since, driving inno-
vative projects, initiatives and dialog 
endorsing effective nature conserva-
tion, environmental protection and 
sustainable development and provid-
ing targeted support for their imple-
mentation. Building on the insight 
that protecting biodiversity and vital 
resources like water is the basis for 
keeping our ecosystems intact, the 
foundation has established a repu-
tation as a pioneer in environmental 
protection and nature conservation.  
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Crate and Barrel  
in New York

Crate and Barrel opens a new flag-
ship store in the former New York  
Palace of Trade. Together with the  
virtual store that was launched simul-
taneously, customers can look forward 
to a very special multichannel experi
ence. Situated in New York’s Flatiron  
District in Manhattan, Crate and  
Barrel now offers a home & living range 
and personalized services spread over 
two floors and more than 2,100 square 
meters. Included in the special services 
are in-house designers, who are on 
hand to provide inspiration and advice 
on furnishing projects.  

December

Eos: Top rank in the  
ESG rating

The Eos Group receives its first Envi-
ronmental Social Governance (ESG) 
rating from the renowned rating 
agency Morningstar Sustainalytics. 
The financial services provider and 
investor was given a risk rating of 10.2 
(low risk). According to Morningstar 
Sustainalytics, this result places Eos in 
the top two percent of all companies 
assessed in the “Consumer Finance” 
sector. 

Green delivery  
in Hamburg:  

Zero-emission delivery

Just in time for the end of the year, 
Hermes Germany is keeping its prom-
ise and is now making zero-emis-
sion deliveries throughout Hamburg, 
including the outskirts. Among the 
measures that Hermes implemented 
to achieve this goal was the establish-
ment of proprietary charging infra-
structure and reorganization of its 
entire last-mile structure. The Ham-
burg-Altona bike logistics hub has 
been in operation since February 
2023 as yet another cog in the wheel 
of the green delivery concept.

Awards for working 
capital financing

The Otto Group receives two major 
awards at the Working Capital Forum 
Europe in Amsterdam: the award  
for “Best use of Supply Chain Finance” 
and gold for “Best Working Capital 
Programme in 2023”. Both accolades 
recognize the Otto Group’s outstand-
ing supply chain financing program. 

January

OTTO replaces shipping 
bags with wild plastic

OTTO is now replacing all of its ship-
ping bags with packaging made from 
“wild” plastic collected outdoors as 
yet another milestone in its cooper-
ation with the Wildplastic company. 
From 2021 to the end of 2023, around 
308 tons of plastic were removed from 
the environment to produce shipping 
bags for OTTO, lowering CO2 emis-
sions by 740,053 kilograms. 

We are more 

Around 180,000 people gather at  
Jungfernstieg in Hamburg to demon-
strate against extremism, terror and 

20
24
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February

Baur pilots its search 
buddy

Generative AI for more inspiration in 
e-commerce: Baur is one of the first 
German-language online shops to 
trial a search tool with generative arti-
ficial intelligence based on Microsoft’s 
Azure OpenAI service. It will transform 
the search field into a source of inspi-
ration for customers, enabling per-
sonal interaction and generating 
product recommendations for individ-
ual inquiries. The test run is intended 
to yield insights into how added value 
from AI can be used and applied even 
more in online shopping. 

Witt Group acquires Wenz 
and Impressionen

Following the insolvency of the Klingel 
mail order company, the Witt Group 
acquires its well-known brands Wenz 
and Impressionen as well as the asso-
ciated domains. The mail order fash-
ion specialist from Weiden will use 
these additions to grow its portfolio. 
The Witt Group has extensive exper-
tise in the Living segment, due in par-
ticular to its Heine brand. 

Separation from 
Agediss

French transport company Jacky 
Perrenot signs an agreement to 
acquire 100 percent of the shares in 
Girard Agediss, one of the leading 
2-man handling specialists for fur-
niture, large-volume and sensitive 
goods in France. As previous owner, 
the Otto Group believes that in this 
constellation, the French logistics 
company can look forward to excel-
lent opportunities for a sustainable, 
economically successful future – also 
at European level. The closing is sched-
uled for April 2024.

Commitment to 
#Zusammenland

The Otto Group and its Group compa-
nies are committed to the campaign 
against populism and for greater 
diversity in Germany, as expressed 
by the claim “#Zusammenland – 
Vielfalt macht uns stark” (Together
land – Diversity makes us strong). The 
campaign was initiated by the media 
brands “Die Zeit”, “Handelsblatt”, 
“Süddeutsche Zeitung”, “Tages
spiegel”, “Wirtschaftswoche” and the 
outdoor advertising company Ströer.

antisemitism in Germany – flying the 
flag for #Wirsindmehr. The Otto Group 
makes it clear that it endorses the 
protests. Thronged by colleagues 
from the Otto  Group stand Prof. 
Dr. Michael Otto, Chairman of the 
Otto  Group Supervisory Board, and 
CEO Alexander Birken. 

Using AI to combat  
textile destruction

The Otto Group and its Group com-
pany Bonprix are partnering with 
the international Fashion for Good 
initiative and prestigious industry 
players such as Adidas and Inditex 
to launch the ambitious “Sorting for 
Circularity” project, which will run 
for 18 months The aim is to improve 
circularity and reduce textile waste. 
Among the key components of the 
project is the deployment of auto-
mated sorting technologies that har-
ness artificial intelligence to improve 
the sorting of reusable garments. 
Not only will this extend the lifespan 
of the textiles, it will also reduce the 
burden on waste management in the 
export countries. 

Otto Group 
Annual Report 2023/24 23





Sustainability

Navigation

“�Together with a motivated team and 
great personal confidence, I have 
worked to initiate the climate transfor-
mation of the Otto Group. It was and 
remains important to prioritize consist-
ently and to find robust, pragmatic  
solutions even in high complexity.”
Alexander Gege,  
Head of Climate & Ecology Otto Group

26	�� Our holistic view of sustainability

36	� Eco shift: New goals

44	�� Business shift: New economy

54	�� Mind shift: New awareness

→ Strategy → Sustainability
→ �Group management 

report
→ �Consolidated financial  

statements
→ Notes



Our ambition

The economy is there to benefit people – not the other 
way round. This mindset and the strong awareness it 
engenders for social responsibility are among the hall-
marks of the Otto Group. Prof. Dr. Michael Otto recognized 
at an early stage that the future would be built on sustain-
able practices, inspiring customers, employees, business 
partners and like-minded people from other companies 
with this vision. Climate protection and corporate social 
responsibility were incorporated within our business 
strategy as early as 1986, giving rise to numerous initia-
tives for people, nature and society over the decades. 

Sustainability and corporate responsibility have been 
intrinsic elements in the Otto  Group’s success for more 
than forty years. Our corporate responsibility (CR) 
strategy is firmly enshrined in our corporate strategy, the 
Otto Group Path, and the shareholder vision of “Respon-
sible commerce that inspires”. Our ambition is to reconcile 
sustainability and economic success along our entire value 
chain and to evaluate business decisions with regard to 
possible effects on the economy, environment and society. 
Ethical behavior and a comprehensive understanding of 
sustainability are not contradictory to our growth strategy, 
but are prerequisites for it. This sense of responsibility 
is reflected in everything we do, from our supply chain 
requirements to our strict commitment to doing business 
globally in accordance with human rights and our efforts 
to protect the environment and the climate. 

Sustainability management 
at the Otto Group

Corporate responsibility
Sustainability is comprehensively integrated into the 
business activities of the Otto  Group and anchored 
at the highest strategic planning level. The Executive 
Board bears overall responsibility for the Otto Group’s CR 
strategy. It is responsible for ensuring that sustainability 
aspects are given adequate consideration in the Group’s 
landmark decisions and become integral elements of the 
Otto Group’s management and processes. Relevant topics 
feature regularly on the agenda of the Executive Board’s 
discussion and decision-making formats.

Sustainability in the Otto Group is managed by the Corpo-
rate Responsibility department, which reports directly to 
the CEO of the Otto Group, Alexander Birken, and advises 
both the CR Board and the Executive Board. The depart-
ment consists of experts in the areas of “Strategy, Commu-
nication and Processes,” “Human Rights and Supply Chain 
Transparency,” “Climate and Ecology” and “Materials and 
Circularity”. The department defines requirements and 
frameworks for overarching CR legal requirements and the 
Otto Group’s CR standards, and is responsible for devel-
oping and reporting on the overarching CR strategy. To 
this end, the department works closely with other depart-
ments such as the legal department, colleagues from 
the finance department, risk management or corporate 
communications. The department also acts as an inter-
face between the Group Executive Board and the CR-de-
partments of the individual Group companies. 

For implementation, each of the relevant Group compa-
nies has an interdisciplinary CR team comprising a 
Sustainability Officer and experts for the individual topic 
areas within the scope of the CR strategy ( → see p. 33). 
The CR teams are tasked with advancing the sustaina-
bility topics and establishing synergies within the Group. 
They regularly exchange information with their respective 
managing directors, who are responsible for the adher-
ence to compliance requirements and implementation of 
the CR strategy in their companies.

Our holistic view of  
sustainability 
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The Group-wide exchange of best practices and 
networking of experts and interested employees in the 
Otto Group are some of the key success factors under-
pinning our strategy. Within our seven topic areas ( → see 
p. 28) the colleagues responsible for CR and experts at 
the Group companies and the Otto Group Holding gather 
regularly in expert circles to discuss the achievement of 
targets within their remits, share thoughts on new ambi-
tions and ideas and develop and implement suitable 
measures.

The CR Board is the central decision-making board that 
has been tasked by the Executive Board with devel-
oping CR management in the Group. It consists of 
representatives from important companies within the 
Otto Group. The representatives on the CR Board adopt 
the Otto Group’s perspective without neglecting the views 
of the Group companies. 

Led by the Chair of the Otto Group Executive Board, the 
CR Board is mandated with defining overarching sustaina-
bility goals for the Otto Group within the framework of the 
CR strategy and adopting individual targets and measures 
for the Group companies. The CR Board advises the Exec-
utive Board on far-reaching decisions that, for example, 
incur significant investment costs or have a significant 
influence on the business models of Group companies. 

Executive compensation
The Executive Board members’ variable remuneration 
has also been linked to the achievement of sustaina-
bility goals since the 2014/15 financial year; this has also 
applied to the Management Board members of the Group 
companies OTTO and Bonprix as well as the Witt Group 
since 2022/23. In the reporting year, the adjustment of the 
remuneration structure was also extended to the Execu-
tive Board of Hermes Fulfilment. The incentive targets 
for the Otto Group Executive Board members refer to all 
externally audited key performance indicators in the CR 
strategy, equally weighted. The key performance indica-
tors used as incentives for the managing directors are 
aligned with the specific profiles of the Group companies.

Group Executive Board
is responsible for the Otto Group’s  
CR strategy and decides on far-reaching 
CR issues at the Otto Group level

Executive management at 
Group companies
is responsible for the implementation  
and achievement of the corporate goals 
of the Group and for compliance with  
its basic (regulatory and self-committed 
compliance) requirements

CR Board
has the mandate to make strategic deci-
sions regarding the Group, e.g., adoption 
of new core priorities and plans of the 
companies, and advises the Executive 
Board on far-reaching decisions

Sustainability Officer/CR Team  
in the Group companies
is responsible for developing and imple-
menting the plans, monitors them in 
exchange with the managing directors, 
manages the local CR team, and transfers 
knowledge within their own organization 
and the Otto Group (expert circles) 

Close Collaboration 
with other departments such as the  
legal department, colleagues from the 
finance department, risk management  
or corporate communications

Local Team/Experts in  
the Group companies (e.g.,  
Purchasing, Sales, HR) 
implement(s) CR topics in everyday work 
and cooperate(s) across the Group with 
experts from other Group companies

Clear responsibilities and management processes

CR Team Otto Group Holding 
is responsible for creating and developing  
the action framework by defining transfor-
mational goals and core priorities, enabling 
the Group companies to implement them, 
and advising the CR Board and Executive 
Board on strategic issues, reporting, and 
achievement of targets
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Our materiality analysis

Our CR strategy is based on the materiality analysis and 
was last updated in 2021. We have looked at the entire 
value chain of our major business areas and identified 
where our business activities have the greatest nega-
tive impact on people and the environment. From this, we 
have identified where we need to set strategic priorities.

This was based on discussions with the CR-departments 
of the Otto Group and the Group companies, as well as 
an assessment of the issues by external stakeholders. In 
addition, we used a software tool to select and prioritize 
topics, which is supported by metrics from an interna-
tional database. Benchmarks and projections helped us 
to assess and evaluate the environmental impacts and 
social risks of our business activities. 

We conduct regular reviews to ascertain whether there 
have been changes to our material areas in terms of our 
impact and the relevance for action by the Otto Group 
and set the right priorities with our CR strategy. We are 
now updating our materiality analysis to meet future 
non-financial reporting requirements (especially the 
Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive, CSRD).

Material topics
Social and environmental aspects in the supply chain 
are a key focus of our material issues with very high busi-
ness and operational relevance. In particular, this relates 
to human rights aspects such as discrimination, working 
hours, occupational safety and child and forced labor. 
Supply chain disruptions and geopolitical conflicts have 
recently raised the profile of these issues. The resulting 
negative ramifications on the economic front led to 
increasing poverty in the producing countries, which in 
most cases will also exacerbate the human rights risks. 
Environmental issues, such as greenhouse gas emissions 
in supply chains, continue to be highly relevant.

As part of the materiality analysis, we identified twelve 
issues and assessed them across four dimensions of the 
value chain. These are shown in the materiality matrix (see 
figure to the right). The higher the rating on the vertical 
and horizontal axes, the more material the issue is to us as 
a company. The vertical axis in the matrix maps how the 
topic areas impact people and nature. The horizontal axis 
reflects the impact of the issues on us as the Otto Group, 
such as the impact of regulations, reputational risks and 
business relevance.

Our corporate responsibility 
strategy

The Otto Group covers the entire retail value chain: from 
sourcing and purchasing to transport, marketing, general 
services and financial services. The different business 
models have different focal points and impacts. Each 
business model has an impact on our sustainability goals, 
but the greatest impacts occur in connection with our 
merchandise and their production. As a Group, we always 
consider the entire value chain of our own and licensed 
brands, from the production of the products to their trans-
portation and use by our customers. Our goal is to make 
the entire value chain of our products environmentally and 
socially compatible. 

We work every day to anchor sustainability more firmly 
in the entire Otto  Group and its business processes. To 
this end, we are raising awareness of the issue within the 
Group and enabling the Group companies to assume 
even greater responsibility for sustainability issues. It is 
important for us to intensify networking and cooperation 
between Group companies and external stakeholders. 

Our CR strategy reflects this commitment and is charac-
terized by a broad sense of responsibility, has ambitious 
goals and requires a strong commitment by employees 
and our management. Moreover, we attach importance 
to giving Group companies sufficient leeway to develop 
solutions appropriate to their own business models within 
the framework of strategic guidelines. In this way, we 
strike a balance between Group-wide requirements and 
individual adaptability in order to promote sustainability 
effectively and efficiently in all areas. We are currently 
reviewing our CR strategy in light of current national and 
international regulatory requirements.

Topic areas
Our seven topic areas for the CR strategy are based 
on the areas we identified as material along our value 
chain in our materiality analysis. On this basis, we have 
developed these strategic areas for action: Climate, 
Sustainable Materials, Supply Chain, Circularity, Empow-
ered Employees, Conscious Customers and Digital 
Responsibility. 
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Action relevance for the Otto Group
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Looking at the entire value chain
In the upstream value chain, our environmental impact 
and social risks are the greatest, covering the extraction 
and processing of natural resources needed to produce 
our goods. In the topic area of Supply Chain, we work 
beyond the legal minimum requirements to improve 
social and environmental performance in supply chains. 
The upstream supply chain is also highly relevant for our 
goals in the topic areas of Circularity, Sustainable Mate-
rials and Climate. In particular, the supply chain plays a 
special role in our climate protection activities, so we will 
fully include it in our science-based target (SBT) ( → see 
Climate chapter).

At our own sites, the social and environmental impacts of 
our business activities are comparatively low. At the same 
time, we cannot achieve our sustainability goals without 
our employees. They are the ones who drive sustaina-
bility forward every day. The topic area of Empowered 
Employees ( → see Empowered Employees chapter) 
establishes the conditions for our employees to also make 
an active contribution to the sustainability transforma-
tion at the Otto Group with their ideas, skills and enthu-
siasm. Another important aspect is how we can also shape 
digitization and its impact on our working environment 
in a responsible and value-oriented way (→ see Digital 
Responsibility chapter).

Value chain

The chart shows the scope of our measures in  
the seven topic areas of the CR strategy along  
our value chain. The larger the circle, the more  
comprehensive our measures. Small circles  
symbolize pilot projects or innovative individual  
measures, for example.

Upstream
From compliance to performance
Extracting raw materials & production

Transport
From airplane to train

Supply Chain

Empowered Employees

Circularity

Sustainable Materials

Digital Responsibility

Climate *

Conscious Customers

* �New transparency on emissions from the entire value chain 
has significantly increased the relevance of the upstream  
and downstream stages of the value chain (Scope 3).
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The downstream value chain is also an important area 
of activity for us to achieve our sustainability goals. Key 
points of reference include the topic areas of Climate 
( → see Climate chapter), for example, with regard to 
product delivery, and Circularity ( → see Circularity 
chapter) because the right course must also be set for 
the circulation of products and raw materials with a view 
to the use, disposal and recycling of our products. Since 
our customers play a key role here, we strive to inspire 
their interest in the topic of sustainability throughout the 
customer journey and to enable conscious consumption 
decisions in the topic area of Conscious Customer ( → see 
Conscious Customers chapters).

Transport
From combustion to electric

Internal operations
From management to design
Strategy and development of measures

Downstream
From linear to circular
Use & end-of-life

Goals 
Within each of our topic areas, we have formulated 
visionary, long-term goals – the “transformational goals”. 
These are substantiated in each case by shorter- 
term goals with clearly defined time horizons – the 
core priorities. The transformational goals enable us to 
align our daily actions to the long-term corporate goals 
of the Otto  Group. The core priorities help to measure 
our progress on the way to long-term change. They are 
dynamic, regularly reviewed, adjusted, and gradually 
supplemented to respond to current developments. The 
CR strategy is a dynamic, learning concept and therefore 
has no fixed end date. 
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Overview of the seven topic areas and 
their respective Transformational Goals

Business shift: New economy

Eco shift: New goals

Mind shift: New awareness

Climate
We achieve net zero emissions  
throughout our whole value chain by 2045 
(net zero target).

Sustainable Materials
We apply more sustainable raw
materials in all our products.

One of the challenges inherent to the CR strategy is also a 
factor in its success: The different business models at the 
Group companies must be taken into account. That is why 
the design of the CR strategy is left to the Group compa-
nies themselves. They develop individual priority areas, 
goals and measures that match their business models 
within their action framework set by the Otto  Group 
Holding. They are recorded in annual action plans and 
reported to the CR Board and the Executive Board. This 
ensures that all Group companies jointly contribute to the 
Otto Group’s ambitious goals.

Scope
All Group companies that make a sizable contribution to 
external revenue of the Otto Group in two consecutive 
financial years are subject to the CR strategy. Otto Group 
standards also apply to Group companies that do not 
fall within the scope of the CR strategy. These stan- 
dards are anchored in our Group Guideline on Sustain-
ability in Purchasing in the Otto  Group. Every business 
partner is required to sign the Business Partner Declaration 
on Sustainability. This document contains all our require-
ments for our business partners for merchandise. Signing 
the document is a basic requirement for a business rela-
tionship with an Otto Group company. We last amended 
the requirements for our business partners in 2022 with 
the revised version of the Business Partner Declaration on 
Sustainability, including a Code of Conduct. Part of these 
binding requirements is also the amfori BSCI Code of 
Conduct with the corresponding implementation condi-
tions, which includes social standards, rules for environ-
mental protection as well as occupational safety. In 
addition, we have defined and implemented a Code of 
Conduct for services and non-merchandise, which also 
includes social standards, rules on environmental protec-
tion and occupational safety. Furthermore, our Code of 
Ethics provides all employees of the Otto  Group with 
guidelines for responsible conduct.

Supply Chain
We continuously improve the social  
and ecological performance together  
with the facilities in our supply chains.

Circularity
We incorporate circular principles and 
ensure circular solutions.

Digital Responsibility
We shape value-oriented digitization for 
people and society.

Empowered Employees
We empower our employees to experience 
and actively shape sustainability.

Conscious Customers
We enable and inspire our customers to 
make conscious and sustainable decisions.
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*	 �myToys.de GmbH was taken into account for the last time in the CR strategy 
when it ceased operations in the 2023/24 financial year.

**	 �Hermes Germany GmbH has been included in the consolidated financial 
statements according to the equity method since the 2020/21 financial year.

Group companies  
in the scope of the CR strategy:

Bonprix Freemans Grattan

Venus
Group company 

Otto Austria Group  
(formerly Unito)

OTTO Limango

Witt (including Heine) Frankonia

Sheego Eos Group

Crate and Barrel Hermes Fulfilment

Baur-Group Hermes Einrichtungs Service (HES)

Mytoys* Hermes Germany**
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Dialog with our stakeholders

The transformation of the economy and society to 
embrace greater sustainability is not a communal task 
that one actor can handle alone. This prompts us to work 
on a variety of initiatives, to communicate regularly with 
our stakeholders and to collaborate on strategic, long-
term sustainability issues with select partners in the busi-
ness community, government and civil society. Our most 
important stakeholders include the following groups: 

Customers
With their consumption decisions, our customers have a 
critical impact on the success and future orientation of 
our business model. We rely on regular “customer insights” 
and representative trend studies to continuously keep 
up with our customers’ wishes and needs and to provide 
appropriate incentives for more sustainable consumption. 

Employees
Our employees are the driving force behind our sustain-
ability activities. We support them in building and deep-
ening their sustainability knowledge, for example through 
digital learning platforms. In addition, through knowl-
edge-sharing and exchange formats, we create spaces 
for our employees to develop and actively implement their 
knowledge and ideas for greater sustainability. 

Business partners
Only in close collaboration with our business partners can 
we overcome social and environmental challenges and 
achieve measurable improvements for people and the 
environment. Our requirements for ethical and ecological 
production conditions are part of our business relation-
ships, and we communicate them through online training 
for our business partners. Social audits, surveys and (anony- 
mous) whistleblower systems help us better understand 
production conditions of our own and licensed brands and 
derive effective measures. 

Experts
The Otto Group collaborates with partners and experts in 
the business and scientific communities as well as govern-
ment and civil society on strategic, long-term sustaina-
bility issues. These include non-governmental organiza-
tions as well as innovative startups and universities. Only 
collectively can we handle the complex, systematic chal-
lenges of the sustainability transformation. 

Government
Sustainable business models can only be successful in the 
long term if there is a regulatory “level playing field.” In the 
interests of industry-wide dynamics, we work with interna-
tional institutions and national governments. For example, 
we are a member of the UN Fashion Industry Charter for 
Climate Action and support the development of a circu-
larity roadmap for the German federal government. 

Financial markets
The Otto Group relies on its principal bank for financing 
and on the issuance of bonds to capital market investors. 
Financial market stakeholders are showing an increasing 
interest in using investments to positively influence the 
sustainability transformation. We are in regular dialog with 
our banks on sustainability issues and meet the informa-
tion needs of the financial market through transparent 
reporting. 

Community and partner networks
The conviction that the economy should serve society 
has been shaping the Otto Group for decades. In our core 
business and beyond, we want to have a positive impact 
on the communities around our locations and along our 
value chain. We exchange views with our stakeholders at 
events, in training, surveys and during background discus-
sions, and contribute to addressing social challenges with 
numerous initiatives. 

In addition, we are committed to ecological and human 
rights issues and cooperate with non-profit organiza-
tions. Among the key initiatives by our shareholder Prof. Dr. 
Michael Otto are the Michael Otto Foundation for Environ-
mental Protection (founded in 1993), the Aid by Trade Foun-
dation with its initiatives Cotton made in Africa and The 
Good Cashmere Standard® or Stiftung KlimaWirtschaft. 
The pioneering initiatives by the Michael Otto Foundation 
for Environmental Protection include the Hamburg Forum 
for Nature Conservation, the AQUA-AGENTEN educa-
tional program for primary school pupils, the F.R.A.N.Z. 
initiative for connecting agriculture and nature conser-
vation – implemented in cooperation with the German 
Farmers’ Association – and the peatland climate protec-
tion project toMOORow. In addition, the Otto  Group 
is a signatory of the International Accord for Health 
and Safety in the Textile and Garment Industry, which  
has adopted a workplace safety agreement for both 
Bangladesh and Pakistan. The Otto Group was one of the 
first signatories of the Pakistan Accord. 
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Selected memberships,  
initiatives and partnerships

B.A.U.M. – Network for Sustainable Business 
(member since 1987)

Michael Otto Foundation for Environmental 
Protection (foundation in 1993) with its  
AQUA-AGENTEN and F.R.A.N.Z. projects

amfori, (incl. amfori BSCI, Business Social  
Compliance Initiative) (founding member since 
2004)

Aid by Trade Foundation with its Cotton made in 
Africa initiative (CmiA) and The Good Cashmere 
Standard® (GCS) (founding member since 2005)

Textile Exchange 
(member since 2006)

Forest Stewardship Council Germany, FSC® 
(member since 2006)

German Retail Federation, HDE  
(member since 2009)

Stiftung KlimaWirtschaft 
[Foundation Climate Economy] 
(formerly Foundation 2 Degrees, initiated 
and joined by Prof. Dr. Michael Otto since 2011)

International Accord for Health and Safety in  
the Textile and Garment Industry Bangladesh & 
Pakistan (signatory since 2013 and 2023)

Fur Free Retailer, program run 
by the organization Vier Pfoten 
(member since 2014)

Partnership for Sustainable Textiles 
(member since 2015)

Corporate Digital Responsibility (CDR) Initiative by 
the German Federal Ministry for the Environment, 
Nature Conservation, Nuclear Safety and Consumer 
Protection, BMUV (founding member since 2018)

Fashion for Good  
(member since 2018)

Sustainable Apparel Coalition (SAC; Cascale 
since February 2024) (member since 2018)

UN Fashion Industry Charter for Climate Action  
(member since 2018)

Finlit Foundation  
(founded in 2019)

ZukunftsWerte initiative 
(initiation and member since 2020)

Save the Children  
(partner since 2020)

Value Balancing Alliance
(2021 to 31 December 2023)

toMOORow 
(partner since 2021)

Leather Working Group  
(member since 2022)

Science Based Targets Initiative, SBTi  
(committed since 2022)
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Eco shift: New goals
We monitor the impact of our products on the climate, ecosystems and society 
over their entire life cycle: from the extraction of raw materials, production  
conditions, material consumption and shipping to use and finally return to the 
cycle by customers. According to our materiality analysis, we have the greatest 
impact on ecosystems in the areas of greenhouse gases, pollutants, land use, 
water consumption, raw material efficiency and animal welfare – and therefore 
have the greatest potential for improvement. In the Sustainable Materials area,  
we are taking steps to reduce the environmental impact of the materials  
we use. In the topic area of Climate, we are pursuing a long-term net zero goal  
for our entire value chain. We cooperate with innovative partners to offer our 
customers the best solutions and to reach our targets for sustainable materials  
and climate protection. 

Sustainable materials

We continually strive to be a trusted source of inno-
vative, more sustainable products. In addition to 
merchandise, non-merchandise, especially pack-
aging and catalog paper, also play an important role in  
the Otto  Group. We achieve the greatest positive 
impact in materials at the point of raw material extrac-
tion, for example in the cultivation of cotton, and in 
the manufacturing processes in our supply chains.  
Our strategy therefore starts in the upstream value 
chain, with targets for textiles, furniture, packaging and 
catalog paper. 

Wherever we have sufficient data, we evaluate mate-
rials based on the results of their Life Cycle Assessment 
(LCA), i.e., their environmental balance over the entire 
life cycle, in order to make transparent and data-based 
decisions. Based on this, we aim to use more sustainable 
materials in our products – those that have a signifi-
cantly lower environmental impact according to LCA 
data, those that contribute to animal welfare, or those 
that can be recycled, thus reducing the use of resources. 
The use of more sustainable materials is the basis for us 
to increasingly align our business model with resource 
efficiency. In the long term, we are aiming for a circular 
business model ( → see Circularity chapter) – the choice 
of our materials sets the course for this ambitious goal. 
We are reducing the use of conventional raw mate-
rials, known as “virgin materials,” while increasing the 
use of recycled, more sustainable materials. For the 

Otto Group, the use of more sustainable materials is less 
and less an end in itself. Rather, with our measures in the 
area of materials, we want to create a valid basis for 
recycling solutions and climate protection.

Core priority

65% “preferred fibers” by 2025 while 
maintaining the 100% sustainable 
cotton target

Core priority 

100% FSC®-certified furniture products 
by 2025

Core priority 

100% sustainable catalog paper,  
of which at least 70% is FSC®certified 
by 2025

Core priority 

100% sustainable packaging by 2023 
(extended until 2024)

Transformational goal 
We apply more sustainable raw 
materials in all our products.
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Certificates and standards
We want to ensure that the products we bring to market 
meet our sustainability standards. Wherever possible, we 
ensure that the materials we use are externally certified, 
for example by GOTS, FSC®, Blue Angel (Blauer Engel) or EU 
Ecolabel standards. 

In the downstream value chain, we communicate to our 
customers the benefits of products made with more 
sustainable materials and encourage them to make more 
conscious purchasing decisions. To this end, we label prod-
ucts in our stores that meet a relevant sustainability crite-
rion, such as recycled material, and explain why this crite-
rion is met ( → see Conscious Customers chapter).

Sustainable packaging solutions
From 2024 onwards, almost all of our own products will 
reach customers in more sustainable shipping pack-
aging, regardless of their purchasing decision. This means 
that they contain at least 80 percent recycled material. 
Overall, these and other measures were able to increase 
the share of more sustainable packaging from 78 percent 
in 2022 to 94 percent in 2023. 

In March 2021, OTTO entered into a cooperation with the 
Hamburg-based startup Wildplastic®. “Wild Plastic” is 
collected, sorted, cleaned and processed into granulate 
in places without their own recycling structures – such as 
Nigeria, Indonesia or India. It is used, among other things, 
as a raw material for shipping bags at OTTO. By the end 
of 2023, the Group company had achieved its goal and 
converted all OTTO shipping bags to Wildplastic®. In the 
reporting year, Hermes Germany also started a coopera-
tion with Wildplastic® and offers its customers the Hermes 
returns bag as a practical option for returning individual 
parts of an online order if the original packaging is no 
longer available or suitable. The bag is available free of 
charge at over 16,500 Hermes parcel stores.

Textiles 
We use so-called “preferred fibers” in our textiles, i.e., 
fibers with a lower negative impact on the environment 
compared to conventional alternatives. In the Otto Group 
these primarily include organic and recycled fibers such 
as Tencel™ Lyocell and Lenzing Ecovero. In addition, we 
aim to use 100 percent sustainable cotton in our own and 
licensed brands, including organic cotton, recycled cotton, 
Cotton made in Africa (CmiA) and CmiA cotton in tran-
sition*. We were able to increase the share of preferred 
fibers in 2023 from 55 percent in 2022 to 59 percent in 
2023, putting us on a good path to achieve our targets of 
65 percent by 2025. 

Plastic shipping bags for biowaste
Together with the Hamburg-based start-up 
Traceless®, Otto is developing a shipping bag made 
of natural polymers that can be fully composted 
within a few weeks. The Traceless® material is a new, 
natural material that is an alternative to conven-
tional plastics and bioplastics in terms of quality 
and price, but is still fully compostable under natural 
conditions. This returns nutrients to the soil and has 
no impact on the waste system. The Traceless® 
material is based on residues from food produc-
tion, avoiding the conflict between food and land 
use. Traceless® material is harmless to humans and 
the environment because it completely avoids the 
use of chemicals that are hazardous to health or the 
environment.

What is the best way to dispose of Traceless® mate-
rial? Ideally, products made from Traceless® mate-
rial should be disposed of in organic waste. If a bio 
container or home compost heap is not available, 
the bag can be disposed of along with the regular 
trash. This makes it very easy for the end user. The 
home compostable bags are intended to comple-
ment the Wildplastic® bags used by OTTO.

* �CmiA cotton in transition is grown according to the specifications of Cotton made  
in Africa on previously conventionally managed land, but is not yet labeled as such. 
The transition period is two to three years.
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Animal welfare
We are committed to ensuring that the animals from 
which the animal materials in our merchandise originate 
are treated in an ethically appropriate manner. We comply 
with applicable national and international conventions for 
our animal welfare-related products. We do not permit 
the use of products or components from endangered 
species or animals caught in the wild and are continuously 
developing our approaches in collaboration with rele-
vant stakeholders. With the adoption of binding animal 
welfare standards, we have further specified our goals. By 
2024, only leather and hides from selected domesticated 
species (buffalo, cattle, sheep, pig, yak and goat) will be 

Traceable Cotton
In the Otto Group, more than 95 percent of the cotton 
used in our own and licensed brands is already sustain-
able. This is achieved, among other things, by using 
cotton certified according to the internationally recog-
nized Cotton made in Africa (CmiA) standard. CmiA 
cotton is processed according to the principle of mass 
balance. This means that the cotton can be traced from 
the field to the spinning mill, where it may be mixed with 
cotton from other sources during processing. The key to 
further processing at the spinning mill is to balance the 
amount of CmiA cotton purchased with the amount of 
yarn sold as CmiA, as if on a scale. 

In addition, some of our Group companies have further 
ambitions for “traceable cotton“. By 2025, Bonprix aims 
to increase the proportion of this cotton to 25 percent 
in its own brands. The aim is to ensure that the certi-
fied cotton used in yarn production is fully reflected in 
the final product through all further processing steps. 
To achieve this, the Otto Group initiated a pilot project 
in 2023 to introduce traceable CmiA cotton – the CmiA 
“hard identity preserved” (HIP) system. The aim of CmiA 
HIP is to ensure that the entire cotton content of a 
product consists of CmiA cotton, without any admixture 
of other cotton. Work is underway to implement and inte-
grate a detailed cotton traceability assurance process.

allowed. By 2028, down, feathers and wool must be certi-
fied according to a recycling or animal welfare standard 
accepted by the Otto Group. These regulations apply to 
all products sold by the Otto Group and were developed 
in consultation with a major international animal welfare 
organization. In 2022, for example, Bonprix offered its 
customers a premium capsule collection with sustainable 
cashmere certified according to The Good Cashmere 
Standard® (GCS) for the first time. 

Wood furniture and catalog paper
We are also on track to meet our 2025 goals for wood 
furniture and catalog paper. The percentage of certified 

Actual in 2022 Forecast 2023 Actual in 2023 Target value

Preferred fibers*, of which 100% sustainable cotton** 55% Slight 
increase 59% 65% (by 2025)

FSC®-certified furniture products*** 83% Significant 
reduction 83%**** 100% (by 2025)

Sustainable catalog paper 90% Slight
increase 94% 100% (by 2025)

Sustainable packaging 78% Medium
increase 94%

100% (by 2023)
(extended  
until 2024)

*	 �Our “preferred fibers portfolio” contains fibers that have a significantly lower environmental impact compared to conventional fibers in the same category  
(e.g., Cotton made in Africa cotton, recycled and organic cotton compared to conventional cotton) and recycled artificial fibers and animal-based fibers that  
are produced with careful attention to animal welfare.

**	 In 2023, the share of sustainable cotton was 97%.

***	 From 2023 onwards, the Otto Group accepts the following certifications in addition to FSC®: EU Ecolabel, Blue Angel (Blauer Engel) and Nordic Swan.

****	 This represents 62% of the volume of wood sold in tons

Sustainable materials: Our goals
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Climate

The Otto  Group has pursued the goal of reconciling 
its business activities with climate protection for 
decades. The climate crisis has worsened and is the 
most urgent challenge of our time. Stakeholders from 
society and government rightly expect companies like 
the Otto Group to contribute to its mitigation. Further-
more, climate protection has long had an economic 
significance as well: Potential increases in the cost of 
raw materials, higher CO2e prices or the risk of losing 
licenses from our key suppliers, for example in the event 
of environmental damage caused by extreme weather 
events, pose financial risks. 

Our long-term goal is to achieve net zero emissions 
throughout our value chain by 2045 at the latest. We 
want to ensure that our goals and activities are in line 
with the 1.5 degree target of the Paris Climate Agree-
ment. Therefore, in 2022, we committed to developing 
an ambitious and comprehensive science-based target 
(SBT) for our entire value chain. We submitted our SBT to 
the Science Based Target Initiative (SBTi) for validation 
in spring 2023 and successfully completed the valida-
tion process at the end of February 2024.

A holistic approach to emissions
This report defines CO2 equivalents (CO2e)  
as all greenhouse gases (CO2, CH4, N2O, SF6,  
HFC, PFC) according to their greenhouse effect  
relative to CO2. 

wood furniture remained at 83 percent in 2023 after 
being 83 percent in 2022, while sustainable catalog paper 
increased from 90 percent in 2022 to 94 percent in 2023. 

By 2025, we aim to have 100 percent of our wood furni-
ture products certified with a sustainability certificate. We 
primarily rely on the FSC® standard. However, the avail-
ability of regionally sourced FSC®-certified wood will 
continue to become more difficult in the future. In some 
EU countries, particularly Poland, the area of FSC®-certi-
fied forests is decreasing significantly. Since 2023, we have 
been accepting other recognized certificates for wood 
furniture, such as the EU Ecolabel, the Blue Angel (Blauer 
Engel) or the Nordic Swan Ecolabel. OTTO actively advises 
its furniture suppliers on how to adapt their processes and 
products to meet the requirements of the respective seals. 

In addition to expanding certification and supporting 
our furniture suppliers, we also want to establish coop-
eration projects to ensure more stable access to more 
certified wood. Since 2022, therefore, the Otto Group has 
been supporting forest owners in the Franconia region 
in a joint pilot project with FSC® Germany to have their 
forests certified according to FSC standards. As part of 
the project, various forest owners and communities have 
joined forces so that a forest area of around 9,800 hectares 
were newly certified according to the FSC® standard in 
December 2023. The new FSC® group consists of various 
municipalities and cities in the region and benefits from 
the certification according to social and ecological stand-
ards for forest management in Germany as well as from 
the synergy effects of group certification. 

In autumn 2023, the Otto  Group received the German 
Sustainability Award in the Furniture and Electrical Retail 
category. This award underscores the Otto  Group’s 
commitment to FSC® in recent years. In addition, Crate 
and Barrel received an FSC® Award in 2023 for offering a 
wide and growing range of FSC®-certified furniture.

Transformational goal 
We achieve net zero emissions 
throughout our value chain by 
2045 (net zero target).

Core priority

Adjusted CO₂e reduction of 40%  
by 2025 (compared to base year of 2018) 
and climate neutrality by 2030 for our 
own locations, transportation, employee 
mobility (operations), and externally 
operated data centers and cloud 
services.
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Our 2023 CO₂e emissions are

lower than the base year of 2018.

30% 

Climate protection at our locations and in the  
supply chain
As part of our core priorities, we have set ourselves the 
goal of reducing our CO₂e emissions by 40 percent by 
2025 compared to the base year of 2018 – for our own 
locations and transportation, for employee mobility (oper-
ations), and for externally operated data centers and 
cloud services. 

In our own operations, we can ensure that we have a direct 
influence on the development of our CO2e emissions. This 
allows us to reliably manage our Scope 1, Scope 2, and 
some of our Scope 3 emissions ( → see info box “What is 
a science-based target?”). The greatest leverage for 
reducing our CO2e emissions is to continue increasing our 
energy efficiency, switch completely to green electricity 
and move the transport of merchandise from air to rail 
and sea. For example, OTTO has already reduced the share 
of air freight to less than two percent. OTTO works with 
the innovative partner GoodShipping, which uses a biofuel 
mix from various waste streams, such as used cooking oil 
and fats from food production, instead of heavy fuel oil to 
power container ships. This lowers CO2 emissions by about 
80 percent compared to heavy fuel oil and, unlike heavy 
fuel oil, produces virtually no harmful air pollutants. 

We will manage the decarbonization of our locations 
primarily by switching to renewable energy sources. 
At present, the Otto  Group’s share of green electricity 
is 41  percent at its global locations and 65 percent in 
Germany. Our intention is to switch to 100 percent green 
electricity at all German and – if available – also interna-
tional locations by 2025. We have also been harnessing 
the potential of our own locations, equipping them with 
photovoltaic systems or combined heat and power plants 
and using geothermal energy, for example. 

There is also potential for climate action in our down-
stream value chain. By delivering to our customers with 
low or zero emissions, we help reduce particulate pollu-
tion in cities, protecting the environment and health. Since 
the end of 2023, with “Green Delivery Hamburg”, Hermes 
Germany has been supplying an entire city with zero emis-
sions for the first time. To ensure that packages and parcels 
find their way to recipients in Hamburg without local emis-
sions, Hermes Germany first created the necessary condi-
tions: In the Billbrook district, the parcel logistics company 
built a new e-mobility hub with 96 charging points in 2022, 
which, together with the logistics center at Billbrookdeich 
with 40 additional charging points, forms the basis for 
electric delivery in an area of around 756 square kilom-
eters. All locations in the Hamburg area, including those 

of affiliated service partners, will be supplied with 100 
percent green electricity. This creates the structures 
that will eventually allow more than 240 fully electric 
vehicles to operate in the suburbs of the Hanseatic city 
and deliver up to twelve million parcels per year locally 
on the last mile without emissions. Currently, 176 elec-
tric vans and eight cargo bikes are in use, including the 
delivery bases of service partners in Hamburg’s suburbs. 
According to the company’s target, the changeover will 
lower CO2 emissions by more than 1,400 tons per year. 
Although Hamburg is the first city that Hermes Germany 
serves locally without emissions, progress is being made 
step by step in many other cities. In Berlin, Bonn, Duis-
burg, Essen, Göttingen, Heilbronn, Magdeburg, Mainz and 
Münster, for example, a large number of parcels and pack-
ages are already being delivered to the doorstep of recip-
ients in a climate-friendly manner using e-transporters or 
cargo bikes. By 2025, the parcel service will deliver parcels 
without local emissions in 80 German cities. From spring 
2024, the service will deliver to the doorsteps of 40 cities 
using electric vehicles.

Otto Group 
Annual Report 2023/24 

Sustainability 40



Actual in 2022 Forecast 2023 Actual in 2023 Target value

Percentage of green electricity in total electricity consumption  
(German and international locations) 29% Slight  

increase 41%* 100% (by 2025)

Percentage of green electricity in electricity consumption  
at German locations 49% Slight  

increase 65%* 100% (by 2025)

Reduction of adjusted** CO₂e emissions compared to  
base year of 2018*** – 21% Slight 

reduction – 30% – 40% (by 2025)

*	 �Due to the billing modalities of the energy suppliers, we have reported the value from the previous year (2022) here. 

**	 �Shown relative to their performance units.

***	 �Emissions relating to the locations are all based on the previous year’s values due to a lag in data availability. Emissions from data centers, from the purchase of cloud 
services, and from external data centers are collected in absolute values and not relative to their performance units. The calculation of these emissions is based on  
a spend-based method using a multi-regional input-output model. This method incorporates purchasing data for these services, recognized international statistics, 
and assumptions based on structures known from Otto Group IT. These assumptions are based on, for example, the inclusion of information from green energy origin 
certificates and CO₂ certificates of individual service providers in the calculation basis. The Estimated Time of Arrival (ETA) is used as the time frame for the calculation 
of emissions from procurement transports. Due to missing values, the bill of lading is used for the Crate and Barrel Group in this year.

Avoid, reduce... offset?
We want to achieve our climate goals by consistently 
avoiding and lowering emissions. Neither our core priority 
(-40 percent CO2e emissions by 2025 compared to 2018), 
nor our long-term net zero goal and the new science-based 
target ( → see New, Ambitious Climate Goals chapter) 
recognize offsetting projects to achieve these goals. 
Nevertheless, Hermes Germany and Hermes Einrichtungs 
Service used offsetting certificates as a voluntary addi-
tional measure to ensure CO2e-neutral deliveries to 
customers of OTTO, Bonprix, Baur and the Group company 
Otto Austria Group (formerly Unito) in the past finan-
cial year. We placed our trust in high-quality certificates 
from Atmosfair in this context. In the reporting year, we 
ended CO2e-neutral delivery through offsetting within the 
Otto Group. This will not be continued from 2024. 

Disclosing climate impact
Also in 2023, we published our reporting in accordance 
with the requirements of the Carbon Disclosure Project 
(CDP). With an overall score of B, we are again above the 
industry average and in line with the European average. By 
publishing this report, we are fulfilling our commitment as 
a member of the UN Fashion Industry Charter for Climate 
Action, in which the Otto  Group has been particularly 
committed to greenhouse gas management in the value 
chain in recent years and the past financial year. 

We are also committed to natural climate 
protection

Wet peatlands contribute significantly to climate 
protection and preserve unique plant and animal 
species. They also play an important role in the 
natural water balance and serve as effective natural 
flood control areas. They can also be managed 
in an environmentally friendly way. The goal of 
“toMOORow” is to utilize these diverse properties 
of peatlands for climate protection and the promo-
tion of biodiversity, as well as for the economy. The 
Michael Otto Foundation for Environmental Protec-
tion is in charge of implementing the initiative in 
collaboration with the Michael Succow Foundation, 
a partner in the Greifswald Moor Centrum. The aim 
is to engage in systematic rewetting to create func-
tional moor landscapes that are capable of perma-
nent carbon sequestration. In addition, the peat-
lands are to be sustainably cultivated (so-called 
paludiculture) in order to generate biomass for 
value chains in the long term. The Otto  Group 
and its Group companies OTTO, Bonprix, the Witt 
Group, Baur Group, Hermes Germany and Systain 
Consulting are providing long-term support for the 
project to further the cause of climate and nature 
protection through specific contributions.

Greenhouse gas emissions reduction: Our goals
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We have set ourselves a science-based target
As the Otto  Group, we want to make a tangible and 
measurable contribution to limiting global warming and 
ensure that our goals and activities are in line with the 
1.5 degree target of the Paris Climate Agreement. There-
fore, in 2022, we committed to developing an ambitious 
and comprehensive science-based target (SBT) to system-
atically develop our previously successful climate protec-
tion activities. 

The climate strategy, which is still valid in the reporting 
year, takes into account the immediate areas of influence 
of our direct business activities, which account for around 
five percent of the Otto Group’s total emissions. With the 
SBT, we are intensifying our ambitions and addressing 
the greenhouse gas emissions of our entire value chain 
(Scope 1, Scope 2 and Scope 3 emissions) – from the culti-
vation of raw materials and the manufacture of products 
to the use phase and the disposal of merchandise. 

In developing the SBT, we worked closely with Systain 
Consulting and the key Group companies that have the 
greatest impact on our greenhouse gas emissions, namely 
OTTO, Bonprix, Hermes Germany, Crate and Barrel and 
the Witt Group. We identified relevant levers and meas-
ures and developed different target scenarios. These 
Group companies, the Otto Group Executive Board and 
the CR Board ( → see Sustainability Management in the 
Otto  Group chapter) as the highest decision-making 
bodies, were closely involved in the development process 
from the very beginning. In the spring of 2023, our SBT 
was approved internally by the Otto  Group Executive 
Board and subsequently submitted to the Science Based 
Target Initiative (SBTi) for validation. At the end of February 
2024, we successfully completed this validation process 
with SBTi. With the start of the 2024/25 financial year, we 
officially manage according to the new SBT target archi-
tecture. Our SBT and our long-term transformational goal 
to achieve net zero emissions across our entire value chain 
by 2045 completely replace the previously valid core prior-
ities of our CR strategy from the new financial year. The 
old climate targets have been incorporated into the new 
SBT target architecture. 

What is a science-based target?
Science-based targets (SBTs) are targets for 
reducing greenhouse gas emissions in line with the 
degree of decarbonization required by the Inter-
governmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) to 
limit global warming to 1.5 degrees. The targets 
are reviewed by the Science Based Target Initiative 
(SBTi). The SBTi’s assessment is based on current 
scientific knowledge. 

In developing our climate targets, we follow the 
Greenhouse Gas Protocol (GHG Protocol), which 
provides a global and standardized framework for 
measuring and managing greenhouse gas emissions 
from the private and public sectors. The GHG Protocol 
divides greenhouse gas emissions into three catego-
ries, which we considered in developing our SBT: 

Scope 1 emissions refer to direct emissions from 
company-owned and controlled resources, such as 
process emissions, company-owned electricity and 
heat generation, and vehicle fleets.

Scope 2 emissions are indirect emissions from 
purchased energy, such as electricity, steam, district 
heating or cooling. 

Scope 3 emissions refer to indirect emissions within 
the value chain over which the company has no 
direct control, such as electricity consumption 
during production or during the use phase of prod-
ucts sold.

New, ambitious climate goals –  
science-based target
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Total greenhouse gas emissions in the base year (2021/22 
financial year) of the new SBT climate strategy amount to 
approximately 9.4 million metric tons. The largest share, 
almost 75 percent, comes from own brand production 
(upstream value chain), transportation and the use phase 
of products by customers. These three areas are therefore 
critical to our future achievement of the SBT targets. 

How we plan to achieve our targets
During the reporting year, we rolled out the SBT approach 
across the Group and worked with key Group companies 
to develop concrete measures to achieve the targets. For 
the achievement of our SBT and our long-term net zero 
target, we primarily rely on improving the energy effi-
ciency of production processes in the upstream value 
chain and promoting the use of renewable energies. In 
pilot projects such as “Scalezero” and “Clean by Design” 
( → see info box to the right), we are exploring different 
approaches and gaining important insights for our path to 
net zero emissions. Comprehensive measures to address 
emissions from our customers in the use phase will also 
be highly relevant in the future. A particular focus is on 
increasing the energy efficiency of electrical appliances. 
We also want to help our customers switch to green elec-
tricity when they use our electrical equipment. In addition, 
we are continuing our efforts to shift the transportation 
of goods from air to sea or rail and to electrify delivery 
to customers. In the future, we will also further interlink 
our climate activities with the topic areas of Sustainable 
Materials ( → see Sustainable Materials chapter) and 
Circularity ( → see Circularity chapter). Here, too, deci-
sive contributions are needed to achieve our ambitious 
climate targets, for example in the selection of materials.

Pilot projects for climate protection in the  
supply chain:

As part of “Scalezero,” we launched a pilot project 
with eight facilities in Bangladesh in 2023. We will 
support the facilities to independently develop, 
prioritize and implement energy efficiency, energy 
management and renewable energy measures, 
and connect them with appropriate local service 
providers. The goal is an individual action plan and 
regular support for the facilities in implementing the 
measures on site. 

The “Clean by Design” pilot project is an established 
training program on energy and water efficiency 
in the textile supply chains that we are working on 
together with the Apparel Impact Institute. Starting 
in 2023, we will support facilities over a 14-month 
period by providing training and on-site assistance 
on energy management and process optimization. 
The goal is to establish proven best practices in the 
production process and quantifiably reduce the 
environmental impact. 

* �The official target formulation can be found on the SBTi website.  

Since we can only indirectly influence the upstream value 
chain, any implementation of reduction measures poses a 
much greater challenge than mitigating climate change 
in our own operations. It can only be achieved in close 
cooperation with our business partners. We therefore take 
a collaborative approach to helping our business part-
ners in the upstream supply chain improve their climate 
performance. For example, we use the Higg FEM tool 
from Sustainable Apparel Coalition (SAC; Cascale since 
February 2024) to track other environmental impacts in 
our supply chains to measure the environmental perfor-
mance of facilities in a standardized way ( → see Supply 
Chain chapter).

Our new science-based Otto Group climate 
target* is divided into three sub-targets: 

Sub-target 1: Absolute scope 1 and 2 GHG 
emission reduction by 42% by the end 
of FY 2030/31 compared to FY 2021/22

Sub-target 2 (Supplier Engagement): At least 50% 
third-party brands and marketplace partners by 
spend covering purchased goods and services set 
science-based target by the end of FY 2027/28.

Sub-target 3: Absolute reduction in scope 3 
GHG emissions by 42% by the end of FY 2031/32 
compared to FY 2021/22
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Business shift:  
New economy
The Otto Group is committed to taking responsibility for people and the environ-
ment – that goes for our own locations and the upstream and downstream supply 
chains. Ensuring respect for human rights is a core part of our business practices.  
We are also aware that natural resources are finite and hence approach these 
topics with a due sense of care. Cooperating with business partners and supply  
chain facilities, we are determined to consistently align the business models of the 
Otto Group with aspects of social responsibility, environmental compatibility  
and the largely circular economy and to achieve measurable changes in these areas. 
This includes actively shaping the digital transformation and the associated  
opportunities and challenges for society. 

Supply chain

We at the Otto Group strive to take responsibility for 
people and the environment in our own operations,  
towards our customers, and in the supply chains of our 
own brands. In addition to complying with legal require-
ments, we want to aspire that the products we sell are 
produced in a socially responsible and resource-efficient 
manner while respecting human rights. The upstream 
value chain of our own and licensed brands presents 
both the greatest risks and the greatest opportunities 
for us to make a difference, both in terms of environ-
mental issues and human rights. We regard our approach 
as a continuous process to improve our environmental 
and social performance step by step in close collabo-
ration with our business partners and actors along the 
supply chain. To do this, we continually increase trans-
parency in regards to our complex supply chains to gain 
a better understanding of the facilities and the working 
and production conditions on site. Our actions are based 
on ten social and environmental focus areas identified 
through our materiality analysis. To make developments 
more evident, we support our requirements with mea- 
surable indicators.

* �Refers to facilities involved in the production of our products 
(except for well-known third-party brands).

Transformational goal
We continuously improve 
social and environmental 
performance together with 
the facilities in our supply 
chains. 

Core priority

Information about social and 
environmental production conditions  
is shared with us by the facilities in our 
supply chains.​

Core priority

Identification of all facilities in the 
supply chains of our brands – from 
raw material to finished products.*

Core priority 

Continuous improvement on identified 
focus topics among the facilities in our 
supply chains.
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Social goals

Ecological goals

Performance improvement 
along the supply chain

Decent Working Hours
Excessive overtime is reduced to a minimum.

Freedom of Association & Collective 
Bargaining 
All workers enjoy the right to freedom of peaceful 
assembly and association, including the right to form 
and join trade unions and to bargain collectively.

Water Efficiency
The use of incoming water is reduced to a minimum.

Non-Hazardous Chemicals
The use of hazardous chemicals is decreased  
to a minimum.

Climate & Energy Efficiency
Energy efficiency and the use of renewable energies 
are increased.

Living Wage 
All workers receive a living wage.

Freely Chosen Employment
All workers are under free choice of employment.

Child Free Production 
Only workers above the minimum age are involved  
in the production/processing.

Safe Work Environments
All workers are under safe and healthy working 
conditions.

Resource Efficiency (Waste)
Resource efficiency is increased and waste reduced 
to a minimum.

The supply chain as a key
In the coming years, the environmental aspects in the 
Supply Chain area will be strongly influenced by the 
Otto  Group’s climate targets, which will reach a new 
level of ambition and commitment with the adop-
tion of a science-based target ( → see Climate chapter). 
In particular, our long-term net zero goal can only be 
achieved through far-reaching measures in the upstream 
value chain, which we design, pilot and scale together 
with our partners. In the supply chain, in 2023 we initiated 
the climate protection projects “Scalezero” and “Clean by 
Design” ( → see Climate chapter), which support textile 
facilities in Bangladesh, China and India in developing 
and implementing measures for energy efficiency and 
solar energy. We are continuously developing our actions 
in the areas of chemicals, water, raw materials and waste.

On social issues, we continue to focus on paying living 
wages and protecting children’s rights. We see our own 
procurement processes as an important lever. To learn 
more about the complex composition of living wages and 
to advance our journey, we participated in the Partner-
ship for Sustainable Textiles’ “Living Wage Lab.” Since then, 
we have been working closely with one of our selected 
final production facilities in India in a pilot project. We also 
work with the children’s rights organization Save the Chil-
dren. Together with the experts, we are systematically 
working on the ground to combat child labor and promote 
family-friendly working conditions in the final production 
facilities.

Memberships and initiatives
To obtain specific improvements, we rely on a collabo-
rative approach that includes key facilities in our supply 
chains. Our social commitment is primarily demon-
strated by our membership in the International Accord 
for Health and Safety in the Textile and Garment Industry 
(Bangladesh and Pakistan) and the amfori BSCI initiative. 
Following the success of the Accord in Bangladesh, we 
were also one of the first companies to sign the Pakistan 
Accord on Health and Safety in the Textile and Garment 
Industry. This Accord initiated the establishment of a 
comprehensive occupational safety program in 2023. It 
laid the foundation for joint and continuous improvement. 

Our environmental focal points are addressed by working 
together with the UN Fashion Industry Charter for Climate 
Action and the Sustainable Apparel Coalition (SAC; 
Cascale since February 2024), among others. This cross-
sector and cross-national engagement is used not only so 
we can improve our own performance, but also to make 
a contribution to an industry-wide dynamic.
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Social audits and training
We gain insight into the conditions at local final production 
sites through social audits. The social audits are a prereq-
uisite for cooperation and must be available as valid 
evidence during the production of articles distributed by 
the Otto Group. This includes the SA8000 certificate, an 
amfori BSCI audit (at least result “C”) or our own standard, 
the Otto Group Assessment. We continue to support our 
business partners and supply chain facilities to improve 
local production conditions. Our business partner training 
is used to communicate the objectives and content of our 
CR strategy. In 2023, we published extensive information 
for our partners on the topic of Human Rights Due Dili-
gence and the German Supply Chain Due Diligence Act 
(LkSG) on the Otto Group website. 

From compliance to performance
In 2023 we continued to expand the availability and 
quality of information about our supply chains. One of our 
most important instruments is the “Sustainability Ques-
tionnaire for Supply Chain Facilities”. This questionnaire 
is used to collect environmental and social data, derive 
necessary actions and measures, and can measure devel-
opments quantitatively. We also fall back on external 
sources and use data, for example, from the Higg Facility 
Environmental Module (HIGG-FEM) of the Sustainable 
Apparel Coalition (SAC; Cascale since February 2024) and 
The BHive® app for digital chemical management in the 
textile industry. 

Our accredited social audits also provide us with informa-
tion. Furthermore, the children’s rights organization Save 
the Children also provides us with information on chil-
dren’s rights risks in our production countries. The goal is to 
expand this data base in order to develop tailored meas-
ures and improve our impact measurement. Together with 
Save the Children and its subsidiary, The Centre for Child 
Rights and Business, we have also initiated programs to 
strengthen children’s rights in China, Turkey and Bangla-
desh. As part of the International Accord for Health and 
Safety in the Textile and Garment Industry, we also provide 
occupational safety training to all employees of our final 
production manufacturers in Bangladesh and, since 2023, 
Pakistan.

The most effective contribution to our environmental 
goals in the reporting year was made by The BHive® 
project. The app with the same name, used by some 
Group companies, digitizes chemicals management at 
the facility level, with the aim of gaining an overview of 

the chemicals used, replacing hazardous substances and 
contributing to a more conscious, environmentally friendly 
and resource-saving approach. After a pilot phase with 
around 35 facilities in 2021, we were able to expand the 
app to 85 facilities in 2022. In 2023, we used The BHive® 
in 106 facilities.

Supply chain transparency
We look beyond our final production facilities to increase 
transparency in our supply chains – the foundation of all 
our activities. This is how we continuously expand our 
information about social and environmental production 
conditions. In risk countries, we know almost 100 percent 
of our final production facilities. In 2023, we also identified 
10,172 unknown facilities in our supply chains (2022: 1,996).

Complaint mechanisms
We strictly adhere to legal regulations (compliance) and 
go beyond this with the performance approach of our CR 
strategy. To identify and respond appropriately to poten-
tial violations of human rights in the supply chains, we 
have participated in external complaint mechanisms 
such as the amfori BSCI initiative or the International 
Accord for years. We also have our own whistleblowing 
system, SpeakUp, which is available in 20 languages and 
can be used to report suspicious cases. The portal is a 
protected and secure reporting channel for all employees 
and stakeholders that can be used anonymously, ensuring 
the highest level of protection for whistleblowers and 
sensitive data. Each incoming report undergoes a multi-
stage review by designated experts. An independent 
ombudsperson offers internal and external stakeholders 
another opportunity to contact the Otto  Group confi-
dentially. In the reporting year, we received 35 hints* via 
these channels on potential violations in our supply chains  
on the following topics: prohibition of child labor; prohi-
bition of forced labor and all forms of slavery; disregard 

In 2023, we identified

additional facilities in our 
supply chains.

10,172*

* �Newly identified supply chain facilities in addition  
to those already known (procedural count)

* As of 30 April 2024

Otto Group 
Annual Report 2023/24 

Sustainability 46

https://www.bkms-system.com/bkwebanon/report/clientInfo?cin=fzD4ND&c=-1&language=eng


The final production 
facilities are shown 
according to the 
categorization of amfori 
BSCI in so-called risk 
countries. The Otto Group 
also produces in low-risk 
countries, such as 
EU member states.

�As of: April 2024, for further 
information, see 
https://www.ottogroup.
com/en20/verantwortung/
supplyChain-map.php

for occupational safety and health hazards; prohibition 
of withholding an appropriate wage; prohibition of hiring 
or using private/public security forces due to insufficient 
training or control, resulting in harm; and other human 
rights or environmental violations. We view the receipt 
of hints as a positive sign that our whistleblower mech-
anisms are working, and we follow up on each tip care-
fully. They are individually recorded, evaluated and inves-
tigated by our experts in collaboration with the relevant 
stakeholders. Necessary actions or measures are then 
derived, their implementation monitored and systemat-
ically followed up.

The Supply Chain Due Diligence Act
Our approach to human rights is aligned with the require-
ments of the German Supply Chain Due Diligence Act 
(LkSG, Lieferkettengesetz). It has applied to all compa-
nies with at least 3,000 employees in Germany since 
the beginning of 2023. At the beginning of 2024, compa-
nies with 1,000 employees in Germany will be required 
to reasonably comply with human rights and certain 

environmental due diligence obligations in their supply 
chains. As a result, some Otto  Group companies have 
been required to comply with the provisions of the Supply 
Chain Act since January 1st 2023. These include OTTO, 
Hermes Germany, Hermes Fulfilment and the Witt Group. 
Since the beginning of 2024, the law has also been binding 
for Baur, Bonprix and Baur Hermes Fulfilment. The Group 
companies independently publish their LkSG report and a 
human rights statement on their websites. 

Building on the foundation
The German Supply Chain Act also poses some challenges, 
mainly due to the complexity of our business models and 
their respective supply chains. Because in the context of 
the law, the supply chain refers to all of a company’s prod-
ucts and services. It includes all steps, both domestic and 
international, that are necessary to produce products or 
provide services, from extracting raw materials to delivery 
to customers. The law thus includes business models other 
than commercial enterprises, such as service companies 
in the logistics and financial services sectors. 

Our main sourcing countries

China
India

Bangladesh

Turkey
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Respect for human rights is not up for negotiation, and the 
protection of our environment has long been a matter of 
urgency. The Otto Group therefore welcomes the fact that 
the Supply Chain Act has given both issues new binding 
obligations in corporate practice. With our long-standing 
commitment to human rights, we are well prepared for 
the new requirements of the Supply Chain Act. At the 
same time, the tightening of the rules is a welcome oppor-
tunity for us to take a critical look at our existing processes 
and measures. Concrete improvements for the people on 
site can only be achieved if all parties are on the same 
page. We have provided information on human and envi-
ronmental risks and due diligence obligations, so we can 
improve the basic understanding of risks and effective 
measures among our employees and business partners. 
In the reporting year, we were also able to take advan-
tage of synergies between the Group companies and 
jointly develop cross-company processes and solutions, for 
example for the preparation of the individual reports in 
compliance with the German Supply Chain Due Diligence 
Act, Lieferkettengesetz (LkSG).

Circularity

Besides consistent climate protection, circularity is 
the only plausible answer to the question of how our 
economic model can function within planetary bound-
aries while maintaining the stability of ecosystems 
and human livelihoods. To keep materials and products 
in circulation for as long as possible through circular 
design, appropriate usage models, such as second-hand 
or repair and recycling options, we look at the entire 
value chain. In joint pilot projects with our Group compa-
nies and partners in the business community, academia 
and civil society, we are continuously working to test 
and gradually implement circularity principles and solu-
tions. Quick success cannot be achieved in all areas of 
the value chain. This makes it all the more important to 
learn from the challenges and set the necessary course 
to advance forward-looking ideas. 

On the path to a circular business model
We want to measure the number of circular solutions for 
our products to check the effectiveness of our measures 
and to monitor the progress on our way to a circular busi-
ness model. For the first time, we collected quantitative 
metrics on circularity and had them verified by an external 
auditing firm. In 2023, circular solutions were implemented 

Transformational goal
We incorporate circular  
principles and ensure circularity  
in our business models.

Core priority

Circular solutions implemented for 18 million 
products in 2024

Systematically identifying and minimizing human 
rights risks is no longer a voluntary matter. The Act 
thus reinforces our longstanding efforts to manage 
sustainability according to the principle of materi-
ality. In the future, we will continue to ask ourselves 
the question: Where do we as the Otto Group have 
the greatest influence and need for action to reduce 
risks for people in our supply chains and continuously 
improve production conditions?
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for 15.6 million products, such as the use of recycled mate-
rials, circular product design, the sale of second-hand 
products, repairs and recycling solutions. The majority of 
the KPI is currently achieved through the use of secondary 
materials. The goal is to implement circular solutions for a 
total of 18 million products in the 2024 calendar year. 

Circular collections
The driving force behind our measures and activities in 
the Circularity area consists of the Otto Group companies, 
which are already implementing specific solutions. In 2023, 
OTTO launched a second “Circular Collection” in cooper-
ation with the company circular.fashion. Each garment 
in the Circular Collection belongs to the OTTO prod-
ucts brand, follows certain strategies of circular.fashion’s 
circular design criteria and has a digital product passport, 
the circularity.ID®: It is a permanently stitched NFC tag 
that contains information about the material, production 
and the correct channel for returns. This allows used textile 
sorting facilities to identify the garment and its compo-
nents and, depending on the condition of the item, either 
make it available for reuse or send it for high-quality recy-
cling. In this way, instead of textile waste, new raw mate-
rials are created that can be used for new garments and 
thus remain in the cycle. 

Together with the company circular.fashion, Bonprix has 
also developed circular design criteria, which have been 
applied in two Circular Collections. These collections 
focus on materials made from renewable and/or recycled 
resources. In addition, there are strict requirements for the 
recyclability and durability of the products. For example, 
Bonprix avoids large-scale prints in the collections and 
reduces the amount of elastane in the entire product to a 
maximum of five percent to enable high-quality recycling. 
The circular denim fabrics have detachable buttons or 
zippers that have been tested for durability, and embroi-
dery replaces metal rivets on the pockets. The first Circular 
Collection of women’s, men’s and children’s clothing was 
launched in the spring of 2023, and since the fall of 2023, 
circular textile accessories have also found their place in 
the collections. 

Buying and selling used clothing on Limango
At the beginning of 2024, Limango launched an online 
second-hand shop. Through this platform, customers 
in Germany can sell their Limango purchases to other 
customers, thus extending the useful life of the items. The 
shop has been well received by customers and will be 
gradually expanded. 

Take-back systems
Since functioning take-back systems are essential in circu-
larity, we are also expanding our initiatives in the textile 
and electronics sectors. As part of the charitable initia-
tive “Platz schaffen mit Herz” (Creating space with heart), 
OTTO collects used textiles from customers, for example. 
The proceeds from selling the second-hand clothes go 
towards supporting charitable organizations all over the 
world. It includes a voting system so that customers have 
a say on where the funding goes.

In addition, we as the Otto  Group recycled more than 
43,000 tons of used electronic equipment from customer 
returns in the calendar year. More than 219,000 refrig-
erators and freezers were decontaminated by our 
Weeelabex-certified disposal partners in Germany and 
remanufactured into high-quality products. This makes 
an important contribution to climate protection, as no 
greenhouse gases such as chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs) 
and hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs) are released into the envi-
ronment during the recycling process. This makes the 
Otto  Group one of the few companies in Germany to 
place such high demands on recycling – a commitment 
that is also recognized by third parties.

Progress, step by step
We will also continue to take a learning and collaborative 
approach in the future. We want to be part of a transform-
ative process and create solutions that work for manu-
facturers, retailers, customers and recyclers alike. With our 
experience and established repair, take-back and recy-
cling services, we are able to respond quickly to new regu-
latory and technological developments. 

The Fashion for Good initiative launched the “Sorting for 
Circularity” project with us and other fashion industry 
stakeholders. The 18-month project focuses on the use 
of automated sorting technologies powered by artificial 
intelligence (AI). This will optimize sorting in large-scale 
sorting operations of reusable textiles, increase circu-
larity and reduce the burden on waste management in 
exporting countries.

In addition, at the beginning of 2024, the Otto  Group 
Holding, together with Bonprix and OTTO, joined the 
project “Implementing Circularity in the Textile Industry” 
of the Partnership for Sustainable Textiles, the German 
Society for International Cooperation (GIZ) and the 
company circular.fashion to promote the integration 
of circular processes in the supply chain. As part of the 
project, German fashion companies and their suppliers 
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are developing their own fully circular capsule collections 
according to strict sustainability criteria following appro-
priate training and advice. The goal is to serve as a blue-
print for closing the loop in the textile industry. 

As industry-wide change is necessary for the success of 
the circularity concept, we also want our actions to have 
an impact beyond the Otto  Group. With this in mind, 
we supported the World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF) as 
a sponsor of the “Model Germany Circular Economy” 
project in 2023. As part of the study, scientific institutes 
have developed recommendations for circular measures 
that are central to environmental protection and securing 
raw materials. The study also shows which policy instru-
ments can be used in various sectors to drive forward the 
transformation to a truly circular economy. The WWF study 
is also aimed at making a key contribution to the polit-
ical discourse within the framework of the National Circu-
larity Strategy announced by the German government. 
Recommendations for action can also be derived for the 
Otto Group’s business model – for example, the promo-
tion of circular solutions such as second-hand, repair and 
recycling or, looking ahead, the development of a resource 
reduction target.

Digital responsibility

Digital technologies and solutions are important 
throughout our entire value chain. This applies to the 
extraction of resources, their use and disposal, and the 
recycling of our products, as well as the daily work of 
our employees. Digitization is fundamentally changing 
the way we live and work. It creates new opportuni-
ties for participation, design and transparency, but the 
rapid pace of change also brings challenges. Our under-
standing of what it means to be digitally responsible 
is correspondingly broad: In our own operations and 
beyond, we want to help shape the future of work in the 
digital age and promote learning with and about digital 
technologies. We want to harness the potential of tech-
nology to conserve natural resources and promote the 
ethical use of artificial intelligence. We also look at our 
own digital footprint and harness the power of cross-
sector collaboration: Through initiatives and projects, 
we foster discourse between business, government, 
academia, and civil society to create a responsible 
framework for human-centric digitization. The compa-
nies in the Otto Group are moving ahead with projects 
in the areas of data and awareness, the future of work, 
digital education and environmental protection. The 
measures and initiatives are as diverse as our Group 
companies. The common goal is to put digital technol-
ogies and innovations to work for people and the envi-
ronment – because digitization should not be an end in 
itself.

Transformational goal
We shape a value-oriented 
digitization for people and 
society.

Core priority

We are gathering internal experience 
through initiatives and pilot projects in the 
areas of Digital Responsibility such as  
the future of work, data and awareness, 
digital education, and environmental 
protection.
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Future of work

Social discourse in the context of partnerships
We are continuously involved in the social discourse on 
value-oriented digitization. As part of the ZukunftsWerte 
initiative, representatives from business, academia, poli-
tics and civil society came together in 2023 to discuss 
challenges and concrete solutions relating to the future 
of work and digital education, with a focus on retraining 
and skills shortages. In addition, another exchange format 
of the initiative focused on the opportunity-oriented and 
responsible use of artificial intelligence and its design. 
We were also actively involved, as a founding member, 
in the Corporate Digital Responsibility (CDR) initiative of 
the German Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature 
Conservation, Nuclear Safety and Consumer Protection 
(Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz, nukleare 
Sicherheit und Verbraucherschutz). The aim is to promote 
the principles laid down in the CDR Code of Conduct in 
business and society, to continuously improve the effec-
tiveness of the measures taken, and to report annually on 
the appropriate measures.

Data and awareness

Digital data cleaning
The Otto  Group conducts an annual “data cleaning” 
campaign to draw employees’ attention to the envi-
ronmental impact of storing unused data and to moti-
vate them and others to consciously reduce the amount 
of data during the campaign period. Colleagues are 
encouraged to clean up their data storage with the help 
of checklists and video tutorials. The data cleaning was 
launched by the Baur Group in 2021 and extended to 
other Group companies as “Digital Spring Cleaning” in 
2022. In September 2023, the campaign took place for 
the first time together with the Digital Sustainability Days 
under the name #CRX23 (Corporate Responsibility Expe-
rience) ( → see Empowered Employees chapter). In 2023, 
the campaign received attention and support beyond 
the Otto Group through the Corporate Digital Responsi-
bility (CDR) Initiative by the German Federal Ministry for 
the Environment, Nature Conservation, Nuclear Safety 
and Consumer Protection (BMUV). The CDR initiative has 
inspired around 50 companies to participate and has 
gained the patronage of the Federal Minister for the Envi-
ronment, Steffi Lemke.

Digital education

Masterplan 
As an employer, we feel a responsibility to shape the digital 
world of work in the interests of our employees. A digital 
learning culture is a central aspect of the cultural change 
that the Otto Group has been intensively promoting for 
years. One of our most important tools is Masterplan, 
the digital learning platform that we introduced as part  
of the Group-wide training initiative TechUcation. It 
enables us to address relevant topics on a broad basis 
within the organization. In the reporting year, three 
learning paths were created on the topic of artificial intel-
ligence. The first learning path provides an introduction 
to AI and its various applications in the Otto Group, while 
the second part focuses on generative artificial intelli-
gence (GenAI). In addition to a general understanding 
of GenAI, the practical application of various tools (e.g., 
ogGPT, → see p. 9) is explained. The third learning path 
focuses on the implementation of AI solutions and 
supports employees in the concrete introduction and use 
of artificial intelligence. New learning content has also 
been made available for commercial employees who 
have successfully completed the basic course on digiti-
zation in 2022, including a learning path on “Digitization 
and Robotics.” The advanced learning content enables 
and encourages employees to actively shape the digital 
transformation in the commercial sector. Since the intro-
duction of Masterplan in 2020, around 37,000 employees 
have learned about topics related to digitization.

Technophilia Week in the Otto Group
In November 2023, the group-wide IT provider of the 
Otto  Group organized the “Technophilia Week” for the 
third time. For the first time, this week was not only open 
to the Group’s technology enthusiasts – around half of the 
presentations were also open to external participants. The 
“Sustainability@Otto Group IT” event focused on the topic 
of sustainability and specific environment and climate 
protection measures in the IT sector. A total of around 600 
participants attended the series of events. 

Learning to handle data in everyday work routine
To promote digital skills throughout the company, Eos 
launched the “Data Skills” project in 2023. The IT training 
was developed by internal experts in collaboration with 
the Human Resources department and is aimed specif-
ically at non-IT employees in leadership positions. The 
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online training series includes nine live modules on topics 
such as automation, cloud computing, and IT project 
management, which have been completed by a total of 
50 participants in small groups. The content is offered in 
English to reach all international colleagues of the Eos 
Group. 

In collaboration with the Human Resources, Corporate 
Responsibility and IT departments, the Witt Group has also 
developed a learning series for all commercial employees 
of the Witt Group. The course consists of Masterplan 
modules and supplementary live sessions with internal 
experts on data skills. The learning modules can be taken 
on a voluntary basis and have been completed more than 
950 times on the Masterplan learning platform by the end 
of 2023.

In order to strengthen the data skills of employees and to 
promote data-based work in all departments, the Group 
company Otto Austria Group (formerly Unito) has been 
offering colleagues on-site and remote workshops via 
the “Data School” since 2023. During the training sessions, 
participants not only receive relevant information on the 
respective topic, but also have the opportunity to try out 
the tools presented, such as SQL or Python. The launch 
was successful: Colleagues are submitting ideas for addi-
tional workshops, and new formats such as asynchronous 
learning videos are being developed.

Teacher training program
Beyond our own business activities, we also contribute 
our digitization experience and skills to society. The digital 
teacher training program TechUcation@school is a coop-
eration between the Hamburg School Authority, the 
Hamburg State Institute for Teacher Training and School 
Development, and the Otto Group. School education in a 
digital culture is one of the most important issues of our 
time, and in addition to a pedagogical concept and appro-
priate technological equipment, the training of teachers 
is a key factor. TechUcation@school offers teachers in 
Hamburg a free service on Youtube, complemented by an 
extended program on the lms.lernen.hamburg platform of 
the School Authority. In 2023, we also welcomed the Peda-
gogical State Institute Rhineland-Palatinate (Pädagogis-
ches Landesinstitut Rheinland-Pfalz) and the State Media 
Center Baden-Württemberg (Landesmedienzentrum 
Baden-Württemberg) as new cooperation partners. This 
gives even more teachers access to the extensive learning 
paths. The offer will be extended to other German states 
in 2024.

ReDI School of Digital Integration
In partnership with the Hamburg Department of 
Economics and Innovation, the Holistic Foundation, and 
Microsoft, we have been supporting the establishment 
of the ReDI School of Digital Integration in Hamburg 
since 2022. The school supports future IT talents with a 
refugee or migration background in their education and 
vocational training. In addition to financial contributions 
and donations in kind, the support of volunteer instruc-
tors with IT skills is crucial to the success of the concept. 
In the reporting year, employees from the IT depart-
ments at OTTO and the Otto Group Holding were able to 
get involved. In the two semesters of 2023, 257 students, 
61  percent of whom were women, from 42 nations 
completed courses in web development, user-centered 
design, data analytics, and cloud computing.

Displaying the CO₂e footprint via app
Since 2020, the CO2e emissions of the Group-wide 
internal IT provider, including the production of IT 
equipment, have been regularly determined as part 
of the “Carbon Footprint” project. Since October 
2022, several thousand employees of OTTO and the 
Otto Group Holding and since September 2023 also 
of the Otto Group Solution Provider have been able 
to view their work-related, personally generated 
CO2e emissions via a footprint app. For the digital 
data cleaning in 2023, Bonprix and Baur also had 
access to the app. Employees could track how their 
storage volume and related CO2e emissions devel-
oped during the campaign. 
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Environmental protection

AI controls purchasing
The Challenge Early Order Prediction Service, known as 
CHEOPS, was developed by Otto Group Holding in 2019 
to help colleagues in purchasing predict demand for new 
items using artificial intelligence. This involves analyzing 
historical product and customer data in order to adjust 
purchase quantities and reduce surpluses. Since 2019, 
OTTO has developed its own solution for future sales 
forecasts for the OTTO, Baur and Lascana brands with 
“AI Forecasting” from OTTO BI, which will also be offered 
to platform partners in the future. “AI Forecasting” serves 
the companies as the basis for comprehensive control for 
retailers and logistics.

At Bonprix, the internal AI product ASA is used to classify 
which fashion items are likely to be bestsellers and which 
are likely to be less in demand before their production 
begins. The goal is to avoid surpluses and optimally align 
the product range with customer preferences. Bonprix’s 
replenishment process is also supported by the use of 
other internal forecasting tools. These help to minimize 
supply gaps and avoid overstocking.

DigiPac
We also use digitization in the downstream supply chain 
on the way to our customers. As part of the DigiPac 
project, Hermes Fulfilment and Bonprix have been working 
together since December 2022 to digitize the packing 
process for customer shipments. This means that paper 
documents such as invoices or delivery notes will no longer 
be included with shipments. The elimination of paper docu-
ments not only speeds up the shipping process, but also 
cuts down on material resources, eliminating 7.7 million 
printed delivery slips in the first year. The process began 
in Germany and the Netherlands and was expanded to 
France and Belgium in August 2023, with other countries to 
follow. DigiPac 2.0 will continue the digital transformation 
of Hermes Fulfilment and Bonprix. Whereas previously only 
multi-item parcels were taken into account, DigiPac 2.0 
will also include single-item parcels in the digital packing 
process. The distinction is based on the fact that the 
packing of multi-piece and single-piece shipments are 
two separate processes, and the digitization of multi-
piece shipments was started first. Our goal is to further 
expand the elimination of printed receipts.
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Empowered employees

Our employees are the experts on our products, 
processes, services and interactions with our customers. 
Their knowledge and ideas are essential to helping us 
as a Group to achieve our sustainability goals. That’s 
why it’s important for us to create transparency and 
opportunities for our employees to get involved. We 
provide them with information and knowledge about 
sustainability and actively communicate about our CR 
activities through the intranet, sustainability-related 
communities, or through presentations and events. We 
also support our employees in integrating sustainability 
measures into their daily work routine.

Step by step, we are embedding sustainability more 
deeply in the Group
The Group companies and the Otto Group Holding organ-
ized and continued to expand a variety of measures for 
employees during the reporting year. For example, sustain-
ability is an integral part of the onboarding programs for 
new colleagues in many Group companies. In addition, we 
offer various training opportunities, such as expert pres-
entations at the Digital Sustainability Days and learning 
paths on the Masterplan e-learning platform ( → see 
Digital Responsibility chapter). In the reporting year, 
we published new videos on topics such as the German 
Supply Chain Due Diligence Act (LkSG) and Cotton made 
in Africa. To achieve our core priorities, make the most of 
synergies and embed sustainability even more deeply 
throughout the company, we also rely on quarterly knowl-
edge exchanges with and between the Empowered 
Employees experts of the Group companies.

Furthermore, we continued working on integrating 
sustainability into the core processes of our employees’ 
activities this reporting year. The diversity of our Group 
companies’ business models allows for different imple-
mentations. For example, OTTO introduced the multiplier 
model as part of the realignment of the sustainability area 
in 2022. This model is designed to implement the sustain-
ability strategy in the departments and to strengthen 
sustainability awareness throughout the OTTO organ-
ization. In departments that are important for the CR 
strategy, such as purchasing or logistics, the model will 
be used to create positions that are located in the OTTO 
sustainability area and will be implemented operationally 
in the individual departments. This enables close coop-
eration between the departments and integrates the 
sustainability strategy into the company’s core processes. 

Mind shift:  
New awareness
The future will be built by human hand. That’s why we as the Otto Group deliberately 
give our employees and customers space to come to an appreciation of sustainability 
in their personal lives and working routines, for example by creating transparency and 
opportunities for participation in corporate responsibility at the Otto Group Holding 
and its Group companies. We want to inspire our customers along the customer 
journey with sustainability and enable them to make more conscious purchasing 
decisions by providing transparent information about the sustainable features of 
our products and services.

Transformational goal
We empower our employees to 
experience and actively shape 
sustainability.

Core priority

We communicate our CR commitment 
and activities to our employees through 
various offers and contact points and 
create the framework and opportunities 
for them to experience sustainability, 
actively shape it and integrate it into their 
work.
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The future shaping the future
In the reporting year, our trainees again implemented 
various sustainability projects and thus contributed to the 
fulfillment of our sustainability strategy:

• �Organizing and carrying out a stream cleanup as part of 
a stream sponsorship at Baur

• A rescue campaign for fawns at Frankonia

• �A clothes swap by the “Greenfluencer” trainee initiative 
at the Witt Group

• �supporting the organization of the digital Sustainability 
Days by the “GOOD Project” trainee initiative at OTTO

• �Energy and Environment Days with information and 
participation opportunities for trainees at Hermes 
Fulfilment

Another example is Sheego: All relevant departments 
were asked to develop concrete measures. One result is 
the switch from paper to digital invoices in the Finance 
and Controlling department.

Shaping sustainability together
We want to inform our employees about the various 
dimensions of sustainability and motivate them to 
contribute own ideas into their daily work routine. To 
this end, we have established various communities, such 
as the cross-company digital GOOD Community. This is 
open to all colleagues interested in sustainability. With 
weekly contributions, it regularly reaches several hundred 
colleagues. In addition to receiving information, members 
can also publish their own contributions and exchange 
ideas with colleagues. Posts include news from the 
Otto Group, tips and tricks for an environmentally friendly 
everyday life or seasonal recipe ideas.

Digital Sustainability Days
In September 2023, our Sustainability Days took place, 
organized together with the digital data cleaning ( → see 
Digital Responsibility chapter) under the common name 
#CRX23 (Corporate Responsibility Experience). In order 
to reach as many colleagues as possible, we conducted 
the Sustainability Days digitally and across the company. 
Some of the events were also open to external guests, 
enabling an exchange between business, science, politics 
and civil society. A project group consisting of colleagues 
from the Otto Group Holding and various Group compa-
nies designed a diverse program with internal and 
external speakers. For example, exclusive deep-dive 
sessions were offered for Otto Group employees to discuss 
topics such as social and environmental responsibility in 
purchasing markets, sustainability in the capital market 
and the climate crisis. Insights into current sustainability 
topics such as the Supply Chain Due Diligence Act or the 
Science Based Targets Initiative were also provided. The 
Sustainability Days met with great interest, with around 
1,500 participants actively participating in the digital 
discussions.

When food is left over after an event?
It’s not uncommon for some catering food to be left 
over after an event and for it to land in the trash due 
to hygiene regulations. We want to address this by 
creating an opportunity to donate leftover food. 
Since November 2023, our employees have been 
able to share this with their colleagues through our 
internal app OG2GO. All they have to do is upload a 
photo of the food to the “FoodShare” channel and 
announce when and where colleagues can help 
themselves. 
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Shaping the value chain together
As part of our core priorities, we provide our customers 
with guidance to help them make conscious consump-
tion decisions. The success of our approach depends on 
our understanding of our customers’ wishes and needs. 
Do they want to know what raw materials we use? And 
how do we present information about the sustainability 
aspects of our products in a way that is clear, inform-
ative and easy to understand? We regularly gather 
customer insights to understand what matters to our 
customers about our products, services and their expe-
rience throughout the customer journey, for example 
through customer surveys or user behavior in our stores. 
We try to ensure that our approach is best aligned with our 
customers’ wishes and requirements. In the downstream 
value chain, we are dependent on the specific actions of 
our customers. Once a product is purchased, we no longer 
have direct control over its use and return to the cycle. By 
informing our customers about proper disposal methods 
and providing take-back systems, we make it easier for 
them to live more sustainably in their daily lives.

Making sustainability more visible 
We want to increase the proportion of sustainability- 
related products offered by our Group companies. At the 
same time, our expectations regarding the definition of 
these products are constantly growing, as both our level 
of ambition and the requirements of our customers, as 
well as regulatory requirements, continue to evolve. We 
welcome public and political debate on what makes a 
more sustainable product and how information should be 
communicated. 

Our goal is to provide guidance to our customers and 
help them to make more informed purchasing decisions. 
In 2023, we continued to work on labeling products in our 
stores that have a proven environmental or social advan-
tage over conventional items. We do this by highlighting 
the sustainability feature – such as organic cotton – on 
the product and making other information transparent.

Collections
Since 2023, customers have been able to purchase 
garments from two Circular Collections at Bonprix for 
the first time. Both collections include styles for women, 
men and children. They are designed to be timeless, 
durable, and recyclable, as well as fashionable items that 
customers can enjoy for a long time. In addition, following 
the success in 2022, OTTO launched a second Circular 
Collection in 2023 ( → see Circularity chapter) in coopera-
tion with the company circular.fashion.

To prevent clothing that no longer fits from ending up in 
the trash, Sheego has introduced a “Fits Me Guarantee” for 
its customers. Within one year, customers can exchange 
their favorite items for a different size free of charge if 
they no longer fit. The innovative service applies to 33 key 
styles, with a focus on denim as well as other selected 
items such as blouses, T-shirts and pants. The returned 
garments will be reused or recycled through the “Platz 
schaffen mit Herz” (Creating space with heart) project. 

Conscious customers

With our products and services, we appeal to the entire 
population and want to have a broad impact. We would 
like to make our customers aware of sustainability along 
the entire customer journey and inspire them to adopt 
more sustainable lifestyles. In line with our CR strategy, 
we therefore create incentives for more conscious 
consumption and continuously improve the transpar-
ency of the sustainability features of our products.

Transformational goal
We enable and inspire our 
customers to make conscious 
and sustainable decisions.

Core priority

We empower our customers to make 
conscious consumption decisions 
throughout the entire customer journey, 
and ensure the transparency of 
sustainability-related product features.
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Bonus programs
Doing good with your purchase – this is the motto of the 
OTTO Up customer loyalty program. Customers support 
the preservation of species diversity with their partici- 
pation. In the program, wildflowers are being planted on 
photovoltaic open spaces at two locations in Rhineland- 
Palatinate (Beilingen) and Saxony-Anhalt (Gröningen). 
Customers receive double points for purchasing a more 
sustainable item.

At Limango, customers are also rewarded for choosing 
products with sustainability features through individual 
actions within the “family Star” bonus program: For 
organic cotton items purchased during certain time-
limited promotions, they earn family points that can be 
redeemed for other shopping benefits.

What do women expect from fashion and those 
responsible for fashion? 

Together with the market research institute Ipsos, 
Bonprix asked more than 7,000 women in Germany, 
Austria, Switzerland, France, the Netherlands, Italy and 
Poland how they deal with issues such as sustainability* 
in the textile industry. The results of the International 
Fashion Report show that there is a growing aware-
ness, but also uncertainty and ambivalence. 

In the seven countries studied, about two-thirds 
(65 percent) of surveyed women are concerned about 
sustainability. Awareness of sustainability appears to be 
particularly high in Poland (73 percent), France (72 percent) 
and Italy (71 percent). In Germany, sustainability has been 
less in the spotlight to date, but it is also a relevant issue 
for more than half (55 percent) of women. In addition, 
nearly six in ten (59 percent) of all respondents consider 
sustainable materials when buying clothing. Natural 
fibers are popular: Cotton (90 percent), organic cotton 

(72 percent) and linen (64 percent) are the most well-
known and popular fibers. Fair wages are also impor-
tant to Germans (49 percent) – as well as to Austrians 
(51 percent), Swiss (48 percent) and Dutch (37 percent). 
Polish women are particularly concerned about the 
durability of clothing (57 percent) and environmentally 
friendly materials (42 percent), the most of all respond-
ents. Compared to other countries, French women are 
more concerned about water-conserving manufacturing 
processes (27 percent), transparency about production 
sites (24 percent) and transparency about the environ-
mental impact of textile production (21 percent).

In addition, more than three-quarters (76 percent) of all 
women find sustainability in fashion very complicated. 
They are often unsure of what is truly sustainable. There 
is one point on which respondents from all seven coun-
tries agree: The vast majority of women (86 percent) 
appreciate fashion companies putting more emphasis 
on sustainability.

* �Sustainability was understood here as meeting daily needs in a way that minimizes 
negative impacts on people and the environment.

of all respondents appreciate 
that fashion providers are 
putting more emphasis on 
sustainability

86%
of Italian women like  
circular fashion 

82%
of all women surveyed pay 
attention to sustainability in 
fashion

65%
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Foreword 
The Group Management Report of the Otto Group for the 
year ended 29 February 2024 contains changes to its struc-
ture and presentation compared to the Group Manage-
ment Reports of previous years. These changes are part of a 
comprehensive revision of the Consolidated Financial State-
ments and the Group Management Report. They contribute 
to the principle of clarity and transparency in reporting. A 
key new feature is a separate, expanded section on the Otto 
Group’s key performance indicators relevant to manage-
ment control, together with their definitions, and an expan-
sion of the main key performance indicators (hereinafter 
referred to as relevant financial and non-financial indicators) 
in accordance with DRS 20 (German Accounting Standard 
No. 20). In addition, the structure has been changed so that, 
for example, the overall statement on the Group’s course of 
business and position is now presented in a separate section. 
With the new structure of the Group Management Report 
and a stronger focus on key information, the scope of the 
reporting has been reduced. 

Basic information 
about the Group

Group overview and 
business model 

Otto (GmbH & Co KG), with its registered office and place 
of management in Hamburg, and the other Group compa-
nies–hereinafter referred to as the Otto Group–are a glob-
ally active group of retailers and retail-related service 
providers with an average of 38,456 employees1 and sales 
of EUR  15.0 billion in the 2023/24 financial year. The Otto 
Group’s primary markets are Germany, the rest of Europe 
and the USA. 

The Otto Group’s business activities are divided into stra-
tegic business areas, which are described below and which 
also represent the Group’s reporting segments.

The Otto Group’s trading activities, which constitute its core 
business, are conducted in the Platforms, Brand Concepts 
and Retailers segments. The trading activities include 
product ranges such as fashion, shoes and lifestyle prod-
ucts, furniture and home accessories, toys, consumer elec-
tronics, sports, and leisure products plus DIY product ranges 
for renovations and gardening. The primary sales channels 
are e-commerce, brick-and-mortar retail, and catalog. The 
Otto Group sources various products for its trading activities 
from a large number of countries. It does not own any facil-
ities, but works with business partners (suppliers) who in turn 
place orders with various facilities. The Otto Group’s main 
sourcing countries in terms of the respective final production 
manufacturers are China, India and Turkey.

The main sources of revenue in the Platforms, Brand Concepts 
and Retailers segments are not only revenue from the sale of 
goods and the related shipping and service offerings, but also 
from brokerage and advertising services. In total, approxi-
mately 79% of the revenues of these three segments in the 
2023/24 financial year will be generated in the e-commerce 
sector (2022/23: approximately 81%), with the remainder 
coming from catalogs and brick-and-mortar retail.

The Platforms segment basically includes the two e-com-
merce platforms OTTO and About You, whose strategic 
focus – besides their own trading business – is also on oper-
ating a marketplace solution where participating partners 
sell goods and services to end customers. In addition to the 
trading business and associated B2C services, B2B services 

1	 A more detailed presentation is found in the Corporate Responsibility section.
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closely related to the trading business are offered as well. 
In the 2023/24 financial year, the online share of sales in 
the Platforms segment was approximately 93% (2022/23: 
approximately 95%). As a result of digitization in recent years, 
sales via catalogs have declined sharply and, like brick-and-
mortar retail, play a negligible role in this segment.

The Brand Concepts segment involves internationally repre-
sented vertical concepts and product brands – including 
the bonprix Group, Crate and Barrel Group and the Witt 
Group – that sell both products of their own brands as well 
as licensed brands to end customers. The company mainly 
uses its own sales channels for this, along with e-commerce, 
brick-and-mortar retail, and catalogs. The online share of 
sales in the Brand Concepts segment is approximately 63% 
in the 2023/24 financial year (2022/23: approximately 65%). 
The second significant sales channel in this segment is brick-
and-mortar retail, primarily due to the large number of Crate 
and Barrel Group stores in the USA and Canada and the Witt 
Group stores, primarily in southern Germany.

The Retailers segment consists of multichannel retail 
concepts that primarily buy and sell products belonging to 
their own and third-party brands. This segment includes, 
among others, the retail activities of the Baur Group 
including Otto Austria Group GmbH (until 29 February 2024: 
UNITO Versand & Dienstleistungen GmbH) in Austria, the 
shopping offers of the Limango Group, the Manufactum 
Group and, until the discontinuation of operations in 
December 2023, myToys.de GmbH. In this segment, e-com-
merce is also a focal point in the sales channels. The online 
share of sales in the Retailers segment is approximately 81% 
in the 2023/24 financial year (2022/23: approximately 83%). 
Brick-and-mortar retail is also an important sales channel 
in this segment due to the stores of the Manufactum Group 
and the Frankonia Group. Sales via catalogs are negligible in 
the Retailers segment. 

The Services segment mainly comprises the extensive logis-
tics services of the Hermes Group and the purchasing activi-
ties of the Otto International Group. These sub-groups deliver 
services both to customers outside the Otto Group and to 
Group companies from the Platforms, Brand Concepts, and 
Retailers segments. Dominating this segment is the Hermes 
Group, which offers numerous services all along the logistics 
value chain, from transport and warehousing to delivery to 
private and business customers. In the Hermes Group, the 
Hermes Fulfilment Group plays a key role in the Otto Group’s 
trading activities with its warehousing activities.

The Financial Services segment includes the range of 
financial services within the Otto Group. The interna-
tional EOS Group, one of the leading investors and experts 
in the technology-based processing of non-performing 
receivables, is behind the main activities in this segment. 
Its numerous Group companies offer a range of different 
services in the area of receivables management.

Key figures for 
management control  
of the Group
Revenue and income from customer financing–hereinafter 
referred to simply as revenue–, earnings before interest and 
tax (EBIT) and the debt service ratio (net financial debt to 
cash EBITDA) are the relevant financial indicators used to 
manage the group and to define strategic goals. In addi-
tion to other earnings levels, the return on capital employed 
(ROCE), the debt to equity ratio and the Group equity ratio 
are also important financial indicators for the Otto Group. 
In addition, relevant non-financial indicators relating to 
customer satisfaction and sustainability are taken into 
account within the Otto Group.

Growth

In the dynamic market environment of e-commerce, the 
Otto Group’s fundamental objective is to achieve ambitious 
growth. Revenue growth is also a financial indicator of the 
attractiveness of the products and services on offer and ulti-
mately of customer satisfaction. Group and segment reve-
nues on a comparable basis are therefore the key perfor-
mance indicators. To determine the comparable basis, 
the changes in the scope of consolidation are factored in 
through a corresponding adjustment of the relevant period 
of the previous year to align with the revenue growth 
reported (proportionately) in the reporting year. Liquida-
tions and closures of operations are treated as changes 
in scope of consolidation. Currency translation effects are 
accounted for in the presentation of comparable year-over-
year revenue growth in the current reporting year by trans-
lating revenue at the average exchange rate of the compar-
ative period. When forecasting revenue growth, no changes 
in average exchange rates are assumed, i.e., the average 
exchange rates of the reporting period are used.

In order to reflect the platform business model, the Gross 
Merchandise Value (GMV) is additionally used for certain 
sub-groups to represent revenue growth. The GMV repre-
sents the value of all goods, including sales tax and excluding 
returns, regardless of whether they are reported as own 
revenue or commission sales to marketplace partners. In 
particular, it excludes B2B and B2C service revenues, sales 
reductions and customer financing revenues. In the financial 
report, the GMV is currently shown for the Group company 
OTTO.2

2	  Otto (GmbH & Co KG) with its operational business activities
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Profitability

EBIT is the key indicator used to measure the Otto Group’s 
operating performance. As a matter of principle, EBIT is an 
unadjusted figure, i.e., special effects such as restructuring 
expenses or expenses for share-based payments are not 
adjusted. The effects of changes in the scope of consolida-
tion are explained accordingly in the financial report.

Financial performance

In addition to growth and profitability, financial perfor-
mance is another important component in the management 
control of the Otto Group. The relevant financial indicator 
here is the debt service ratio. It is the ratio of net financial 
debt to cash EBITDA. The ratio reflects the Otto Group’s full 
debt repayment capability by indicating the theoretical 
period for full repayment of net financial debt from cash 
EBITDA. Net financial debt comprises interest-bearing finan-
cial liabilities, in particular liabilities from bonds and other 
notes payable, from leases and bank liabilities, less (liquid) 
securities and cash and cash equivalents. Further details 
on the individual components can be found in the finan-
cial report. With regard to cash EBITDA, the specifics of the 
financial services business model are taken into account by 
increasing the reported EBITDA by repayments on receiva-
bles packages, adjusted for non-cash allowances within the 
meaning of IFRS 9, and repayments from sales proceeds 
from real estate disposals in the EOS Group. The reason for 
this is that, in accordance with IFRS, the operating returns 
from financial services – unlike returns from other invest-
ments – are not shown in full in EBITDA, but are already 
netted against this amortization component. Cash EBITDA 
is the relevant indicator for calculating the debt repayment 
period. 

Another financial performance indicator is the debt to 
equity ratio. In the Otto Group, it measures the ratio of net 
financial debt to Group equity. Group equity corresponds to 
the amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet.

Another financial performance indicator is the equity ratio. 
This indicator describes the ratio of reported Group equity 
to total assets according to the consolidated balance sheet.

Capital efficiency

The ROCE measures the return on the Group’s operating 
activities. It measures how efficiently and profitably the 
Otto Group has used its capital employed. To calculate 
ROCE, the EBIT is viewed in relation to average capital 
employed. Capital employed comprises the assets required 
for the operating business, which were used to generate 
the reported EBIT. These funds are primarily tied up in fixed 
assets and working capital. The amount of capital empoyed 
is subject to significant seasonal fluctuations, for example 
due to inventory changes during the year or as a result of 
investments in intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment. Capital employed is not determined on an 
ongoing basis, but is calculated on certain reporting dates. 
In order to come as close as possible to the capital actually 
tied up in the current financial year, an average value is used 
for the capital employed. In the Otto Group, this is based on 
the quarterly reporting dates. The average actual figures are 
calculated on a rolling basis over the last five quarters. 

Customer satisfaction

The Otto Group’s goal for its customers is to ideally exceed 
their expectations. Customer satisfaction is measured using 
the Net Promoter Score (NPS), which is based on the recom-
mendation from the customer’s perspective. The NPS is 
a relevant non-financial indicator that is calculated and 
planned at the level of individual selected Group companies.

Sustainability

The Otto Group’s current corporate responsibility strategy–
hereinafter referred to as the CR strategy–comprises seven 
topic areas of Climate, Sustainable Materials, Supply Chain, 
Circularity, Conscious Customers, Empowered Employees 
and Digital Responsibility with corresponding transforma-
tional goals. Within the topic areas, core priorities have 
been defined, which are relevant non-financial indicators 
for the management control of the Group. For the first four 
topic areas and the associated core priorities, quantitative 
values exist at the level of the Otto Group. Further details 
on the CR strategy and the content of the topic areas and 
the associated core priorities can be found in the Sustaina-
bility section.

The Executive Board is convinced that the Otto Group bears 
responsibility for the environmental and social impacts of 
its business activities and that sustainability is the basis for 
the Group’s long-term economic success. For this reason, the 
variable remuneration of the Executive Board members has 
been linked to the achievement of sustainability goals since 
the 2014/15 financial year. 

Otto Group 
Annual Report 2023/24 64Group Management 

Report



Group strategy

Shareholder vision, business 
mandate, and mission statement 

The Otto Group’s business is based on the shareholder vision 
“Responsible commerce that inspires,” which was devel-
oped with the Executive Board. This vision highlights the 
importance of sustainable retail and practices and clearly 
expresses the goal of combining business success with social 
and environmental responsibility.

Together with the shareholders’ business mandate, this 
shareholder vision defines the framework and guiding prin-
ciples for developing and implementing the Otto Group’s 
enduringly profitable business models. “Together we push 
the limits” is the guiding principle of a collaborative mission 
statement devised in 2017 and forms the strategic corner-
stone of the Otto Group.

“Responsible commerce that inspires” thus reflects the direc-
tion chosen by the shareholders, which, together with the 
mission statement, provides the framework for the Otto 
Group’s strategic development. The “Otto Group Path” 
fleshes out this framework in greater detail. The Otto Group 
Path describes the Group’s growth journey since 2017. It 
defines strategic goals, establishes focus areas for all Group 
companies in the Otto Group, and provides an action frame-
work for both the portfolio strategy and the strategy for 
compliance with social and environmental responsibility. 

The 5-year targets formulated by the Otto Group Path in 
2017 were achieved ahead of schedule, allowing the Otto 
Group Path to be further developed in the 2020/21 finan-
cial year with a planning period until the 2025/26 finan-
cial year. As part of a focused growth strategy, the Otto 
Group will position itself for the future through targeted 
investments in the expansion and development of existing 
and new business areas, while at the same time increasing 
efficiency, maintaining a solid capital structure and credit 
metrics to preserve the necessary financial flexibility for the 
future. The Executive Board is firmly convinced that long-
term economic success is only possible if it is in harmony 
with social and environmental responsibility–doing business 
sustainably means taking responsibility. For this reason, the 
Otto Group continues to set itself high sustainability goals 
in its CR strategy with commitments that include net zero 
emissions throughout the entire value chain by 2045.3

3	 A more detailed presentation of the CR strategy is provided in the Corporate 
Responsibility section.

Strategic goals and measurement 
of achievement of targets

The Otto Group pursues various strategic objectives: 
1.	 �To increase the geographical and business model 

diversification of the Otto Group’s portfolio of 
companies.

2.	 �To increase market share in the markets relevant to 
the Otto Group. 

3.	 �To ensure a competitive level of customer 
satisfaction. 

4.	 �To increase the Otto Group’s capital efficiency.

In order to achieve these targets and to ensure a solid capital 
structure and credit metrics, two key strategic conditions 
are necessary:

1.	 Ensuring sufficient profitability 
2.	 Maintaining good financial performance

The achievement of the targets is monitored using various 
indicators:

Revenue and earnings distribution by segments for 
the diversification target 
Geographical diversification is pursued by dynamically 
expanding into additional European markets and the USA, 
particularly through the Group companies in the Brand 
Concepts segment. The long-term goal is to reduce the 
dependence of revenues and earnings on the main sales 
market of Germany and to diversify the distribution of reve-
nues and earnings across the different business models of 
the Otto Group. The acquisition of the Medgate Group and 
the ClaraVital online shop in the 2022/23 financial year has 
laid the foundation for additional diversification of the busi-
ness model mix of the Otto Group.

Revenue to increase market share
In order to further increase the Otto Group’s market share 
in relevant markets, the Group aims to achieve long-term 
revenue growth in excess of the respective market growth. 

Net Promoter Score (NPS) to achieve competitive 
customer satisfaction 
The Otto Group focuses on its customers. The goal is to 
build long-term relationships with customers by putting 
their needs at the center of our activities. The creation of 
outstanding experiences should inspire customers. This is the 
clear ambition of the Otto Group and an essential part of 
the Otto Group Path. NPS is the relevant indicator for meas-
uring customer satisfaction. It measures the probability of 
recommendation (net promoters). NPS targets are defined 
annually and specifically for the various Group companies of 
the Otto Group, taking into account the respective compet-
itive environment and the associated trade-off between 
customer satisfaction and costs. The aim is to ensure 
sustainable competitive customer satisfaction.
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ROCE to measure capital efficiency 
The Otto Group aims to achieve a ROCE of >10% in the long 
term. 

EBIT to measure profitability 
A high triple-digit EBIT (in EUR million) is the long-term target 
of the Otto Group. 

Debt service ratio and equity ratio to measure 
financial performance 
The long-term goal is to significantly improve the debt 
service ratio compared to the status quo. The Otto Group 
Path provides for the permanent maintenance of a Group 
equity ratio of at least 25%. 

Financial report

Macroeconomic and 
sector-specific conditions

Global economic development in 2023 varied widely. The 
war between Russia and Ukraine, which started at the begin-
ning of 2022, led to a significant increase in consumer prices, 
especially energy prices, which have only declined slowly 
since then. Although policy stimuli such as stimulus pack-
ages or interest rate hikes by central banks led to a signifi-
cant decline in inflation, the high inflation rate weighed on 
real incomes and consumption. In addition, events in the 
Middle East affected international trade. 

There were significant differences in the economic dynamics 
of the various regions. In the euro area, weak private and 
public consumer spending slowed growth, and investment 
even declined in the second half of 2023. In contrast, overall 
economic development in the USA benefited from private 
consumption and a strong increase in exports at the end of 
the year, resulting in a positive contribution from net exports. 

In Germany, overall economic growth stagnated due to a 
decline in manufacturing and trade. Although inflation grad-
ually declined during the year, it remained at a high level 
with an increase of 5.9% compared to the previous year. 
Strong nominal wage growth failed to keep pace with high 
consumer prices, resulting in a slight decline in real dispos-
able income for the third consecutive year in 2023. This 
development had a significant impact on consumer senti-
ment in private households. For the year as a whole, private 
consumer spending fell at an inflation-adjusted rate of 0.7% 
(2022: +3.9%), with a nominal increase of 5.6% (2022: 10.9%). 
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The year-on-year change in real gross domestic product was 
as follows:

Year-on-year change in real GDP  
(in %)

World
2023 3.0

2022 3.3

Germany
2023 –0.3

2022 1.8

Euro area
2023 0.5

2022 3.4

USA
2023 2.5

2022 1.9

Against the backdrop of a volatile macroeconomic envi-
ronment, the German retail sector as a whole reported a 
nominal year-on-year increase in revenue of 2.3% in 2023 
(2022: 7.8%), but this resulted in an inflation-adjusted decline 
of 3.3% (2022: –0.6%). Within German retail, German online 
and mail-order sales were hit hard and saw their revenues 
from goods fall, according to the German E-Commerce and 
Distance Selling Trade Association (Bundesverband E-Com-
merce und Versandhandel [bevh]), by 11.5% to EUR 80.9 billion 
in 2023 (2022: EUR 91.4 billion). The reluctance to purchase is 
reflected in the e-commerce sector with the first double-
digit negative revenue trend of 11.8% (2022: –8.8%), resulting 
in sales of goods in pure online business of EUR 79.7 billion 
(2022: EUR 90.4 billion). This was felt most keenly by multi-
channel retailers, some of whom saw their online sales 
decline as they shifted to their own brick-and-mortar stores. 
The decline in revenue in e-commerce in 2023 affects all 
product groups. Ranges in the clothing and entertainment 
sectors, including electronics and telecommunications prod-
ucts, computer accessories and games, as well as software 
products, experienced above-average drops in demand. 

The German transport and logistics industry was also signif-
icantly affected by the uncertain macroeconomic environ-
ment in 2023. A downward trend in industrial production 
and global trade affected the total transport volume in 
Germany, which decreased significantly by 5.9% (2022: –1.1%). 

In addition to the fiercely competitive market environment 
that continues to prevail, the development of wage costs 
and energy prices in particular have a noticeable effect 
on the German transport and logistics sector. The general 
level of costs in German goods transport remained signifi-
cantly upwardly oriented in 2023. Shipment volumes in the 
online and mail-order sales sector declined but remained at 
a high level, resulting in high capacity utilization at parcel 
delivery companies. The associated high demand for human 
resources was exacerbated by the persisting shortage of 
drivers in distribution logistics, which has intensified due to 
demographic change. As a result, there was also a signifi-
cant increase in personnel expenses in 2023 due to collective 
bargaining agreements and necessary wage adjustments, 
driven by the increase in the minimum wage to EUR 12 in 
October 2022. The previously exponential increase in fuel 
costs slowed in 2023 due to legislative relief measures, 
resulting in a decrease of 5.8% (2022: +26.8%). 

The development of the receivables management industry 
was influenced by the restrictive monetary policy and high 
inflation. Despite the economic uncertainties, a steady 
repayment pattern was observed in Germany, which kept 
the market volume for unsecured, non-performing receiv-
ables at a low level. While persistently high inflation gener-
ally has a negative impact on solvency, consumer restraint 
has a positive effect on the collectability of overdue receiv-
ables. In Europe, the market for the purchase of non-per-
forming loans (NPLs) has developed steadily. France and 
Spain account for the largest share of the European market 
volume for non-performing loans, with NPL ratios remaining 
at the previous year’s level. In Central, Eastern and South-
eastern Europe, the share of NPLs as a percentage of total 
loans continued to decline in almost all countries, resulting 
in historically low NPL ratios. Overall, the persistently high 
demand for credit, especially in the corporate sector, and 
a simultaneous deterioration in the conditions of the credit 
supply did not lead to a deterioration in credit quality in the 
form of a higher default rate.

For several years, the EOS Group has been investing in the 
real estate market with the aim of selling these proper-
ties at a later date. The increase in financing costs, which, 
together with the persistently high construction prices in 
the past year, weighed on the construction industry, led to 
a sharp decline in the volume of new residential construc-
tion loan business in the euro area, particularly in Germany. 
The market’s cyclical reluctance to invest was reflected in a 
decline in property transaction volumes. 
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Course of business 
The 2023/24 financial year was very challenging for all 
market participants, including the Otto Group, due to 
geopolitical changes, high interest and inflation rates and 
continued consumer restraint in important sales markets. 

The Otto Group responded to this situation by focusing on 
profitability and liquidity at the expense of revenue growth. 
In addition, with increased cost discipline, including the 
consideration of burdensome portfolio measures, significant 
operational progress was achieved in the 2023/24 finan-
cial year, which is reflected in the reported EBITDA. Burden-
some portfolio measures included the closure of the loss-
making businesses myToys.de GmbH and SAINT BRICE S.A. 
in Belgium. 

In the 2023/24 financial year, a high one-off impairment of 
intangible assets impacted the financial performance of the 
Otto Group, so that the achieved operational improvement 
is not reflected in the reported EBIT.

Despite the challenging market conditions, strategically rele-
vant topics were further advanced. Targeted investments in 
the transformation of business models, e.g., in the e-com-
merce platform otto.de, and in logistics processes, e.g., in the 
logistics centers in Altenkunstadt and Ilowa, strengthen the 
future viability of the Otto Group. 

Financial performance, as measured by the debt service 
ratio, has improved. 

Position of the Otto Group

Financial performance

The Group’s financial performance
The key indicators from the consolidated income statement 
can be summarized as follows:

Consolidated income statement (short form) 

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

Revenue and income from customer 
financing 14,995 16,190

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation 
and amortization (EBITDA) 744 589

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 11 22

Earnings before tax (EBT) –350 –224

Loss for the year –426 –413

The Otto Group’s revenue in the 2023/24 financial year was 
EUR 15.0 billion, down 7.4% on the previous year. On a compa-
rable basis, i.e., adjusted for exchange rate changes and 
changes in the entities consolidated, revenue decreased by 
6.0%. 

The Otto Group’s online revenues fell worldwide by 10.2% to 
around EUR 10.8 billion. This represents a decline of 9.1% on a 
comparable basis. The e-commerce association bevh fore-
casted a drop in revenue of 11.8% for the German e-com-
merce sector in the calendar year 2023. Within the Otto 
Group, online sales in Germany fell by 9.1% to EUR 6.7 billion in 
the 2023/24 financial year. This represents a decline of 8.6% 
on a comparable basis. Overall, the Otto Group’s business 
performance is well above the market average. 

With a slightly higher share of 56.6% (2022/23: 55.8%) in the 
Otto Group’s revenue, Germany remained the Group’s most 
significant regional sales market in the 2023/24 financial 
year. The rest of Europe accounted for 24.9% (2022/23: 23.7%) 
of revenue, while the USA contributed 17.5% (2022/23: 19.2%) 
to the Otto Group revenue. The revenue figures per region 
are as follows:
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Revenue by region 

2023/24 2022/23 Change Adjusted

EUR million EUR million in % in %

Germany 8,483 9,034 –6.1 –5.6

Rest of Europe 3,736 3,845 –2.8 –1.5

USA 2,625 3,105 –15.5 –12.3

Other regions 151 206 –26.7 –12.9

Group 14,995 16,190 –7.4 –6.0

Domestic 8,483 9,034 –6.1 –5.6

Foreign 6,512 7,156 –9.0 –6.5

 
Declining revenue growth in the Group’s major sales markets 
varied greatly. 

In the main sales market of Germany, the Group compa-
nies OTTO and About You, as well as the Witt and bonprix 
Groups, achieved high revenues, but the results did not reach 
the levels of the past financial year at all Group companies 
due to the reluctance to purchase. While the Witt Group 
was able to increase its revenue despite adverse conditions 
and the bonprix Group almost reached the previous year’s 
level with only a slight drop in revenue in its core market of 
Germany, the Group company OTTO, for example, experi-
enced a significant decline in its own retail business. The 
drop in revenue on a comparable basis was mainly miti-
gated by the adjustment of revenue from the now discon-
tinued business of myToys.de GmbH. 

Consumer reluctance to purchase also affected other parts 
of Europe, including the bonprix Group. At the same time, 
About You achieved significant sales growth in other Euro-
pean countries, resulting in a comparatively moderate drop 
in revenue in the rest of Europe within the Otto Group. 

The decline in revenue growth in the USA was mainly due 
to overall weak demand for home furnishings at the Crate 
and Barrel Group. Demand was affected by high mortgage 
rates, high inflation and the general weakness of the real 
estate market. 

Average sales per employee remained at the previous year’s 
level of EUR 0.4 million. 

The drop in revenue resulted in an absolute decrease in gross 
profit of EUR 276 million to EUR 7,113 million. This represents a 
decrease of 3.7%. However, the Group’s gross profit margin 
increased to 47.4% (2022/23: 45.6%) due to the propor-
tional decrease in the cost of purchased goods and services 
compared to revenue. A significant part of this increase 
came from the Crate and Barrel Group. The gross profit 
margin of the Crate and Barrel Group was mainly favored by 
higher selling prices as well as significantly lower container 
and freight costs compared to the previous year.

Other operating expenses decreased by EUR  536  million. 
This decrease was mainly the result of increased cost disci-
pline, including the reduced use of temporary staff, which 
was implemented in a large number of the Group compa-
nies of the Otto Group. In addition, significant savings 
were achieved, especially in advertising costs, in line with 
the focus on profitability. At the same time, variable costs, 
in particular shipping costs, decreased due to consumer 
reluctance to purchase and the resulting decline in revenue. 
Other operating income and personnel expenses developed 
in the opposite direction. Other operating income remained 
almost at the previous year’s level. The decrease in the 
2023/24 financial year amounted to EUR 12 million. Personnel 
expenses increased slightly despite a lower number of 
employees compared to the previous year. The decrease in 
the number of employees resulted from decisions to discon-
tinue the operations of certain Group companies as well as 
adjustments to the market environment. The increase of 
EUR 40 million was mainly due to restructuring expenses. 

The income (loss) from equity investments totaled 
EUR  –88  million, falling significantly, by EUR  44  million, 
during the 2023/24 financial year. This development is 
mainly due to higher losses at Hermes Germany GmbH. The 
challenging market environment and the resulting reluc-
tance to purchase also affected the distribution business of 
the Hermes Group in Germany. In addition, the decline of 
EUR 13 million in the income (loss) from equity investments 
can be attributed to investments in venture activities. The 
difficult overall economic conditions combined with a rise 
in interest rates also affected the venture capital market, 
leading to fair value adjustments on investments in venture 
funds.

As a result of the above-mentioned effects, earnings before 
interest, tax, depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA) 
amounted to EUR 744 million in the 2023/24 financial year, 
which was substantially above the previous year’s EBITDA 
figure of EUR 589 million.
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Depreciation and amortization on intangible assets, prop-
erty, plant and equipment, as well as right-of-use assets 
increased by EUR 166 million to EUR 733 million in the past 
financial year. While scheduled depreciation and amortiza-
tion amounted to EUR 530 million, only slightly above the 
previous year’s level of EUR 523 million, impairment charges 
increased from EUR  44  million to EUR  203  million. The 
increase was mainly due to impairment charges on intan-
gible assets. As part of the purchase price allocation at the 
time of the transitional consolidation of About You in the 
2021/22 financial year, customer lists and trademark rights 
were recognized. The impairment test in the 2023/24 finan-
cial year resulted in an impairment of these assets in the 
amount of EUR 175 million. 

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) in the 2023/24 finan-
cial year were EUR 11 million and therefore at the previous 
year’s level of EUR 22 million, taking into account the effects 
described above. EBIT is positive in absolute terms, and the 
EBIT margin remains at 0.1%, as in the previous year.

In the 2023/24 financial year, the Group’s net financial 
result amounted to EUR  –361  million, which represents a 
decline of EUR  115  million on the previous year’s figure of 
EUR –246 million. The net interest expense essentially doubled 
to EUR –164 million, a decrease of EUR –78 million, due to 
higher interest rates and a higher average debt base. In addi-
tion, the impact from the other financial result increased. It 
amounted to EUR –197 million after EUR –160 million in the 
previous year. The deterioration compared to the previous 
year is due to a number of partially opposing effects, 
including significant exchange rate changes. 

Earnings before tax (EBT) in the amount of EUR –350 million 
represents a significant decrease of EUR  126  million 
compared to the previous year’s figure of EUR –224 million. 

Income tax expenses for the 2023/24 financial year 
amounted to EUR 76 million and were therefore consider-
ably lower than the previous year’s income tax expenses of 
EUR 189 million. The previous year was mainly impacted by 
the elimination and non-recognition of deferred tax assets 
on loss carry-forwards.

The loss for the 2022/23 financial year of EUR 413 million rose 
by EUR 13 million to a loss for the year of EUR 426 million. 

Financial performance of the segments

Revenue/EBIT 

Umsatz EBIT

2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Platforms 6,219 6,528 –375 –414

Brand Concepts 5,318 5,950 239 145

Retailers 2,001 2,274 –82 –35

Services 374 390 –82 –11

Financial Services 1,002 983 420 452

Non-reportable 
segments and other 
activities

81 65 –11 –1

Holding/
Consolidation 0 0 –98 –114

Group 14,995 16,190 11 22

Platforms
The revenues of the Platforms segment contributed a rele-
vant share of 41.5% (2022/23: 40.3%) to the Otto Group’s reve-
nues. Reported revenue was below the previous year’s level 
with a slight decrease of 4.7%. There were no changes from 
adjustments due to exchange rate changes and effects 
from changes in the scope of consolidation. 

The most important markets for the Platforms segment are 
Germany and the rest of Europe.

The reported drop in revenue in the 2023/24 financial year 
is mainly due to reluctance to purchase in Germany. The 
decline is attributable to the Group company OTTO with its 
own retail business. The Group company OTTO reported a 
drop in revenue of 7.9% to around EUR 4.2 billion. However, 
the marketplace business on the e-commerce platform otto.
de is only included in this growth rate in the form of commis-
sion income with marketplace partners. The marketplace 
business is growing dynamically and has become highly 
relevant. The growth rate of the gross merchandise value 
(GMV) in the 2023/24 financial year represents an increase of 
1.5% compared to the previous year. Other Group companies 
belonging to the platform activities of the Group company 
OTTO are OTTO Payments GmbH, LASCANA FASHION, INC. 
in the USA, and Otto B.V. in the Netherlands. However, their 
revenues within the Platforms segment are of subordinate 
importance. About You achieved a significant increase in 
revenue, particularly in the rest of Europe, and contributed 
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EUR 1.9 billion4 to the revenue of the Platforms segment in 
the 2023/24 financial year. This represents a year-on-year 
increase of 2.6%.

Despite the drop in revenue in the Platforms segment, the 
gross profit rose by EUR 41 million due to a slightly dispropor-
tionate drop in purchased goods and services. In the 2023/24 
financial year, the gross profit margin was 37.9% and there-
fore above the previous year’s level (2022/23: 35.5%). In the 
Platforms segment, as in the previous year, additional meas-
ures to expand the e-commerce platform otto.de had a 
mid-double-digit million impact on earnings in the 2023/24 
financial year, although the Group company OTTO was able 
to significantly improve its EBIT. The operating loss of About 
You, which is included in the Platforms segment, was also 
significantly reduced compared to the previous year, but 
impairment losses on customer lists and trademark rights 
of About You amounted to EUR 175 million. Overall, EBIT in 
the Platforms segment improved, despite impairments, from 
EUR –414 million in the previous year to EUR –375 million in 
the 2023/24 financial year due to reduced marketing and 
fulfillment costs as well as new revenue sources for the 
OTTO platform.

Brand Concepts
The Brand Concepts segment contributed a share of 35.5% 
(2022/23: 36.8%) to the revenue of the Otto Group. Adjusted 
for exchange rate changes – primarily the development 
of the US dollar – and effects from changes in the scope 
of consolidation – primarily related to the discontinuation 
of the operating business of ambria GmbH within the Witt 
Group in January 2023 and the remaining trading activities 
of the bonprix Group in Russia – revenue fell by only 8.5% 
compared to the previous year when it fell by 10.6%. 

The most important sales markets for the Brand Concepts 
segment are the USA and Germany. 

For the Crate and Barrel furnishings and lifestyle group, 
which operates in the USA and Canada, revenue dropped 
by 13.7%, or 10.3% when adjusted for exchange rate changes. 
The decline in revenue growth was mainly due to overall 
weak demand for home furnishings at the Crate and 
Barrel Group. The decline in demand primarily affected 
online sales, while brick-and-mortar sales increased slightly 
compared to the previous year. The bonprix Group, with its 
predominantly textile-oriented product range, experienced 
a drop in revenue of 13.8% in the 2023/24 financial year, 
mainly due to consumers’ strong reluctance to purchase in 
the fashion sector. In the highly competitive US market, the 

4	 About You’s external revenue included in the Otto Group’s consolidated income 
statement differs from the external revenue reported by About You, as About 
You generates a small amount of revenue from Otto Group companies, which is 
eliminated in the Otto Group’s consolidated financial statements as part of the 
elimination of expenses and income.

Group company Venus Fashion, Inc. posted a double-digit 
decline in revenue. By contrast, the core market Germany, 
which accounts for almost half of the bonprix Group’s total 
revenue, remained almost at the previous year’s level, falling 
by just 1%. Despite consumer restraint in the fashion sector, 
the Witt Group, which focuses on clearly positioned brands 
for customers over 50, achieved revenue growth of 1.5% 
(adjusted: 3.1%). 

In line with the drop in revenue in the Brand Concepts 
segment, gross profit decreased by EUR  161  million. As a 
result of disproportionately lower purchased goods and 
services, especially in the Crate and Barrel Group, the gross 
profit margin in the 2023/24 financial year was significantly 
higher than in the previous year at 55.6% (2022/23: 52.4%). 
The Brand Concepts segment’s financial performance was 
positively impacted by improved operating results at various 
Group companies as a result of cost discipline and stringent 
cost savings programs. The Crate and Barrel Group made 
the largest contribution to this segment’s positive EBIT, but 
the Witt Group also pulled its weight. Despite the nega-
tive earnings development of the Group company Venus 
Fashion, Inc., the bonprix Group was able to make a posi-
tive contribution to earnings. In total, the factors outlined 
above led to the increase in EBIT in the Brand Concepts 
segment in the 2023/24 financial year from EUR 145 million 
to EUR 239 million.

Retailers
In the Retailers segment, revenue decreased by 12.0% in 
the 2023/24 financial year. Revenue fell by 8.7% compared 
to the previous year when adjusted for marginal exchange 
rate changes and effects from changes in the scope of 
consolidation. Changes in the scope of consolidation in this 
segment mainly related to the discontinuation of opera-
tions of myToys.de GmbH and SAINT BRICE S.A. in Belgium. 
Together, they contributed EUR 257 million to the segment’s 
revenue in the 2023/24 financial year (previous year: 
EUR 474 million). This segment’s share of the Otto Group’s 
revenue was 13.3% (2022/23: 14.1%).

Germany is the most important sales market for the Retailers 
segment.

The revenue of the myToys Group in the 2023/24 finan-
cial year was significantly lower than in the previous 
financial year due to the aforementioned discontinua-
tion of the operating business of myToys.de GmbH. Other 
Group companies in the Retailers segment such as Baur 
Versand (GmbH & Co KG) and Otto Austria Group GmbH 
(until 29 February 2024 UNITO Versand & Dienstleistungen 
GmbH) in Austria were unable to maintain the sales revenue 
level of the previous year. By contrast, the Group compa-
nies of the Limango and Frankonia Groups showed positive 
developments.
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Gross profit decreased by EUR 157 million as a result of the 
drop in revenue in the Retailers segment and a simultaneous 
decrease in purchased goods and services. In the 2023/24 
financial year, the gross profit margin was 40.5% and there-
fore slightly below the previous year’s level (2022/23: 42.5%). 
In total, the Group companies myToys.de GmbH and SAINT 
BRICE S.A. in Belgium reduced the EBIT of this segment by 
EUR 83 million in the 2023/24 financial year. These significant 
charges will be eliminated in the future due to the discon-
tinuation of operations or closure. They essentially led to a 
decline in EBIT in the Retailers segment in the 2023/24 finan-
cial year, namely from EUR –35 million to EUR –82 million.

Services
The Services segment recorded a reported decline in 
external revenue from EUR 390 million to EUR 374 million 
in the 2023/24 financial year, equivalent to a drop of 4.1% 
(3.6% on a comparable basis). External revenue, i.e., revenue 
from customers outside the Group, contributed 27.7% of the 
total revenue in the Services segment in the 2023/24 finan-
cial year, after 28.8% in the previous financial year. External 
revenue as a percentage of Group revenue remained almost 
unchanged at 2.5% compared to 2.4% in the previous year.

The EBIT for the segment dropped by EUR  71  million to 
EUR –82 million in the 2023/24 financial year. The decrease 
is partly due to the contribution of the Hermes Group’s 
parcel distribution business in Germany, which is included 
in the Services segment’s income (loss) from equity invest-
ments. The logistics activities of the Services segment are 
dependent on the development of e-commerce revenues, 
which had a significant impact on earnings in the 2023/24 
financial year. In addition to significantly higher personnel 
expenses due to collective bargaining agreements and 
necessary salary adjustments, the expansion and develop-
ment of the logistics infrastructure also impacted the results 
of the Services segment with costs in the low double-digit 
million range (compared to mid double-digit million range 
in 2022/23).

Financial Services
In the 2023/24 financial year, the Financial Services segment 
recorded a rise in reported revenue of 1.9%. Revenue 
amounted to EUR 1.002 million after EUR 983 million in the 
previous year. The segment’s share in the Group’s revenue 
amounted to 6.7%, which is above the previous year’s figure 
of 6.1%. When adjusted for exchange rate changes, revenue 
growth in the Financial Services segment was 4.4%. There 
were no effects from changes in the scope of consolidation 
in this segment. The EOS Group experienced a rise in revenue 
of EUR 20 million, which equates to growth of 2.1%, or 4.6% 
on a comparable basis. 

The EBIT for the Financial Services segment fell by 
EUR 32 million to EUR 420 million in the 2023/24 financial 
year. As in previous years, the EOS Group’s continued high 
level of profitability contributed to this segment’s EBIT, but 
was not quite able to match the previous year’s success due 
to increased costs. 

Non-reportable segments and other activities 
The non-reportable segments and other activities include, 
among others, the activities in the Digital Health business 
area, the venture activities and the real estate companies 
of the Forum Group. 

The EBIT of the non-reportable segments and other activ-
ities decreased from EUR –1 million to EUR –11 million in the 
2023/24 financial year. The decline in net income (loss) from 
equity investments due to investments related to venture 
activities contributed EUR –13 million toward the drop. The 
ongoing development of the new Digital Health business 
area also had a negative impact.

Holding 
The holding contains the overarching costs of Group func-
tions which were not reliably attributable to the above-men-
tioned segments. 

The holding’s EBIT amounted to EUR  –98  million in the 
2023/24 financial year, compared to EUR –114 million in the 
2022/23 financial year. 
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Financial position 

Cash flows, investments and liquidity

Consolidated cash flow statement (short form) 

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

Gross cash flow from operating activities 901 731

Change in working capital 353 –991

Other changes in cash flow from operating 
activities –114 –112

Cash flow from operating activities 1,140 –372

Capital expenditures on purchases  
of intangible assets and property, plant  
and equipment

–418 –592

Other changes in cash flow from investing 
activities –33 –255

Cash flow from investing activities –451 –847

Free cash flow 689 –1,219

Cash flow from financing activities –484 397

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash 
equivalents 205 –822

Changes in cash and cash equivalents  
due to foreign exchange rates –1 2

Reclassification with regard to disposal 
groups –15 0

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning  
of period 491 1,311

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 680 491

Cash flow from operating activities
The Otto Group’s cash flow from operating activities 
amounted to EUR 1,140 million in the 2023/24 financial year 
and was thus significantly higher than the corresponding 
previous year’s figure of EUR –372 million. This development 
is due to both an improved gross cash flow from operating 
activities and a change in working capital in particular. After 
a significant increase in the 2022/23 financial year, working 
capital was reduced by a total of EUR 353 million in the year 
under review. This development is mainly due to the reduc-
tion of inventories at major Group companies in the Plat-
forms, Brand Concepts and Retailers segments, as well as 
to the reduced purchase of receivables and property port-
folios by the EOS Group in the Financial Services segment 
compared with the previous year.

Inventories were reduced by means of targeted working 
capital management, particularly in view of the current 
market conditions, which primarily affected the Platforms 
and Brand Concepts segments. The Group company OTTO 
significantly reduced inventories in the Platforms segment, 
especially in the categories of hardware and fashion & 
sports. In the Platforms segment, the Group company 
About You also reduced inventories despite slight revenue 
growth. Seasonal procurement was better adjusted to the 
current market conditions, and the decentralized warehouse 
structures were further optimized. In the Brand Concepts 
segment, the Crate and Barrel Group significantly reduced 
inventories in the 2023/24 financial year and aligned inven-
tory targets with revenue growth through management 
controlling. In addition, extensive measures were taken to 
optimize the warehouse locations and their interaction, thus 
increasing the efficiency of the networks. Order reductions 
due to weaker demand in European activities and inventory 
reductions in activities in the USA also led to a decrease in 
inventories in the bonprix Group. In the Retailers segment, 
the complete sale of inventories at myToys.de GmbH and 
SAINT BRICE S.A. in Belgium, following the discontinuation 
of operations, favored the development of inventories in the 
2023/24 financial year. 

The EOS Group’s main operational investing activities are 
the acquisition of receivables and property portfolios. 
These acquisitions are also part of the development of 
working capital and are not reported as traditional invest-
ments in cash flow from investing activities. Due to excep-
tionally favorable market conditions, the EOS Group signif-
icantly expanded its receivables management activities 
in the 2022/23 financial year and made exceptionally high 
portfolio investments. In the 2023/24 financial year, port-
folio investments remained at a high, albeit lower level. The 
reduction came from the Western European Group compa-
nies of the EOS  Group, but portfolio investments in indi-
vidual Eastern European markets were also lower than in 
the previous year. Payments for the acquisition of receiv-
ables and property portfolios in the EOS Group amounted 
to EUR 615 million, correspondingly lower than the previous 
year’s figure of EUR 1,147 million. Receivables from financial 
services stabilized at a high level. 

Cash flow from business activities is heavily influenced by 
these payments for the acquisition of receivables and prop-
erty by the EOS Group. Adjusted for these payments made, 
the corresponding cash flow in the 2023/24 financial year 
was EUR  1,755 million, significantly higher than the corre-
sponding figure for the previous year of EUR 775 million.
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Consolidated cash flow statement (short form) 

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

Cash flow from operating activities 
(adjusted for payments for purchases by the 
EOS Group)

1,755 775

Payments for the purchase of receivables 
and property portfolios by the EOS Group –615 –1,147

Cash flow from operating activities (as 
reported) 1,140 –372

Cash flow from investing activities
Cash flow from investing activities is significantly influ-
enced by payments made for intangible assets and prop-
erty, plant and equipment. In the 2023/24 financial year, 
the Otto Group continued to make strategic investments 
as part of its focused growth strategy in order to optimally 
position itself for the future. Accordingly, investments in 
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment were 
predominantly expansion investments. The share of expan-
sion investments in the 2023/24 financial year was around 
75% (2022/23: 85%). Investments in intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment by segment are as follows:

Investments according to segments 

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

Platforms 79 76

Brand Concepts 83 81

Retailers 15 26

Services 283 332

Financial Services 8 20

Non-reportable segments and other 
activities 39 215

Holding/Consolidation 4 6

Group (as reported in the segment 
reporting) 511 756

Adjustment in investments due to changes 
in the scope of consolidation in the Services 
segment

–76 0

Adjustment in investments due to changes in 
the scope of consolidation in non-reportable 
segments and other activities

0 –158

Other adjustments –17 –5

Group (as reported in the consolidated cash 
flow statement) 418 593

In the Platforms segment, the expansion of the plat-
form-based business models of the Group companies 
OTTO and About You was significantly advanced. The Group 
company OTTO focused its investments on the continued 
shift of its business model into an e-commerce platform. 
In the 2023/24 financial year, it made significant invest-
ments in IT infrastructure, in future technologies and the 
further expansion of the marketplace business. In addi-
tion, investments were made in Otto Payments GmbH, 
which was established as a payment service provider for 
the processing of payments on otto.de in order to offer 
customers and marketplace partners payment services 
from a single source and new means of payment. During 
the 2023/24 financial year, the About You e-commerce plat-
form focused its investments again on the further develop-
ment of its IT infrastructure in order to continue pursuing its 
international and technological growth path. This included 
significant investments in SCAYLE GmbH, which operates as 
a separate unit within About You to provide a cloud-based 
shop system that enables external brands and retailers to 
quickly and flexibly scale their digital business and adapt to 
growing customer needs.

In the Brand Concepts segment, the Crate and Barrel Group 
in the USA and Canada accounts for the vast majority of 
investments in intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment. Investments were made in existing and new 
warehouse capacity as well as in the further development 
and ongoing optimization of the supply chain. Relevant 
investments were also made in the further development of IT 
infrastructure, online shops, and new and existing brick-and-
mortar retail locations in the USA and Canada. For example, 
a new flagship store was opened in New York, which also 
serves as a virtual store for customers online. 

The focus of investments in intangible assets and prop-
erty, plant and equipment in the 2023/24 financial year was 
on the Hermes Fulfilment Group in the Services segment, 
whose warehousing activities play a key role in the Otto 
Group’s trading activities and the future revenue growth 
of the Group companies in the Platforms, Brand Concepts 
and Retailers segments. The Hermes Fulfilment Group 
made substantial investments totaling EUR  189  million in 
the 2023/24 financial year on the development of new and 
existing warehousing locations, as well as relevant tech-
nical facilities and IT-related equipment associated with 
this. Already in April 2022, the groundbreaking ceremony 
took place for an extensive new fulfillment center at the 
Ilowa site in Poland. It handles the logistical processing of 
low-volume product ranges for the Group company OTTO, 
including storage, order picking, and shipping. The fulfill-
ment center, with floor space of around 120,000 square 
meters, is expected to be fully operational by mid-2024. The 
investment level in the 2023/24 financial year amounted 
to EUR 91 million (2022/23: EUR 184 million). In the 2023/24 
financial year, the Hermes Fulfilment Group continued to 
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develop and expand its logistics facility in Altenkunstadt, 
Bavaria. This included the construction of a fully automated 
shuttle warehouse with floor space of around 35,000 square 
meters. The construction and technical further development 
of the location is expected to be completed by spring 2024 
with a total investment level of EUR 57 million in the 2023/24 
financial year (2022/23: EUR 93 million). The fully automated 
shuttle warehouse will significantly reduce delivery times 
for customers and will be an important part of About You’s 
logistics network in addition to the existing logistics oper-
ations in Altenkunstadt. The main investments for the two 
logistics projects in Ilowa and Altenkunstadt were made in 
the 2022/23 and 2023/24 financial years, which, in these two 
financial years, resulted in a substantially higher investment 
level in the Services segment compared to previous finan-
cial years. Investments in intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment in the Services segment also include 
the acquisition of the Supply Chain Solutions operation from 
Hermes Germany GmbH. With the acquisition at the end of 
the 2023/24 financial year, the newly founded Otto Group 
Logistics GmbH, as an independent Group company of the 
Otto Group, began to expand the corresponding services for 
air and sea freight business and to strengthen its position 
in the market. The investment of EUR 76 million was largely 
reflected in the recognition of goodwill.

Investments in non-reportable segments and other activ-
ities in the 2023/24 financial year included the company’s 
Hamburg-Bramfeld location. The new headquarters of the 
Group company OTTO were opened there in April 2024. It 
will significantly expand the range of modern and flexible 
workspaces available at the company’s headquarters in the 
future. In the previous year, the effects from the acquisition 
of the Medgate Group amounted to EUR 158 million. These 
additions related in particular to customer lists, trademarks, 
software, and, most of all, acquired goodwill.

The investments in intangible assets and property, plant 
and equipment shown in the segment reporting include 
the above-mentioned cash-neutral additions resulting 
from changes in the scope of consolidation in the Services 
segment in the 2023/24 financial year and in non-reportable 
segments and other activities in the 2022/23 financial year. 
For a corresponding reconciliation to the payments made 
for intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 
contained in the cash flow from investing activities, these 
were adjusted.

In addition to payments made for intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment, other cash payments 
made and received in the cash flow from investing activ-
ities in the 2023/24 financial year total EUR  –33  million 
compared to EUR  –255  million in the previous year. This 
was amongst others influenced by the acquisition of the 
Supply Chain Solutions operations from Hermes Germany 
GmbH and effects from investments in venture activities. 

Other payments received and made in the previous year 
were impacted by the acquisition of the Medgate Group 
in the Digital Health operation. Other payments made in 
the previous year were due to a capital increase at Hermes 
Germany GmbH, which is included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements at equity in the Services segment, as well as 
further investments in venture activities.

Cash flow from financing activities
The Group’s significantly improved free cash flow of 
EUR  689  million, compared to EUR  –1,219  million in the 
previous year, was reflected in the development of cash flow 
from financing activities. After a significant net increase in 
financial liabilities of EUR 1,108 million in the previous year, 
the corresponding net increase in the 2023/24 financial year 
was only EUR  20  million. In addition to the development 
of financial liabilities, the cash flow from financing activi-
ties was also influenced by slightly increased payments for 
interest and bank charges as well as the net repayment of 
lease liabilities. 

Against this backdrop, the net financial debt of the Otto 
Group was reduced in the 2023/24 financial year and 
amounted to EUR 2,676 million compared to EUR 2,813 million 
in the previous year. This was mainly due to the very high 
free cash flows in the Financial Services and Brand Concepts 
segments. Conversely, the high level of investments, particu-
larly in the Hermes Fulfilment Group in the Services segment, 
had an impact on net financial debt. In addition, the free 
cash flow in the Retailers segment was negatively impacted 
by the discontinuation of the operations of myToys.de GmbH 
and SAINT BRICE S.A. in Belgium. 

The Group’s net financial debt in the 2023/24 financial year 
changed as follows:

Net financial debt 

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Bonds and other notes payable 714 777

Bank liabilities 1,558 1,334

Lease liabilities 1,042 1,157

Other financing liabilities 42 36

Financial debt 3,356 3,304

Less securities –1 –1

Less cash and cash equivalents –679 –490

Net financial debt 2,676 2,813
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Capital structure
Financing 

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million in % EUR million in %

Equity 4,657 34 5,168 37

Non-current provisions 
and liabilities 3,641 26 3,749 27

Deferred tax 152 1 192 1

Current provisions and 
liabilities 5,324 39 4,941 35

Total equity and 
liabilities 13,774 100 14,050 100

The Otto Group’s equity decreased by EUR  511  million to 
EUR 4,657 million in the 2023/24 financial year, resulting in a 
decline in the Group’s equity ratio with total assets slightly 
lower than in the previous year. The Group’s equity ratio 
decreased from 36.8% in the previous year to 33.8% as of 
29 February 2024. 

The main reason for the decrease in equity is the loss for the 
year of EUR 426 million reported for the 2023/24 financial 
year. 

Non-current provisions and liabilities fell slightly by 
EUR  108  million or 2.9% to EUR  3,641  million compared to 
the previous year. Non-current provisions and liabilities 
include liabilities from bonds and other notes payable, 
which decreased significantly by EUR 242 million. This was 
due to the reclassification of two bonds maturing in the 
2024/25 financial year to current provisions and liabilities. 
Long-term lease liabilities also decreased slightly at indi-
vidual Group companies, resulting in an overall decrease 
of EUR 109 million. Conversely, an increase in bank liabilities 
had an opposite and increasing effect on long-term provi-
sions and liabilities. Due to the conclusion of new long-term 
financing in the 2023/24 financial year, that were amongst 
others related to ongoing investment projects in the Services 
segment, the bank liabilities increased by EUR 135 million 
compared to the previous year.

Current provisions and liabilities increased by EUR 383 million 
or 7.8%, to EUR 5,324 million during the 2023/24 financial year. 
A significant factor contributing to the increase in current 
provisions and liabilities was the Group’s financial liabilities, 
which increased by a total of EUR 270 million. The increase in 
current liabilities from bonds and other notes payable in the 
amount of EUR 180 million was partly due to the reclassifica-
tion of two bonds maturing in the 2024/25 financial year to 
current provisions and liabilities. This was partially offset by 
lower utilization of short-term bonds as part of the commer-
cial paper program with a nominal volume of EUR 79 million 

(28  February 2023: EUR  145  million). Bank liabilities within 
current provisions and liabilities increased by EUR 90 million. 
While there was a general decrease in the utilization of short-
term credit lines, new short-term financing was taken out, 
including in connection with ongoing investment projects in 
the Services segment, with the aim of long-term refinancing. 
Trade payables increased slightly, by EUR 42 million, almost 
at the previous year’s level. In the 2023/24 financial year, the 
Otto Group’s existing supply chain finance programs were 
expanded to include additional countries, such as Bangla-
desh, and additional Group companies, such as the Crate 
and Barrel Group.

Key performance indicators on financial position 
The debt service ratio, a relevant financial indicator for 
the Otto Group, was significantly reduced in the 2023/24 
financial year compared to the previous year, as a result of 
both the increase in cash EBITDA and the reduction in the 
Group’s net financial debt. Theoretically, as of 29 February 
2024, it would take 2.0 years to fully pay off the net financial 
debt (including lease liabilities) using the cash EBITDA. The 
previous year’s value as of 28 February 2023 was 2.4 years.

As a result of the reduction in the Group’s equity, which was 
higher in absolute terms than the reduction in net finan-
cial debt, the debt-to-equity ratio increased slightly and 
amounted to 0.6 as of 29 February 2024 (28 February 2023: 
0.5).

The average capital employed of the Otto Group increased 
by EUR  359  million to EUR  9,315  million, so that with a 
decrease in EBIT by EUR 11 million to EUR 11 million, ROCE as 
of 29 February 2024 was nearly balanced as in the previous 
year. 

Otto Group’s credit metrics 
2023/24

(29.02.2024)
2022/23

(28.02.2023)

Group equity ratio� (in %) 33.8 36.8

Net financial debt � (in EUR million) 2,676 2,813

EBITDA � (in EUR million) 744 589

Plus adjustments (repayments on  
receivables packages, adjusted for  
non-cash allowances within the  
meaning of IFRS 9, and repayments  
from sales proceeds from real  
estate disposals)� (in EUR million) 620 588

Cash EBITDA � (in EUR million) 1,364 1,177

Debt service ratio 
(Net financial debt /cash EBITDA)� (in years) 2.0 2.4

Debt to equity ratio 
(Net financial debt /Group equity)� (Ratio) 0.6 0.5

ROCE
(EBIT /average capital employed)� (in %) 0.1 0.2
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Net assets 

The total assets of the Otto Group can be broken down by 
maturity as follows:

Total assets by maturity 

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million in % EUR million in %

Fixed assets 5,597 41 6,359 45

Other non-current 
assets 2,076 15 2,182 15

Deferred tax 118 1 84 1

Current assets 5,983 43 5,425 39

Total assets 13,774 100 14,050 100

The total assets of the Otto Group can be broken down by 
segment as follows:

Total assets by segment 

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million in % EUR million in %

Platforms 3,859 28 4,040 29

Brand Concepts 2,428 18 2,630 19

Retailers 1,717 12 1,829 13

Services 1,369 10 1,212 9

Financial Services 3,868 28 3,799 27

Non-reportable 
segments and other 
activities

1,883 14 1,886 13

Holding/Consolidation –2,547 –19 –2,390 –17

Segment assets (as in 
segment reporting) 12,577 91 13,006 93

Other assets not 
assigned to segments 1,197 9 1,044 7

Total assets 13,774 100 14,050 100

Non-current assets (fixed assets and other non-current 
assets) represent the majority of total assets. Segments 
such as Platforms, Brand Concepts and Financial Services 
dominate the Otto Group’s total assets. In intangible assets, 
goodwill accounts for EUR 1,460 million (28 February 2023: 
EUR  1,395  million), of which EUR  994  million (28  February 
2023: EUR  994  million) is attributable to the Platforms 
segment. Property, plant and equipment of EUR 1,599 million 
(28  February 2023: EUR  1,435  million) relates mainly to 

the Services segment’s logistics infrastructure, mostly in 
Germany and Poland, as well as the Forum Group’s proper-
ties. In addition, right-of-use assets, mainly from the lease 
of land, land rights and buildings, represent a significant 
portion of fixed assets. Right-of-use assets amounting to 
EUR 909 million (28 February 2023: EUR 995 million) include 
EUR  482  million (28  February 2023: EUR  520  million) that 
mainly relate to the Brand Concepts segment and largely 
concern the leased stores and logistics facilities of the 
Crate and Barrel Group in the USA and Canada. Receivables 
from financial services in the amount of EUR 1,745 million 
(28  February 2023: EUR  1,765  million), which are entirely 
attributable to the Financial Services segment and relate 
to the EOS  Group’s receivables packages, represent 
another major component of non-current assets. Invento-
ries, at EUR 2,346 million (28 February 2023: EUR 2,711 million), 
account for the largest share of current assets and are 
largely recorded in trade-related segments. Of this amount, 
EUR  1,054  million (28  February 2023: EUR  1,182  million) is 
attributable to Group companies in the Platforms segment 
and EUR 809 million (28 February 2023: EUR 971 million) to 
Group companies in the Brand Concepts segment.

The total assets reported in the consolidated balance sheet 
of the Otto Group decreased only slightly in the 2023/24 
financial year, by 2.0% or EUR 276 million to EUR 13,774 million 
as of 29 February 2024. However, there were significant shifts 
between non-current and current assets in the 2023/24 
financial year.

At EUR 7,673 million, non-current assets were significantly 
lower than the previous year’s figure of EUR 8,541 million. 
The decrease of 10.2%, or EUR 868 million, is mainly due to 
changes in fixed assets. The decrease is mainly due to the 
sale of Cofidis business shares and the impairment losses 
on customer lists and trademarks at About You following an 
impairment test. The customer lists and trademarks result 
from the purchase price allocation related to the first-time 
consolidation of About You in the 2021/22 financial year.

Current assets increased significantly by EUR 558 million to 
EUR 5,983 million in the 2023/24 financial year. This repre-
sents an increase of 10.3%. The sale of Cofidis business shares 
had a significant impact on the development of current 
assets. As payment of the purchase price is not due until 
the 2024/25 financial year, the corresponding purchase 
price receivable is included in other financial assets. Within 
current assets, inventories, receivables from financial 
services, other assets as well as cash and cash equivalents 
were subject to significant offsetting effects, with invento-
ries having the largest impact, being significantly reduced 
by EUR 365 million in the 2023/24 financial year. The devel-
opment of trade receivables in the 2023/24 financial year 
was influenced, among other things, by the expansion of 
existing factoring programs. For example, the bonprix Group 
completed a project to to include installment purchasing in 
factoring.
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Overall assessment
The Executive Board of the Otto Group assesses the 2023/24 
financial year as satisfactory in view of the very challenging 
external conditions that have affected the company for the 
second year in a row. 

In terms of revenue, the development has to be assessed 
in comparison to the respective industry. For example, the 
e-commerce sector in Germany recorded a drop in revenue 
of 11.8% in 2023. Despite the reported e-commerce revenue 
losses, the Otto Group performed slightly better than the 
average competitor in the German e-commerce market 
and was able to gain market share in some business models 
in line with the targets of the Otto Group Path. 

Significant progress was made in operational profitability at 
the EBITDA level. Excluding the extraordinary write-downs 
on customer lists and trademark rights of EUR 175 million 
mentioned in the Group’s financial performance, EBIT would 
have been EUR 186 million. 

The debt service ratio has improved significantly for the Otto 
Group.

Overall, however, the Otto Group did not achieve the targets 
set in the previous year. 

The following table compares the actual development of 
the Otto Group’s relevant financial indicators in the 2023/24 
financial year with the corresponding indicators forecast in 
the Group Management Report for the 2022/23 financial 
year.

Comparison of 
forecast and actual 
development

Forecast for the 2023/24  
financial year*

Actual 
development 

in the 2023/24 
financial year

Revenue and 
income from 
customer 
financing

Group at previous year’s level 
(2022/23: EUR 16.2 billion)

EUR 15.0
billion

Platforms 
segment

Mid-single-digit 
percentage increase –4.7%*

Brand Concepts 
segment

Slight low-single-digit 
percentage decrease –8.5%*

Retailers 
segment

Lower percentage 
decrease than the previ-
ous year (2022/23: –7.2%)

–8.7%*

Services 
segment

Stabilization of reported 
revenue level (2022/23: 
EUR 390 million)

EUR 374 
million

Financial 
Services 
segment

Slight low-single-digit 
percentage decrease + 4.4%*

Earnings 
before interest 
and tax (EBIT)

Group Low three-digit million 
euro range

EUR 11 
million**

Debt service 
ratio Group

Medium-term  
improvement  
(2022/23: 2.4 years)

2.0 years

*	 On comparable basis
**	 Including impairment on customer lists and trademark rights

Opportunities and 
risks report

Governance systems
As a family business, the Otto Group operates according 
to the values enshrined in its Code of Ethics: a respectful 
approach to each other, as well as responsible, fair, and 
sustainable actions. These values are part of the corporate 
culture that is embodied and shaped by the employees in 
their daily work. Behavior that complies with the rules builds 
primarily on values and cohesion. In addition, the value-
driven management of risk and opportunity is an integral 
element of the Otto Group’s corporate strategy.

To this end, the Otto Group has designed and established 
various governance systems based on the “Three Lines of 
Defense” model. At the heart of this model is the idea that 
those entrusted with operational control (1st line) imple-
ment measures and checks, based on their risk assessment 
and with due consideration of specifications. In regard to 
topics with risk exposure, the 2nd line (monitoring) introduces 
specifications and monitors the effectiveness of the meas-
ures and checks. The 3rd line (auditing) ensures independent 
review of risk management by the 1st and 2nd lines. 

The following provides a more detailed description of the 
individual governance systems, namely the risk manage-
ment system, the internal control system, the compliance 
management system, and the internal audit system:

Risk management and internal 
control system

All Group companies in which the Otto Group directly or indi-
rectly holds 50% or more of the voting rights, or over which it 
is able to exercise a controlling influence, are included in the 
risk management system pursuant to Group-wide guidelines 
and directives of the risk management system – referred to 
hereinafter as the RMS – and the internal control system – 
referred to hereinafter as the ICS. Risks are collated from 
the bottom up – incrementally from the individual Group 
companies through the sub-groups up to Group level. The 
RMS enables rapid risk identification, so that where possible, 
targeted measures can be taken or checks can be estab-
lished immediately in order to either reduce the likelihood of 
occurrence or limit the possible repercussions of these risks 
on the Group’s financial position, net assets, and financial 
performance in the event of such risks materializing. The 
high degree of transparency in terms of risks and meas-
ures displayed in a single tool enables Group companies to 
exploit reciprocal synergy effects. 
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The relevant process implemented for this comprises the 
following steps:

	— Identification and evaluation
The risk assessment is carried out at least once a year 
by the Group. It covers risks for the entire financial year. 
For the risk assessment, the risk areas relevant to the 
business activities of the Group companies must be 
identified by using the risk catalog stored in the RMS 
tool. Risks reported by the respective Group compa-
nies and/or divisions are assessed in terms of their like-
lihood of occurrence and possible impact. The extent 
of potential losses is assessed qualitatively and, for 
relevant risks, quantitatively. The Otto Group applies 
standardized methods for this purpose. This assess-
ment is carried out both in gross terms before risk 
control measures and in net terms. In addition, valida-
tion measures performed by the Otto Group’s holding 
functions ensure quality in the risk report contents. 
Risks are also assessed for compliance and commu-
nication relevance. Potentially extreme risks from the 
Group’s perspective are also identified and evalu-
ated to complete the risk inventory. An extreme risk 
is defined as one that, based on a very low likelihood 
of occurrence, may lead to highly negative effects 
(extreme events) within a few years. In this regard, the 
risk survey is based on macroeconomic-political envi-
ronment analyses and crisis scenarios.

Since January 2023, risks are also assessed and evalu-
ated in the context of the Supply Chain Due Diligence 
Act. This includes assessing the risks of German Group 
companies from the perspective of affected parties 
or rights holders, taking into account the likelihood of 
occurrence and potential severity.

	— Management and monitoring
Risk managers are tasked with developing and imple-
menting suitable risk-reducing measures and making 
the most of opportunities in their respective areas 
of responsibility. Additionally, they develop a general 
strategy for handling identified risks. These strategies 
include risk avoidance, risk reduction with the aim 
of minimizing the effect or likelihood of occurrence, 
transfer of risk to third parties, and risk acceptance. 
The decision to implement the relevant strategy for 
managing a risk also takes into account the costs 
associated with the effectiveness of any planned 
risk-reducing measures. Corresponding controls are 
derived and their effectiveness is documented. Risk 
strategies, relevant indicators, and countermeasures 
are monitored by another set of eyes as part of the 
overall process. 

	— Reporting
Risks are included in reporting according to individu-
ally established materiality limits. The risks reported 
in the annual risk inventory are updated during the 
year and presented at the meetings of the Advisory 
Boards of the relevant Group companies. In addition, 
the Otto Group’s risk-bearing capacity is also deter-
mined in each financial year, and a Monte Carlo simu-
lation is carried out to calculate the overall risk expo-
sure. The Group Executive Board and the Supervisory 
Board are notified of potential threats to the compa-
ny’s continued existence as a going concern, as well 
as of relevant developments in risk management. 
Ad-hoc risk reporting makes it possible to inform the 
Group Executive Board immediately if new material 
risks occur at any other time than the official reporting 
times named.

Responsibility for risk management lies with the Group 
Executive Board and the managing directors of the Group 
companies. The close integration of the RMS with the ICS 
and financial controlling/reporting ensures the effectiveness 
of the RMS. The RMS is under constant development by the 
management division with organizational responsibility, in 
cooperation with Otto Group Holding’s Risk Management, 
and is reviewed by Group Audit. 

Accounting-related internal control 
system

The accounting-related ICS is an integral part of the Otto 
Group’s ICS and takes its requirements into account.

The Otto Group’s accounting-related ICS’s aim is to ensure 
the correctness of Group accounting and financial reporting. 
It is intended in particular to ensure that all business transac-
tions are recorded in the accounts promptly, uniformly, and 
correctly on the basis of applicable standards, accounting 
regulations, and internal Group rules. Accounting errors 
should be avoided or material misstatements detected in 
a timely manner. 

The Otto Group’s consolidated financial statements are 
prepared on the basis of a centrally defined conceptual 
framework. It essentially comprises the following organiza-
tional and technical measures, in which all Group compa-
nies are included.

The centrally prescribed Group guideline and supplemen-
tary reporting instructions are consistent with the relevant 
IFRS regulations and the binding Group-wide specifications 
for the exercise of elective rights and structuring options. 
They ensure that the IFRS accounting standards are applied 
uniformly and throughout the Group. 
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Moreover, a uniform group chart of accounts is mandatory 
for all Group companies. Its purpose, together with the Group 
Guideline, is to ensure the proper and uniform preparation of 
the Otto Group’s consolidated financial statements, and it is 
therefore an integral part of the internal controls for finan-
cial reporting. 

The Otto Group Holding’s Group Controlling & Accounting 
division reviews the relevance of reforms in international 
accounting standards in a timely manner, and their imple-
mentation is announced to the Group companies in good 
time, for example in monthly newsletters. 

The individual financial statements (IFRS reporting pack-
ages) of the Group companies included in the consoli-
dated financial statements are prepared either locally by 
the Group company or by a shared service center. They are 
then recorded in a uniform system. Automatic plausibility 
checks and system-side validations of the data are used as 
quality assurance measures in the data collection process. 
Consolidation then takes place at a central location using 
additional software. The systems are established software 
products that have been audited for compliance. Moreover, 
access permissions are defined in the accounting-related IT 
systems to protect against unauthorized access. 

At the Group level, the Otto Group Holding’s Group 
Controlling & Accounting division checks the accuracy and 
reliability of the Group companies’ reporting packages 
according to IFRS. 

Once all consolidation steps have been completed, the Otto 
Group Holding divisions prepare the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and the Group Management Report. Several 
quality reviews are performed on the consolidated financial 
statements and the Group Management Report during the 
preparation process. The members of the Group Executive 
Board then approve the final version for publication. 

Compliance management system 

The Otto Group maintains a compliance management 
system – hereinafter CMS. Its objective is to establish 
compliance as an integral part of all business processes. In 
this context, the Otto Group identifies and assesses the rele-
vant compliance risks and implements measures to avoid 
irregular behavior. The measures are checked regularly for 
efficacy and are improved continuously. 

The Compliance Committee is the central body within the 
CMS and is chaired by the Group Executive Board Member 
for Finance, Controlling, and Human Resources. The risk 

functions and others within the Otto Group are repre-
sented on the committee. The members of the Compliance 
Committee define the Otto Group’s CMS and the binding 
requirements for all Group companies.

The Group companies each have their own decentralized 
compliance organizations that are aligned with Group-wide 
requirements and standards.

Compliance issues are firmly anchored in the various divi-
sions of the Otto Group Holding. In this regard, the Otto 
Group has defined core compliance topics of Group-wide 
significance that are managed by central topic owners. 
But compliance in the Otto Group is not limited to these 
core issues and takes into account the many other chal-
lenges facing the Group companies as well. In addition, the 
processes are continuously subjected to critical review and 
examination and new compliance risks are integrated into 
the CMS structures.

The Otto Group has established a whistleblower system so 
that misconduct and violations can be identified and inves-
tigated in good time, and so that remedial action can be 
taken. All employees and externals can access a variety of 
channels to report violations of laws and internal regula-
tions, also anonymously. 

Internal audit system 

(Internal) Auditing provides independent and objective 
auditing services, and in doing so supports the Group Exec-
utive Board and the management teams in their moni-
toring duties. Auditing is focused on creating added value 
by contributing to guarantee the regularity, efficiency, 
and security of processes as well as to protect assets and 
prevent reputational damage. To this end, the audit exam-
ines the effectiveness of the RMS, the ICS, and the CMS in 
particular, as well as the monitoring processes, and helps 
with their improvement. 

The Otto Group’s internal audit system – referred to herein-
after as the IRS – is described in a Group guideline and stip-
ulates that the audit requirements of the Group Executive 
Board (sovereign perspective) and the respective managing 
directors for their Group company (local perspective) must 
be determined on a risk-oriented basis and adequately 
covered. 

Auditing activities are carried out in a risk-oriented manner, 
taking into account the scope and risk exposure of the busi-
ness processes. The audit universe applies to all operational 
Group companies. Regular general audits are carried out at 
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these companies. These audits include, among other things, 
the regularity of the Executive Board as well as the topics of 
ICS, RMS, CMS, and IRS as well as other risk audits. 

Audit examinations are conducted in accordance with the 
Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing 
and in particular the Code of Ethics of the Institute of 
Internal Auditors. Recommendations are inferred to elimi-
nate the identified deficiencies and limit the identified risks, 
and their execution is then monitored (follow-up). 

A quality assurance and improvement program is in place 
to promote the effectiveness of the Otto Group’s IRS and 
compliance with the Institute of Internal Auditors’ Code 
of Professional Conduct. Included in this in particular is 
the regular (usually every five years) commissioning of 
external quality reviews. The most recent quality review 
was performed by an auditing company in February 2024. It 
confirmed the effectiveness of the Otto Group’s IRS.

Opportunity management
Despite the ongoing challenging market conditions, the Otto 
Group is pursuing a focused growth strategy as part of the 
Otto Group Path in order to sustainably expand existing 
strengths, solidify its national and international presence, 
and develop innovative business models that optimally 
complement the existing portfolio. Especially in the 2022/23 
financial year, entry into the digital healthcare market is seen 
as a good opportunity for medium to long-term growth.

The growing importance of sustainability in the conscious-
ness of customers also presents an opportunity for the Otto 
Group. The Otto Group has long been convinced that corpo-
rate responsibility is not contradictory to successful busi-
ness. By introducing increasingly sustainable products and 
processes across the corporate portfolio, the rising customer 
demands regarding sustainability are met.

The Otto Group sees further opportunities in the field of 
innovations, specifically through the use of Artificial Intelli-
gence (AI). The potential for the use of AI in the Otto Group 
extends across all segments and ranges from improving the 
shopping experience in online shops to optimizing internal 
processes and increasing personal, individual productivity. 

In summary, the focused growth strategy will continue to 
be pursued in the coming years with the aim of expanding 
existing strengths in these challenging times and developing 
new business areas with prudence and while maintaining a 
solid capital structure in order to ensure long-term success 
and solid corporate development.

Risks report
The following report provides an overview of the main risks 
and indicates their significance for the Otto Group. Within 
this framework, the risks are classified using a matrix with 
the dimensions of the scope of damage, i.e., the financial 
impact on the EBT, and the likelihood of occurrence.

Likelihood of occurrence

Financial impact 
(EBT)

Low /

0 – 5%

Moderate / 

5 – < 25%

High / 

25 – < 50%

Very high / 

50 – 100%

Very high /  

> EUR 100 million

High /  

> EUR 50 – 100 million

Moderate /  

> EUR 25 – 50 million

Low /  

EUR 5 – 25 million

  Very high   High   Moderate   Low

Insofar as opportunity components were also determined in 
the scenario analysis in addition to the risk analysis, they are 
evaluated in the same way according to the methodology 
stated above. 

Economic opportunities and risks 

The overall economic conditions affect the business activi-
ties and consequently also the financial position, net assets, 
and financial performance of the Otto Group. Unforesee-
able disruptions within the interdependent global economy 
can have effects that are hard to predict. Risks to the overall 
economy may potentially lead to a reduction in private 
household purchasing power in the affected countries and 
regions, and could thereby bring about a decline in the 
demand for the Otto Group’s products and services. The 
financial consequences of these risks would be fluctuations 
in sales and a significant impact on results.

Geopolitics 
An escalation of the geopolitical situation could lead to a 
deterioration of the macroeconomic environment, supply 
chain disruptions and compliance risks. 

The war Russia started in Ukraine had a significant impact 
on the rise in energy prices and, together with increased 
global prices for commodities, raw materials and food, led 
to higher inflation, which significantly dampened consumer 
sentiment. The war and sanctions imposed in its wake 
contributed to the withdrawal of the Otto Group’s trading 
activities on the Russian market and also led the Otto Group 
refrain from making any new investments in Russia through 
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the EOS Group’s activities. For existing assets in Russia, there 
is a risk of further counter-sanctions by Russia. These devel-
opments as well as the international tensions between 
China and the West are issues of great relevance to the Otto 
Group’s business model. After all, many of the Otto Group’s 
companies are highly dependent on Chinese suppliers and 
supply chains. In order to be prepared for threats to the 
business, various scenarios are analyzed and measures are 
implemented, such as further portfolio and supply chain 
diversification. 

In addition, developments in the Middle East conflict since 
its outbreak in October 2023 have been continuously moni-
tored. The attacks by Houthi rebels in the Red Sea pose addi-
tional challenges for the Otto Group’s supply chain. 

Due to the increasingly tense situation, the Otto Group 
assesses the geopolitical risk overall as very high with an 
increased probability compared to the previous year. 

Break-up of the euro area
The risk of a collapse of the euro area remains unchanged 
due to the increasing indebtedness of public finances and 
the (potential) electoral success of populist parties in various 
euro area countries, a scenario which would have a relevant 
impact on the Otto Group if it were to occur. Due to the low 
likelihood of occurrence, the risk is no longer assessed as an 
individual risk, but is included in the calculation of the Otto 
Group’s risk capacity as part of the extreme risk analysis. The 
Otto Group counters this risk by diversifying and spreading 
risks in order to reduce dependencies.

Sector-specific and operational 
opportunities and risks  

Market and competitive environment 
In the 2023/24 financial year, the market environment in 
the Otto Group’s key markets proved to be particularly 
challenging and demanding due to the volatile economic 
development. Despite a generally positive economic devel-
opment in the advanced economies, inflation remained 
persistently high, leading to further real income losses and 
consumer reluctance. The forecast for the 2024/25 finan-
cial year remains uncertain. The risk of a further economic 
downturn in the Otto Group’s relevant markets during the 
forecasting period is considered unlikely. Based on current 
assessments, a gradual, albeit slow, return to the target infla-
tion rate and the overcoming of the interest rate peak are 
expected, which should lead to an economic recovery. At the 
same time, the geopolitical situation remains tense. Expiring 
price stabilizers are adding to consumers’ subjective sense 
of burden, while crisis hotspots are exacerbating general 
uncertainty. In its forecast for the 2024/25 financial year, the 
Otto Group has taken into account the macroeconomic and 

industry-specific framework conditions as well as the vola-
tile and uncertain outlook. 

The damage potential associated with a weakening 
economy is assessed as very high, but the likelihood of its 
occurrence as low. Conversely, an economic upturn, the like-
lihood of which is assessed as high, offers great potential for 
the Otto Group and could significantly accelerate the return 
to normal profitability.

In addition, the Otto Group is facing increasing pressure 
from intense competition. International players are entering 
the market with aggressive strategies, intensifying price 
competition, particularly in the fashion sector, and posing 
direct competition to the platform business model of the 
Group company OTTO by expanding their product ranges. 
The potential damage from the competitive environment is 
assessed as medium, as is the likelihood of occurrence. 

Numerous measures were taken to mitigate the risks in the 
market and competitive environment. These include above 
all the streamlining of the company’s portfolio and cost 
structures, which makes the Otto Group less dependent on 
economic developments. The center of attention remains 
the focused growth strategy combined with differentiated 
cost management. The active portfolio management of the 
Otto Group continuously supports the implementation of 
the strategic corporate goals. A portfolio analysis is carried 
out at regular intervals, in which each Group company is 
reviewed in terms of its profitability and future viability, and 
the corporate portfolio is adjusted or expanded accordingly. 
As a result, in the 2023/24 financial year, the operations of 
SAINT BRICE S.A. in Belgium were discontinued in August 
2023, those of myToys.de GmbH in December 2023, and the 
2-man handling specialist GIRARD AGEDISS in France was 
sold in April 2024. Furthermore, in the 2023/24 financial year, 
the Otto Group made significant investments in the future 
viability and innovation capability of its company portfolio 
in order to become more resilient and efficient. Examples 
include the further expansion of the marketplace and adver-
tising business of the Group company OTTO, high invest-
ments in the logistics centers in Altenkunstadt and Ilowa, as 
well as infrastructure investments of the Crate and Barrel 
Group in the USA and Canada, and the continuous strength-
ening of the EOS Group. 

The strategy of the Otto Group, with its international orien-
tation and the servicing of different market segments via 
different sales channels, contributes to minimizing risk in the 
long term and adapts flexibly to regionally varying market 
developments.

Turnarounds 
The Otto Group remains exposed to the risk that the envis-
aged realignment of individual Group companies does not 
succeed. The risk continues to be classified as high due to 
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the potential adverse effects on liquidity and earnings, and 
also due to the reputational risks of restructuring measures 
and company sales. The affected business activities are 
monitored, for example, by means of appropriate milestone 
reporting. Due to the ongoing difficult market conditions, 
there is also a risk that the Otto Group will have to initiate 
new turnaround processes or closures. 

Transformation 
There are numerous projects aimed at developing and 
strengthening the various business models in the segments. 
To this end, strategic investments will continue to be made 
in the 2024/25 forecast year and subsequent financial years, 
including in the logistics infrastructure, digitization, and 
technological transformation. 

In the 2023/24 financial year, the ongoing projects made 
significant progress, such as the migration of customer 
accounts to a newly created system world at the Group 
company OTTO as part of the business model shift from 
a pure online retailer to an e-commerce platform. On the 
other hand, a Group-wide project to introduce a common 
e-commerce platform was stopped as part of the discontin-
uation of the business operations of myToys.de GmbH. This 
project had given rise to a number of dependencies and risks 
in the past. These changes reduced the risk of interdepend-
encies between transformation projects to a low level.

Workforce shortage
Qualified employees are a strategically highly relevant 
competitive factor for achieving goals in the market and 
competitive environment. As a result of demographic 
change in Germany and other European countries, as well 
as increasing competition, a labor market has developed 
in recent years that makes it more difficult to recruit highly 
qualified employees and fundamentally increases the risk of 
labor shortages, both strategically and operationally. Meas-
ures have been developed to increase the Group’s attrac-
tiveness as an employer and to strengthen employee loyalty. 
The “Your next move” initiative is also working to expand 
Group-wide talent management and promote talent 
mobility within the Group. Due to the current partial hiring 
freeze and the measures taken, the risk has been reduced 
to a medium level and is therefore no longer considered 
significant.

Procurement 
In 2023, the situation regarding sourcing from the Far East 
improved significantly. Container freight prices fell and 
transport capacity was available on demand. Since the end 
of 2023, the situation has deteriorated significantly. Due 
to repeated attacks by Houthi rebels, the shipping route 
through the Suez Canal no longer meets security require-
ments, and shipping companies prefer the longer route 
around Africa for container ships from Asia. This will lead to 
longer transit times, correspondingly higher freight rates, 

and potentially a renewed shortage of transport capacity. 
Based on current estimates, this development is expected to 
lead to higher freight rates in the first half of 2024 compared 
with the level in the fourth quarter of 2023. Globally, the 
supply of international transport capacity is expected to 
exceed the demand for freight space in 2024, so that prices 
should adjust again in the medium term. However, the risk 
of further geopolitical conflicts with direct effects on the 
Otto Group’s relevant supply chains remains. Another effect 
leading to expected price increases in transport logistics is 
the introduction of regulations to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions, such as the Emissions Trading System in shipping 
from January 2024.

Due to declining macroeconomic demand, there were 
no significant shortages in the availability of goods. Such 
shortages are not expected in 2024, although the overall 
economic situation is challenging for many companies, so 
that insolvencies of individual suppliers can still be expected. 
The deployment of Group-wide task forces, for example, for 
supplier insolvencies ensures a consistently stable availa-
bility of goods and enables the introduction of measures to 
counter insolvencies among key suppliers at an early stage. 
The Otto Group is prepared for similar cases thanks to its 
transport and procurement networks. 

Taking into account the points mentioned above, the risk in 
procurement with respect to the supply chain continues to 
be rated as very high, although the likelihood of occurrence 
has been reduced compared to the previous year, among 
other things due to the measures implemented.

Moreover, the Otto Group’s procurement management 
places a particular emphasis on the selection and training of 
suppliers. It does so to ensure that environmental and social 
sustainability requirements are met by direct suppliers and 
their contractors. Potential quality deficits are largely limited 
through close collaboration with direct suppliers and manu-
facturers, as well as through continuous quality control. The 
Group companies within the Otto Group pay particular 
attention to ensuring socially acceptable working condi-
tions. They are an integral part of the Business Partner Decla-
ration and hence a foundational aspect of all business rela-
tionships with suppliers. Compliance is assured at the final 
production facilities within the framework of social audits, 
which are mainly carried out according to the external 
requirements of the amfori BSCI initiative and the SA 8000 
social standard. Adherence to environmental requirements 
is also reviewed based on guidelines, audits, and training. In 
addition, the Otto Group relies on the procurement of certi-
fied materials. The relevant seals and certificates include 
both environmental and social requirements. 

In the context of the risk analysis, the risk of possible viola-
tions of sustainability requirements in the supply chain was 
assessed as very high from the Otto Group’s perspective, 
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although the likelihood of occurrence was reduced compared 
to the previous year by the measures mentioned. In addition, 
potential fines for violations of statutory minimum environ-
mental and social standards, for example from the Supply 
Chain Sourcing Obligations Act, present a financial risk. Risks 
from the perspective of rights holders were also analyzed 
in detail and in some cases rated as very high. However, 
complex supply structures often lead to a lack of transpar-
ency in the downstream supply chain. The corporate respon-
sibility (CR) strategy continues to aim to create transparency 
about production conditions throughout the supply chain 
beyond the final production sites. 

Logistics 
Besides procurement, stable logistics from the produc-
tion sites to the end customers is a basic requirement for 
trade-related business models of the Otto Group and 
continued revenue growth in platform, brand, and retail 
concepts. It is gradually emerging as a factor that enables 
companies to set themselves apart from the competition. In 
this context, the Otto Group aligns its logistics activities to 
the needs of the various Group companies. Thanks to various 
targeted investments and measures that have been imple-
mented or are about to be completed, Otto Group logis-
tics is in a better position to meet customer requirements. 
These include, for example, improved volume and capacity 
planning using AI, various digitization and sustainability initi-
atives (e.g., Wildplastic), the establishment of the Ilowa site 
and the expansion of the Altenkunstadt site. As a result, both 
outbound and returns logistics have been strengthened in 
terms of capacity and processes. In the 2024/25 financial 
year, these investments in the network will contribute to 
greater flexibility and improved service. 

In contrast to the previous year, the risk of not meeting 
customer requirements has been reduced to a medium 
level thanks to the measures and initiatives mentioned 
above, although the logistics situation remains volatile and 
challenging. 

Risks from non-sector-specific or 
supporting processes

 
Information security and IT
The widespread use of information technology due to the 
high degree of digitization within the Otto Group signif-
icantly increases the need to protect information. Besides 
the requirements for the confidentiality, integrity, and 
availability of information that is stored and processed in 
electronic systems, the demands placed on the related IT 
systems are growing as well. 

Risks in connection with unauthorized data access and data 
misuse (cybercrime) – as well as interruptions or disruptions 

to key business processes due to IT malfunctions – are 
among the main risks for information security and IT at the 
Otto Group. They may have a high impact on earnings and, 
despite extensive protective measures and compliance with 
the applicable regulatory requirements, are classified as 
high in terms of their risk level. Reputational damage may 
also ensue as an indirect consequence of the risk. 

The Otto Group’s protections against information security 
and IT risks build on a comprehensive security strategy that 
includes both organizational and technical measures. 

With regard to the organizational measures, the Otto Group 
has a complete, Group-wide IT governance framework with 
guidelines and principles that continuously ensure compli-
ance with legal and regulatory requirements. This includes 
communication, awareness and training. Other measures 
include regular internal audits and security reviews, as well 
as the development and implementation of minimum Group 
information security standards for all cloud and on-premises 
applications. 

The technical aspects of the security strategy include fire-
wall systems at different levels, the use of virus scanners, 
and access controls at the operating system and appli-
cation level. Compliance with Group-wide security stand-
ards is monitored on a regular basis. Moreover, internal and 
external experts conduct security tests, and any measures 
inferred from this are rigorously implemented. As planned, 
the Central Security Incident Response Team took over the 
central coordination of security incidents in the past finan-
cial year. 

Data center operations of the Group company OTTO are 
divided into a primary data center, which is operated exter-
nally as a co-location, and the data center operation at the 
Otto Group in Hamburg-Bramfeld for use as a secondary 
data center. The external co-location and the network 
back-end infrastructure therefore meet the highest Tier 3+ 
standards. Business-critical systems are run redundantly in 
two data centers. This also applies to the important data-
sets, which are permanently mirrored across both data 
centers. Datasets are regularly backed up as well. 

With a view to minimizing risks, all systems developments 
are carried out in separate environments and subjected to 
a comprehensive range of tests before being adopted for 
operation in live situations. They are not used for day-to-day 
operations until they have been approved. 

The majority of the domestic SAP systems are operated 
independently by Otto Group IT on the cloud resources  
of a hyperscaler. Human Capital Management systems  
are hosted in the data centers of a strategic partner. All 
hosting partners are regularly audited against defined 
criteria, including processes and service performance. The 
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Otto Group’s IT division has been certified as a SAP Customer 
Center of Expertise, which attests to its technical and func-
tional expertise as well as process-related excellence.

Financial risks
The Otto Group’s global orientation also exposes it to a 
number of financial risks. The exchange rate risk must also 
be regarded as part of the market risk for the Otto Group, 
along with the counterparty credit risk and liquidity risk. A 
Group-wide binding directive provides a framework for the 
handling of financial risks. 

The Group is exposed to a counterparty credit risk when 
contractual partners default on agreements. In a narrower 
sense, counterparty credit risk refers to the risk inherent in a 
borrower or counterparty defaulting or partly defaulting on 
liabilities vis-à-vis the Otto Group due to a deterioration in 
its financial situation. 

Adequate credit control systems are used to hedge credit 
risks, taking into account a reasonable risk segmentation 
of the customer portfolios. The risk segmentation is contin-
uously adjusted. Risk management also includes regularly 
reviewing credit activities for business model-specific risks 
arising from changes in the macroeconomic environment. 
Existing response mechanisms are adjusted as needed. 
Furthermore, the Otto Group only works with commercial 
banks that have adequate credit metrics for reducing coun-
terparty credit risk. The default risk is reduced to a reason-
able level due to this qualitative selection process and a 
balanced banking portfolio. The Financial Risk Controlling 
department uses a variety of instruments to review the 
credit metrics of the Otto Group’s banks on a regular basis. 

The liquidity risk for the Otto Group has to do with not having 
sufficient funds at its disposal to meet its fixed payment obli-
gations or with the possibility that liquidity required cannot 
be obtained based on anticipated conditions.

The Otto Group’s financial management system ensures that 
the Group’s liquidity is maintained at all times. It also ensures 
that the Otto Group has sufficient funds at its disposal for its 
operations and investments. In principle, refinancing instru-
ments may include not only all money and capital market 
products but also leasing and factoring. The contracts for 
central corporate financing are concluded without finan-
cial covenants, which provides the Otto Group with a high 
degree of financial stability even in the event of a temporary 
deterioration in key figures. The Otto Group has a balanced 
banking portfolio and a comfortable buffer of free credit 
lines. Thanks to close, long-term relationships with banks, 
the Otto Group is in a position to react flexibly to changing 
conditions and to hedge its liquidity needs, even in a vola-
tile financial market environment. In addition to the banking 

market, the Otto Group also covers financing requirements 
through the capital market, where the Group has managed 
to establish itself as an issuer through regular bond trans-
actions. However, in recent years, which have been marked 
by macroeconomic crises, the capital market has only been 
available periodically. Due to the generally elevated interest 
rates, the Otto Group expects higher refinancing costs in the 
future and assesses the corresponding risk as very high.

Liquidity requirements at the Otto Group are determined 
in the form of an at least quarterly liquidity budget with 
a planning horizon of up to 24 months, a monthly liquidity 
budget for the current financial year, and a daily budget 
with a horizon of at least four weeks. All budgets are regu-
larly reviewed for variances. 

In the Otto Group, market risks within the meaning of 
IFRS 7 are restricted to currencies and interest rates. Signif-
icant foreign currency risks arise from payments received 
in a foreign currency from customer business and from 
payment obligations to suppliers that need to be settled in 
a foreign currency. The latter primarily occurs when goods 
are purchased in US dollars or Hong Kong dollars and then 
sold in euros. Interest rate fluctuation risks arise in connec-
tion with the gains or losses incurred on interest-bearing 
items when interest rates change. Currency and interest 
rate fluctuation risks are hedged by refinancing in the same 
currency and with the same maturity. Any remaining risks 
from open foreign currency and interest rate items are eval-
uated using appropriate risk assessment methods. They are 
then further reduced as needed, mainly by using forward 
exchange contracts and currency options and also with 
interest rate swaps. The fundamental goal of risk manage-
ment is to limit the impact of market price fluctuations on 
cash flows to an acceptable level. An independent risk moni-
toring team examines the appropriateness and effective-
ness of the control measures and compliance with reference 
rates and/or internal settlement rates. The remaining foreign 
currency risk is classified as low due to the use of hedging 
transactions. 

As part of the purchase price allocation at the time of the 
transitional consolidation of About You in the 2021/22 finan-
cial year, relevant assets in the amount of EUR 2.0 billion 
were recognized. They related to customer lists and trade-
mark rights with a limited useful life or goodwill. These assets 
are regularly checked for recoverability. If the overall market 
environment for online retail and the macroeconomic 
framework conditions do not improve or deteriorate further, 
and if the cost of capital, in particular the discount rate for 
cash flows, continues to rise, there also continues to be a risk 
of impairment losses on these assets in the 2024/25 financial 
year. However, the risk has decreased from very high to high 
compared to the previous year. 
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Regarding the concentration of financial risks, refer to the 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (see Notes 
to the consolidated financial statements as of 29 February 
2024, Note (35) Financial instruments).

Legal and regulatory risks
In the area of competition and antitrust law, anti-monopoly 
authorities and legislative efforts continue to focus strongly 
on the issue of anti-competitive practices. This applies in 
particular to e-commerce and digital platforms, which are 
constantly evolving due to the ongoing adaptation of busi-
ness models and play an important role in the economy as a 
whole. The Otto Group’s CMS addresses these risks through 
mitigating measures in the form of structural and organi-
zational measures, employee training, the development of 
recommendations for action, and support for the imple-
mentation of various measures in the Group companies. In 
view of the potential extent of the damage and despite the 
continuing legal uncertainties, the risks remain at a very high 
level despite the measures described above. 

The possibility of violating General Data Protection Regu-
lation (GDPR) requirements continues to pose relevant 
compliance risks. Among other things, case law has set high 
requirements for the implementation of online tracking and 
for the transfer of data to “unsafe” third countries and for 
complying with the right to information. In addition, Euro-
pean lawmakers are currently creating numerous regula-
tions that supplement or go beyond existing data protec-
tion requirements. Current developments have an impact 
on business activities, among others, for the area of online 
marketing and lead to considerable expenses, such as those 
related to the encryption of data in cloud infrastructures. 
As part of the Otto Group’s CMS, central specifications 
for security requirements in the cloud infrastructure were 
developed, relevant effects in the areas of online tracking 
and data transfer to unsafe third countries were evaluated, 
and measures to minimize risks were derived. The resulting 
measures have now been deemed compliant by several 
data protection authorities. There has also been an adjust-
ment to the case law of the European Court of Justice in 
the area of the right to information. The implementation 
of data subjects’ rights has also been coordinated with the 
Hamburg Data Protection and Freedom of Information 
Commissioner. These and other data protection topics are 
continuously being incorporated at the Group companies 
within the framework of the existing training formats, and 
uniform requirements for the handling of new developments 
are provided. Moreover, the Otto Group is also monitoring 
and accompanying ongoing lawmaking processes and initi-
atives. Despite all the measures taken so far, there are still 
risks in view of the ongoing legal uncertainties, which the 
Otto Group classified as very high as a whole.

Any compliance risks that may exist due to the transfer of 
customer accounts to OTTO Payments GmbH or in the area 
of dunning and debt collection remain due to the continual 
changes in the legal and regulatory framework. The legal 
framework conditions are constantly changing. The Otto 
Group companies operating in this area are also regulated 
to varying degrees by corresponding supervisory authori-
ties or government institutions in the countries of relevance 
to the Group. Despite the simplified legal processes, the risk 
of lawsuits against the collection fees charged by the Otto 
Group’s companies has decreased due to the reduction in 
collection fees charged by the Group companies. This is 
compounded by the fact that legal proceedings are the only 
way to obtain reliable certainty within the regulatory frame-
work in some areas. One pending legal case concerns EOS 
Investment GmbH. As part of a model declaratory action, 
EOS Investment GmbH is currently investigating whether 
collection fees can be claimed as default damages. The 
Otto Group is convinced that it is acting legally correctly 
and has lodged an appeal against the negative ruling of the 
Hamburg Higher Regional Court. However, it cannot be ruled 
out that the Federal Supreme Court, as the court of appeal, 
will decide differently. 

The international development of the regulatory frame-
work is constantly monitored by the divisions of the Otto 
Group Holding, the Group companies and an office opened 
in Berlin in the 2023/24 financial year, which will also have an 
impact on EU policy in Brussels. Appropriate risk-mitigating 
measures are adopted if need be. This also applies to the 
implementation of the new 2023 Consumer Credit Direc-
tive in local law, which is one of the focal points of the Otto 
Group’s public affairs work and is assessed as a very high risk.

Overall risk situation 

Developments that endanger the continued existence of 
the company as a going concern are not to be interpreted 
as merely individual risks threatening the existence of the 
company but in general as scenarios in which any combi-
nation of prevailing risks may endanger the continued 
existence of the company as a going concern. Given the 
non-additive nature of risks, developments that endanger 
the continued existence of the company as a going concern 
require a risk simulation (Monte Carlo simulation), i.e., a simu-
lation in which several risks occur concurrently, to ensure 
that they are detected early. 

Based on the information currently available, an overall 
assessment of the Group’s risk situation indicates that the 
Otto Group’s continued existence as a going concern is not 
in jeopardy now and is also unlikely to be so in the future due 
to either individual risks or the overall risk situation.
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Corporate  
responsibility

Employees
One of the key factors in the Otto Group’s success is its 
employees. Their wide range of skills, their experience, their 
capabilities, and their commitment form the basis for the 
Group’s further development.

Calculated on a full-time equivalent basis, the Otto Group 
employed 38,456 people on average in the 2023/24 financial 
year (2022/23: 41,186).

Employees by segment 

2023/24 2022/23 Change

Number Number in %

Platforms 5,753 5,982 –3.8

Brand Concepts 11,034 12,023 –8.2

Retailers 3,658 4,867 –24.8

Services 10,165 10,520 –3.4

Financial Services 5,757 5,870 –1.9

Non-reportable segments and 
other activities 1,086 967 12.3

Holding 1,003 957 4.8

Group 38,456 41,186 –6.6

Domestic 22,503 24,282 –7.3

Foreign 15,953 16,904 –5.6

The change in the number of employees in the 2023/24 
financial year was largely affected by decisions to discon-
tinue the operations of certain Group companies as well 
as adjustments to the market environment. In the Brand 
Concepts segment, structural changes in the value chain of 
individual Group companies and a market-related decline 
in demand for seasonal employment led to a decline in the 
number of employees. The decline in the Retailers segment 
is due to the discontinuation of the operating business activ-
ities of myToys.de GmbH and SAINT BRICE S.A. in Belgium in 
the 2023/24 financial year. The developments in the Services 
and Financial Services segments are due to cost reduc-
tion measures. The increase in non-reportable segments 

and other activities is defined by, among other things, the 
operational expansion of the Digital Health business area. 
The Platforms segment shows a decrease primarily due 
to cross-segment reallocations; the holding company had 
an offsetting effect. Overall, the number of employees in 
Germany and abroad decreased. 

The diversity that exists within each company is also a key 
driver of changes, developments, and innovations within the 
Otto Group. 

Following the implementation of the holistic three-pillar 
approach “Embrace, Grow and Envision” in the 2021/22 finan-
cial year, which includes action-oriented steps and covers 
both quantitative and cultural aspects, the focus in the 
2023/24 financial year was on pursuing various measures. 

As part of the “Embrace” pillar, which focuses on community 
work and culture-shaping formats, we successfully held the 
cross-company diversity event “DIVE IN – BE part of it” with 
well over 250 internal and external guests. Another element 
that strengthens our culture is the international expansion 
of our established unconscious bias training. In the 2023/24 
financial year, EOS Holding GmbH carried out a pilot project 
which was subsequently rolled out internationally. In addi-
tion, the “English as a common language” initiative launched 
in the 2023/24 financial year will strengthen multilingualism 
within the Otto Group and thus promote a more interna-
tional composition. 

In the area of individual and structural change needs, which 
is reflected in the “Grow” pillar with its focus on targeted 
measures to promote talent, career programs for estab-
lished and future female managers within the Otto Group 
have been successfully designed and implemented. “Grow” 
also includes a mentoring program for established women 
in management positions and developed by the “Power of 
Diversity” (an internal network of female top executives), 
which started its second round this financial year with 14 
participants. This focuses on achieving the target quotas 
set in accordance with legal requirements and succession 
planning.

As part of the “Envision” pillar with a focus on quantita-
tive targets and reporting, the target quotas for women in 
management positions (based on the German Act on the 
Equal Participation of Women and Men in Leadership Posi-
tions, or FüPoG for short) have been monitored, and the 
current status in the Group companies of the Otto Group 
subject to FüPoG regulations has been assessed every 
six months and provided to the relevant stakeholders via 
a dashboard. The Otto Group has set specific targets in 
the context of the FüPoG: For the Supervisory Board of 
Verwaltungsgesellschaft Otto mbH, a target of at least 
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five women and a female share of at least 25% is to be 
achieved by 29 February 2028. For the Executive Board of 
Verwaltungsgesellschaft Otto mbH, a target of at least 
two women and a female share of at least one third is to be 
achieved by 29 February 2028. 

The Otto Group has set the following targets to be achieved 
by 31 December 2025 for its Group companies that are 
committed to promoting women in management positions 
as part of “Envision:”5 Efforts will be made by the manage-
ment of these Group companies (apart from Verwaltungs-
gesellschaft Otto mbH) to ensure that a woman has been 
appointed to at least one position. For the first management 
level, the Group companies aim to achieve an average quota 
of 32%6 by 31 December 2025; for the second management 
level, an average target quota of 39% by 31 December 2025 
has been set.

With the chosen three-pillar approach and the corre-
sponding target quotas, diversity and inclusion are essential 
elements in the Otto Group Path and practiced values in the 
Otto Group’s mindset.

In addition, lifelong learning is a fundamental element 
of the Otto Group Path and an essential key to the trans-
formation and the future viability of the Otto Group. Our 
learning culture is based on the following premises: “Working 
and learning become one,” “Learning for all” and “Learning 
to learn”. The aim is to enable colleagues to take greater 
responsibility for their own lifelong learning and to create 
the necessary framework conditions–both technical and 
cultural. 

For example, in order to develop an immediate understanding 
of artificial intelligence (AI) and to enable low-threshold skills 
in dealing with the technology, cross-company learning 
paths on AI were created and rolled out to around 27,000 
employees via master plan. A culture of continuous experi-
mentation and learning will help our Group keep pace with 
the rapid development of AI technologies and apply them 
profitably.

5	 To promote the ratio of women in management positions across the Group, the 
Otto Group sets target quotas for all Group companies that fall within the scope 
of the FüPoG or that generally employ more than 500 people. As of 31 December 
2022 (the date on which the targets were formulated), twelve Group companies 
fell under these criteria.

6	 The deadline for achieving the target at ABOUT YOU SE & Co. KG is  
1 June 2026 for both the first and second management levels.

In total, more than 36,000 Otto Group employees have 
already registered on the digital learning platform and are 
able to engage in autonomous, personalized, and work-in-
tegrated learning. The activity rate7 on the learning plat-
form was maintained at a stable level of around 25% in the 
2023/24 financial year.

To further establish the learning culture in the operational 
area, following the successful completion of a basic digiti-
zation course in the 2022/23 financial year, twelve additional 
target group-specific learning contents were made avail-
able in 16 languages, which were designed and produced 
jointly with the Group companies involved. 

The discussion with the learning & development experts 
within the Otto Group is a valuable element to exchange 
views on and develop the topic of lifelong learning together. 

Consequently, another central pillar in the Otto Group’s 
human resources strategy is, among other things, the Otto 
Group Academy’s development programs for executives 
and professionals. In addition to imparting relevant methods 
and ideas on topics such as leadership, agile organization 
and digitization, they also provide space for dealing with 
current issues such as leading in challenging times. 

The development programs also form a building block in the 
group-wide networking and are closely related to another 
important topic, that of talent management within the Otto 
Group, which focuses on the design of cross-company career 
paths between the Otto Group companies. The objective 
here is to offer more diverse options to talented employees 
and to retain talent so that vacant positions can be filled 
from within the organization. HR systems, HR processes, and 
HR networks increasingly work together to support talent 
matching and the filling of vacancies within the Otto Group 
as well as to promote talent mobility. 

“People do business” – this adage is true of all employees 
at the Otto Group. For this reason, given that the topic of 
organizational development is not the exclusive preserve 
of decision-makers, it is being developed in a participa-
tory way across all hierarchical levels as part of the very 
successful Kulturwandel 4.0 (cultural change) process that 
has been progressing since 2015. The aim is for ongoing work 
in different dimensions of the Group companies to engender 
change in the organization and improve organizational 
“fitness” toward greater adaptability to a changing market 
environment and thus in the direction of future viability. One 
focus is on the further development of cooperation in the 
cross-company HR organization and on cross-divisional 
innovation impulses for future-oriented HR work.

7	 Activity rate = percentage of users who use Masterplan at least once a month
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Sustainability
The Otto Group’s CR strategy considers the economic, envi-
ronmental, and social dimensions of sustainability and takes 
the entire value chain into account. It is based on a mate-
riality analysis and comprises seven topic areas: Climate, 
Sustainable Materials, Supply Chain, Circularity, Conscious 
Customers, Empowered Employees, and Digital Respon-
sibility. The strategy provides a framework for the Group 
companies to develop independent solutions that suit their 
individual business models.

CR strategy as of 2021
The CR strategy8 is firmly enshrined in the Otto Group Path, 
along with the Code of Ethics. The objectives of the CR 
strategy are dynamic and regularly reviewed. Their content 
or timetable can be adapted if necessary to accommo-
date changes in framework conditions or the emergence of 
new courses of action. Since the 2014/15 financial year, the 
annual variable remuneration of the members of the Group 
Executive Board and, since the 2022/23 financial year, also 
that of the managing directors of selected German Group 
companies has been linked to the achievement of the CR 
strategy. The adjustment to the remuneration structure will 
be extended to other Group companies on an ongoing basis. 

The CR strategy is implemented by all Group companies 
that make a significant contribution to the Otto Group’s 
external revenues over two consecutive financial years. 
The Group companies included in the CR strategy gener-
ated around 77% of the Group’s reported external sales  
in the 2023/24 financial year. According to this definition,  
a total of 16 Group companies or sub-groups fall within 
the scope of the CR strategy: the Group company OTTO in  
the Platforms segment; the bonprix Group, the Witt Group, 
the Crate and Barrel Group, Venus Fashion, Inc., which 
belongs to the bonprix Group, and sheego AG in the Brand 
Concepts segment; the Baur Group, the Limango Group,  
the Freemans Grattan Group, Otto Austria Group GmbH  
(until 29  February 2024: UNITO Versand & Dienstleis-
tungen GmbH), myToys.de GmbH,9 and Frankonia Handels 
GmbH  &  Co.  KG in the Retailers segment. Moreover,  
the CR strategy also applies to the EOS  Group in the  
Financial Services segment and the Hermes Fulfilment 
Group, HERMES Einrichtungs Service GmbH & Co KG, and 
Hermes Germany GmbH10 in the Services segment. With 

8	 With the exception of the science-based target, the assessment of the topic 
areas is based on the calendar year.

9	 myToys.de GmbH was taken into account for the last time in the CR strategy 
when it ceased operations in the 2023/24 financial year.

10	 Hermes Germany GmbH has been included in the consolidated financial 
statements of the Otto Group according to the equity method since the  
2020/21 financial year.

regard to the Group company About You in the Platforms 
segment, reference is made to the comprehensive published 
sustainability reporting of About You with regard to the  
CR strategy.

The individual topic areas are deemed binding for a Group 
company or sub-group as soon as they are relevant for the 
Group companies and the materiality threshold defined 
for each topic area or the materiality criterion has been 
exceeded. 

The topic areas currently reported as part of the CR strategy 
are aimed at managing the Group and are not yet based on 
the regulatory requirements of the Corporate Sustainability 
Reporting Directive (CSRD) and EU taxonomy. These regu-
lations will apply to the Otto Group for the first time for the 
2025/26 financial year. The implementation of the new regu-
latory requirements is currently being ensured by a Group-
wide project. 

Achievement of targets 
status for the topic areas  
of the cr strategy
The Otto Group’s CR strategy sets out long-term, visionary 
goals (“Transformational Goals”) as well as goals with clearly 
defined time horizons (“Core Priorities”) for each of the seven 
topic areas. In the topic areas of Climate, Sustainable Mate-
rials, Supply Chain and Circularity, the CR strategy sets 
binding targets – backed by quantitative indicators – for 
all Group companies and sub-groups to which the strategy 
applies. Binding qualitative targets apply at the Otto Group 
level in the topic areas of Conscious Customers, Empowered 
Employees, and Digital Responsibility, which are fleshed out 
in the individual action plans of the Group companies. 

In the area of Climate, the Otto Group is pursuing the long-
term goal of achieving net-zero emissions across the entire 
value chain by 2045. In 2022, the Group committed to devel-
oping a science-based target (SBT) for reducing greenhouse 
gas emissions in line with the 1.5 degree Celsius target of the 
Paris Agreement. The medium-term, science-based climate 
target (near-term SBT) was successfully validated by the 
Science-Based Target Initiative at the end of February 2024. 
Our science-based Otto Group climate target11 is divided 
into three sub-targets:

11	 The official target formulation can be found on the SBTi website:  
Target dashboard – science-based targets.
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Sub-target 1: Absolute scope 1 and 2 GHG emission reduction 
by 42% by the end of FY 2030/31 compared to FY 2021/22.
This includes direct emissions from company-owned and 
controlled resources, such as the company’s vehicle fleet, 
and indirect emissions from purchased energy.

Sub-target 2 (Supplier Engagement): At least 50% third-
party brands and marketplace partners by spend covering 
purchased goods and services set science-based target by 
the end of FY 2027/28.

Sub-target 3: Absolute reduction in scope 3 GHG emissions 
by 42% by the end of FY 2031/32 compared to FY 2021/22. 
This refers to indirect emissions within the value chain over 
which the company has no control, such as electricity 
consumption during production or during the use phase of 
products sold.

The company’s previous greenhouse gas reduction targets 
of a 40% reduction by 2025 relative to the base year of 2018 
and climate neutrality in its own business processes by 2030 
will be incorporated into this science-based target. 

In view of the previous climate targets, adjusted CO2e emis-
sions12 decreased from 392,858 tons in the base year of 2018 
to 276,110 tons in 2023. This represents a 30% reduction (2022: 
–21%) and was achieved entirely without offsetting through 
certificates. This is above the forecast of a slight reduc-
tion in CO2e emissions. The emissions by Hermes Germany 
GmbH and Hermes Einrichtungs Service GmbH & Co. KG 
from transports commissioned by Group companies in the 
scope of the current climate strategy are part of the total 
emissions of the Otto Group. Emissions from the third-party 
business of Hermes Germany GmbH and Hermes Einrich-
tungs Service GmbH & Co. KG, which takes place outside the 
Otto Group, are not included. The emissions considered are 
reported on the basis of the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol. 
CO2e emissions are calculated using scientifically validated 
emission factors from the following sources recognized by 
the GHG Protocol: IEA (International Energy Agency), DEFRA 
(UK Government Department for Business, Energy & Indus-
trial Strategy), BAFA (Federal Office for Economic Affairs 
and Export Control) and, where available, service-specific 
factors. 

12	 CO2 equivalents (CO2e) refers to all greenhouse gases (CO2, CH4, N2O, SF6, HfC, 
and PFC) according to their greenhouse effect relative to CO2.

In order to achieve the SBT and the long-term net-zero 
target, the Otto Group will work in close collaboration with 
the business partners and primarily focus on improving the 
energy efficiency of production processes in the upstream 
value chain and promoting the use of renewable energies. 
Comprehensive measures that the Otto Group has adopted 
to address emissions from our customers in the use phase 
will also be highly relevant in the future. A particular focus 
is on increasing the energy efficiency of electrical appli-
ances. In addition, the Otto Group is continuing its efforts to 
shift the transportation of goods from air to sea or rail and 
to electrify delivery to customers. At its own sites, the Otto 
Group continues to promote increased energy efficiency 
and the complete transition to green energy. Increasing the 
use of climate-friendly materials also plays a role for the 
achievement of targets. In the future, the Otto Group will 
integrate its climate activities more closely with the topic 
areas of Sustainable Materials and Circularity. Here, too, 
decisive contributions are needed to achieve the ambitious 
climate targets, for example in the selection of materials.

In the area of Sustainable Materials, the Otto Group is 
pursuing specific goals for textiles, furniture, catalog paper, 
and packaging: By 2025, the share of so-called “preferred 
fibers” is to be increased to 65%. These are textile fibers that 
have significantly less negative environmental impact than 
conventional alternatives, such as organic cotton compared 
to conventional cotton and recycled materials and animal-
based fibers that are produced with careful attention to 
animal welfare. The proportion in 2023 was 59% and thus 
above the previous year’s value of 55%. The goal of a slight 
increase was achieved. For its own and licensed brands, the 
Otto Group aims to use only sustainable cotton; in 2023, the 
share of sustainable cotton used was 94%.

In the furniture sector, the Otto Group has previously aimed 
to use only wood from responsible forestry certified by the 
Forest Stewardship Council® – referred to hereinafter as  
FSC – by 2025 in its own and licensed brands. The proportion 
of FSC-certified wooden items, relative to the total number, 
was 83% in 2023 (2022: 83%). This means that the forecast 
of a significant decline, which had been expected due to  
the difficult availability of FSC wood as a result of the  
war Russia started in Ukraine and a sharp decline in FSC-
certified forest areas in the important procurement market 
of Poland, did not materialize. However, the actual devel-
opment of the core priority exceeded expectations, as 
many suppliers were able to draw on stocks of FSC wood or 
shifted their procurement to other markets. In addition, the 
Otto Group decided to accept three additional recognized 
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certificates (EU Ecolabel, Blauer Engel, Nordic Swan) for the 
achievement of its furniture targets. These measures have 
helped to maintain the target achievement of FSC prod-
ucts offered at the same level as in 2022, despite the tense 
situation. 

In addition to measuring the core priority for wooden furni-
ture on the basis of the articles offered for its own and 
licensed brands, the Otto Group is for the first time publishing 
a further achievement of targets value based on the quan-
tity sold, measured in tonnage. This is a more meaningful 
indicator of the actual impact of using sustainable wood. 
In 2023, the share of sustainable wood products measured 
in tonnage was 62% of the total volume. The Otto Group is 
currently working on being able to record the actual wood 
content in the product on a granular level. Until these data 
are available, the total product weight of the furniture is 
measured as a transitional measure. 

By 2025, only paper with an FSC certificate or EU Ecolabel 
will be used in catalogs. In 2023 the Otto Group fulfilled the 
forecast target of a slight increase and achieved an actual 
share of 94% compared to the previous year’s value of 90%. 
The share of sustainable packaging was 94% in 2023 (2022: 
78%), exceeding the forecast of a medium increase.

In the Supply Chain topic area, the Otto Group is pursuing 
the overarching goal of cooperating with business partners 
to implement measurable social and ecological improve-
ments along the entire supply chain. To this end, the Otto 
Group is seeking to identify 100% of supply chain facilities for 
its own and licensed brands, from raw materials to finished 
products. In 2023, 10,172 new supply chain facilities (2022: 
+1,996) were identified (procedural counting method),13 
significantly exceeding the forecast for the total number of 
known supply chain facilities.

In the area of circularity, the Otto Group collected quantita-
tive data for the first time to measure progress in this area. 
In 2023, circular solutions were implemented for 15.6 million 
products, such as the use of recycled materials, circular 
product design, the sale of second-hand products, repairs 
and recycling solutions. To date, the majority of the core 
priority has been achieved through the use of recycled mate-
rials. However, ambitious pilot projects are also being scaled 
up, such as the Circular Collections of the Group company 
OTTO and bonprix Handelsgesellschaft mbH in coopera-
tion with circular.fashion GmbH. The goal is to implement 
circular solutions for a total of 18 million products by the 2024 
calendar year. 

13	 If a supply chain facility works for multiple business partners or handles multiple, 
sufficiently different production steps, it is counted multiple times.

The Otto Group is pursuing qualitative core priorities in the 
topic areas of Conscious Customers, Empowered Employees, 
and Digital Responsibility. However, measures in these areas 
are set at the level of the Group companies and Otto Group 
Holding and therefore vary. Examples of this in the topic area 
of Empowered Employees include the Sustainability Days, 
which took place both digitally and on site at several Group 
companies. Customers should be sensitized to conscious 
and sustainable consumption behavior as part of Conscious 
Customers. In order to find out what women expect from 
fashion and those responsible for fashion, bonprix Handels-
gesellschaft mbH, together with the market research insti-
tute Ipsos, surveyed more than 7,000 women in Germany, 
Austria, Switzerland, France, the Netherlands, Italy and 
Poland as part of the International Fashion Report on how 
they deal with sustainability in the textile industry. In addi-
tion, the Otto Group worked in 2023 on labeling products 
with sustainability attributes in online shops. Digital Respon-
sibility includes the commitment within the ZukunftsWerte 
initiative for a social discourse on value-oriented digitization. 
This includes internal activities such as “data cleaning” by 
employees and a sponsorship partnership to establish the 
ReDI School of Digital Integration at the Hamburg site.
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Overall, the seven topic areas have developed as follows: 

Topic area Core Priority
Reporting year 

2022
Forecast value in  

2023
Reporting year 

2023
Forecast value in  

2024 Target value

Climate

40 % reduction in adjusted* CO₂e 
emissions (compared to the base 
year 2018)**, climate neutrality 
by 2030 (locations, transport, 
employee mobility, external data 
centers, and cloud services)

–21% Slight reduction –30% Slight reduction*** –40% 
(by 2025)

Sustainable Materials

65% “preferred fibers”, thereof 100% 
sustainable cotton 55% Slight increase 59% Slight increase 65% 

(by 2025)

100% sustainable wood (products 
offered) 83% Significant 

reduction 83%**** Slight increase 100% 
(by 2025)

100% sustainable catalog paper 90% Slight increase 94% Slight increase 100% 
(by 2025)

100% sustainable packaging 78% Medium 
increase 94% Slight increase

100% 
(extended to 

2024)

Supply Chain 100% transparent supply chain

+ 1,996 
newly 

identified 
suppliers*****

Slight increase 
in the total 
number of 

known  
suppliers

+ 10,172 
newly 

identified 
suppliers*****

Slight increase  
in the total  

number of known 
suppliers

100%  
(without 

target year)

Circularity***** Circular solutions implemented for 
18 million products

First quantitative  
measurement in 2023

15.64 million 
products Moderate increase

18 million
(by 2024)

Conscious Customers
Qualitative targets at the Otto 
Group level. However, measures 
are set at the Group company level 
and therefore vary.

Empowered Employees

Digital Responsibility

*	� Shown relative to their performance units
**	� Emissions relating to the locations are all based on the previous year’s values due to a lag in data availability. Emissions from data centers, from the purchase of  

cloud services, and from external data centers are collected in absolute values and not relative to their performance units. The calculation of these emissions is based 
on a spend-based method using a multi-regional input-output model. This method incorporates purchasing data for these services, recognized international statistics, 
and assumptions based on structures known from Otto Group IT. These assumptions are based on, for example, the inclusion of information from green energy origin 
certificates and CO2 certificates of individual service providers in the calculation basis. The Estimated Time of Arrival (ETA) is used as the time frame for the calculation 
of emissions from procurement transports. Due to missing values, the bill of lading is used for the Crate and Barrel Group in the 2023 reporting year. 

***	� Due to the transition of the climate target to a science-based target, the forecast is only partially comparable to the value for the next reporting year.
****	� This represents 62% of the volume of wood sold in tons.
*****	� Absolute number of supply chain facilities in the supply chain that are to be identified in addition to supply chain facilities that are already known or have been 

identified (procedural counting method).
******	� The core priority of Circularity was first considered in the 2023 reporting year. The Crate and Barrel Group is not currently included in the data collection.
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Forecast report

Macroeconomic 
and sector-specific 
development
The following assessments of macroeconomic develop-
ment, sector development, and the Otto Group’s develop-
ment during the forecasting period are subject to a high 
degree of uncertainty. The war in Ukraine and the conflict 
in the Middle East as well as their macroeconomic conse-
quences are the major risk factors in the forecasting period, 
the course of which is unpredictable and therefore diffi-
cult to forecast. This unpredictableness poses a great chal-
lenge to accurately assessing the impact on the sales and 
procurement markets relevant to the Otto Group. 

Nevertheless, the usual expert reports and association 
assessments, such as the spring economic reports by  
the Kiel Institute for the World Economy – referred to here-
inafter as IfW Kiel – are generally referenced for assessing 
macroeconomic trends at the global level and in Germany, 
the euro area, and the USA, and for forecasting develop-
ments within the sector. According to estimates by the Kiel 
Institute for the World Economy (IfW Kiel) dated 5  March 
2024,14 the gap in economic growth between the various 
economic regions is expected to narrow. In the USA, the 
beginning of the year is pointing to a slowdown in the pace of 
expansion with a virtually stagnating inflation rate, particu-
larly in the area of housing costs, and hesitant momentum 
in private consumption rate; in addition, fiscal policy is 
expected to have a noticeably restrictive effect over the 
forecasting period. By contrast, leading indicators in the euro 
area point to a recovery in the overall economic situation, 
although a strong rebound is unlikely. The gradual decline 
in inflation, largely normalized energy prices and rising real 
incomes are positive signals. The initially restrictive mone-
tary policy is expected to ease over the course of the year. 
In addition, a recovery in international trade is expected to 
stimulate economic growth.

A slight recovery is expected for the German macroeco-
nomic development, which will be significantly influenced by 
two effects: rising foreign demand and a significant decline 
in consumer prices.15 After three years of declining real 
disposable household incomes, an increase in purchasing 
power and a revival of private consumption are expected 

14	 Kiel Institute for the World Economy: “Momentum Remains Constrained,”  
5 March 2024

15	 Kiel Institute for the World Economy: “Recovery with Obstacles,” 5 March 2024

over the forecasting period. Despite the positive trends for 
2024, price pressures will remain well above the long-term 
average, which, together with political uncertainties and 
the aftermath of the energy crisis, will weigh on consumer 
sentiment. Overall, real household consumer spending is 
expected to increase by 1.0% over the forecasting period 
(2023: –0.7%), with nominal growth of 3.3% (2023: 5.6%). 

The expected change in real GDP over the forecasting period 
is as follows:

(Forecast) year-on-year change in real GDP 
(in %)

World
2024 2.8

2023 3.0

Germany
2024 0.1

2023 –0.3

Euro area
2024 0.7

2023 0.5

USA
2024 2.1

2023 2.5

The development of the German retail sector will continue 
to be characterized by a weak economic situation in 2024. 
Although the inflation rate for consumer goods is expected 
to slow significantly to a rate of 2.3% (2023: 5.9%), the subjec-
tive perception of prices and the elimination of govern-
ment price stabilization measures will continue to weigh 
on consumer behavior. Retail sales in January and February 
2024 reflect this sentiment in their decline. In its yearly 
forecast published in January 2024,16 the German E-Com-
merce and Distance Selling Trade Association (Bundesver-
band E-Commerce und Versandhandel [bevh]) expects an 
end to the downward trend in the German online and mail-
order sales sector. Accordingly, sales of goods in the e-com-
merce sector are expected to increase to approximately 
EUR 81.3 billion in 2024 (2023: EUR 79.7 billion), which would 
be equivalent to slight growth of around 2.0% (2023: –11.8%). 
In an updated publication of April 2024 on the develop-
ment of the first quarter,17 the German E-Commerce and 
Distance Selling Trade Association states that the declining 
growth rates of 2023 continued in the first quarter of 2024, 
but mail-order sales should improve as a whole. Compared 
to the same quarter in 2023, sales of goods declined moder-
ately by 2.6%. In particular, clothing ranges have significantly 
reduced their losses.

16	 Press release by the German E-Commerce and Distance Selling Trade  
Association (bevh), 24 January 2024

17	 Press release by the German E-Commerce and Distance Selling Trade  
Association (bevh), 9 April 2024
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According to the medium-term forecast issued by the 
Federal Office for Goods Transport (Bundesamt für Güterver-
kehr [BAG]) in September 2023,18 the German transport and 
logistics sector is expected to recover in 2024, although the 
pace of expansion is likely to remain low. Total goods trans-
port in Germany is expected to increase by 1.6% over the 
forecasting period (2023: –5.9%). 

Distribution by German parcel service providers represents 
a key element of the German transport and logistics sector. 
The development of these operations is directly related to 
revenue growth in the online and mail-order sales sector in 
Germany. The forecast published by the German E-Com-
merce and Distance Selling Trade Association in January 
202419 expects a moderate recovery and renewed revenue 
increases in the forecasting period after the decline in 
2023. Although revenue growth in the e-commerce sector 
continued to show a decline in the first quarter of 2024, a 
dynamic growth trend is expected nonetheless in the short 
and medium term due to the stability of consumer shopping 
habits, so that parcel service providers will likely be presented 
with the significant challenge of handling increasing growth 
in shipping volumes over the forecasting period as well. 

The cost levels in the German transport and logistics sector 
will continue to describe an upward trajectory. While energy 
prices are expected to decline only slightly as government 
policies are phased out, increases in truck tolls and CO2 
pricing will result in significant additional costs. The increase 
in CO2 prices at the beginning of the year has already been 
reflected in fuel prices. With regard to the shortage of drivers 
in distribution logistics, it is expected that it will continue to 
be difficult to recruit staff and that wage costs will increase 
significantly in response to the high inflation of recent years. 
It cannot be ruled out that the significant rise in factor 
prices will cause an increase in shipping costs and that these 
effects will therefore be passed on to private and corporate 
customers. 

According to the Otto Group, the market for classic receiva-
bles management and portfolio transactions with non-per-
forming loans (NPLs) remains attractive in the long term. In 
the core market of Europe, there are still significant portfo-
lios of non-performing loans, which could potentially be sold. 
Some direct competitors, after reducing their investments in 
the recent past due to the COVID-19 pandemic, have been 
able to acquire more NPLs and see a more positive market 
environment for their business activities in 2024. The restric-
tive interest rate and monetary policies, which have chal-
lenged the market with unfavorable financing conditions 

18	 Federal Office for Goods Transport (BAG): “Rolling Mid-Term Forecast for Goods 
and Passenger Traffic – Mid-term Forecast for Summer 2023”

19	  Press release by the German E-Commerce and Distance Selling Trade 
Association (bevh), 24 January 2024

since mid-2022 in response to strong inflationary pressures, 
are expected to ease over the forecasting period. However, 
many direct competitors are expected to continue to face 
significant funding costs as a result of recent refinancings or 
the use of variable funding instruments, which are also linked 
to significantly higher reference rates such as EURIBOR. 

A recovery in the interest-sensitive property sector is unlikely 
in the forecasting period. Until prices, interest rates and 
incomes are brought back into balance, new lending for resi-
dential construction is expected to be weak and investors 
will be reluctant to purchase. 

Development of the Otto 
Group

The macroeconomic conditions and the sector-specific 
conditions affect the Otto Group’s business activities and 
consequently also the net assets, financial position and 
financial performance of the Group. The assessments 
concerning the Otto Group’s development over the fore-
casting period factor in the above forecasts and their 
assumptions. 

The 2023/24 financial year was very challenging for all 
market participants, including the Otto Group, due to 
global events and continued consumer restraint in impor-
tant sales markets. In the forecast year, macroeconomic 
and sector-specific conditions are expected to improve 
only partially and remain subject to a certain degree of fore-
casting uncertainty. Against this backdrop, the Otto Group 
also expects negative effects on the general consumer 
behavior of its customers in the relevant sales markets in 
the forecast year, especially in its main market, Germany. 

Despite the still challenging and uncertain market environ-
ment and cautious consumer sentiment, the Otto Group 
aims to make significant progress in the relevant financial 
indicators in the 2024/25 forecast year. Group revenues are 
expected to stabilize at the previous year’s level. In addi-
tion, the profitability achieved through adjustments made 
in the 2023/24 financial year, such as impairment losses 
on customer lists and trademark rights, should rise signifi-
cantly in terms of EBIT, while the debt service ratio should 
continue to improve through the current focus on profita-
bility and liquidity. This lays the foundation for returning to 
the path of a focused growth strategy in subsequent finan-
cial years, and for continuing to pursue a holistic approach 
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aimed at acting innovatively and sustainably in existing and 
new business areas, both nationally and internationally. The 
assumption of responsibility for employees, partners, people 
and nature remains a firm guiding principle for the Group’s 
future actions.

The Otto Group enters the new 2024/25 financial year 
with still considerable uncertainty in regard to its forecasts. 
Nevertheless, the Group has succeeded in positioning itself 
flexibly and reacting quickly in the extremely volatile market 
environment of recent years. Looking ahead, the Group also 
sees significant opportunities for the forecast year and the 
following financial years. The long-term trend towards online 
retail will continue and is unbroken in the Otto Group’s view. 
In contrast to other sectors, new approaches to artificial 
intelligence (AI) in e-commerce offer significant opportu-
nities for the Group’s customers and employees. The Otto 
Group is already using pioneering technologies. In addi-
tion to significant investments in state-of-the-art logistics 
centers, the integration of AI-controlled robots into the Otto 
Group’s logistics infrastructure has begun within the frame-
work of strategic partnerships. At the same time, optimi-
zation potential and more efficient structures have been 
established in many Group companies.

In addition, the Otto Group has a very strong customer base 
with continuous growth and stable order frequency. It is 
currently expected that the average order value will increase 
again as soon as the demand for goods such as furniture or 
household appliances returns to normal. In addition to the 
trends in the e-commerce sector and the strong customer 
base, the already visible market consolidation offers the 
opportunity to gain market share from competitors in the 
medium to long term. The high degree of diversification of 
the Otto Group offers opportunities in the forecast year and 
the following financial years. 

The following information and statements for the Group 
and the segments are essentially predicated on a business 
performance in the forecast year that remains unaffected 
by exchange rate changes. Additionally, all conclusions in the 
forecast take into account the material effects of changes 
in the scope of consolidation that are already known, and 
the forecast is accordingly generated on a comparable 
basis: 

2023/24  
financial year

Forecast for the  
2024/25 financial year

On a comparable basis

Revenue and 
income from 
customer 
financing

Group EUR 15.0 billion
Stable  

(at previous  
year’s level)

Platforms 
segment EUR 6.2 billion

Stable  
(at previous  
year’s level)

Brand Concepts 
segment EUR 5.3 billion Slight reduction

Retailers 
segment EUR 2.0 billion Slight increase

Services 
segment EUR 0.4 billion Significant  

increase

Financial 
Services 
segment

EUR 1.0 billion Slight reduction

Earnings 
before interest 
and tax (EBIT)

Group EUR 11 million

Low  
mid-three-digit 

million euro 
amount

Debt service 
ratio Group 2.0 years Slight reduction

The revenue growth forecast was derived from the expected 
developments in the segments as follows:

In the Platforms segment, the sustainable implementation 
of the business model shift of the Group company OTTO to 
an e-commerce platform is the defining strategic focus in 
the 2024/25 financial year. Relevant investments continued 
to be made in the IT infrastructure and in future technol-
ogies, and the further scaling of the marketplace business 
is being pursued. Accordingly, the Group company OTTO 
again plans to significantly increase the number of market-
place partners in the forecast year. The platform will be 
opened up to marketplace partners from the European 
Union, and the first step will be to connect the warehouses 
of German marketplace partners in European countries. In 
addition, the marketplace assortment will be opened up to 
additional product groups starting in the summer of 2024, 
including nutritional supplements and energy technology. 
The further scaling of both the number of marketplace 
partners and product groups will significantly expand the 
product portfolio at otto.de during the forecasting period 
and offer customers an even greater selection. The techno-
logical development of the e-commerce platform will be 
systematically continued, especially in the area of AI. More 
than 100 employees are currently working on the develop-
ment of AI tools, which are already being used to automat-
ically create product descriptions or forecasts for the online 
shop. The expansion of OTTO Advertising’s B2B services, 
especially in the area of self-developed advertising services 
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for suppliers, marketplace partners, and media agencies, will 
also increase substantially. In the forecast year, the Group 
company OTTO will achieve high revenue momentum in 
the marketplace and payment business as well as in the 
advertising services business. By contrast, further declines 
in revenue are expected in the traditional retail business. In 
the 2024/25 financial year, About You will focus on its further 
development as a major retail platform, scaling the existing 
markets and systematically expanding its B2B activities in 
the area of technology, media, and enabling.

Crate and Barrel, Witt and the bonprix Group in the Brand 
Concepts segment expect a heterogeneous business devel-
opment in the 2024/25 financial year. The Crate and Barrel 
Group is expected to report a decline in revenue in the fore-
cast year due to continued weak demand in the US market. 
However, the Witt Group is expected to experience a signifi-
cant increase in revenue due to the continued implementa-
tion of the multi-channel strategy, which includes focusing 
on the expansion of the online stores and the increased share 
of e-commerce. In addition, the Witt Group will benefit from 
the acquisition of new brands such as Wenz and IMPRES-
SIONEN and expand its product portfolio in the forecast 
year. As an international fashion brand with a strong product 
focus, the bonprix Group will concentrate on further devel-
oping and realigning its fashion ranges in the forecast year. 
Revenue growth is expected for the European activities, 
while the activities in the USA will continue to negatively 
impact the development of revenue in the bonprix Group in 
the forecast year.

The revenue growth in the Retailers segment will be signif-
icantly influenced by the discontinuation of operations of 
myToys.de GmbH and SAINT BRICE S.A. in Belgium in the 
2023/24 financial year. In the forecast year, the absence of 
revenue from these Group companies due to their closure 
will lead to a corresponding decline in the segment’s 
reported revenue. Other retailer concepts, such as Limango 
and Manufactum, expect significant revenue growth in the 
2024/25 financial year. The effects of the discontinuation of 
the operating business of myToys.de GmbH and SAINT BRICE 
S.A. are adjusted when deriving the revenue forecast for the 
Retailers segment.

In the Services segment, the recognized external revenue 
included in the Otto Group’s consolidated income statement 
only reflects the business performance in this segment to 
a limited extent, as the Hermes Fulfilment Group, for one, 
provides warehousing and returns processing services, 
almost exclusively for Otto Group companies, and these 
activities are not included in the consolidated revenue of the 
Otto Group. Secondly, the revenue from the parcel distribu-
tion activities of the Hermes Group in Germany and in the 
United Kingdom is not included in the Otto Group’s consol-
idated financial statements. In the 2024/25 financial year, 

the Hermes Fulfilment Group will successfully complete 
the extensive construction of a new fulfillment center in 
Ilowa, Poland, and further develop and expand the logis-
tics location in Altenkunstadt, Bavaria, thus laying the foun-
dation for shorter delivery times and significantly improved 
service for customers. In addition, Group companies of the 
Hermes Fulfilment Group have already started to expand 
their activities in the area of robotics in the 2023/24 finan-
cial year. Through strategic partnerships with robotics 
companies such as Boston Dynamics, logistics processes 
will be significantly automated in the forecast year and 
subsequent financial years, and operational efficiency 
and occupational safety in the company’s own fulfillment 
centers will be increased. In addition, Hermes Fulfilment 
GmbH will continue to expand its F2X business in the fore-
cast year. As an omnichannel fulfillment service, F2X aims 
to provide scalable solutions for medium-sized and large 
e-commerce brands and effectively support process design 
along the entire value chain. The first external customers 
were connected in the 2023/24 financial year. Due to the 
expected expansion of the F2X business through the acqui-
sition of additional external customers, the Hermes Fulfil-
ment Group expects a significant increase in external reve-
nues in the forecast year. The expected revenue growth in 
the Services segment is also supported by the completed 
acquisition of the Supply Chain Solutions business area of 
Hermes Germany GmbH at the end of the 2023/24 finan-
cial year. The range of services offered by the newly estab-
lished Otto Group Logistics GmbH in the air and sea freight 
business will be continuously expanded and the market 
positioning will be further developed in order to exploit the 
existing growth potential in supply chain management. 
In deriving the revenue forecast for the Services segment, 
adjustments have been made for the sale of the 2-man 
handling specialist GIRARD AGEDISS in France, completed 
in April 2024, i.e., at the beginning of the forecast year.

In the Financial Services segment, the EOS  Group will 
maintain or expand its current position in all established 
markets and relevant business areas in the forecast year 
and subsequent financial years. The focus will continue to 
be on the acquisition of receivables and property portfo-
lios. The EOS Group sees clear market opportunities in this 
area and will position itself even more strongly as a glob-
ally networked player. In addition, through increased coop-
eration with co-investors, the EOS Group will gain further 
investment opportunities in the market for investing in 
unsecured and secured receivables packages and proper-
ties. The volume of portfolio investments is expected to be 
significantly higher in the 2024/25 financial year than in the 
previous 2023/24 financial year. In particular, a significant 
expansion of portfolio investments is targeted for Germany 
and the Western European markets, taking into account the 
regulatory and legal framework in the respective markets. 
In terms of revenue, the EOS Group is forecasting a slightly 
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lower level of revenue in the 2024/25 financial year than in 
the previous year. The revenue growth in the forecast year 
is based on the portfolio investments made in the 2023/24 
financial year, which were high but lower than in the 2022/23 
financial year.

The profitability (EBIT) of the Otto Group will increase signif-
icantly in the forecast year 2024/25. It was derived from the 
expected developments in the segments as follows: 

In the Platforms segment, the Group company OTTO aims to 
return to profitability in the forecast year, driven in particular 
by the continuous ramp-up of the marketplace busi-
ness and the further expansion of the Advertising Services 
segment. About You expects earnings to improve at the 
level of adujsted EBITDA as a result of the scaling of existing 
markets and the systematic expansion of B2B activities. A 
significant increase in EBIT contributions is expected for the 
Platforms segment in the forecast year and subsequent 
financial years. The Crate and Barrel Group in the Brand 
Concepts segment is expected to make a higher contribu-
tion to earnings, partly as a result of the further normali-
zation of transportation and container costs in the supply 
chain. The bonprix Group will focus on high cost efficiency 
in the forecast year in order to further develop and realign 
fashion ranges and to increase profitability by standard-
izing and digitizing processes and systems. Positive effects 
from the aforementioned portfolio measures are expected 
in the Retailers segment. The elimination of the associated 
last-time charges will lead to a significant strengthening of 
profitability in the Retailers segment in the forecast year. 
The Financial Services segment, which is dominated by the 
EOS Group, continues to expect excellent profitability. The 
EOS Group will continue to optimize existing processes and 
cost structures and reduce the complexity of its IT land-
scape. Overall, the efficiency measures implemented in the 
2023/24 financial year and planned for the forecast year 
will bring about a sustained improvement in the cost struc-
ture at various Group companies and lead to streamlined 
processes and greater use of synergies within the Group. 

With a significant increase in EBIT in the forecast year, the 
Otto Group expects a gradual and consistent return to 
substantially improved profitability and increased economic 
performance in the following financial years. 

In addition to increasing profitability, a significant reduction 
in net financial debt is expected in the forecast year. This is 
due, among other things, to the portfolio streamlining and 
reduced charges from investments in the e-commerce plat-
forms in the Platforms segment and in the warehouse logis-
tics infrastructure in the Services segment. The Otto Group 
therefore expects a further improvement in the debt service 
ratio for the 2024/25 financial year.

Statement by the Executive 
Board on the Otto Group’s 
future performance 
Despite the still challenging and uncertain market environ-
ment and the cautious consumer sentiment, the Otto Group 
aims to make significant progress in the relevant financial 
indicators in the 2024/25 forecast year. Group revenues are 
to be stabilized, profitability (EBIT) significantly increased 
and the debt service ratio slightly improved. 

This will lay the foundation for returning to the growth path 
in subsequent financial years and gradually improving prof-
itability while increasing economic performance.

Maintaining financial stability and good credit metrics will 
also remain a cornerstone of the Group’s development going 
forward in these challenging times.

Hamburg, 8 May 2024

The Executive Board of Verwaltungsgesellschaft Otto mbH

Alexander Birken  Dr Marcus Ackermann  Sergio Bucher

Sebastian Klauke  Petra Scharner-Wolff  Kay Schiebur
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Consolidated income statement

1 March 2023 to 29 February 2024

Note 2023/24 2022/23

[No.] EUR million EUR million

Revenue and income from customer financing [6] 14,995 16,190

Other operating income [7] 367 379

Change in inventories and other internal costs capitalized 92 101

Purchased goods and services [8] –7,882 –8,801

Personnel expenses [9] –2,391 –2,351

Other operating expenses [10] –4,349 –4,885

Income (loss) from equity investments [11] –88 –44

Income from associated companies and joint ventures –88 –49

Income from other equity investments 0 5

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 744 589

Depreciation and amortization –530 –523

Impairment losses [12] –203 –44

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 11 22

Interest and similar income [13] 25 38

Interest and similar expenses [13] –189 –124

Other net financial income (expense) [13] –197 –160

Earnings before tax (EBT) –350 –224

Income tax [14] –76 –189

Loss for the year –426 –413

Loss attributable to the owners of Otto (GmbH & Co KG) –276 –307

Loss attributable to non-controlling interests –162 –120

Loss attributable to publicly-listed equity and participation certificates 12 14
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Consolidated statement  
of comprehensive income
1 March 2023 to 29 February 2024

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

Loss for the year –426 –413

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Gains and losses arising from translation of financial statements in foreign currencies 23 –8

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair values of derivatives held as cash flow hedges after tax 1 –15

Gains and losses in other comprehensive income –14 21

Gains and losses reclassified to profit or loss 15 –36

Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the 
equity method after tax 2 6

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Gains and losses arising from changes in other financial assets after tax –18 19

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability after tax –67 310

Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the 
equity method after tax (net defined benefit liability, other financial investments) –15 –2

Other comprehensive income for the year –74 310

Total comprehensive income for the year –500 –103

Total comprehensive income attributable to the owners of Otto (GmbH & Co KG) –373 –13

Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests –139 –104

Total comprehensive income attributable to publicly-listed equity and participation certificates 12 14
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Consolidated balance sheet

As of 29 February 2024

Assets

Note 29.02.2024 28.02.2023

[No.] EUR million EUR million

Intangible assets [15] 2,342 2,522

Property, plant and equipment [16] 1,599 1,435

Right-of-use assets [17] 909 995

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures [18] 460 1,042

Other financial investments [18] 287 365

Trade receivables [20] 137 136

Receivables from financial services [20] 1,745 1,765

Receivables from related parties [21] 40 67

Other assets [22] 154 214

Non-current assets 7,673 8,541

Deferred tax [14] 118 84

Inventories [19] 2,346 2,711

Trade receivables [20] 817 859

Receivables from financial services [20] 680 578

Receivables from related parties [21] 74 40

Income tax receivables 58 58

Other assets [22] 1,272 688

Securities 1 1

Cash and cash equivalents 679 490

Assets held for sale [5c] 56 0

Current assets 5,983 5,425

Total assets 13,774 14,050
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Liabilities

Note 29.02.2024 28.02.2023

[No.] EUR million EUR million

Equity attributable to the owners of Otto (GmbH & Co KG) 3,270 3,645

Capital provided by the limited partners in Otto (GmbH & Co KG) 820 820

Consolidated retained earnings 2,706 2,955

Net cost in excess of net assets acquired in step acquisitions and partial disposals –77 –70

Accumulated other comprehensive income –192 –73

Accumulated other equity 13 13

Non-controlling interests 1,103 1,213

Publicly-listed equity and participation certificates 284 310

Equity [23] 4,657 5,168

Profit and loss participation rights [24] 23 24

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations [25] 1,154 1,063

Other provisions [26] 75 77

Bonds and other notes payable [27] 381 623

Bank liabilities [27] 846 711

Other financing liabilities [28] 18 25

Trade payables 3 0

Lease liabilities [37] 804 913

Other liabilities [30] 337 312

Non-current provisions and liabilities 3,641 3,748

Deferred tax [14] 152 193

Profit and loss participation rights [24] 2 1

Other provisions [26] 89 90

Bonds and other notes payable [27] 333 154

Bank liabilities [27] 712 622

Other financing liabilities [28] 24 11

Trade payables 2,253 2,211

Liabilities to related parties [29] 163 245

Income tax liabilities 91 70

Lease liabilities [37] 238 244

Other liabilities [30] 1,369 1,293

Liabilities classified as held for sale [5c] 50 0

Current provisions and liabilities 5,324 4,941

Total equity and liabilities 13,774 14,050
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Consolidated cash flow statement

1 March 2023 to 29 February 2024

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 11 22

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses/reversal of impairment losses on intangible 
assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets 732 566

Profits (-)/losses (+) from associated companies and joint ventures 88 49

Dividends received from associated companies and joint ventures 21 29

Increase (+)/decrease (-) in allowances on loans, receivables and inventories 89 93

Gains (-)/losses (+) on disposals of items in intangible assets and property, plant and equipment –10 –5

Pension payments exceeding (-)/less than (+) pension expense –30 –23

Gross cash flow from operating activities 901 731

Decrease (+)/increase (-) in working capital 353 –991

Decrease (+)/increase (-) in inventories (gross) 364 –69

Decrease (+)/increase (-) in trade receivables (gross) –63 130

Decrease (+)/increase (-) in receivables from financial services (gross) –82 –566

Increase (+)/decrease (-) in provisions –8 –38

Increase (+)/decrease (-) in trade payables 27 –190

Increase (+)/decrease (-) in receivables due from related parties/ in payables due to related 
parties 10 –43

Changes in other assets / liabilities 105 –215

Income tax paid –128 –120

Interest received 12 7

Cash inflows/outflows from non-current financial assets and securities 2 1

Cash flow from operating activities 1,140 –372
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2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

Cash flow from operating activities 1,140 –372

Capital expenditures on purchases of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment –418 –592

Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries –62 –103

Capital expenditures on purchases of other financial investments –97 –209

Proceeds from disposals of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 22 29

Proceeds from disposals of consolidated subsidiaries 5 4

Proceeds from disposals of other financial investments 99 24

Cash flow from investing activities –451 –847

Free cash flow 689 –1,219

Dividends paid –59 –188

of which, attributable to the owners of Otto (GmbH & Co KG) 0 –100

Interest paid and bank charges –254 –243

Payments for reductions in equity/proceeds from additions to equity 27 –34

Payments for step acquisitions in subsidiaries 0 –40

Proceeds/payments (net) for issues and repurchases of profit and loss participation rights –2 2

Payments of principal on lease liabilities –216 –208

Proceeds from assumption of other financial liabilities 290 1,204

Repayments of other financial liabilities –270 –96

Cash flow from financing activities –484 397

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 491 1,311

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents 205 –822

Changes in cash and cash equivalents due to foreign exchange rates –1 2

Reclassification with regard to disposal groups –15 0

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period (see Note 32) 680 491
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Statement of changes in  
consolidated equity

Limited partners‘ 
capital of Otto 

(GmbH & Co KG)
Consolidated  

retained earnings

Net cost in excess of 
net assets acquired 
in step acquisitions 

and partial disposals

Gains and losses 
arising from  

translation of  
financial statements 
in foreign currencies

Gains and losses 
arising from changes 

in fair values of  
derivatives held as 

cash flow hedges

Remeasurements 
of the net defined 

liability

Gains and losses 
arising from other 

financial assets

Share of other  
comprehensive 

income of associates 
and joint ventures 

accounted for using 
the equity method

Accumulated other 
equity

Equity attributable 
to the owners of Otto 

(GmbH & Co KG)
Non-controlling 

interests

Publicly-listed equity 
and participation 

certificates Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

1 March 2023 820 2,955 –70 –112 –7 –373 189 230 13 3,645 1,213 310 5,168

Total comprehensive income 0 –276 0 23 3 –66 –43 –14 0 –373 –139 12 –500

Loss/profit for the year 0 –276 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 –276 –162 12 –426

Other comprehensive income for the year 0 0 0 23 3 –66 –43 –14 0 –97 23 0 –74

Result from hedging transactions that have been 
reclassified to inventories 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1

Capital increase 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 53 –26 27

Changes in entities consolidated 0 –1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Step acquisitions/partial disposals 0 0 –8 0 0 0 0 0 0 –8 6 0 –2

Dividends paid 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 –47 –12 –59

Other changes recognized directly in equity 0 28 0 0 0 0 –23 0 0 5 17 0 22

Group equity as of 29 February 2024 820 2,706 –77 –89 –3 –439 123 216 13 3,270 1,103 284 4,657

1 March 2022 820 3,351 –43 –104 10 –675 170 229 13 3,771 1,379 345 5,495

Total comprehensive income 0 –307 0 –8 –17 299 19 1 0 –13 –104 14 –103

Profit for the year 0 –307 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 –307 –120 14 –413

Other comprehensive income for the year 0 0 0 –8 –17 299 19 1 0 294 16 0 310

Capital increase 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 –35 –34

Changes in entities consolidated 0 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 6 11 0 17

Step acquisitions 0 0 –27 0 0 0 0 0 0 –27 –13 0 –40

Dividends paid 0 –100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 –100 –74 –14 –188

Other changes recognized directly in equity 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 13 0 21

Group equity as of 28 February 2023 820 2,955 –70 –112 –7 –373 189 230 13 3,645 1,213 310 5,168
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Limited partners‘ 
capital of Otto 

(GmbH & Co KG)
Consolidated  

retained earnings

Net cost in excess of 
net assets acquired 
in step acquisitions 

and partial disposals

Gains and losses 
arising from  

translation of  
financial statements 
in foreign currencies

Gains and losses 
arising from changes 

in fair values of  
derivatives held as 

cash flow hedges

Remeasurements 
of the net defined 

liability

Gains and losses 
arising from other 

financial assets

Share of other  
comprehensive 

income of associates 
and joint ventures 

accounted for using 
the equity method

Accumulated other 
equity

Equity attributable 
to the owners of Otto 

(GmbH & Co KG)
Non-controlling 

interests

Publicly-listed equity 
and participation 

certificates Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

1 March 2023 820 2,955 –70 –112 –7 –373 189 230 13 3,645 1,213 310 5,168

Total comprehensive income 0 –276 0 23 3 –66 –43 –14 0 –373 –139 12 –500

Loss/profit for the year 0 –276 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 –276 –162 12 –426

Other comprehensive income for the year 0 0 0 23 3 –66 –43 –14 0 –97 23 0 –74

Result from hedging transactions that have been 
reclassified to inventories 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1

Capital increase 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 53 –26 27

Changes in entities consolidated 0 –1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Step acquisitions/partial disposals 0 0 –8 0 0 0 0 0 0 –8 6 0 –2

Dividends paid 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 –47 –12 –59

Other changes recognized directly in equity 0 28 0 0 0 0 –23 0 0 5 17 0 22

Group equity as of 29 February 2024 820 2,706 –77 –89 –3 –439 123 216 13 3,270 1,103 284 4,657

1 March 2022 820 3,351 –43 –104 10 –675 170 229 13 3,771 1,379 345 5,495

Total comprehensive income 0 –307 0 –8 –17 299 19 1 0 –13 –104 14 –103

Profit for the year 0 –307 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 –307 –120 14 –413

Other comprehensive income for the year 0 0 0 –8 –17 299 19 1 0 294 16 0 310

Capital increase 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 –35 –34

Changes in entities consolidated 0 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 6 11 0 17

Step acquisitions 0 0 –27 0 0 0 0 0 0 –27 –13 0 –40

Dividends paid 0 –100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 –100 –74 –14 –188

Other changes recognized directly in equity 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 13 0 21

Group equity as of 28 February 2023 820 2,955 –70 –112 –7 –373 189 230 13 3,645 1,213 310 5,168
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Accounting principles and  
policies applied in the consolidated  
financial statements 
Otto (GmbH & Co KG), Werner-Otto-Straße 1–7, 22179 Hamburg, Germany (Commercial Register No. HRA 62024, Hamburg 
District Court (Amtsgericht)) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter: the Otto Group) are a retailing and services group mainly oper-
ating in three economic regions: Germany, Rest of Europe and the USA. 

The Group’s operations comprise the distribution channels of e-commerce retail sales, brick-and-mortar retail and mail-
order catalogs, which are combined into the segments of Platforms, Brand Concepts and Retailers, as well as other services 
in the areas of logistics and services, which are combined in the Services segment. The Group’s operations in the Financial 
Services segment mainly include the purchase of unsecured and secured receivables portfolios.

OTTO Aktiengesellschaft für Beteiligungen, Hamburg, is the parent company and at the same time ultimate parent company 
of Otto (GmbH & Co KG). The consolidated financial statements and the Group management report of OTTO Aktienge-
sellschaft für Beteiligungen and of Otto (GmbH & Co KG) are published in the German Federal Gazette. The Executive Board 
of Verwaltungsgesellschaft Otto mbH, Hamburg, approved the consolidated financial statements and the Group manage-
ment report of Otto (GmbH & Co KG) for publication on 8 May 2024.

( 1 )	 Principles 
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 29 February 2024 of Otto (GmbH & Co KG) were prepared in accord-
ance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted and published by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB), as applied in the European Union, in compliance with the regulations contained in Directive (EC) No. 
1606/2002 of the European Parliament and Council dated 19 July 2002, in conjunction with § 315e (3) of the German Commer-
cial Code (HGB). In addition, the supplementary commercial law regulations in accordance with § 315e (3) HGB in conjunc-
tion with § 315e (1) HGB were taken into account.

The IFRS requirements – as applicable in the European Union – have been met completely and give a true and fair view of 
the Otto Group’s financial position and financial performance. 

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in principle on the basis of the recognition of assets and liabilities at 
amortized cost. This excludes certain non-derivative financial instruments, all derivative financial instruments and invest-
ments in equity instruments, which are recognized at their respective fair values on the balance sheet date.

On the basis of the elective right contained in IAS 1, income and expenses recognized in profit or loss are reported in the 
income statement, while reconciliation of the net result for the period to total comprehensive income through other compre-
hensive income is recorded in a separate statement of comprehensive income.

Selected items in the income statement and balance sheet have been combined to improve clarity. These are explained in 
detail in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. The income statement is arranged according to the nature of 
expense method.

All amounts are stated in full millions of euros (EUR million). Commercial rounding may produce figures totaling EUR 0 million.

( 2 )	 Consolidation
( a )	 Consolidation principles
The Otto Group’s consolidated financial statements include all significant domestic and foreign subsidiaries over which Otto 
(GmbH & Co KG) has complete control, as per IFRS 10, or joint control together with other parties, as per IFRS 11 and IAS 28. In 
accordance with IFRS 10, control is considered to exist when Otto (GmbH & Co KG) has decision-making power over the rele-
vant activities, is exposed to variable returns, and has the ability to use its power to influence the amount of these returns. 
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The equity is consolidated at the acquisition date, using the acquisition method. The acquisition date is the date on which the 
Otto Group obtains the ability to control the acquired company’s net assets and its financial and operating activities. Under 
the acquisition method, the cost of an acquired equity interest, including any contingent consideration, is offset against 
the acquirer’s share of the fair value of the subsidiary’s acquired assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the acquisi-
tion date. Any remaining differences are capitalized as goodwill. Negative differences resulting from equity consolidation 
at the acquisition date are immediately recognized in the income statement. The components of non-controlling interests 
are measured at the amount representing their percentage of the identifiable net assets of the acquired company. Costs 
incurred in acquiring the equity interest are immediately expensed.

Any undisclosed reserves or charges recognized in measuring assets and liabilities at fair value upon initial consolidation 
are carried forward, amortized or depreciated, or reversed in subsequent periods, depending on the development of the 
related assets and liabilities. Goodwill is regularly reviewed for impairment in subsequent periods and is written down to its 
recoverable amount if appropriate.

The regulations of IFRS 3 with regard to the complete remeasurement of assets and liabilities at the time control is acquired 
are applied to step acquisitions of interests in companies in which the Otto Group acquires control. The fair value of equity 
interests previously held by the Otto Group are included in any measurement of acquisition costs. Any differences in the 
previous measurements of these interests are recognized in the income statement together with amounts contained in 
accumulated other comprehensive income.

By contrast, step acquisitions at Group companies in which Otto (GmbH & Co KG) already had direct or indirect control 
before the purchase are accounted for as transactions between shareholders. Any difference between the purchase price 
and the share of net assets previously attributable to non-controlling interests resulting from the purchase is shown under 
consolidated equity as net cost in excess of net assets acquired in step acquisitions. For such transactions, no undisclosed 
reserves and charges are recognized and no goodwill is reported. 

In the event of a loss of control of Group companies in which Otto (GmbH & Co KG) continues to retain significant influ-
ence, the assets and liabilities of the Group companies and any non-controlling interests in those Group companies will be 
derecognized. The fair value of the remaining shares also represents the initial recognition value for subsequent reporting 
using the equity method. 

Expenses and income as well as receivables and payables between consolidated companies are eliminated. Any material 
intercompany profits or losses are eliminated.

Significant associated companies and joint ventures are recognized in the consolidated financial statements using the 
equity method. Jointly controlled operations must be recognized with their share of assets and liabilities as well as their 
share of income and expenses. In accordance with IFRS 11, joint control is considered to exist when the management of a 
company is contractually agreed and collectively performed.

Associated companies are entities over whose financial and operating policies Otto (GmbH & Co KG) has the ability to exer-
cise significant influence, usually because it owns between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. In accordance with IFRS 11, joint 
arrangements are divided into either joint ventures or joint operations, depending on the arrangement of the contractually 
agreed sharing of control. A joint venture is a legally independent company whereby the joint controlling parties have rights 
to the net assets of the company. A joint operation is considered to exist when the joint controlling parties have direct rights 
to assets and are directly responsible for liabilities. At present, there are no joint operations within the Otto Group as the Otto 
Group has no residual interest in the individual assets and liabilities of the joint operations of any company.

Disproportionate capital increases in return for contributions at associated companies that result in a reduction in the 
Otto Group’s ratio of participation in these companies lead to an adjustment of the carrying amount of these investments 
affecting profit or loss.

Consolidation methods are applied when determining goodwill and the Group’s share of the fair value of assets and liabili-
ties. Losses from associated companies and joint ventures which exceed the carrying amounts of these companies or other 
non-current receivables from the financing of such companies are recognized only where there is an obligation to provide 
additional capital contributions. Costs incurred in the acquisition of the equity interest are capitalized as a component of 
the acquisition costs.
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The financial statements of Otto (GmbH & Co KG) and all subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures included in 
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared using uniform accounting policies.

The reporting date of the financial statements of companies included in the consolidated financial statements is normally 
the same as that of the Group’s parent company. Group companies with different reporting dates are included based on 
the financial statements as of their own year-end dates, provided the date is no more than three months earlier than the 
Group’s financial year-end date. Any significant events that occur between the different financial year-end dates are taken 
into account. 

( b )	 Translation of financial statements in foreign currencies
The consolidated financial statements were prepared in euro. Unless otherwise specified, all amounts are stated in millions 
of euros (EUR million).

Assets and liabilities of Group companies whose functional currency is not the euro are translated using the closing rate as 
of balance sheet date. Goodwill is also translated at the closing rate, as are fair value adjustments to assets and liabilities 
of Group companies recognized at the time of initial consolidation. Items in the income statement are translated using the 
weighted average exchange rate for the financial year concerned. Equity components of Group companies are translated 
at the corresponding historical exchange rate at the time they arise. Exchange differences resulting from the translation 
of foreign currencies are recognized as foreign currency translation adjustments under accumulated other comprehensive 
income or non-controlling interests.

The exchange rates used for translating relevant foreign currency financial statements into euro were as follows:

Average rate Closing rate

Foreign currency for EUR 1 2023/24 2022/23 29.02.2024 28.02.2023

Bulgarian lev (BGN) 1.956 1.956 1.956 1.956

Canadian dollar (CAD) 1.462 1.372 1.472 1.441

Swiss franc (CHF) 0.963 0.997 0.953 0.995

British pound (GBP) 0.865 0.861 0.857 0.877

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) 8.479 8.182 8.474 8.335

Hungarian forint (HUF) 380.850 396.359 393.480 377.680

Polish zloty (PLN) 4.480 4.713 4.321 4.713

Russian ruble (RUB) 95.983 72.060 98.884 79.813

US dollar (USD) 1.083 1.044 1.083 1.062
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( 3 )	 Accounting policies
( a )	 Intangible assets 
Internally generated intangible assets are recognized at cost incurred during the development phase, i.e. after the technical 
and economic feasibility of the asset’s development was determined and until its completion. Costs capitalized comprise 
all costs directly and indirectly attributable to the development phase. 

Acquired intangible assets are measured at cost. 

The Otto Group has no intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. Exceptions are derivative goodwill and recognized 
trademark rights and domains, which have an indefinite useful life. These trademark rights and domains mainly exist in 
the Platforms segment in the amount of EUR 3 million (28 February 2023: EUR 3 million) and in the Retailers segment in the 
amount of EUR 15 million (28 February 2023: EUR 15 million). Appropriate maintenance investments are made to uphold the 
lasting recoverability of these trademark rights and domains. All other internally-generated and acquired intangible assets, 
including trademark rights with a limited useful life, are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful lives, commencing 
at the time they are initially used, as follows:

Useful life in years

Software 2–12

Licences Term of licence agreement

Customer lists 5–8

Brand rights 8–10

Franchises max. 20

Websites max. 1

Gains or losses from the disposal of intangible assets are reported under other operating income or expenses.

( b )	 Property, plant and equipment
Assets included in property, plant and equipment are capitalized at cost and depreciated applying the straight-line method 
over their estimated useful lives. Changes in residual values or useful life during use are taken into account in the measure-
ment of depreciation. The cost of property, plant and equipment produced internally within the Group includes all direct 
costs and overheads directly attributable to their production. Subsequent expenses are capitalized if these lead to a change 
in the purpose of the use or to an increase in the value in use of the asset. Gains or losses from disposals of property, plant 
and equipment are reported under other operating income or expenses.

Otto Group 
Annual Report 2023/24 113Notes



Depreciation is based on the following Group-wide useful lives:

Useful life in years

Buildings 15–50

Leasehold improvements Rental term, max. 28

Technical plant and machinery 4–30

Operating and office equipment 2–30

( c )	 Impairment losses on intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and  
right-of-use assets

Impairment losses on intangible assets, including goodwill, and on property, plant and equipment as well as right-of-use 
assets are recognized when the carrying amount of an asset is no longer covered by the estimated proceeds from its 
disposal, or the discounted net cash flow from its future use. If the recoverable amount cannot be determined for an indi-
vidual asset, cash flow is calculated for the next highest identifiable group of assets for which such cash flows can be deter-
mined. The need to adjust the values of intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and those in development is always 
checked immediately whenever certain events or changes in circumstances suggest that the recoverable amount no longer 
corresponds to the carrying amount – but at least once per year. To check for impairment, goodwill is allocated to the groups 
of cash-generating units that are to generate benefits from the synergies of the corporate connections. Since goodwill is 
monitored by the Otto Group’s Executive Board fundamentally on the level of the segments, the groups of cash-generating 
units correspond to the segments. An exception is the Financial Services segment for which the goodwill is monitored on the 
level of the Group companies or groups within the segment.

Goodwill is written down on the basis of annual impairment tests. The discounted net cash flows from the value in use are 
used to determine the recoverable amount for the measurement of impairment losses. Key drivers are the free cash flow 
margin (after tax) in the terminal value, the capitalization rate for discounting future cash flows and the growth factor after 
the end of the forecast horizon.

Net cash flow from future use is generally determined using the planning of Group companies, based on which net cash 
flow trends are inferred for the subsequent periods based on a growth factor. The Group planning is based on assumptions 
related to macroeconomic developments and changes in selling and purchasing prices in particular. In addition to these 
current forecasts, developments and experiences from the past are also taken into account. Projected net cash flows are 
discounted on an after-tax basis using a risk-adjusted, country-specific interest rate. Other parameters are taken from 
standardized industry data.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent financial years if the reasons for impairment no longer apply. Such revaluations 
may not raise the carrying amount of the asset above the amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognized for the asset in earlier years. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed.
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( d )	 Financial instruments 
The Otto Group uses non-derivative and derivative financial instruments. These include cash and cash equivalents, receiva-
bles, other financial investments, other financial assets, financial liabilities as well as forward exchange transactions, currency 
swaps, currency options and interest rate swaps. 

The Otto Group accounts for financial assets on delivery, i.e. as at the settlement date. Derivative financial instruments, 
which are accounted for on the trading date, are an exception. Initial recognition of a financial asset is based on the asset‘s 
classification under one of the following three IFRS 9 categories: measured at amortized cost (AC), measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL). In the Otto Group, 
a financial asset is recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs, provided the financial 
asset does not fall under the FVPL category. Trade receivables without significant financing components form an excep-
tion here and are measured at the transaction price. In accordance with IFRS 9, financial assets are subsequently meas-
ured either at amortized cost using the effective interest method or at fair value through other comprehensive income or 
through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value taking into consideration premiums, discounts and transaction costs. 
Subsequent measurement is carried out at amortized cost. Non-current liabilities are measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method. Financial liabilities categorized as FVPL are measured at fair value both on initial and subse-
quent recognition.

In accordance with IFRS 9, impairment losses on financial assets are calculated using an expected credit loss model. This 
requires discretionary decisions to be taken in terms of assessing the extent to which expected credit losses are influenced 
by changes in economic factors. Trade receivables and contract assets without significant financing components are to be 
measured based on lifetime credit losses at all times, and this approach should also be applied if the credit risk of a finan-
cial asset as of the closing date has increased significantly since it was first recognized. The Otto Group uses the simplified 
procedure for the classification of risk prevention for trade receivables, whereby the amount of the value allowance since 
initial recognition of the trade receivable is measured using the expected credit losses over the term. 

The generalized value allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) for trade receivables are generally calculated using the 
dunning level escalation method, whereby each dunning level is allocated to an explicit probability of default. This alloca-
tion is possible as receivables pass through a number of clearly defined credit management process steps before they are 
handed over to a collection agency. Based on empirical observation, only receivables that are overdue by at least 90 days 
generally need to be handed over to a collection agency. However, not all receivables in arrears for 90 days will necessarily 
be passed on for collection as a moratorium may be granted, for example. The value adjustment rates applied in this model 
are based on the rolling annual average over the last 5 years and also include a forecast for future macroeconomic and 
political conditions as well as individual risk assessments. 

A specific value adjustment is applied to a financial asset if, at the financial year-end date, there are indications that the 
borrower may not fully meet their obligations to the Otto Group or that the financial asset has been handed over to a collec-
tion agency. The Otto Group will hand over a receivable to a collection agency as soon as the overdue receivable has passed 
through the prior dunning levels without being settled. At this point, trade receivables are generally at least 90 days overdue. 
If a receivable is expected to be classified as irrecoverable, due to insolvency or the death of a customer, for example, it is 
derecognized from trade receivables. 

In the 2023/24 financial year, no changes were made to significant assumptions concerning value allowance estimates.
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In the case of receivables from financial services, the special provision for financial assets for which there is objective 
evidence of impairment losses on receipt is applied. These are to be reported at their carrying amount reduced by the 
credit losses expected over the entire term and amortized accordingly using a risk-adjusted effective interest rate. At the 
financial year-end date, only the cumulated changes to the expected credit losses over the term since initial recognition are 
to be reported as a value allowance.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are derecognized if either the rights to cash flows generated from the assets expire, 
or substantially all opportunities and risks are transferred to a third party in a manner that meets the criteria for derecogni-
tion. Various Group companies sell receivables and remove them from the consolidated balance sheet. Moreover, receivables 
with a term of up to one year are sold as part of ABS transactions (asset-backed securities). Irrespective of the legal transfer 
of the receivables to the acquirer, the Otto Group must continue to recognize the receivables if significant opportunities 
and risks remain with the Group companies due to the contractual structure. Provided that the receivables continue to be 
recognized in the Group, a liability is recognized for the cash and cash equivalents received by the Group companies from 
the sale until the receivables are repaid by the customer. The Group companies have committed to the buyer that they will 
also handle the management of these trade receivables after the sale. Appropriate provisions in the amount of EUR 5 million 
(28 February 2023: EUR 6 million) are recognized for these obligations on the balance sheet date. 

Financial liabilities are derecognized if the corresponding obligations are fulfilled, lapsed or are cancelled or if significant 
changes are made to the contract terms. 

In accordance with IFRS 13, all financial instruments that are accounted for in the financial statements at fair value are cate-
gorized into three levels: 

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the company can access; 

Level 2: input factors other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities, either 
directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); 

Level 3: factors for the measurement of the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs).

Reclassifications between the various levels are recognized at the end of the reporting period in which the change is made.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and bank deposits. They are recognized at their nominal value.

Trade receivables, receivables from financial services and other non-derivative financial assets are initially recognized at 
fair value. Receivables from financial services include purchased receivables. 

Subsequent measurement is carried out at amortized cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
This category includes earn-out agreements and call options for which the fair value can vary according to certain contrac-
tually arranged variables. Securities traded on the capital market and convertible bonds are also included in this category.

Investments in equity instruments
Shares in companies that do not follow IFRS 10, IFRS 11 or IAS 28 accounting rules are reported under other financial invest-
ments. For such investments in equity instruments, IFRS 9 provides for measurement at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) 
as well as the option to have value changes recognized in other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Each financial instrument 
is to be classified on an individual basis. 
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The Otto Group recognizes investments in equity instruments through other comprehensive income as well as through profit 
or loss. Investments for which changes in value cannot be recorded in other comprehensive income are measured through 
profit and loss. This is the case if the shares do not fulfill the criteria defined in IAS 32 in relation to equity classifications  
or if the shares are not held for strategic reasons. All other investments can be measured at fair value through other compre-
hensive income. The decision to classify an investment based on FVOCI or FVPL is made on a case-by-case basis. Subsidi-
aries that are not included in the consolidated financial statements due to their minor significance are accounted for at fair 
value through profit or loss.

If equity instruments that were recognized through other comprehensive income are disposed of or are depreciated based 
on permanent impairment, the profit or loss not recognized up to this point is reclassified as consolidated retained earnings 
through other comprehensive income, taking into account the corresponding tax implications. For investments recognized 
at fair value through profit and loss, the profit or loss resulting from the change in fair value is recorded directly through 
profit and loss.

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost
For some years, the Otto Group has offered reverse factoring solutions to selected suppliers. These suppliers have an addi-
tional option when structuring their own refinancing. Receivables from suppliers resulting from reverse factoring solutions 
in supply chain financing agreements are retained in the consolidated balance sheet under trade payables.

Since the 2021/22 financial year, the Otto Group has also had another reverse factoring program. The respective receivables 
are shown as other financial liabilities.

Within the Group and as of 29 February 2024, receivables from suppliers as a result of reverse factoring solutions were prefi-
nanced by factoring service providers in the amount of EUR 232 million (28 February 2023: EUR 162 million). Of this amount, 
EUR 182 million is attributable to supply chain financing agreements (28 February 2023: EUR 119 million) and EUR 50 million 
to the extended reverse factoring program (28 February 2023: EUR 43 million).

Derivative financial instruments and hedging relationships
The Otto Group uses derivatives as hedges against foreign exchange and interest rate risks. Derivative financial instruments 
are recognized at fair value.

Accounting for changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments depends on whether they are designated as 
hedging instruments and fulfill the conditions for classification as a hedging relationship under IFRS 9.

If these conditions are not fulfilled, despite the presence of an underlying economic hedging relationship, changes in the fair 
value of the derivatives are recognized directly through profit and loss.

The effective portion of the change in fair value of a derivative financial instrument designated and qualifying as a cash 
flow hedging instrument (cash flow hedge) is recognized directly in accumulated other comprehensive income, taking into 
account the related tax effect. The ineffective portion is recognized in the income statement. The effective portion is then 
recognized through profit or loss or included directly in the cost of purchased goods and services when the expected cash 
flows from the underlying transaction affect profit or loss. 

In addition, there are options on shares in associated companies, in particular with regard to shares in Hermes Germany 
GmbH, Hamburg. These options are measured at fair value in accordance with IFRS 9. Changes in fair value are recognized 
through profit or loss under other net financial income. 
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Net investment in a foreign operation
A change in the fair value of a monetary item classified as part of a net investment in a foreign operation that is attributable 
to changes in the exchange rate is accounted for in accumulated other comprehensive income. Gains or losses recognized 
in accumulated other comprehensive income are to be reclassified from consolidated equity to the consolidated income 
statement when the foreign company is sold or liquidated. The monetary item represents a component of net investment 
in the foreign operation if the settlement of the item is neither planned nor probable in the foreseeable future.

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement assumes that the 
transaction on which the price is based takes place either in the principal market or in the most advantageous market to 
which the Otto Group has access. The price is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
establishing pricing and takes into account the relevant credit risk.

The fair value of financial instruments is calculated on the basis of appropriate market values or by applying other suit-
able measurement methods. For cash and cash equivalents and other non-derivative short-term financial instruments, it is 
assumed that the fair value corresponds to the carrying amount. 

The fair values of non-current receivables and other assets and of non-current liabilities are calculated based on expected 
cash flows using market interest rates in effect on the balance sheet date. The fair value of derivative financial instruments 
is determined based on forward foreign exchange rates and market interest rates on the balance sheet date. The credit 
default risk of the respective counterparty risk is determined using the add-on method taking into account the default 
probability of the specific counterparty risk. The probability of default is determined on the basis of liquid CDS spreads or 
market-listed bond prices.

When determining the fair value of put options, contractually agreed payments are taken into account. Where planned 
income components are relevant to the fair value, these will be determined based on the discounted cash flow method 
taking the relevant company planning into account. The discount rates are based on weighted average capital costs. Rele-
vant unobservable inputs for determining the fair value include planned income components. The Group regularly reviews 
the key unobservable inputs and measurement adjustments. 

Interest rate swaps are measured by discounting future cash flows based on the applicable market interest rates on the 
balance sheet date for the remaining term of the contracts. Market values of forward exchange transactions are determined 
by comparing the contracted forward price with the forward price on the balance sheet date for the remaining term. The 
resulting value is then discounted, taking account of current market interest rates for the respective currency on the balance 
sheet date. Currency options are measured using a recognized actuarial method (Black-Scholes option pricing model), taking 
into account currency rates and volatilities applicable as of the balance sheet date. The Otto Group only concludes deriva-
tive contracts with banks that have at least an acceptable credit rating. The Group‘s own and counterparty-specific default 
risks are regularly monitored and are taken into account when calculating the fair value of derivative financial instruments.

( e )	 Inventories
Inventories are measured as of balance sheet date at the lower of acquisition or production cost and net realizable value. 
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

The cost of merchandise included in inventories is determined on the basis of a weighted average price or by using the 
standard cost method. 

Acquired undeveloped and developed land intended for short-term sale is reported under inventories.
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( f )	 Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations are calculated using the projected unit credit method pursuant to IAS 19, 
taking expected future salary and pension increases into account. The pension obligations are measured on the basis of 
expert opinions on pensions, including any plan assets held to cover these obligations. Remeasurements of the net defined 
benefit liability are recognized directly in other comprehensive income. Remeasurement includes the actuarial gains and 
losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest income included in net interest expenses) and the effects of any asset 
limit (excluding interest income included in net interest expenses). The Group calculates the net interest expenses on the net 
defined benefit liability for the reporting period by applying the discount rate which was used for the measurement of the 
defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period. The net interest expenses and the current and past service 
cost are taken to the consolidated income statement. 

( g )	 Other provisions
Other provisions cover all of the Otto Group’s legal and constructive obligations to third parties on the financial year-end 
date as a result of past events for which settlement is probable and the amount of which can be estimated reliably. The 
provisions are measured at their probable settlement amount, taking all foreseeable risks into account. This represents the 
best possible estimate of the cost of settling the present obligation at the balance sheet date. Non-current provisions are 
recognized at their settlement value, discounted to the balance sheet date using appropriate market interest rates.

Provisions for restructuring expenses are recognized if the restructuring plans have raised a valid expectation on the balance 
sheet date and have already been communicated to the parties affected by the restructuring, or their representatives.

( h )	 Leases
Lessee
At the start of a lease, an assessment is made to determine whether the underlying contract constitutes or contains a lease 
within the meaning of IFRS 16. This is the case if the contract authorizes control over use of an identified asset for a certain 
period of time in return for payment of a consideration. At the start date or amendment date of a lease, the contractually 
agreed consideration is allocated on the basis of the relative individual selling prices and a distinction is made between lease 
components and non-lease components. If this is not possible, the exemption rule is exercised whereby the requirement to 
separate the lease into lease and non-lease components is waived.

As the lessee, the Otto Group systematically records an asset for the granted right-of-use asset, and a lease liability for the 
payment obligations entered into at the start date of the lease. 

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which corresponds to the initial measurement of the lease liability. In addi-
tion, an adjustment is made to take into account payments already made on or before the lease start date, plus any initial 
direct costs and the estimated cost of dismantling or disposing of the underlying asset, less any incentive payments received 
by the lessor. The right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis from the lease start date until the end of the lease 
period. However, if ownership of the underlying asset passes to the lessee at the end of the lease term, or if the cost of the 
right-of-use asset takes into account exercise of a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the expected 
economic useful life of the underlying asset. Moreover, the right-of-use asset is continuously adjusted for impairment losses, 
where necessary, and to take into account certain reassessments or modifications to the lease liability.

The lease liability is recognized based on the present value of the outstanding lease payments as of the lease start date, 
which are discounted at the Group‘s incremental borrowing interest rate. The lease payments included in the measurement 
of the lease liability include fixed payments and de facto fixed payments as well as variable index-linked lease payments. 
The variable lease payments are measured based on the index value applicable on the lease start date. Amounts likely to 
be paid under a residual value guarantee are also included, as are exercise prices for a purchase option or lease payments 
for a renewal option, provided there is a sufficient degree of certainty that these options will be exercised.
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The lease liability is measured at the amortized carrying amount using the effective interest method. The liability is revalued 
if there are changes to future lease payments due to an index adjustment or if the estimated value of expected payments 
is modified under a residual value guarantee. A reassessment is also carried out if the lessee changes its assessment in rela-
tion to the exercise of a purchase, renewal or termination option or if a de facto fixed leasing payment changes. The lease 
liability is modified if there is a change made to lease payments that was not included in the original lease.

If a reassessment or modification is applied to a lease liability, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount 
for the right-of-use asset. This adjustment is made at fair value through profit and loss if the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset is zero, or if the reduction in the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset differs from the reduction in the lease 
liability in absolute terms.

The Otto Group exercises the exemption option that is provided for lease contracts for short-term leases and leases for 
low-value assets and does not recognize any right-of-use asset or lease liability for these leases. The lease payments related 
to these leases are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Lessor
In a small number of cases, the Otto Group acts as a lessor. In such cases, the lease is classified as a finance or operating 
lease within the meaning of the definition contained in IFRS 16. 

As the lessor in an operating lease, the Otto Group continues to recognize the leased object as an asset at amortized cost 
under property, plant and equipment. Lease payments received from operating leases are reported under other operating 
income. In the event of a finance lease, the transferred leased asset is derecognized and an asset from the finance lease is 
recognized as a receivable for the amount of the net investment value from the lease.

( i )	 Deferred tax
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized to account for the future tax effects of all temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts reported for tax purposes and those recognized in the IFRS consolidated financial statements, and 
also on tax loss carry-forwards. Deferred tax is measured on the basis of the laws and regulations enacted by the end of the 
financial year for those financial years in which the differences will be reversed or the losses carried forward will probably be 
used. Deferred tax assets are recognized on temporary differences and losses carried forward only if it is considered suffi-
ciently sure that they will be realized in the near future.

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences resulting from assets and liabilities measured at fair value when 
accounting for business combinations. 

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences in derivative goodwill only if the amortization of derivative goodwill is 
deductible for tax purposes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, providing that they refer to income taxes raised by the same tax authority and 
current taxes are eligible to be offset.

Current and deferred tax liabilities for which there is uncertainty in relation to income tax treatment are only recognized 
in cases where it is likely that the corresponding tax amounts will be paid or reimbursed. Here it is to be assumed that the 
tax authorities will exercise their right to review declared amounts and will have full knowledge of all related information. 
In applicable cases, the Otto Group always takes an individual view of the tax situation and evaluates it based on the most 
likely amount.
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( j )	 Recognition of income and expense 
Revenue is recognized when performance obligations have been met by transferring control of the asset or service to the 
customer.

In the Platforms, Brand Concepts and Retailers segments revenue is recognized at the time at which the performance 
obligation is fulfilled. The revenue is therefore recognized when control of the asset is transferred to the end customer in 
tandem with transfer of the asset. The Group companies generate a portion of its revenue by providing trading platforms 
to external sellers. The resulting brokerage services are recognized when the respective sales contract is entered into with 
the end customer. 

In most cases, payment is received from the customer before the end of the payment term. The payment terms are based 
on the applicable general terms and conditions of the respective Group company. However, the claim for payment generally 
falls due 30 days (2022/23: 30 days) after delivery. Financed purchases based on market interest rates are offered based on 
a term of up to 68 months, as in the previous year. Payments received prior to provision of the contractual service are recog-
nized as contractual liabilities. They generally result from advance payments from customers, customer loyalty programs, 
customer vouchers not yet redeemed and warranty extensions not yet claimed. Interest income from customer financing is 
reported within the net interest income (expense) in the income statement.

The transaction price contains variable components in the form of return rights and discounts granted. The forecasted 
returns are determined based on the projections for the individual product categories. Return obligations for expected 
refunds are reported as liabilities. Claims for goods returns are reported as other assets.

The realization of advertising subsidies is recognized under revenue or as a reduction of expenses under purchased goods 
and services, depending on the service rendered. The key indicators for reporting are the identifiability of the service in terms 
of type and scope and its verifiability.

In the Services segment, revenue is primarily generated through transport and fulfillment services and is recognized in the 
period in which it is generated. The customer benefits from these services as they are being performed. Revenue is therefore 
recognized in line with the degree to which the performance obligation is met. For transport revenue, this corresponds to 
the distance traveled compared to the overall distance, for example. In the case of revenue from private end consumers, i.e. 
the B2C sector, payment is received when the transport goods item is handed over to the delivery company. The payment 
is recognized as a contractual liability based on the degree to which the performance obligation is met. In the B2B sector, 
payment terms of up to 90 days (2022/23: 90 days) are granted. Most payments are generally received before the end of 
this term.

Revenue in the Financial Services segment is recognized through escrow collection at the time of service provision. The service 
is considered to be provided on receipt of payment. The agreed commission is withheld from the payment and reduces the 
amount that is paid to the customer. Income from purchased receivables is recognized as revenue once payment has been 
received. Revenue corresponds to payment receipts from purchased receivables, reduced by the repayment amounts deter-
mined using the effective interest method.

Contractually defined incentives are included in the transaction price as a variable component based on expected values.

The non-reportable Digital Health operating segment recognizes revenue either at a point in time or over time, depending 
on the performance obligation. Revenue generated from digital health and data analysis services is recorded at the time 
the service is provided. In addition, a basic monthly fee must be paid for using telemedical consultations, which is realized 
based on the specific period.
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In all reportable segments, the Otto Group divides contractual liabilities into outstanding performance obligations with a 
term of up to one year and outstanding performance obligations with a term of more than one year. These primarily include 
customer loyalty programs, customer vouchers and warranty extensions. In the case of customer loyalty programs and 
customer vouchers, the revenue is recognized at the time of utilization. Utilizations typically occur within 3 months (2022/23: 
within 2 months) after a voucher is purchased, or within 9 months (2022/23: within 9 months) after bonus points are earned. 
In the case of warranty extensions, the revenue is recognized over the remaining term on a straight-line basis. Other perfor-
mance obligations that have not yet been fulfilled have a term of up to one year and are not reported separately through 
application of the simplified options.

The acquisition costs for contracts with a useful life of up to one year are recognized directly as an expense. Other operating 
income is recognized at the performance date, provided that the amount can be reliably measured and that it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the entity.

Earnings from sale and leaseback transactions are recognized immediately in income.

Interest income accruing to the Otto Group when merchandise is purchased on credit is recorded for the period using the 
effective interest method. Fees from banking and other financial services, such as receivables management or collection 
activities, are recorded as income from financial services as soon as the service in question has been performed.

Operating expenses are recognized in the income statement at the time the service utilization, or when the costs are 
incurred. Expenses for advertising and promotion activities are charged when the Otto Group acquires the ability to control 
the goods and services used in connection with these activities. In accordance with IAS 38, advertising and promotion activ-
ities also cover the catalogs used in the Platforms, Brand Concepts and Retailers segments. 

Interest is recorded as an expense or income in the period to which it relates. Interest expenses incurred in connection with 
the purchase or production of qualifying assets are capitalized in compliance with IAS 23. At the Otto Group, a qualifying 
asset is an asset for which a period of more than one year is usually intended for its purchase or production.

The interest advantages of low-interest public-sector loans are recognized in the income statement and accrued to the 
relevant period, whereby the portion for future financial years is posted to a deferred income item.

Dividends are normally recognized at the date on which legal entitlement to payment arises.

( k )	 Share-based payment programs 
Share-based payment programs have been established for the Group company ABOUT YOU Holding SE; Hamburg. More-
over, put options on management shares with a remuneration component were granted in the 2022/23 financial year in the 
context of the acquisition of Medgate Holding AG, Basel, Switzerland. 

The specific design of these programs is described in Note 31.

( l )	 Classification of partners’ capital in limited partnerships
Otto (GmbH & Co KG), the Group’s parent company, is organized as a limited partnership (Personenhandelsgesellschaft) 
under German law. Its limited partners have a statutory right of cancellation that cannot be precluded by the partnership 
agreement and may therefore require the company to pay out capital contributions, and the related share of profits, under 
a carrying amount clause. 
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According to IAS 32, puttable financial instruments are to be classified as equity, provided they fulfill certain conditions. 
These conditions include the assignment of the financial instrument to the class of instruments that is the most subordinate, 
the entitlement of the holder of the financial instrument to a pro-rata share of the entity’s net assets on liquidation and the 
dependency of the total expected cash flows attributable to the financial instrument on the profit or loss or from the change 
in the recognized net assets of the entity. These criteria apply to the limited partners’ shares in Otto (GmbH & Co KG) pursuant 
to the statutory regulations and the provisions of the shareholders’ agreement with limited partners’ shares recognized in 
consolidated equity. Profits distributed to limited partners are therefore expensed in the statement of changes in consoli-
dated equity as a shareholder transaction outside the total comprehensive income for the year.

Non-controlling interests in consolidated partnerships where such rights of cancellation apply are to be classified as liabili-
ties and are recognized as other financial liabilities, since these shares do not fulfill the criteria defined in IAS 32 with respect 
to the classification as equity. Changes in the value and interest components of liabilities are either expensed or recognized 
as a gain in the consolidated income statement. 

( m )	 Publicly-listed equity and participation certificates 
Any financial instruments that the Otto Group issues on capital markets are classified as equity as long as there are no 
termination rights that could obligate the Otto Group to repay the capital paid in by the holder. Accordingly, interest or divi-
dends on such instruments are not reported as interest expense, but as part of the appropriation of net income for the year.

Profit and loss participation certificates issued by the Otto Group are a component of consolidated equity as long as the 
terms and conditions governing the profit and loss participation certificates do not result in a repayment obligation on the 
part of the Otto Group, the emergence of which is outside the Otto Group’s discretionary power. The benefits arising from 
these profit and loss participation certificates are accordingly shown as an appropriation of net income. The transaction 
costs are accounted for as a deduction from equity.

( n )	 Profit and loss participation rights
The profit and loss participation rights that the Otto Group issues to employees are classified as financial liabilities under 
IAS 32, because a repurchase obligation can arise for the Otto Group on expiry of a six-year waiting period at the request 
of the holder of the profit and loss participation certificate. These financial instruments, which are classified as puttable, 
may have to be satisfied prior to the claims of the partners on liquidation. The company allowances granted on the basis of 
issued profit and loss participation rights are included under personnel expenses, and performance-related profit and loss 
participation is reported under interest and similar income or expenses.

( o )	 Transactions in foreign currencies
Purchases and sales in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rate on the day of delivery. Assets and liabili-
ties in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency using the closing rate at the balance sheet date. Any 
resulting gains and losses are recognized in the income statement.

( p )	 Assets held for sale and disposal groups
Assets or disposal groups are reported under assets held for sale if a sale of the assets or disposal groups within the next 
twelve months is considered highly probable and if the assets are in a ready-for-sale condition and will not be realized 
through continued use. These assets or disposal groups are recognized at the lower value of the carrying amount and the 
fair value less costs to sell. An impairment loss on a disposal group would first be allocated to goodwill and then, taking into 
account the requirements of IFRS 5, to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis, with the exception that no loss 
is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets and assets relating to employee benefits, which continue to 
be evaluated according to the other accounting methods within the Group.
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Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are no longer subject to scheduled depreciation or 
amortization. Impairment losses arising on initial classification as held for sale along with subsequent gains and losses on 
revaluation until sale are recognized in profit or loss. If shares in associated companies and joint ventures that were previ-
ously included in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method are reclassified as assets held for sale in 
order to ensure compliance with the criteria of IFRS 5, they are no longer recognized using the equity method.

A group of assets held for sale is classified as a discontinued operation within the meaning of IFRS 5 if this group can be 
clearly distinguished from the remaining units of the Group in regard to its business activities and cash flows and consti-
tutes a significant business activity. If a business activity is reported as a discontinued operation, the business activities are 
reported separately in the consolidated income statement. The comparative information in the consolidated income state-
ment is adjusted retrospectively as if the operation had already been classified as a discontinued operation at the begin-
ning of the comparative period.

Also presented under assets held for sale are groups of assets whose disposal is related to a plan to discontinue a business 
activity and that are sold within one year of the date of their designation.

( q )	 Use of estimates and assumptions
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS involves making estimates and assumptions 
that affect the recognition of assets and liabilities, contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date, and the recognition of 
income and expenses. Actual amounts may differ from the amounts arrived at using these estimates and assumptions. 

The macroeconomic environment, which is currently subject to a high degree of uncertainty, is a relevant factor influencing 
the development of estimates and assumptions.

In particular, material estimates and assumptions were made in determining uniform depreciation and amortization periods 
for the Group on property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets (see Notes 15, 16 and 17), the valu-
ation of investments within the framework of venture activities (see Note 18), value allowances for merchandise and receiv-
ables (see Notes 19 and 20), return rates for measuring delivery claims from expected returns (see Note 22), the parameters 
for measuring pension provisions (see Note 25), the determination of the fair value of obligations under put/call options and 
share-based remuneration (see Note 31) and the likelihood that deferred tax assets can be utilized (see Note 14). The meas-
urement of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets in connection with impairment testing 
under IAS 36 was based on budget data for forecasting cash flow and standardized sector information for determining 
discount rates. 

Numerous lease contracts that include renewal and/or termination options have been concluded. Renewal and/or termina-
tion options mainly arise in the case of lease contracts classified as land, land rights and building assets. The degree to which 
the exercise or non-exercise of an option is reasonably certain is a discretionary decision that takes into account all facts 
and circumstances that provide an economic incentive to exercise renewal options or to not exercise termination options. 
If a significant event or change in circumstances occurs, the lease term is redefined.

Following guidelines provided for in IFRS 7, pro forma currency and interest curves that may deviate from actual market 
values on the balance sheet date were used for sensitivity analyses in Note 35c.

( r )	 New IASB pronouncements
The Standards required to be applied for the first time in the 2023/24 financial year had no material effect on the presenta-
tion of the Group’s financial position or financial performance. 

Application of the following Standards published by the IASB which may have a possible effect on the Otto Group’s IFRS 
consolidated financial statements is not yet obligatory, either because they have not yet been endorsed by the European 
Union or because the date of first-time application has not yet been reached. In the case of Standards that have been 
endorsed by the EU, but have yet to reach their date of first-time application, the Otto Group has not proceeded with early 
application.The Standards or amendments to current Standards are to apply to financial years beginning on or after the 
date of application indicated. 
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Application time

IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases) 1 January 2024

IAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current, Classification of Liabilities  
as Current or Non-current – Deferral of Effective Date and Non-current Liabilities  
with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements)

1 January 2024

IAS 7/IFRS 7* Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of  
Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures) 1 January 2024

IAS 21* Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes  
in Foreign Exchange Rates) 1 January 2025

*	 Standard or amendments to a standard have not yet been endorsed by the EU.

The Otto Group will apply the amendments to IAS 12 Reform of the International Tax System – Model Provisions for Pillar 
2 – for the first time in the 2024/25 financial year.

The Otto Group falls within the scope of the OECD model regulations for the introduction of a global minimum tax. The 
OECD regulations, along with the EU directive based on them, were implemented in Germany with the Act to Ensure Global 
Minimum Taxation for Corporate Groups (MinBestG) of 27 December 2023. The German Minimum Tax Act enters into force 
for financial years beginning after 30 December 2023, meaning that the provisions of the Minimum Tax Act will first apply 
to the Otto Group in the 2024/25 financial year. 

The Group has opted for temporary exemption regarding the recognition of deferred tax in connection with income tax 
based on the Minimum Tax Act, which are the subject of the amendments to IAS 12 published in May 2023.

This legislation requires the Otto Group to pay additional tax per country in the amount of the difference between the indi-
vidual effective tax rate and the minimum tax rate of 15 percent. In this regard, the additional taxes can be incurred either 
at the level of the respective countries and at the level of certain parent companies or at the level of the ultimate parent 
company within the meaning of the Minimum Tax Act. For the Otto Group, the ultimate parent company within the meaning 
of the Minimum Tax Act is the Michael Otto Foundation. Therefore, this entity would owe any additional tax for the German 
minimum tax group and would therefore pay a primary supplementary tax for the Otto Group companies in Germany and 
abroad and a national supplementary tax for the German Group companies. Otto (GmbH & Co KG) itself is not required to 
make any tax declaration or accept tax payment obligations in Germany based on the regulations in regard to the minimum 
tax group. German Group companies that are not an ultimate parent company or partially owned parent company would 
only be affected by a minimum tax through the apportionment of any national supplementary tax. 

As part of a Group-wide project, the Otto Group is currently in the process of ensuring the application of German and 
foreign minimum tax laws from the 2024/25 financial year. The objective is both to implement the provisions of the German 
Minimum Tax Act and to implement the corresponding provisions in the respective national legislation of the countries in 
which the Otto Group companies are based.

Viewed overall, the Otto Group assumes that it will be subject to the minimum tax rate in relation to its activities with Group 
companies in Hong Kong and Bulgaria, where the effective tax rate is less than 15 percent in each location. Based on an 
indicative calculation, the Otto Group activities in Hong Kong and Bulgaria would have resulted in a minimum tax of around 
EUR 2 million if the minimum tax rate had already applied in the 2023/24 financial year. Although the effective tax rate in 
Hong Kong and Bulgaria fell below the 15% threshold in the 2023/24 financial year, the Otto Group may not be required to 
pay minimum taxes in Hong Kong and Bulgaria going forward. This is due to specific adjustments to be made in the minimum 
tax law that are not yet reflected in the indicative calculation.
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Scope of consolidation

( 4 )	 Scope of consolidation
An overview of the composition of Otto Group’s scope of consolidation may be derived from the following list:

2023/24 2022/23

Fully consolidated subsidiaries

Domestic 161 163

Foreign 195 160

Total 356 323

Associates and joint ventures reported under the equity method

Domestic 10 12

Foreign 27 34

Total 37 46

In the 2023/24 financial year, 13 Group companies were merged within the Otto Group (2022/23: 10 companies).

Due to the German Minimum Tax Act, 36 affiliated immaterial Group companies have been fully consolidated in the consol-
idated financial statements since 1 March 2023.

The consolidated financial statements include 7 companies (28 February 2023: 8 companies) with a different reporting date, 
normally 31 December. The inclusion of Group companies with a different reporting date had no significant effect on the 
Otto Group’s financial position and financial performance, as major events that occurred after the different reporting date 
were taken into account. 

The Otto Group holds 49% of the shares in the Group company Baur Versand (GmbH & Co KG), Burgkunstadt, and can exer-
cise control under company contractual regulations.

The Otto Group holds 49.91% of the shares in the Group company Creditable Opportunities Fund SCA SICAV-RAIF – Cred-
itable Sub-Fund 1, Luxembourg, Luxembourg, and its subsidiaries, plus 44% of the shares in Fonds Commun de Titrisation 
Foncred IV, Pantin, France, and can exercise control on the basis of contractual provisions.

The Otto Group holds 37.36% of the shares in the Group company ABOUT YOU Holding SE, Hamburg, and its subsidiaries, 
and can exercise control on account of the governance structure. A shareholder agreement with Heartland A/S, Aarhus, 
Denmark, which is the parent company of the second-largest shareholder Aktieselskabet af12.6.2018, and a contract with a 
related party, the company GFH Gesellschaft für Handelsbeteiligungen m.b.H., Hamburg, on the pooling of the jointly held 
voting rights gave Otto (GmbH & Co KG) control in particular over a casting vote on the Supervisory Board of ABOUT YOU 
Holding SE. Consequently, this gives Otto (GmbH & Co KG) control of ABOUT YOU Holding SE. 
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A wholly owned subsidiary of Otto (GmbH & Co KG) holds one percent of the shares in one of the subsidiaries of FORUM 
Grundstücksgesellschaft m.b.H., Hamburg. Furthermore, the Otto Group does not have any controlling interest in FORUM 
Grundstücksgesellschaft m.b.H, Hamburg, but can exercise control via the company and its subsidiaries under company 
contractual regulations. The Otto Group is not at any risk from guarantees or warranties. The Forum Group is involved in the 
Group‘s cash pooling arrangement and can benefit from inter-Group loans.

The Otto Group does not hold shares in Hefesto STC, S.A. – GalilEOS Securitisation No. 1, Lisbon, Portugal. However, it can 
exercise control on the basis of contractual provisions.

Hermes Germany GmbH and its subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statement based on a shareholding 
of 75.00% calculated using the equity method. Despite this majority share, the Group does not exercise control, as contrac-
tual agreements require the company to be jointly controlled with at least one other shareholder.

( 5 )	 Changes in the scope of consolidation
( a )	 Acquisitions
Effective on 1 February 2024, Otto Group Logistics GmbH, Hamburg, acquired the Supply Chain Solutions operation, previ-
ously operated by the associated company Hermes Germany GmbH, Hamburg, as part of an asset deal. The aim is to secure 
a stronger market position for the freight business (air and sea freight) as a means of improving growth potential in supply 
chain management. Otto Group Logistics GmbH is allocated to the Services segment.

The aforementioned acquisition is reconciled as follows:

Fair Value

EUR million

Intangible assets 13

Trade receivables 14

Receivables and other assets 5

Pension provisions 2

Trade payables 27

Other provisions and liabilities 3

Net assets excluding goodwill 0

Goodwill 62

Consideration 62

The goodwill largely results from the strategic importance of the Supply Chain Solutions business for the Otto Group. 
Strengthening the business model within the Group is expected to yield additional synergies. 

The consideration transferred consists entirely of cash and cash equivalents.

With revenue of EUR 6 million, Otto Group Logistics GmbH has contributed EUR 0 million to the Otto Group‘s EBT in the 
financial year 2023/24 since 1 February 2024. Customer lists at a value of EUR 13 million and residual useful lives of five to 
eight years were recognized as part of the asset deal. The standard multi excess earnings method was used to determine 
the fair values.
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The costs associated with the aforementioned acquisition amount to EUR 0 million and are recorded in other operating 
expenses.

In the 2023/24 financial year, the Otto Group consolidated other companies for the first time. Taken as a whole, they are of 
minor significance to the financial position and financial performance of the Otto Group (see Note 4).

( b )	 Deconsolidations
Group companies were deconsolidated in the 2023/24 financial year. In their entirety, they are of minor significance for the 
Otto Group‘s financial position and financial performance.

( c )	 Disposal groups
A French transport company signed an agreement to acquire 100% of the 2-man handling specialist GIRARD AGEDISS, Les 
Essarts, France, on 10 February 2024. In accordance with IFRS 5, the corresponding Group company was therefore repre-
sented as held for sale as of the balance sheet date for the 2023/24 financial year. Approval of the takeover by the corre-
sponding anti-monopoly authorities was still pending as of the balance sheet date. Sale of the company was then finalized 
in April 2024. The Group company was assigned to the Services segment.

The assets and liabilities held for sale as of 29 February 2024 are broken down as follows:

29.02.2024

EUR million

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 5

Right-of-use assets 12

Other non-current assets 2

Current trade receivables 13

Other current assets 4

Securities and cash and cash equivalents 15

Deferred tax assets 5

Assets held for sale 56

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations and other non-current liabilities 1

Non-current lease liabilities 26

Other current provisions and current trade payables 16

Other current liabilities and current lease liabilities 7

Liabilities classified as held for sale 50

The reclassification as held for sale in the 2023/24 financial year did not result in any impairment loss or reversal of impair-
ment loss requirement.
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Notes to the consolidated  
income statement

( 6 )	 Revenue and income from customer financing
Revenue and income from customer financing are broken down as follows: 

Revenue from contracts 
with customers (IFRS 15) Other revenue (IFRS 9) Total revenue

Income from customer 
financing

Total revenue and income 
from customer financing

2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Platforms 6,098 6,469 52 13 6,150 6,482 69 46 6,219 6,528

Brand Concepts 5,309 5,942 0 0 5,309 5,942 9 8 5,318 5,950

Retailers 1,908 2,184 0 0 1,908 2,184 93 90 2,001 2,274

Services 366 381 8 9 374 390 0 0 374 390

Financial Services 197 209 805 774 1,002 983 0 0 1,002 983

Reportable segments 13,878 15,185 865 796 14,743 15,981 171 144 14,914 16,125

Non-reportable segments and other 
activities 81 65 0 0 81 65 0 0 81 65

Group 13,959 15,250 865 796 14,824 16,046 171 144 14,995 16,190

Income from customer financing results from interest income from installment loan transactions and from income from 
factoring settlements.
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Revenue from contracts with customers (IFRS 15) is broken down by sales market as follows:

Germany Rest of Europe USA Other regions
Revenue from contracts 
with customers (IFRS 15)

2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Platforms 4,937 5,354 1,125 1,071 35 43 1 1 6,098 6,469

Brand Concepts 1,590 1,595 1,007 1,131 2,584 3,050 128 166 5,309 5,942

Retailers 1,299 1,504 609 657 0 0 0 23 1,908 2,184

Services 235 232 124 140 6 5 1 4 366 381

Financial Services 75 87 122 122 0 0 0 0 197 209

Reportable segments 8,136 8,772 2,987 3,121 2,625 3,098 130 194 13,878 15,185

Non-reportable segments and other 
activities 36 25 31 30 0 0 14 10 81 65

Group 8,172 8,797 3,018 3,151 2,625 3,098 144 204 13,959 15,250

Revenue from contracts with customers (IFRS 15) is broken down by revenue source as follows:

Revenue from the sale 
of goods and related 
shipping and service 

offerings
Revenue from agency 

and advertising services
Revenue from transport 

and warehousing services
Revenue from other 

services
Revenue from contracts 
with customers (IFRS 15)

2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Platforms 5,611 6,081 402 317 0 0 85 71 6,098 6,469

Brand Concepts 5,287 5,915 19 21 0 2 3 4 5,309 5,942

Retailers 1,874 2,144 27 33 0 0 7 7 1,908 2,184

Services 4 3 0 0 328 336 34 42 366 381

Financial Services 0 0 8 8 0 0 189 201 197 209

Reportable segments 12,776 14,143 456 379 328 338 318 325 13,878 15,185

Non-reportable segments and other 
activities 11 10 0 0 5 0 65 55 81 65

Group 12,787 14,153 456 379 333 338 383 380 13,959 15,250

Revenue from goods-related shipping and service offerings involves ancillary income that relates directly to the sale of 
goods. It amounted to EUR 531 million in the 2023/24 financial year (2022/23: EUR 589 million). Revenue from agency and 
advertising services mainly comprises commission income from platform activities and revenue from committed adver-
tising subsidies. Revenue from other services in the Financial Services segment includes income from receivables manage-
ment in the amount of EUR 128 million (2022/23: EUR 146 million) and revenue from renting and leasing in the amount of 
EUR 28 million (2022/23: EUR 28 million).
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( 7 )	 Other operating income 
Other operating income is made up as follows: 

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

Income from ancillary business 67 66

Income from reversal of provisions and liabilities 57 59

Income from debt collection services 43 44

Income from amortized receivables 34 28

Income from costs recharged to related parties and third parties 21 32

Income from indemnification payments 16 23

Income from disposal of assets 16 13

Income from charges to suppliers 14 16

Income from reversal of allowances on receivables 14 10

Miscellaneous 85 88

Other operating income 367 379

( 8 )	 Purchased goods and services 
Purchased goods and services breaks down as follows: 

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

Costs of merchandise 7,237 8,050

Costs of services received 624 725

Packing and shipping materials 21 27

Purchased goods and services 7,882 8,802
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( 9 )	 Personnel expenses
Personnel expenses are composed as follows: 

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

Wages and salaries 1,996 1,948

Social security contributions 358 359

Retirement benefit costs 37 45

Personnel expenses 2,391 2,352

Retirement benefit costs include the Group companies’ expenses arising from defined contribution and defined benefit 
pension plans, as well as pension-like obligations. The interest component in the increase of pension provisions is included in 
net financial result. Employer contributions to statutory pension insurance are included under social security contributions.

Expenses for wages and salaries include expenses of EUR 21 million (2022/23: EUR 1 million) resulting from personnel-related 
obligations as part of internal Group reorganizations.

In the 2023/24 financial year, the average number of employees in the Otto Group calculated on a full-time equivalent basis 
was 44,417 (2022/23: 47,885 employees). Converted to full-time positions, this corresponds to an average of 38,456 employees 
(2022/23: 41,186 employees). Included in this are 15,963 part-time positions (2022/23: 18,592 part-time positions) converted 
into 10,002 full-time positions (2022/23: 12,165 full-time positions). The distribution of employees by segment is shown in the 
report on the segments (Note 34).

Otto Group 
Annual Report 2023/24 132Notes



( 10 )	 Other operating expenses 
Other operating expenses are composed as follows: 

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

Advertising 1,519 1,806

Shipping and logistics 1,287 1,486

Expenses for maintenance, servicing and repair 344 333

Consulting expenses for legal and IT matters as well as general consulting 267 267

Contract staff 194 262

Derecognitions and changes in allowances on receivables 124 102

Office and communication expenses 91 111

Commissions and fees 75 80

Insurance and collection 51 47

Other taxes 31 28

Leasing expenses 16 34

Expenses for motor vehicles 13 14

Other 337 315

Other operating expenses 4,349 4,885

( 11 )	 Income from equity investments 
Income (loss) from equity investments reflects the Group’s share of income or loss from associated companies and joint 
ventures reported using the equity method. In addition, income and expenses in connection with dividend and profit enti-
tlements and loss transfers from non-consolidated Group companies amounting to EUR 5 million were also reported in the 
income from equity investments for the 2022/23 financial year. For the purposes of the German Minimum Tax Act, the previ-
ously non-consolidated Group companies have been consolidated in the consolidated financial statements since 1 March 
2023. The income from equity investments for the 2023/24 financial year therefore no longer includes the results of non-con-
solidated Group companies.
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( 12 )	 Impairment losses
EUR 175 million in impairment losses on other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets in the 
2023/24 financial year is attributable to acquired trademark rights and customer lists of the About You Group cash-gen-
erating unit. Insufficient earnings in the planning period resulted in a need for impairment in regard to the assets identi-
fied in the 2021/22 financial year as part of the purchase price allocation in the course of the transitional consolidation of 
ABOUT YOU Holding SE, Hamburg. The capitalization rate for discounting the net cash flows from further use (value in use) 
is 10.9% (2022/23: 10.1%). The impairment requirement relates to the Platforms segment. As of the balance sheet date, the 
carrying amount of the brand rights and customer lists within the About You Group cash-generating unit amounted to 
EUR 520 million.

The other impairment losses in the 2023/24 financial year are largely attributable to internally generated software due to 
the absence of potential future use and relate to a German Group company in the Financial Services segment. 

Impairment losses in the 2022/23 financial year were largely attributable to internally generated software and technical 
equipment and machinery. In particular, they relate to one German Group company each from the Services, Financial 
Services and Retailers segments. 

Please refer to Note 15 for further information on the impairment tests for goodwill.
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( 13 )	 Net financial result
The net financial result is made up as follows: 

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

Interest income from measurement of other provisions 0 20

Income from interest rate derivatives 11 9

Interest income from loans and securities 5 4

Interest income from bank deposits 8 4

Other interest income 1 1

Interest and similar income 25 38

Interest expenses for bank liabilities and bonds and other notes payable –95 –47

Interest expenses from lease liabilities –40 –27

Net interest expenses on defined benefit plans –37 –22

Expenses from interest rate derivatives –2 –3

Other interest expenses –15 –25

Interest and similar expenses –189 –124

Net interest income (expense) –164 –86

Income from financial investments and securities and from the disposal of shares in consolidated and 
associated companies and joint ventures 15 42

Foreign currency gains and losses –10 29

Expenses from financial investments and securities and from the disposal of shares in consolidated and 
associated companies and joint ventures –67 –90

Bank charges –105 –137

Miscellaneous financial income (expense) –30 –4

Other net financial income (expense) –197 –160

Net financial result –361 –246

Income or expenses from financial investments and securities and from the disposal of shares in consolidated companies, 
associated companies and joint ventures resulted from the deconsolidation of subsidiaries in the net amount of EUR 10 million 
(2022/23: EUR –7 million). Expenses from financial investments and securities and from the disposal of shares in consolidated 
companies, associated companies and joint ventures also include a charge of EUR 11 million in the 2023/24 financial year 
(2022/23: EUR 75 million) from the measurement of a put option held by external shareholders in the shares of a company 
that is not fully consolidated.
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( 14 )	 Income tax
The current income tax paid or owed in the various countries and also deferred tax are recognized as income tax. Income 
tax comprises trade tax, corporation tax, solidarity surcharge in Germany and the corresponding foreign income taxes.

Income tax expense is classified by origin as follows:

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

Current income tax, Germany 33 28

Current income tax, other countries 115 78

Current income tax 148 106

Deferred tax, Germany –62 39

Deferred tax, other countries –10 44

Deferred tax –72 83

thereof deferred tax on temporary differences –114 10

thereof deferred tax on loss carryforwards 42 73

Income tax 76 189

Income tax includes tax income for previous years in the amount of EUR 11 million (2022/23: tax expenses in the amount of 
EUR 5 million). They are largely attributable to income from deferred tax for previous years in the amount of EUR 11 million 
(2022/23: expenses in the amount of EUR 3 million).

In the 2023/24 financial year, existing tax loss carry-forwards were utilized in the amount of EUR 46 million (2022/23: 
EUR 21 million). Interest carry-forwards in the amount of EUR 2 million were also utilized in the previous year. In the reporting 
year, current tax expenses were reduced by EUR 5 million due to previously unrecognized tax losses and tax credits or as a 
result of a previously unrecognized temporary difference from an earlier period (2022/23: EUR 4 million).
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The notional income tax expense that would have resulted from applying the tax rate of the Group’s parent company Otto 
(GmbH & Co KG) of 15% to the IFRS consolidated earnings before tax (EBT) can be reconciled with the income taxes reported 
in the consolidated income statement as follows: 

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

Earnings before tax (EBT) –350 –224

Tax rate for Otto (GmbH & Co KG) 15% 15%

Pro forma income tax expenses –53 –34

Corrections in deferred tax 120 183

Non-deductible expenses 56 42

Income taxes for prior years –11 5

Foreign withholding tax 4 4

Effects of consolidation adjustments recognized in income –13 –7

Change in applicable tax rate 2 2

Additions and deductions for trade tax 7 –11

Non-taxable income –12 –32

Permanent differences –3 30

Differences in tax rates –22 7

Other 1 0

Total differences 129 223

Income tax 76 189

As a limited partnership, the Group’s parent company, Otto (GmbH & Co KG), is subject only to trade tax in Germany. The 
relevant tax rate is 15%.

Group companies domiciled in Germany in the legal form of a corporation are also subject to corporation tax of 15% as well 
as a solidarity surcharge of 5.5% on the corporation tax owed. 
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Loss carry-forwards for corporation and trade tax purposes can be utilized without restriction by domestic companies 
having a positive tax base of up to EUR 1 million. Any positive tax bases in excess of this amount may only be reduced by 
up to a maximum of 60% by using an existing loss carry-forward. In Germany, companies are no longer entitled to deduct 
interest expenses for taxation purposes if the interest expense exceeds EUR 3 million, if the net interest expense exceeds 
30% of taxable earnings before interest, depreciation and amortization and if certain exceptions do not apply. There is no 
limit to the non-deductible interest expense that may be carried forward as an interest carry-forward and offset in future 
periods against positive tax interest earnings.

The corporation tax and solidarity surcharge, along with the effects of differences between foreign income tax rates and 
the tax rate paid by the Group’s parent company Otto (GmbH & Co KG) are reported in the reconciliation table under differ-
ences in tax rates between Germany and other countries. 

The impact of unrecognized deferred tax or their corrections mainly relate to deferred tax in the amount of EUR 120 million 
on the loss carry-forwards of domestic and foreign Group companies. In the reporting year, the deferred tax expense was 
reduced by EUR 2 million due to previously unrecognized tax losses and tax credits or as a result of a previously unrecognized 
temporary difference from an earlier period (2022/23: EUR 0 million). 

The following deferred tax assets and liabilities result from temporary differences and tax loss carry-forwards:

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Intangible assets 3 257 3 343

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets 49 56 30 51

Inventories 14 6 11 6

Receivables and other assets 12 52 10 46

Securities and financial investments 4 20 6 30

Provisions 91 7 80 4

Liabilities 83 7 77 8

Reclassification as assets and liabilities held for sale –5 0 0 0

Temporary differences 251 405 217 488

Loss carry-forwards 120 0 162 0

Offset –253 –253 –295 –295

Total 118 152 84 193

Otto Group 
Annual Report 2023/24 138Notes



Other comprehensive income includes tax income from the change in temporary differences in financial instruments belonging 
to the category measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) in the amount of EUR 0 million (2022/23: 
tax expenses in the amount of EUR 0 million), tax expenses from the change in temporary differences of derivatives in cash flow 
hedges in the amount of EUR 2 million (2022/23: tax income in the amount of EUR 8 million) and tax income from the change 
in temporary differences in provisions for pensions in the amount of EUR 10 million (2022/23: tax expenses in the amount of 
EUR 67 million).

Deferred tax assets are recognized for tax loss carry-forwards only if it appears sufficiently likely that they can be realized in the 
near future. In the 2023/24 financial year, no active deferred taxes were recognized for tax loss carry-forwards in the amount 
of EUR 4,054 million (2022/23: EUR 5,428 million). These tax loss carry-forwards are corporate income tax loss carry-forwards 
for domestic and foreign Group companies in the amount of EUR 2,841 million (2022/23: EUR 3,335 million), and trade tax loss 
carry-forwards for German Group companies in the amount of EUR 1,022 million (2022/23: EUR 1,934 million). The tax loss carry-for-
wards in the amount of EUR 4,053 million (2022/23: EUR 5,427 million) can be carried forward indefinitely and involve corporate 
income tax carry-forwards in the amount of EUR 2,840 million (2022/23: EUR 3,334 million) and trade tax loss carry-forwards in 
the amount of EUR 1,022 million (2022/23: EUR 1,934 million). Tax loss carry-forwards can be carried over for a period limited to the 
useful life of between five and ten years in the amount of EUR 0 million (2022/23: EUR 0 million) and limited to a useful life of five 
years in the amount of EUR 1 million (2022/23: EUR 0 million).

The recognition of deferred tax assets for the group of companies consolidated for tax purposes under Otto (GmbH & Co KG) 
amounts to EUR 46 million (2022/23: EUR 32 million) and is based on specific forecasting for the tax group. The surplus of deferred 
tax assets has been recognized in full as of the balance sheet date, as it is assumed that it will be fully usable in subsequent years.

The origination and reversal of temporary differences for the current financial period resulted in deferred tax income in the 
amount of EUR 83 million (2022/23: deferred tax expense in the amount of EUR 22 million).

In the reporting year, an interest carry-forward in the amount of EUR 19 million (2022/23: EUR 67 million) arose in Germany for 
which no deferred tax assets were recognized. This sum can be carried forward indefinitely within the meaning of Section 4h of 
the German Income Tax Act (EStG). 

For retained profits not intended for dividend payments for foreign Group companies, a deferred tax liability in the amount of 
EUR 5 million (2022/23: EUR 6 million) was recognized. From today‘s point of view, retained profits at Group companies are to 
remain predominantly invested. As a rule, future dividend payments would result in an additional tax expense. Determining the 
temporary differences subject to tax would involve a disproportionate effort. 

The current income taxes are calculated on the basis of the respective national taxable earnings and regulations for the relevant 
year. In addition, the actual taxes reported in the financial year also include adjustment amounts for any tax payments or refunds 
for years that have not yet been definitively assessed. However, they do not include interest payments or interest refunds and 
penalties for tax payments. In the event that amounts reported in tax returns are unlikely to be realized (uncertain tax positions), 
tax liabilities will be recognized. The amount is calculated based on the best possible estimate of the expected tax payment 
(expected or most likely value of tax uncertainty). Tax receivables from uncertain tax positions are therefore accounted for when 
it is very likely and therefore sufficiently certain that they can be realized.

Within the Group, a number of financial years are awaiting definitive tax assessments. The Otto Group has made sufficient provi-
sions for these open tax years. However, the possibility of a demand for tax payments that exceeds the provisions made in the 
consolidated financial statements cannot be excluded. On the basis of future case law or changes in opinion by the tax author-
ities, the possibility of tax refunds for previous years cannot be ruled out either.
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Notes to the consolidated balance sheet

( 15 )	 Intangible assets
Intangible assets developed as follows:

Internally-generated 
intangible assets

Purchased intangible 
assets Goodwill

Advance payments 
for intangible assets Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

As of 1 March 2023 626 1,550 1,534 84 3,794

Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 19 68 0 87

Additions 15 15 0 108 138

Disposals –70 –39 0 –3 –112

Reclassifications 73 3 0 –76 0

IFRS 5 reclassifications 0 –3 –12 0 –15

Foreign currency translation –3 2 –2 0 –3

Historical cost as of 29 February 2024 641 1,547 1,588 113 3,889

As of 1 March 2023 –506 –627 –139 0 –1,272

Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 –6 –3 0 –9

Disposals 72 39 0 0 111

Depreciation and amortization –66 –133 0 0 –199

Impairment losses –20 –176 0 0 –196

IFRS 5 reclassifications 0 3 12 0 15

Foreign currency translation 3 –2 2 0 3

Accumulated depreciation, amortization and impair-
ments as of 29 February 2024 –517 –902 –128 0 –1,547

Carrying amount as of 29 February 2024 124 645 1,460 113 2,342
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Internally-generated 
intangible assets*

Purchased intangible 
assets* Goodwill

Advance payments 
for intangible assets Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

As of 1 March 2022 530 1,528 1,398 74 3,530

Changes in the scope of consolidation –3 41 113 0 151

Additions 35 15 0 86 136

Disposals –4 –43 0 –10 –57

Reclassifications 61 3 4 –68 0

Foreign currency translation 7 6 19 2 34

Historical cost as of 28 February 2023 626 1,550 1,534 84 3,794

As of 1 March 2022 –420 –522 –135 0 –1,077

Changes in the scope of consolidation 1 3 0 0 4

Disposals 8 39 0 0 47

Depreciation and amortization –64 –139 0 0 –203

Impairment losses –24 –2 0 0 –26

Foreign currency translation –7 –6 –4 0 –17

Accumulated depreciation, amortization and impair-
ments as of 28 February 2023 –506 –627 –139 0 –1,272

Carrying amount as of 28 February 2023 120 923 1,395 84 2,522

*	 The acquisition and production costs and the accumulated depreciation on intangible assets were corrected due to an immaterial error.

Advance payments for intangible assets include internally generated intangible assets in the amount of EUR 78 million (28 
February 2023: EUR 69 million) that are still in development.

The goodwill recognized in intangible assets is allocated to the cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units 
as follows:

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Platforms 994 994

Brand Concepts 161 165

Retailers 11 11

Services 70 9

Various cash-generating units in the EOS Group 103 102

Digital Health 121 114

Goodwill recognized under intangible assets 1,460 1,395
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The goodwill accounted for in intangible assets results largely from the consolidation of ABOUT YOU Holding SE, Hamburg, in 
the Platforms segment, from the consolidation of the Crate and Barrel Group in the Brand Concepts segment and from the 
acquisition and associated consolidation of the Supply Chain Solutions division by Otto Group Logistics GmbH, Hamburg, 
in the Services segment (see Note 5a). The goodwill accounted for in the Financial Services segment is fully attributable to 
the Group companies or groups of the EOS Group. The goodwill for the non-reportable Digital Health segment is a result of 
the consolidation of Medgate Holding AG, Basel (see Note 34).

No impairment losses were recognized on derivative goodwill in the 2023/24 financial year or in the previous year. The esti-
mated recoverable amount of the Platforms segment is EUR 376 million (28 February 2023: EUR 33 million) above the carrying 
amount of the segment. Possible changes in three key assumptions could result in the carrying amount of the Platforms 
segment exceeding the recoverable amount of this segment. These key assumptions are the free cash flow margin (after 
tax) in terminal value where free cash flows (after tax) are set in relation to revenue, the capitalization rate used to discount 
future cash flows and the growth factor after the end of the forecast horizon. The recoverable amount would correspond 
to the carrying amount of the Platforms segment if the free cash flow margin (after tax) of 3.2% (28 February 2023: 2.8%) in 
terminal value were to be reduced by 0.5 percentage points, the capitalization rate used to discount future cash flows were 
to be increased by 1.3 percentage points or the growth factor after the end of the forecast horizon were to be reduced by 
1.4 percentage points. Corresponding sensitivity analyses for the other cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating 
units reveal that there would be no impairment of goodwill in the event of any adjustments to the key assumptions. The sensi-
tivity analyses each take into account a change in one key assumption, with the other assumptions remaining unchanged.

The following table shows the parameters of the impairment tests:

Projection horizon in years Terminal value growth rate in percent Capitalization rate in percent

2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23

Platforms 5 5 1.00 1.00 9.33 8.83

Brand concepts 3 3 1.00 1.00 9.91 8.45

Retailers 5 3 1.00 1.00 9.12 8.79

Services 3 3 1.00 1.00 7.95 7.58

Various cash-generating units in the 
EOS Group 3 3 0.5 – 1.00 0.5 – 0.75 8.89 – 12.34 6.84 – 11.17

Digital Health 3 3 1.00 1.00 10.95 9.95

For the Platforms segment, the 5-year planning calculation was extended by two additional periods in the 2023/24 finan-
cial year and in the previous year. In the additional periods, the necessary adjustment years for the transfer to terminal value 
were technically modeled. The planning calculation for the Retailers segment was extended by another two years in the 
2023/24 financial year in order to convert the free cash flow margin into a terminal value.
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( 16 )	 Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment developed as follows:

Land, land rights and 
buildings

Technical plant and 
machinery

Other plants, 
operating and office 

equipment

Advance payments 
and assets under 

construction Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

As of 1 March 2023 1,481 495 665 451 3,092

Changes in the scope of consolidation –17 0 0 0 –17

Additions 37 24 59 160 280

Disposals –35 –31 –50 –1 –117

Reclassifications 50 45 30 –119 6

IFRS 5 reclassifications –11 0 –11 0 –22

Foreign currency translation –11 –2 –5 22 4

Historical cost as of 29 February 2024 1,494 531 688 513 3,226

As of 1 March 2023 –873 –321 –463 0 –1,657

Changes in the scope of consolidation 17 2 0 0 19

Disposals 33 29 46 0 108

Depreciation and amortization –46 –22 –50 0 –118

Impairment losses 0 –6 0 0 –6

Reclassifications 0 –4 0 0 –4

IFRS 5 reclassifications 10 0 7 0 17

Foreign currency translation 10 1 3 0 14

Accumulated depreciation, amortization and impair-
ments as of 29 February 2024 –849 –321 –457 0 –1,627

Carrying amount as of 29 February 2024 645 210 231 513 1,599
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Land, land rights  
and buildings

Technical plant  
and machinery

Other plants,  
operating and  

office equipment

Advance payments 
and assets under 

construction Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

As of 1 March 2022 1,512 443 638 145 2,738

Changes in the scope of consolidation 2 0 2 0 4

Additions 14 33 48 362 457

Disposals –96 –6 –53 –3 –158

Reclassifications 14 22 18 –53 1

Foreign currency translation 35 3 12 0 50

Historical cost as of 28 February 2023 1,481 495 665 451 3,092

As of 1 March 2022 –877 –288 –454 0 –1,619

Changes in the scope of consolidation –2 0 –2 0 –4

Disposals 84 7 51 0 142

Depreciation and amortization –48 –20 –50 0 –118

Impairment losses 0 –17 –1 0 –18

Reversals of impairment losses 0 0 1 0 1

Foreign currency translation –30 –3 –8 0 –41

Accumulated depreciation, amortization and impair-
ments as of 28 February 2023 –873 –321 –463 0 –1,657

Carrying amount as of 28 February 2023 608 174 202 451 1,435

Contractual obligations for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment (purchase commitments) amount to 
EUR 9 million (28 February 2023: EUR 13 million).
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( 17 )	 Right-of-use assets 
Right-of-use assets developed as follows:

Land, land rights and 
buildings

Technical plant and 
machinery

Other plants, 
operating and office 

equipment Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

As of 1 March 2023 1,593 43 34 1,670

Changes in the scope of consolidation 2 0 0 2

Additions 167 1 7 175

Disposals –79 –1 –8 –88

Reclassifications 0 –6 0 –6

IFRS 5 reclassifications –41 –2 –1 –44

Foreign currency translation –13 0 0 –13

Historical cost as of 29 February 2024 1,629 35 32 1,696

As of 1 March 2023 –637 –21 –17 –675

Disposals 50 2 7 59

Depreciation and amortization –199 –5 –8 –212

Impairment losses 0 0 0 0

Reclassifications 0 4 0 4

IFRS 5 reclassifications 30 1 0 31

Foreign currency translation 6 0 0 6

Accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairments as of 29 
February 2024 –750 –19 –18 –787

Carrying amount as of 29 February 2024 879 16 14 909
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Land, land rights  
and buildings

Technical plant  
and machinery

Other plants,  
operating and  

office equipment Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

As of 1 March 2022 1,244 39 32 1,315

Changes in the scope of consolidation 2 0 0 2

Additions 386 5 8 399

Disposals –69 –1 –6 –76

Foreign currency translation 30 0 0 30

Historical cost as of 28 February 2023 1,593 43 34 1,670

As of 1 March 2022 –492 –17 –14 –523

Disposals 55 1 5 61

Depreciation and amortization –188 –5 –8 –201

Impairment losses –1 0 0 –1

Foreign currency translation –11 0 0 –11

Accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairments as of 28 
February 2023 –637 –21 –17 –675

Carrying amount as of 28 February 2023 956 22 17 995
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( 18 )	 Investments in associated companies and  
joint ventures and other financial investments

The shares in COFIDIS PARTICIPATIONS, Villeneuve-d‘Ascq, France, and its subsidiaries were sold in full at the end of the 
2023/24 financial year. In the previous year, they were included in the consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method with a shareholding of 20.00% and therefore represented a material associated company. These associated compa-
nies have a different reporting date of 31 December, which corresponds to the reporting date of their parent company. The 
companies operate within the financial services sector, particularly in the area of consumer credit.

COFIDIS PARTICIPATIONS, Villeneuve- d‘Ascq, France, and its subsidiaries have the following key figures (based on 100%):

28.02.2023

EUR million

Non-current assets 12,898

Current assets 5,003

Non-current liabilities 8,992

Current liabilities 6,748

Net assets 2,161

Group's share of carrying amount 432

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

Revenue 2,043 1,543

Profit for the year 103 130

Other comprehensive income for the year –28 30

Total comprehensive income for the year 75 160

thereof, attributable to Group 15 32

Dividends received by the Group 0 0
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As of the 2020/21 financial year, Hermes Germany GmbH, Hamburg, has been a significant associated company. On 30 
November 2020, the Otto Group relinquished control of the previously fully consolidated company, including control of its 
subsidiaries. Since then, they have been included in the consolidated financial statements based on a shareholding of 75.00% 
calculated using the equity method. Hermes Germany GmbH and its subsidiaries mainly do business in parcel distribution.

The key figures for the significant associated company Hermes Germany GmbH and its subsidiaries are as follows (based 
on 100%):

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Non-current assets 317 440

Current assets 215 343

Non-current liabilities 314 369

Current liabilities 241 300

Net assets –23 114

Proportional equity (calculated) –17 86

Difference allocated to individually identifiable assets and liabilities and resulting from transitional 
consolidation in FY 2020/21 after deferred tax (before depreciation) 39 39

Accumulated depreciation allocated to individually identifiable assets and liabilities resulting from tran-
sitional consolidation in FY 2020/21 after deferred tax –12 –9

Negative difference allocated to goodwill and resulting from transitional consolidation in FY 2020/21 1 1

Group's share of carrying amount 11 117

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

Revenue 1,579 1,731

Loss for the year* –63 –102

Adjustment of the interim profit from the sale of the Supply Chain Solutions operation –75 0

Loss for the year after adjusting the interim profit* –138 –102

Other comprehensive income for the year –3 38

Total comprehensive income for the year –141 –64

Loss for the year recognized in income (loss) from equity investments attributable to Group –104 –77

*	 Including depreciation in the amount of EUR 4 million (2022/23: EUR 4 million) on the difference attributable to individually identifiable assets and liabilities from the 
transitional consolidation in the 2020/21 financial year.
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On 30 November 2020, the Otto Group relinquished control of the previously consolidated Group company Hermes Parcelnet 
Limited, Leeds, United Kingdom, including control of its subsidiaries. Since then, the companies have been included in the 
consolidated financial statements based on a shareholding of 25.00% calculated using the equity method. Hermes Parcelnet 
Limited and its subsidiaries do business in the parcel distribution in the United Kingdom.

The key figures for the significant associated company Hermes Parcelnet Limited and its subsidiaries are as follows (based 
on 100%):

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Non-current assets 1,278 1,295

Current assets 303 241

Non-current liabilities 1,611 1,548

Current liabilities 398 395

Net assets –428 –407

Group's share of carrying amount 0 0

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

Revenue 1,948 1,701

Loss for the year –24 –64

Other comprehensive income for the year 68 51

Total comprehensive income for the year 44 –13

Loss for the year recognized in income (loss) from equity investments attributable to Group 0 –10

The net assets were negative in the 2023/24 and 2022/23 financial years. For dividends paid in previous years that exceeded 
the carrying amount of the share, a deferred item was recognized in other liabilities for the excess amount.
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For the other associated companies and joint ventures that are individually insignificant for the Group and that have been 
accounted for using the equity method, the key figures (based on 100%) are as follows:

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

Joint ventures Associates Joint ventures Associates

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Carrying amount of the investment 24 425 20 473

2023/24 2022/23

Joint ventures Associates Joint ventures Associates

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Loss/Profit for the year –13 18 –19 68

Other comprehensive income for the year 0 0 0 0

Total comprehensive income for the year –13 18 –19 68

The recoverability of the carrying amount of investments in associated companies and joint ventures that have been 
accounted for using the equity method will be reviewed if there is any indication of impairment. If the carrying amount of 
a shareholding exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment amounting to the difference between the two amounts 
should be recorded.

Shares held in companies that are not consolidated or accounted for using the equity method and financial instruments 
included under other financial investments are measured as of the balance sheet date at fair value through other compre-
hensive income (FVOCI) or at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) in accordance with IFRS 9.

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Fair Value, FVOCI 209 254

Fair Value, FVPL 78 111

Other financial investments 287 365

For further information on other financial investments, please refer to Note 35a.

( 19 )	 Inventories
Inventories mainly include merchandise in the amount of EUR 2,030 million (28 February 2023: EUR 2,416 million). More-
over, inventories include acquired properties intended for resale in the amount of EUR  289  million (28 February 2023: 
EUR 263 million), which are allocated to the Financial Services segment. 

Allowances due to marketability discounts were recognized in the amount of EUR  256  million (28 February 2023: 
EUR 272 million). The value allowance discount for gross inventories as a result of this was 9.84% (28 February 2023: 9.12%).
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( 20 )	 Trade receivables and receivables  
from financial services 

These receivables are composed as follows:

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Trade receivables, gross 1,068 1,126

Allowances on trade receivables –114 –131

Trade receivables 954 995

Receivables from financial services, gross 2,518 2,438

Allowances on receivables from financial services and fair value adjustments IFRS 9 –93 –95

Receivables from financial services 2,425 2,343

Receivables from financial services include, in particular, receivables purchased from third parties in the amount of 
EUR 2,404 million (28 February 2023: EUR 2,320 million).

The remaining terms of receivables are as follows:

Remaining term of up 
to 1 year

Remaining term of more 
than 1 to 5 years

Remaining term of more 
than 5 years Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Trade receivables 817 137 0 954

Receivables from financial services 680 1,215 530 2,425

Remaining terms of receivables as of 29 February 2024 1,497 1,352 530 3,379

Trade receivables 859 136 0 995

Receivables from financial services 578 1,224 541 2,343

Remaining terms of receivables as of 28 February 2023 1,437 1,360 541 3,338
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Allowances recognized on existing trade receivables developed as follows:

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

As of 1 March 131 113

Foreign currency translation 0 –1

IFRS 5 reclassifications –2 0

Utilisation –106 –74

Reversals –14 –9

Additions 105 102

Allowances on trade receivables as of 29/28 February 114 131

The allowances recognized for current receivables from financial services developed in detail as follows:

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

As of 1 March 95 57

Foreign currency translation –14 23

Changes to the scope of consolidation 9 1

Utilisation –13 –1

Reversals 0 –1

Additions 19 18

Fair Value adjustments IFRS 9 –3 –2

Allowances on receivables from financial services as of 29/28 February 93 95
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The default risk from trade receivables is primarily assessed on the basis of arrears information. The gross carrying amounts 
and allowances as well as the default risk rates are broken down into the relevant arrears bands as follows:

Not overdue Overdue up to 30 days

Overdue for more 
than 30 and up to 

90 days
Overdue for more 

than 90 days 29.02.2024

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Receivables, gross 757 85 46 100 988

Allowances ECL –32 –4 –10 –26 –72

Receivables not credit-impaired 725 81 36 74 916

Receivables, gross 0 0 0 80 80

Specific allowances 0 0 0 –42 –42

Receivables credit-impaired 0 0 0 38 38

Carrying amount receivables 725 81 36 112 954

Receivables, gross 757 85 46 180 1,068

Allowances ECL and specific allowances –32 –4 –10 –68 –114

Default risk rate 4.18% 4.54% 21.07% 38.09% 10.65%

Allowances for ECL (expected credit losses) are general allowances on the basis of the anticipated probability of default. By 
contrast, specific allowances for single value adjustments are based on borrower performance disruptions that have actu-
ally occurred.
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The gross carrying amounts and allowances as well as the default rates for the comparative period were broken down into 
the relevant arrears bands as follows:

Not overdue Overdue up to 30 days

Overdue for more 
than 30 and up to 

90 days
Overdue for more 

than 90 days 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Receivables, gross 707 206 78 56 1,047

Allowances ECL –31 –9 –17 –30 –87

Receivables not credit-impaired 676 197 61 26 960

Receivables, gross 0 0 0 79 79

Specific allowances 0 0 0 –44 –44

Receivables credit-impaired 0 0 0 35 35

Carrying amount receivables 676 197 61 61 995

Receivables, gross 707 206 78 134 1,125

Allowances ECL and specific allowances –31 –9 –17 –74 –131

Default risk rate 4.34% 4.37% 21.73% 55.08% 11.62%

The gross carrying amounts and allowances as well as the default risk rates of receivables from financial services in the Plat-
forms segment as of 29 February 2024 are broken down into the relevant arrears bands as follows:

Not overdue Overdue up to 30 days

Overdue for more 
than 30 and up to 

90 days
Overdue for more 

than 90 days 29.02.2024

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Receivables, gross 114 8 10 11 143

Allowances ECL –1 0 –1 0 –2

Receivables not credit-impaired 113 8 9 11 141

Receivables, gross 0 0 0 1 1

Specific allowances 0 0 0 –1 –1

Receivables credit-impaired 0 0 0 0 0

Carrying amount receivables 113 8 9 11 141

Receivables, gross 114 8 10 11 143

Allowances ECL and specific allowances –1 0 –1 –1 –3

Default risk rate 0.91% 3.60% 11.81% 8.06% 2.42%
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Within the Platforms segment, there are receivables from financial services consisting of payment services, of which the 
default risk is determined analogously to the default risk of trade receivables on the basis of past arrears information. Receiv-
ables from financial services in the Platforms segment relate to payment claims from genuine factoring of marketplace 
transactions by marketplace partners on the Otto (GmbH & Co KG) trading platform. These are not performance-impaired 
at the time of acquisition.

The default risk of receivables from financial services as of the reporting date of the comparative period was as follows:

Not overdue Overdue up to 30 days

Overdue for more 
than 30 and up to 

90 days
Overdue for more 

than 90 days 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Receivables, gross 68 4 11 1 84

Allowances ECL –1 0 –1 0 –2

Receivables not credit-impaired 67 4 10 1 82

Receivables, gross 0 0 0 0 0

Specific allowances 0 0 0 0 0

Receivables credit-impaired 0 0 0 0 0

Carrying amount receivables 67 4 10 1 82

Receivables, gross 68 4 11 1 84

Allowances ECL and specific allowances –1 0 –1 0 –2

Default risk rate 0.40% 0.80% 8.85% 22.80% 1.69%

( 21 )	 Receivables from related parties
Receivables from related parties are composed as follows:

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Receivables from non-consolidated companies 0 5

Receivables from associated companies and joint ventures 88 76

Receivables from other related parties 26 26

Receivables from related parties 114 107
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Receivables from related parties mainly result from receivables from offsetting and, in the previous year, from financial 
receivables.

The detailed value allowances recognized on existing receivables from related parties changed as follows:

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

As of 1 March 5 10

Disposals –5 –5

Additions 0 0

Allowances as of 29/28 February 0 5

Remaining terms as of balance sheet date are as follows:

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Remaining term of up to 1 year 74 40

Remaining term of more than 1 to 5 years 6 6

Remaining term of more than 5 years 34 61

Receivables from related parties 114 107
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( 22 )	 Other assets
Other assets consist of the following:

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Financial receivables from purchase price receivables and co-investments 625 154

Factoring deduction for expected returns 66 61

Positive fair values (interest rate and currency derivatives) 32 42

Amounts owed by suppliers 37 30

Receivables from employees 4 4

Deposits 2 4

Other 202 185

Other financial assets 968 480

Receivables from other taxes 182 132

Expected returns of merchandise 103 112

Deferred income 94 84

Defined plan assets 42 35

Other 37 59

Miscellaneous other assets 458 422

Other assets 1,426 902

As of 29 February 2024, there is a purchase price receivable from the sale of shares in COFIDIS PARTICIPATIONS, Villeneuve 
d‘Ascq, France, in the amount of EUR 441 million, which is reported under other financial assets.

The legal right to recover expected returns of merchandise in the amount of EUR 103 million (28 February 2023: EUR 112 million) 
corresponds to the acquisition costs of the delivered merchandise expected to be returned, less the cost of processing the 
returns and any losses incurred during disposal. 
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The remaining terms of other financial assets are broken down as follows:

Remaining term of up 
to 1 year

Remaining term of more 
than 1 to 5 years

Remaining term of more 
than 5 years Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Balance as of 29 February 2024 864 88 16 968

Balance as of 28 February 2023 309 148 23 480

For other assets, value allowances in the amount of EUR 27 million (28 February 2023: EUR 5 million) were recognized.

( 23 )	 Equity
An essential objective of the Otto Group’s capital management is to ensure the sustained availability of long-term capital. 
The main control measure used here is the debt to equity ratio (net financial debt relative to Group equity). Changes in the 
Otto Group’s equity are presented in the statement of changes in equity.

( a )	 Limited partners‘ capital
In accordance with IAS 32, the limited partners’ shares of Otto (GmbH & Co KG) are to be classified as puttable financial 
instruments. In accordance with the partners’ agreement, the following amounts – which are determined under German 
commercial law – comprise the limited partners‘ capital:

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Limited partners' capital of Otto (GmbH & Co KG) 820 820

Consolidated retained earnings –731 –226

Puttable financial instruments 89 594

Given the prevailing partnership structure, which is characterized by an indirect allocation of all shares to members of the 
Otto family and the Michael Otto Foundation, to which the majority of Otto (GmbH & Co KG) shares were allocated during 
the 2014/15 financial year, the puttable financial instruments can be assumed to have a virtually unlimited holding period. 
Given the absence of market transactions and the Foundation’s intention to retain the shares as long-term foundation assets, 
it is impossible to provide a reliable assessment of fair value on the reporting date.
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( b )	 Consolidated retained earnings
Consolidated retained earnings include the profit or loss generated by the Group in previous periods, unless these amounts 
have been distributed. 

Due to legal requirements, EUR 29 million in consolidated retained earnings is not available for distribution as of 29 February 
2024 (28 February 2023: EUR 29 million).

( c )	 Adjustment item for step acquisitions and partial disposals
The adjustment item contains differences arising from the step acquisition of shares in companies in which the Otto Group 
already had the power of control and from partial disposals. Such acquisitions are to be treated as transactions at partner 
level. 

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Consideration paid (-) or received (+) –2 –40

Increase (-)/decrease (+) in non-controlling interests –6 13

Effects from step acquisitions and partial disposals –8 –27

( d )	 Accumulated other equity
Accumulated other equity is composed as follows: 

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Remeasurement surplus from fair value increments within the scope of step acquisitions with the trans-
fer of control 14 14

Other taxes recognized in equity –1 –1

Accumulated other equity 13 13

( e )	 Non-controlling interests
The non-controlling interests in equity primarily relate to external shareholders in ARGOSYN, Croix, France, including its 
subsidiaries, based on a non-controlling interest of 46.32%, and to FORUM Grundstücksgesellschaft m.b.H., Hamburg, 
Germany, based on a non-controlling interest of 100%, including its subsidiaries and external shareholders of ABOUT YOU 
Holding SE, Hamburg, with a consolidation-relevant share of 60.05% and its subsidiaries.
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The summarized financial information for the Argosyn Group, the Forum Group and the About You Group (based on 100%, 
before offsetting within the Group) is presented below. However, the values for the About You Group also include fair value 
adjustments (including deferred tax) calculated at the time of acquisition and the corresponding subsequent recognition. 
Accordingly, the 2023/24 financial year includes an impairment loss of EUR 175 million for the About You Group.

Forum Group* Argosyn Group About You Group

29.02.2024 28.02.2023 29.02.2024 28.02.2023 29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Non-current assets 430 456 1 433 798 1,112

Current assets 21 22 475 48 888 880

Non-current liabilities 131 151 1 1 202 282

Current liabilities 53 68 4 5 740 635

Net assets 267 259 471 475 744 1,075

thereof, attributable to non-con-
trolling interests 266 259 218 220 447 636

2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Revenue** 0 0 8 9 1,935 1,905

Profit/loss for the year 27 30 13 32 –344 –301

thereof, attributable to non-con-
trolling interests 27 30 6 15 –204 –178

Other comprehensive income for 
the year –2 6 2 6 0 0

Total comprehensive income for 
the year 25 36 15 38 –344 –301

thereof, attributable to non-con-
trolling interests 25 36 7 18 –204 –178

Net increase/decrease in cash and 
cash equivalents 0 0 –12 –91 –41 –291

Dividends paid to non-controlling 
interests 18 19 8 37 0 0

*	 A wholly owned subsidiary of Otto (GmbH & Co KG) holds 1% of the shares in a subsidiary of FORUM Grundstücksgesellschaft m.b.H.
**	 The stated revenue of the About You Group includes revenue with Group companies of the Otto Group. This revenue is eliminated in the consolidation of  

expenses and income.

( f )	 Publicly-listed equity and participation certificates
Publicly listed equity includes a subordinate bond with an outstanding nominal value in the amount of EUR 248 million (28 
February 2023: EUR 248 million) placed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange in July 2018.

EOS Holding GmbH, Hamburg, has issued participation certificates that must be classified as equity in accordance with 
IAS 32 due to their structure. Participation certificates in the amount of EUR 25 million were repaid in the 2023/24 financial 
year. As of 29 February 2024, participation certificates with a nominal volume of EUR 30 million remain outstanding.

Also included in this item as of 29 February 2024, is the as-yet unpaid remuneration on the aforementioned equity compo-
nents in the amount of EUR 6 million (28 February 2023: EUR 7 million).
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( 24 )	 Profit and loss participation rights 
The Otto Group offers employees at selected Group companies in Germany a capital participation plan in the form of 
participation rights. Each year, each employee at these companies has the option of buying a package comprising up to 
20 profit participation rights at a par value of EUR 250.00 each. Under the terms and conditions governing profit and loss 
participation rights from January 2022, these rights share in all Group profits and losses based on the IFRS consolidated 
financial statements of Otto (GmbH & Co KG). However, in some cases the loss allocation is limited to 30% of the par value 
of the profit and loss participation rights. As a rule, these rights packages must be held for at least six years and are there-
fore recognized as non-current rights and accounted for on a pro rata basis over this period. 

As of 29 February 2024, 30,174 packages were subscribed a value of EUR 25 million (28 February 2023: 29,994 packages with 
a value of EUR 25 million).

( 25 )	 Provisions for pensions and similar obligations
Occupational pensions in the Group take the form of both defined contribution plans as well as defined benefit plans. The 
expenses of defined contribution obligations and defined benefit obligations are included in personnel expenses, except 
for net interest income (expense). The compounding of the net pension obligation acquired in prior years is reported in net 
financial result. The retirement plans are organized in compliance with the legal, tax and economic conditions prevalent in 
the respective countries. 

Under defined contribution pension plans, Otto Group companies make payments to external pension institutions and have 
no further benefit obligations to the beneficiaries. Expenses for defined contribution pension plans amount to EUR 7 million 
in the 2023/24 financial year (2022/23: EUR 7 million).

Provisions for defined benefit pension plans are recognized for obligations arising from accrued rights and current benefits 
payable to former and active Otto Group employees and their survivors. The structure of the plans is normally based on the 
length of service, remuneration, status and the contributions of employees.

The principal defined benefit pension plans are in place at the Otto Group companies domiciled in Germany and the United 
Kingdom. Pension plans in Germany are normally unfunded. These comprise employer financed benefit obligations and 
defined contribution obligations financed by both the employer and the employee. A major part of the employer-financed 
benefit obligations was closed as of 1 January 2014 for new entries. At the companies domiciled in the United Kingdom most 
pension plans are funded. These plans are predominantly based on the frozen average salaries of employees. The plans in 
the United Kingdom were closed with effect from 28 February 2009 for new entries. The plans benefits in Germany and the 
United Kingdom are predominantly rendered in the form of pension payments. 

The Otto Group is exposed to various risks in connection with the defined benefit plans. Besides general actuarial risks, such 
as the longevity risk and the interest rate fluctuation risk, the Otto Group is exposed to the currency risk and the capital 
market or investment risk. Pension payments in Germany are secured against the consequences of insolvency in accord-
ance with the Occupational Pensions Act. For this, annual contributions are paid to the Pensions-Sicherungs-Verein VVaG 
(Pensions Security Association Mutual Insurance Association).
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The main part of the plan assets held in the Otto Group relates to the companies domiciled in the United Kingdom. The plan 
assets serve only to fulfill the benefit obligations. The underpinning of these benefit obligations with cash and cash equiva-
lents represents a reserve for future cash outflows. The plan assets are invested and managed by an independent trustee. 
The overriding investment policy and investment strategy are based on the aim of generating a yield from the plan assets 
which, together with the contributions, is sufficient to meet the benefit obligations. In view of the present shortfall, the 
company has undertaken to eliminate this deficit in the long term by means of regular endowment. The level of the endow-
ments is renegotiated every three years within the framework of the Funding Discussions. The pension payments are to a 
large extent legally secured against the consequences of an insolvency. For this purpose, annual contributions are made to 
the Pension Protection Fund. In the United Kingdom, the independent trustee is entitled to have a portion of the pension plan 
secured via insurance. The probability of this right being exercised has been classified as very low. Taking this assumption into 
account, an additional liability of EUR 3 million was not recognized as of 29 February 2024 (28 February 2023: EUR 27 million).

Calculation of the provisions for pensions for the defined benefit plans is on the basis of actuarial assumptions, pursuant to 
IAS 19. Measurement is based on the following weighted assumptions:

2023/24 2022/23

in % in %

Discount rate 3.8 4.0

Salary trend 1.5 1.4

Pension trend 2.2 2.2

Inflation 2.3 2.4

Fluctuation 8.0 8.0

The present value of pension obligations is broken down as follows:

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Defined benefit obligation, unfunded plans 1,224 1,126

Defined benefit obligation, funded plans 435 437

Present value of pension obligations 1,658 1,563
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The net defined benefit liability has developed as follows:

Defined benefit obligations Plan assets Provisions for pensions

2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

As of 1 March 1,563 2,127 535 729 1,028 1,398

Current service cost 14 22 0 0 14 22

Past service cost 15 12 0 0 15 12

Effects of plan curtailments and settlements 0 0 0 0 0 0

Interest income (expense) 61 41 25 19 36 22

Changes recognized in profit or loss 90 75 25 19 65 56

Actuarial gains and losses

arising on demographic assumptions –6 –5 0 0 –6 –5

arising on financial assumptions 51 –619 0 0 51 –619

arising on experience adjustments 10 27 0 0 10 27

Expense for / return on plan assets less interest 
income 0 0 –22 –221 22 221

Foreign exchange rate changes 12 –26 12 –29 0 3

Changes recognized in other comprehensive 
income 67 –623 –10 –250 77 –373

Payments to beneficiaries –63 –59 –28 –26 –35 –33

Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0

Contributions from employer 0 0 24 24 –24 –24

Changes to the scope of consolidation 2 43 0 39 2 4

IFRS 5 reclassifications –1 0 0 0 –1 0

Other changes –62 –16 –4 37 –58 –53

As of 29/28 February 1,658 1,563 546 535 1,112 1,028

thereof, provisions for pensions 1,154 1,063

thereof, net defined benefit asset –42 –35

 

Otto Group 
Annual Report 2023/24 163Notes



Plan assets available to finance pension obligations are structured as follows:

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Securities 373 362

Cash and cash equivalents 11 11

Property 7 6

Loans 0 0

Other 155 156

Plan assets 546 535

The costs of managing the plan assets diminish the income for the plan assets. The remaining administrative costs are not 
deducted from the income from plan assets. 

During the 2024/25 financial year, the Group expects to pay contributions in the amount of EUR 27 million into the defined 
benefit plans and also anticipates that EUR 68 million will be paid out from these plans.

The weighted average term of the present value of the defined benefit obligation is 15.2 years (28 February 2023: 15.1 years).

The relative effect of singular parameter changes on the present value of the defined benefit obligation is shown below:

2023/24 2022/23

in % in %

Discount rate +0,5% –6.9 –6.8

Discount rate –0,5% 7.8 7.7

Pension trend +0,25% 1.6 1.8

Pension trend –0,25% –1.6 –1.7

Life expectancy + 1 year 1.0 1.0

Life expectancy –1 year –1.4 –1.4

There is no material dependence of the plans on salary. Sensitivity was calculated taking into account approximately 99% 
of the total obligations. Each change in one of the material actuarial assumptions was analysed separately. Interdepend-
encies were not taken into account.
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( 26 )	 Other provisions
Other provisions as of 29 February 2024 are composed as follows:

01.03.2023

Exchange rate 
effects/changes 

to the scope of 
consolidation Utilization Reversals Additions

Compounding/
discounting 29.02.2024

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Personnel expenses 49 1 –5 –2 5 3 51

Operational provisions 26 0 –1 –5 4 0 24

Restructuring obligations 27 0 –2 –17 12 0 20

Contractual provisions 6 0 0 –1 0 0 5

Other 59 0 –7 –21 33 0 64

Other provisions 167 1 –15 –46 54 3 164

They had the following composition on the reporting date of the comparative period:

01.03.2022

Exchange rate 
effects/changes 

to the scope of 
consolidation Utilization Reversals Additions

Compounding/
discounting 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Personnel expenses 63 0 –4 –2 8 –16 49

Restructuring obligations 45 0 –6 –13 2 –1 27

Operational provisions 31 0 –4 –2 3 –2 26

Contractual provisions 7 0 0 –4 3 0 6

Other 73 2 –15 –27 26 0 59

Other provisions 219 2 –29 –48 42 –19 167

The provisions for personnel expenses mainly comprise top-up amounts for partial retirement obligations as well as anni-
versary bonus entitlements.

Reported in the provisions for restructuring obligations are severance pay commitments and other personnel expenses 
incurred as part of restructuring measures initiated primarily in Germany and Belgium.
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Operational provisions mostly consist of provisions for asset removal or site restoration as well as provisions for claims relating 
to warranties and customer goodwill payments. Provisions for asset removal and site restoration, which apply especially 
to leasehold improvements, were recognized at the present value of the anticipated costs. These costs were correspond-
ingly capitalized as a component of the purchase or production costs of the assets at the time the obligation was incurred. 
Provisions for warranties and customer goodwill payments are recognized for the probable total claim amounts, for warran-
ties established by law or contract or undertaken voluntarily, and for customer warranty claims on delivered merchandise.

Obligations arising from ongoing or anticipated legal disputes are reported under contractual provisions, among others.

The other provisions refer to a large number of identifiable individual risks and contingent liabilities that are included on the 
basis of an amount determined by their probable occurrence.

The remaining terms of other provisions are broken down as follows as of 29 February 2024:

Remaining term of up 
to 1 year

Remaining term of more 
than 1 to 5 years

Remaining term of more 
than 5 years Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Personnel expenses 1 50 0 51

Operational provisions 10 9 5 24

Restructuring obligations 20 0 0 20

Contractual provisions 5 0 0 5

Other 53 11 0 64

Other provisions 89 70 5 164

The remaining terms on the reporting date of the comparative period were as follows:

Remaining term of up 
to 1 year

Remaining term of more 
than 1 to 5 years

Remaining term of more 
than 5 years Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Personnel expenses 1 48 0 49

Restructuring obligations 27 0 0 27

Operational provisions 10 8 8 26

Contractual provisions 6 0 0 6

Other 46 13 0 59

Other provisions 90 69 8 167
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( 27 )	 Liabilities under bonds and other notes payable 
and bank liabilities 

The remaining terms of bonds, other notes payable and bank liabilities are broken down as follows:

Remaining term of up 
to 1 year

Remaining term of more 
than 1 to 5 years

Remaining term of more 
than 5 years Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Bonds and other notes payable 333 271 110 714

Bank liabilities 712 518 328 1,558

Remaining terms of liabilities as of 29 February 2024 1,045 789 438 2,272

Bonds and other notes payable 154 513 110 777

Bank liabilities 622 400 311 1,333

Remaining terms of liabilities as of 28 February 2023 776 913 421 2,110

The principal bonds outstanding as of 29 February 2024 have the following nominal values, interest rates and maturities:

Utilization by 29.02.2024 Nominal interest rate Re-offer yield Maturity

EUR million

Otto (GmbH & Co KG) Bearer bond (XS1625975153)*** 191 1.875% 1.950% 12.06.2024

Otto (GmbH & Co KG) Bearer bond (CH0511961390)*, **,*** 48 1.500% 1.418% 09.12.2024

Otto (GmbH & Co KG) Bearer bond (XS1979274708)*,*** 184 2.625% 2.625% 10.04.2026

Otto (GmbH & Co KG) Bearer bond (XS1979274708)*,*** 37 2.625% 2.300% 10.04.2026

Otto (GmbH & Co KG) Bearer bond (XS1660709616) 50 Euribor +  
mark-up

Euribor +  
mark-up 24.08.2026

Otto (GmbH & Co KG) Registered bond 15 3.400% 3.400% 25.03.2031

Otto (GmbH & Co KG) Bearer bond (XS2028841489)* 30 3.400% 3.400% 17.07.2031

Otto (GmbH & Co KG) Registered Bond* 10 3.000% 3.000% 24.01.2032

Otto (GmbH & Co KG) Bearer bond (XS2111951690)* 40 3.000% 3.000% 30.01.2032

Otto (GmbH & Co KG) Bearer bond (XS2063541358)* 15 3.180% 3.180% 10.10.2034

*	 Sustainable bond
**	 Foreign currency bond with a nominal value in the amount of CHF 52.3 million
***	 Nominal volume reduced compared to original issue amount as part of a buyback

 
Since the 2013/14 financial year, the Otto Group has had an EMTN program with a total volume of EUR 2,000 million on the 
Luxembourg stock exchange. As of 29 February 2024, the total volume of bonds issued under the EMTN program amounted 
to EUR 594 million (28 February 2023: EUR 594 million).
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In addition, a commercial paper program has been in place since the 2016/17 financial year and has a total value of 
EUR 1,000 million. As of 29 February 2024, the total outstanding commercial paper volume is EUR 79 million (28 February 
2023: EUR 145 million).

As of 29 February 2024, there are the following material liabilities to various German and foreign banks (in order of maturity):

Utilization by 29.02.2024 Interest Rate Maturity

EUR million

Fixed interest rate

Remaining term of more than 1 to 5 years 270 1.4 – 6.9% 2025 – 2028

Remaining term of more than 5 years 379 1.5 – 4.9% 2029 – 2041

Variable interest rate

Remaining term of up to 1 year 165 Euribor + variable mark-up 2024 – 2025

Remaining term of more than 1 to 5 years 124 Euribor + variable mark-up 2025 – 2028

Remaining term of more than 5 years 82 Euribor + variable mark-up 2029 – 2039

For financial liabilities, the interest rate reported corresponds to the effective interest rate. 
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( 28 )	 Other financing liabilities
The other financing liabilities are composed as follows:

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Loans payable 25 36

ABS financing liabilities 17 0

Other financing liabilities 42 36

The remaining terms were as follows:

Remaining term of up 
to 1 year

Remaining term of more 
than 1 to 5 years

Remaining term of more 
than 5 years Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Loans payable 7 10 8 25

ABS financing liabilities 17 0 0 17

Other financing liabilities as of 29 February 2024 24 10 8 42

Loans payable 11 15 10 36

Other financing liabilities as of 28 February 2023 11 15 10 36

( 29 )	 Liabilities to related parties
Liabilities to related parties consist of the following:

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Liabilities to non-consolidated companies 0 16

Liabilities to associated companies and joint ventures 162 228

Liabilities to other related parties 1 1

Liabilities to related parties 163 245

 
Liabilities to associated companies and joint ventures result largely from current financing liabilities to Hermes Germany 
GmbH, Hamburg, and liabilities from offsetting to Hanseatic Bank GmbH & Co KG, Hamburg. As in the previous year, they 
have a remaining term of up to 1 year.
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( 30 )	 Other liabilities
The other liabilities are composed as follows: 

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Liabilities to employees 304 277

Debtors with credit balances 129 114

Negative fair values (other derivatives) 80 69

Liabilities to puttable equity interest 65 74

Obligation to acquire equity interests 58 59

Negative fair values (interest rate and currency derivatives) 46 43

Other 122 98

Other financial liabilities 804 734

Contractual Liabilities 395 431

Liabilities for other taxes 345 284

Deferred income 141 134

Social security liabilities 12 13

Liabilities for other charges 8 8

Other 1 1

Miscellaneous other liabilities 902 871

Other liabilities 1,706 1,605

Liabilities to employees consist primarily of wage and salary obligations, holidays not taken and accrued holiday pay and 
also under partial retirement agreements.

In accordance with IAS 32, the obligation – on the exercise of options granted to certain shareholders of Group compa-
nies – to purchase their shares at their proportional equity value, is to be recognized as a liability to purchase shares at the 
level of the probable settlement amount. 
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The maturities of the other financial liabilities are composed as follows:

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Remaining term of up to 1 year 531 486

Remaining term of more than 1 to 5 years 271 246

Remaining term of more than 5 years 2 2

Other financial liabilities 804 734

Contractual liabilities changed as follows:

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

As of 1 March 431 498

Additions 796 428

Revenues realized in the reporting period –826 –523

Exchange rate changes/changes to the scope of consolidation –6 28

Contractual liabilities as of 29 February 395 431

The total value of unfulfilled performance obligations expected to be settled in more than twelve months is EUR 33 million 
as of 29 February 2024 (28 February 2023: EUR 33 million).
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( 31 )	 Share-based payment programs
There were share-based payment programs for ABOUT YOU Holding SE (hereinafter About You) and Medgate Holding AG, 
Basel, Switzerland, in the 2023/24 financial year. 

( a )	 Share-based payment programs at ABOUT YOU Holding SE
Expenses of EUR 13 million were recorded for About You‘s existing share-based payment commitments as of the reporting 
date (2022/23: EUR 12 million). The share-based payment commitments that are key to the consolidated financial statements 
are divided into the following nine programs, which are explained in detail below. All of the listed share-based payment 
commitments for the Executive Board, management and employees were accounted as equity instruments in the 2023/24 
financial year. The programs follow the basic assumption that their rules apply equally to all participants.

1.	 Executive Board Long-Term Incentive (LTI) Program 2021
In addition to non-performance-related remuneration, the members of the Executive Board were each allocated options in 
the same amount as a one-time allocation under the LTI 2021 program as part of the revision of the Executive Board employ-
ment agreements on 4 June 2021. Each member of the Executive Board was allocated a total of 1,702,128 (5,106,384 alto-
gether) options based on the following formula:

N = 80,000,000/2x exercise price

The LTI 2021 program is an option program that, in addition to the time component in the form of continued Executive Board 
activity (“Time Vesting”), is significantly linked to the development of key performance indicators of About You and also refers 
to target criteria from the area of ESG (Environmental Social Governance) (“Performance Vesting”).

The key conditions of the LTI 2021 program are described in detail in the following:

Exercise Price
The exercise price for each option corresponds to the mid-point of the price range for the offer price per share for the place-
ment of shares in connection with the private placement. The price range was set at EUR 21.00 to EUR 26.00 on 7 June 2021. 
Accordingly, the mean value is EUR 23.50 (“exercise price”).

Vesting Period – Time Vesting
The options granted to the individual Executive Board member vest after the expiry of certain periods, provided that the 
Executive Board member concerned remains with the company at the expiry of the respective vesting date (time vesting):

•  12% of the options at the end of 28 February 2022
•  14% of the options at the end of 28 February 2023
•  16% of the options at the end of 29 February 2024
•  18% of the options at the end of 28 February 2025
•  20% of the options at the end of 28 February 2026
•  20% of the options at the end of 28 February 2027

Depending on the vesting dates described above, the options are divided into two tranches, which are subject to different 
conditions as part of the “Performance Vesting” described below. Options that vest on or before 28 February 2025 (inclusive) 
(a total of 3,063,830 options) belong to Tranche 1 (“Tranche 1 Options”). Options that vest on or before 28 February 2026 and 
28 February 2027 (inclusive) (a total of 2,042,554 options) belong to Tranche 2 (“Tranche 2 Options”).
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Vesting Period – Performance Vesting
In addition to the time component, a prerequisite for the vesting of the options is that certain predefined performance 
targets are achieved within certain time periods (“Performance Vesting”). These performance targets were set by the Super-
visory Board prior to the private placement and consist of the average annual growth in consolidated revenue (“Revenue 
CAGR”), the development of the adjusted EBITDA of the About You Group and various ESG parameters. The performance 
targets are included with different weightings in both Tranche 1 and Tranche 2, with “Sales CAGR” being considered at 60%, 
“Adjusted EBITDA” at 30% and the ESG parameters at 10% in the respective tranche. The degree of achievement of targets 
is determined based on the medium-term target values (“Current Mid-Term Performance Targets”) stipulated by the Super-
visory Board prior to the private placement and the future medium-term target values (“Future Mid-Term Performance 
Targets”) to be adopted by the Supervisory Board at the end of the 2022/23 financial year, whereby with regard to the Sales 
CAGR the higher value according to the current and future mid-term performance targets is always decisive for the key 
figure of the Sales CAGR defined in the LTI 2021 program. If less than 85% of the respective performance targets are met, the 
options concerned forfeit without compensation. If the respective target is met by 85%, 20% of the options forfeit without 
compensation. If it is met by 100%, all options shall be deemed performance vested. In the range between 85% and 100%, 
the proportion of options that forfeit without compensation decreases linearly. For the options attributable to ESG criteria, 
a differentiation is only made between the achievement and non-achievement of the target: If it is achieved, all allocable 
options shall be deemed vested. If it is not achieved, all options allocated to this performance target forfeit without compen-
sation. Tranche 1 options can be exercised for the first time after the end of June 30, 2025, Tranche 2 options for the first time 
after the end of 30 June 2027. Options that have not been exercised by 30 June 2029 (inclusive) forfeit without compensa-
tion. Exercising the options is only possible within certain exercise windows of two weeks, as defined in greater detail in the 
LTI conditions, each falling after the publication of the (preliminary) business figures for a financial year, half-year or quarter. 
Options may not be exercised within certain black-out periods defined in the LTI 2021. Exercising the options vested according 
to the above-mentioned conditions is subject to the achievement of a share of the company (weighted average price per 
share in XETRA trading within a period of three months prior to the relevant date) of 200% of the exercise price, i.e., EUR 47.00, 
no later than 28 February 2027 and additionally either (i) at the beginning of the respective exercise window or (ii) on at least 
three trading days on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange within a previous exercise window (“exercise threshold”).

Settlement of options
Upon the exercise of the options, a number of shares corresponding to the settlement value of the exercised options shall be 
delivered by the Company to the respective member of the Executive Board from the conditional capital. The settlement 
value of the exercised options corresponds to the amount by which the share price exceeds the exercise price upon exer-
cising them but is limited to 200% of the exercise price (that is, EUR 47.00 per option – “Cap”). 

Instead of delivering shares from the conditional capital, the company may make a cash payment (cash settlement) to the 
respective member of the Executive Board in the amount of the settlement value per option (less wage taxes and any other 
statutory levies to be withheld by the company) or fulfil its obligation to deliver shares from existing treasury shares.

Programs for managers and employees
In addition to the management programs from the 2021/22 financial year and the 2022/23 financial year (as described 
below), About You implemented the STI RSUP 2023 plan in the 2023/24 financial year, effective as of 1 October 2023. All 
historical and new programs are outlined in the following: A distinction is made here between programs that are ongoing, 
granted once and completed. Within these sections, the programs are arranged chronologically by when the program was 
introduced. 

Ongoing programs
2.	 Restricted Stock Unit Plan (RSUP) & Stock Option Plan (SOP) 2021
In the 2021/22 financial year, About You implemented the Restricted Stock Unit Plan 2021 (RSUP 2021) and Stock Option 
Plan (SOP 2021) management programs, effective as of 1 October 2021. The programs may be issued continuously, with two 
tranches per financial year and grant dates of 1 April and 1 October in each financial year. The RSUP & SOP management 
programs follow on the heels of the VESOP program in 2017 – 2021, which is explained in the “Completed programs” section.
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The Restricted Stock Unit Plan (RSUP) is aimed at About You managers and selected high-performers within the organiza-
tion. The Stock Option Plan (SOP) is primarily aimed at the About You management team employees in the 1st and 2nd level 
below the Executive Board. They are able to split their annual share-based payments between restricted stock units (“RSUs”) 
and virtual stock options (“SOs”) according to the following distributions:

•  Option 1: 100% SOP, 0% RSUP
•  Option 2: 75% SOP, 25% RSUP
•  Option 3: 50% SOP, 50% RSUP
•  Option 4: 25% SOP, 75% RSUP
•  Option 5: 0% SOP, 100% RSUP

Restricted Stock Unit Plan (RSUP) 2021
RSUP 2021 entitles managers and selected top performers within the company to receive a remuneration component with 
a long-term incentive effect. A total of 504,161 RSUs were granted under this program on 1 April 2023 and a total of 1,282,806 
RSUs on 1 October 2023. The calculated issue prices of the RSUs on the grant dates were determined according to the 
volume-weighted average closing price (commercially rounded to two decimal places) of the ABOUT YOU Holding SE share 
in XETRA trading during the last 90 trading days prior to the grant dates and amounted to EUR 5.84 issued on 1 April 2023 
and EUR 5.70 on 1 October 2023. All eligible employees receive an individual grant amount in euros. The number of RSUs is 
determined by dividing the grant value by the respective issue price. The RSUs granted are subject to a vesting period of three 
years from the date on which they are granted. One third of the RSUs granted vest at the end of each year during the three-
year vesting period. The sum of all payments of one tranche is limited to 350% of the grant value. The value of the vested 
RSUs are settled in real About You shares. Alternatively, the Executive Board of About You may decide to settle the payment 
in cash. The payment is made with the payroll for the month following the announcement of the first financial report (for a 
quarter, half-year or financial year) after the end of the respective vesting date. 

Stock Option Plan (SOP) 2021
The SOP 2021 entitles 1st and 2nd line management employees beneath the Executive Board to receive a remuneration 
component with a long-term incentive effect. As part of this program, no virtual stock options (SOs) were granted as of 1 
April 2023, and a total of 299,163 virtual stock options (SOs) were granted as of 1 October 2023. The calculated exercise price 
of the virtual SOs depending on the grant date was determined according to the volume-weighted average closing price 
(commercially rounded to two decimal places) of the ABOUT YOU Holding SE share in XETRA trading during the last 90 
trading days prior to the grant date and amounted to an issue price of EUR 5.70 on October 1, 2023. All eligible employees 
receive an individual grant amount in EUR. In order to convert the granted virtual SOs into a number of virtual share options, 
the grant value allocated to the SOP is first converted into a number of RSUs by dividing the amount by the exercise price. 
The determined number of RSUs is then multiplied by an exchange factor to determine the number of granted virtual SOs. 
The exchange ratio may vary from tranche to tranche, even within a year if several SOs are granted in a year, depending on 
the determination of the option price on the respective reporting date. The fair value of the stock options was calculated 
using the Monte Carlo simulation; individual parameters for calculating the fair value can be found in the consolidated 
table “Valuation of newly granted options”. The virtual SOs granted are subject to a vesting period of three years from the 
date of their being granted. One third of the virtual SOs granted vest at the end of each year during the three-year vesting 
period. The virtual share options may be exercised for the first time after a period of four years following the grant date. The 
waiting period following the vesting is three years for shares vesting on the first vesting date, two years for shares vesting on 
the second vesting date and one year for shares vesting on the third vesting date. The sum of all payments of one tranche 
is limited to 350% of the grant value. The value of the vested SOP will be settled in real About You shares. Alternatively, the 
Executive Board of About You may decide to settle the payment in cash. Subject to any insider trading rules and any lock-up 
periods, all vested virtual SOs may only be exercised after the expiry of the relevant vesting period and before the expiry of 
the relevant end date no more than four years after the expiry of the relevant vesting period and only within four weeks in 
each case commencing on the third business day after the announcement of the financial report for the relevant quarter 
or financial year.
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3.	 Long-Term Incentive Program (LTIP) 2022
About You implemented the LTIP 2022 management program with the 2022/23 financial year. In addition to the annual 
share-based remuneration for managers at About You defined in more detail below, the LTIP was granted to selected 
members of the management team in the 1st and 2nd level below the Executive Board. As part of this program, a total of 
3,884,468 virtual stock options (SOs) were granted on 1 April 2023, and a total of 9,878,707 virtual stock options (SOs) on 1 
October 2023. This program represents a performance-related remuneration component, the terms of which basically follow 
a similar logic to the LTIP 2021 management program, differing from it in two key respects:

Exercise Price
The exercise price for each virtual option corresponds to the volume-weighted average price (commercially rounded to 
two decimal places) of the ABOUT YOU Holding SE share in XETRA trading during the last 30 trading days prior to the grant 
date. Accordingly, the exercise price was EUR 5.02 on 1 April 2023, and EUR 5.77 on 1 October 2023. The exercise of the virtual 
options is subject to the achievement of a share price threshold of the company (weighted average price per share in XETRA 
trading within a period of three months prior to the relevant date) of 200% of the exercise price no later than on the last day 
of the vesting period of the Tranche 2 options and additionally either (i) at the beginning of the respective exercise window or 
(ii) on at least three trading days on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange within a previous exercise window (“Exercise Threshold”). 
However, the maximum value of the virtual options is limited to 300% of the exercise price (“Cap”).

Vesting period – Time vesting
The virtual options granted are allocated after certain periods expire. The vesting period begins on 1 April and 1 October 
of the respective calendar year. The vesting period ends no later than the end of the last day of a 72-month vesting period 
since the grant date:

• � 12% of the virtual options are allocated at the end of the last day of a  
12-month vesting period since the grant date.

• � 14% of the virtual options are allocated at the end of the last day of a  
24-month vesting period since the grant date.

• � 16% of the virtual options are allocated at the end of the last day of a  
36-month vesting period since the grant date.

• � 18% of the virtual options are allocated at the end of the last day of a  
48-month vesting period since the grant date.

• � 20% of the virtual options are allocated at the end of the last day of a  
60-month vesting period since the grant date.

• � 20% of the virtual options are allocated at the end of the last day of a  
72-month vesting period since the grant date.

Virtual options with a vesting date prior to the expiry of 48 months since the grant date belong to Tranche 1 (“Tranche 1 
Options”), and virtual options with a vesting date 60 or 72 months after the grant date belong to Tranche 2 (“Tranche 2 
Options”). Tranche 1 options can be exercised after a vesting period of 52 months; Tranche 2 options can be exercised after 
a vesting period of 76 months. The value of the vested LTIP 2022 will be settled in real About You shares. Alternatively, the 
Executive Board of About You may decide to settle the payment in cash.

4.	 RSUP 2023
Effective as of the 2023/24 financial year, About You introduced the Restricted Stock Unit Plan (RSUP 2023) as a remunera-
tion component with a short-term incentive effect and granted the first tranche on 1 October 2023. A total of 180,938 RSUs 
were granted under this program on 1 October 2023. The programs may be issued continuously, with two tranches per finan-
cial year and grant dates of 1 April and 1 October in each year. The RSUP 2023 is divided into various sub-programs that are 
intended to create incentives for different stakeholders.
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The calculated issue price of the RSUs on the grant date was determined according to the volume-weighted average closing 
price (commercially rounded to two decimal places) of the ABOUT YOU Holding SE share in XETRA trading during the last 
90 trading days prior to the grant date and amounted to an issue price of EUR 5.70 on 1 October 2023. The number of RSUs 
is determined by dividing the grant value by the respective issue price. The RSUs granted are subject to monthly vesting 
over a period of one year from the grant date. One twelfth of the RSUs granted vest at the end of each month within the 
one-year vesting period. Half of the RSUs granted are settled after six months, the other half after twelve months. The value 
of the vested RSUs are settled in real About You shares. Alternatively, the Executive Board of About You may decide to settle 
the payment in cash. The payment is made with the payroll for the month following the announcement of the first financial 
report (for a quarter, half-year or financial year) after the end of the respective vesting date. 

STI RSUP 2023
RSUP 2023 is primarily aimed at About You managers to cover performance-related salary increases in the organization. 
RSUP 2023 entitles managers and selected employees within the organization to receive a remuneration component with 
a short-term incentive effect. As part of the STI RSUP 2023, 153,127 RSUs were granted on 1 October 2023.

Employee Share Matching Program (ESMP)
The Employee Share Matching Program (ESMP) gave all permanent employees opportunity to convert part of their annual 
gross fixed salary into restricted stock units (RSUs) in accordance with RSUP 2023 rules. About You subsidizes the value of the 
investment as an incentive. As part of the ESMP, 27,811 RSUs were granted on 1 October 2023.

Programs granted once
5.	 Long-Term Incentive Program (LTIP) 2021
About You implemented the one-time LTIP 2021 management program as of the 2021/22 financial year. In addition to the 
annual share-based remuneration payments for About You managers defined in the previous section, selected members of 
the management team in the 1st and 2nd levels beneath the Executive Board were also granted a management LTIP. This 
program represents a performance-based compensation component, which in its terms and conditions regarding (a) exer-
cise price, (b) time vesting, (c) performance vesting and (d) settlement of options was set up completely analogous to the 
“LTI 2021 Executive Program,” the performance-based remuneration system of the Executive Board. No further options were 
granted under “Management LTIP 2021” in the 2023 financial year; 508,881 options were forfeited. Options that vest on or 
before 28 February 2025 (inclusive) (a total of 1,607,241 options) belong to Tranche 1 (“Tranche 1 Options”). Options that vest at 
the end of 28 February 2026, and 28 February 2027 (a total of 1,071,494 options) belong to Tranche 2 (“Tranche 2 Options”). LTIP 
2021 is fulfilled in About You shares. Alternatively, the Executive Board of About You may decide to settle the payment in cash.

6.	 Long-Term Incentive Program Restricted Stock Unit Plan (LTI RSUP) 2022 
As of the 2022/23 financial year, About You implemented the one-time LTI RSUP 2022 management program for managers 
in the 1st and 2nd level below the Executive Board. A total of 141,189 restricted stock units (“RSUs”) were allocated under the 
program as of 1 October 2022. The calculated issue price of the RSUs on the grant dates was determined according to the 
volume-weighted average closing prices (commercially rounded to two decimal places) of the ABOUT YOU Holding SE 
share in XETRA trading during the last 30 trading days prior to the grant dates and amounted to an issue price of EUR 6.00 
on 1 October 2022. All eligible employees receive an individual grant amount in EUR. The number of RSUs is determined by 
dividing the grant value by the respective issue price. The granted RSUs are subject to a non-straight-line vesting of six years 
starting on the grant date:

•  12% of the RSUs granted will vest on 30 September 2023.
•  14% of the RSUs granted will vest on 30 September 2024.
•  16% of the RSUs granted will vest on 30 September 2025.
•  18% of the RSUs granted will vest on 30 September 2026.
•  20% of the RSUs granted will vest on 30 September 2027.
•  20% of the RSUs granted will vest on 30 September 2027.
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The sum of all payments of one tranche is limited to 350% of the grant value. The value of the vested RSUs are settled in real 
About You shares. Alternatively, the Executive Board of About You may decide to settle the payment in cash. The payment 
is made with the payroll for the month following the announcement of the first financial report (for a quarter, half-year or 
financial year) after the end of the respective vesting date.

Completed programs
7.	 Virtual Employee Stock Option Plan (VESOP) 2017 – 2021
With the 2017/18 financial year, About You granted virtual shares to About You managers and selected high-performers on 
an annual basis. 

Due to the completion of the IPO of About You on 16 June 2021, individual bonuses of the employees were converted into 
virtual About You shares. Under VSOP 2017 – 2021, a total of 2,033,871 virtual shares were granted.

About You implemented a supplementary program in the 2022/23 financial year, namely the RSUs, or RSUP 2022. As part 
of RSUP 2022, further RSUs will be granted to beneficiaries upon exercise of virtual share options under VESOP 2017 – 2021. 
In the 2023/24 financial year, a total of 424,153 RSUs were allocated under the program. The RSUs granted will be settled 
following the three predefined exercise windows in which About You grants participants the opportunity to exercise virtual 
shares. As a result, 234,038 restricted stock units were distributed on 8 June 2023, 40,106 RSUs on 14 August 2023, followed by 
64,367 RSUs on 8 November 2023, and 85,642 RSUs on 13 February 2024. The RSUs granted are not subject to further vesting.

8.	 Short-Term Incentive Program Restricted Stock Unit Plan (STI RSUP) 2022 
With the 2022/23 financial year, About You implemented the one-time STI RSUP 2022 management program for managers at 
About You and selected high-performers. A total of 526,811 restricted stock units (“RSUs”) were allocated under the program 
as of 1 October 2022, and 11,889 of the RSUs forfeited in the 2023/24 financial year. The allocated RSUs were subject to a 
vesting of one year starting on the grant date. The RSUs vested were issued in real About You shares. 

9.	 Employee Free Share Plan (EFSP) 2021 
In the 2021/22 financial year, About You implemented the one-time employee program Employee Free Share Plan (“EFSP”), 
which was aimed at all employees below the Executive Board level who had been employed by About You for more than 
six months as of the grant date of 1 December 2021. Under this plan, 31,703 About You restricted stock units (“RSUs”) were 
granted on the grant date of 1 December 2021. Within the two-year vesting period, half of the RSUs granted vested at the 
end of each year. Accordingly, 50% of the allocated RSUs were vested and issued in shares on the first vesting date after the 
end of the first year on 1 December 2022, and the remaining 50% on 1 December 2023. 
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Development of outstanding options

LTI 2021 LTIP 2021 LTI SOP 2021

Number

Weighted average 
exercise price 

in EUR Number

Weighted average 
exercise price 

in EUR Number

Weighted average 
exercise price 

in EUR

Outstanding as of 28 February 2023 5,106,384 23.50 3,187,616 23.50 556,247 18.48

Granted in the reporting period (April 2023) 0 0 0

Granted in the reporting period (October 2023) 0 0 299,163 5.70

Forfeited in the reporting period 0 –508,881 23.50 –139,478 18.48

Exercised in the reporting period 0 0 0

Outstanding as of 1 March 2024 5,106,384 23.50 2,678,735 23.50 715,932 13.17

LTIP 2022

Number

Weighted average 
exercise price 

in EUR

Outstanding as of 28 February 2023 12,166,687 6.00

Granted in the reporting period (April 2023) 3,884,468 5.02

Granted in the reporting period (October 2023) 9,878,707 5.77

Forfeited in the reporting period –6,083,343 6.00

Exercised in the reporting period 0

Outstanding as of 1 March 2024 19,846,519 5.69
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Valuation of newly granted options

Input parameters LTI SOP 2021 LTIP 2022 LTIP 2022

Grant date October 2023 April 2022 October 2023

Weighted average exercise price (in EUR) 5.70 5.02 5.77

Peer group volatility (in %) 62.36 60.70 57.00

Expected dividends (in %) 0.00 0.00 0.00

Expected life ( in years) 7.50 7.50 7.50

Risk-free interest rate (in %) 2.73 2.25 2.71

Fair value (in EUR) 1.72 1.31 1.43

( b )	 Medgate Holding AG share-based payment programs 
A put/call agreement was concluded on the future acquisition of all non-controlling interests as part of the acquisition of 
Medgate Holding AG, Basel, Switzerland, in March 2022. Since the amount of the exercise price is partly dependent on the 
continued employment of management, this component has been classified as cash-settled share-based payment. The 
resulting obligation is measured at fair value and recognized pro rata over the vesting period, which extends over a total of 
five years until 28 February 2027. As of the reporting date, the obligation reported under other financial liabilities amount 
to EUR 20 million (28 February 2023: EUR 10 million), and the personnel expenses recognized in the 2023/24 financial year 
amount to EUR 10 million (2022/23: EUR 10 million).
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Notes to the consolidated  
cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is broken down into cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities.

( 32 )	 Components of cash, cash equivalents,  
and non-cash transactions

Cash and cash equivalents are made up of the following components:

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Cash 679 490

Securities with maturities of three months or less 1 1

Cash and cash equivalents 680 491

Of the cash and cash equivalents reported in the consolidated cash flow statement, EUR 23 million was deposited as collat-
eral (28 February 2023: EUR 14 million). Cash and cash equivalents include cash in the amount of EUR 47 million that is not 
available for use in the entire Group.

Significant non-cash transactions in financing and investing activities refer to the conclusion of leases within the meaning 
of IFRS 16 in the amount of EUR 175 million (2022/23: EUR 399 million). 
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Segment reporting

( 33 )	 Principles 
In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 8, segment reporting is based on the management approach. This aligns segment 
reporting with internal reporting to the Executive Board of Verwaltungsgesellschaft Otto mbH. It also provides the infor-
mation that is presented to these decision makers as part of regular reporting and then used to allocate resources for the 
individual divisions within the Group. 

In accordance with the Group’s internal management structure, segment reporting is based on the Group’s business 
segments. 

The Platforms segment includes e-commerce platforms whose strategic focus – besides their own trading business – is also 
on operating a marketplace solution where participating partners sell goods and services to end customers. In addition to 
the trading business and associated B2C services, B2B services closely related to the trading business are offered as well.

The Brand Concepts segment involves internationally represented vertical concepts and product brands that sell both prod-
ucts of their own brands and licensed brands to end customers. The company mainly uses its own sales channels for this, 
along with e-commerce, brick-and-mortar retail, and catalogs.

The Retailer segment consists of multichannel retail concepts that primarily buy and sell products of their own and third-
party brands. E-commerce is also a focal point in the sales channels here. 

The Services segment is made up of the Otto Group’s logistics and sourcing services, which deliver their services both 
to customers outside the Otto Group as well as to Group companies from the Platforms, Brand Concepts, and Retailers 
segments. Logistics services include numerous services along the logistics value chain, from transport and warehousing to 
delivery to private and business customers. 

The Financial Services segment includes the range of international financial services within the Otto Group primarily for 
receivables management.

To supplement the business segments, additional information is provided on the geographical regions. In addition to 
Germany, the Otto Group is especially active in the Rest of Europe and in the USA. 
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( 34 )	 Segment information
Segment reporting distinguishes between reportable segments on the one hand and non-reportable segments and other 
activities on the other. The reportable segments include the Platforms, Brand Concepts, Retailers, Services and Financial 
Services segments. In addition to the non-reportable Digital Health operating segment, the line “Non-reportable segments 
and other activities” also includes the other Group companies that are not allocated to an operating segment within the 
meaning of IFRS 8. Other Group companies include venture activities and the real estate companies of the Forum Group. 
Segment reporting is broken down as follows:

Revenue and income from 
customer financing

Internal revenue  
(inter-segment)

Purchased goods  
and services

Operating income  
and expenses

2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Platforms 6,219 6,528 503 501 –4,366 –4,714 –1,982 –2,189

Brand Concepts 5,318 5,950 51 91 –2,414 –2,925 –1,834 –2,060

Retailers 2,001 2,274 22 34 –1,213 –1,341 –607 –725

Services 374 390 976 962 –567 –553 –272 –218

Financial Services 1,002 983 20 20 0 0 –307 –274

Reportable segments 14,914 16,125 1,572 1,608 –8,560 –9,533 –5,002 –5,466

Non-reportable segments and other activities 81 65 44 33 –21 –17 36 36

Holding/Consolidation 0 0 –1,616 –1,641 699 749 984 924

Group 14,995 16,190 0 0 –7,882 –8,801 –3,982 –4,506

Personnel expenses
Income from associated  

companies and joint ventures EBITDA EBIT

2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Platforms –465 –451 –6 0 –8 –231 –375 –414

Brand Concepts –705 –729 0 0 428 342 239 145

Retailers –265 –252 0 0 –61 –8 –82 –35

Services –444 –448 –104 –86 –33 47 –82 –11

Financial Services –291 –279 40 39 464 500 420 452

Reportable segments –2,170 –2,159 –70 –47 790 650 120 137

Non-reportable segments and other activities –103 –88 –18 –7 24 26 –11 –1

Holding/Consolidation –118 –104 0 5 –70 –87 –98 –114

Group –2,391 –2,351 –88 –49 744 589 11 22
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Segment assets

Capital expenditure  
on intangible assets  
and property, plant  

and equipment
Gross cash flow from  
operating activities Employees (average number)

2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Platforms 3,859 4,040 79 76 27 –185 5,753 5,982

Brand Concepts 2,428 2,630 83 81 439 339 11,034 12,023

Retailers 1,717 1,829 15 26 –71 25 3,658 4,867

Services 1,369 1,212 283 332 72 122 10,165 10,520

Financial Services 3,868 3,799 8 20 452 480 5,757 5,870

Reportable segments 13,241 13,510 468 535 919 781 36,367 39,262

Non-reportable segments and other activities 1,883 1,886 39 215 43 41 1,086 967

Holding/Consolidation –2,547 –2,390 4 6 –61 –91 1,003 957

Group 12,577 13,006 511 756 901 731 38,456 41,186

Capital expenditure on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment in the Services segment in the 2023/24 financial 
year include additions in the amount of EUR 76 million due to changes in the scope of consolidation. In the 2022/23 finan-
cial year, capital expenditure on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment included additions from the acqui-
sition of the Medgate Group in the amount of EUR 158 million, which were recognized in the non-reportable segments and 
other activities.

Depreciation and amortization in the Group amounted to EUR  733  million in the 2023/24 financial year (2022/23: 
EUR  567  million). Of this amount, the Platforms segment accounts for EUR  367  million (2022/23: EUR  183  million), the 
Brand Concepts segment for EUR 189 million (2022/23: EUR 197 million), the Retailers segment for EUR 21 million (2022/23: 
EUR  27  million), the Services segment for EUR  49  million (2022/23: EUR  58  million), the Financial Services segment for 
EUR 44 million (2022/23: EUR 48 million), the Non-reportable segments and other activities for EUR 35 million (2022/23: 
EUR 27 million) and Holding/Consolidation for EUR 28 million (2022/23: EUR 27 million).

Segment data is determined on the basis of accounting and measurement policies used for preparing the consolidated 
financial statements. Third-party revenue results from the sale of merchandise and the provision of services, including finan-
cial services. Internal revenue relates to the exchange of products and services between segments. Receivables, liabilities, 
expenses and income resulting from transactions between the individual segments are eliminated in the Holding/Consoli-
dation line. Such transactions are conducted on normal market terms. 

Gross cash flow corresponds to earnings before interest and tax, adjusted for the profits, losses and dividends of associated 
companies and joint ventures and also for material non-cash income and expenses.

Segment assets include non-current assets for the relevant segment, i.e. intangible assets (including goodwill), property, 
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and interests in associated companies and joint ventures, as well as current assets. 
Segment assets do not include other investments, finance receivables, current income tax credits, deferred tax assets and 
cash and cash equivalents. Only in the Financial Services segment are finance receivables included under segment assets. 
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Segment assets can be reconciled with Group assets as follows:

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Segment assets 12,577 13,006

Other financial investments 287 361

Receivables and other assets 57 108

Cash and cash equivalents 679 491

Deferred tax assets 118 84

Assets held for sale 56 0

Consolidated assets 13,774 14,050

For geographical information, revenue (excluding revenue from customer financing) is segmented according to customer 
location. Assets are calculated based on the Group company’s location and include the non-current assets for the geograph-
ical regions and thus comprise intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets as well: 

External revenue Non-current assets

2023/24 2022/23 29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Germany 8,394 8,970 3,307 3,488

Rest of Europe 3,654 3,764 730 622

USA 2,625 3,105 773 802

Other regions 151 207 40 40

Group 14,824 16,046 4,850 4,952
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Other Disclosures

( 35 )	 Financial instruments
( a )	 Non-derivative financial instruments
The Otto Group uses a wide range of financial instruments in its various lines of business. 

The tables below list the financial assets and liabilities in accordance with the categories of financial instruments outlined in 
IFRS 9 based on the carrying amount and associated fair value as of 29 February 2024. Cash flow hedges and other financial 
investments classified as Level 3 are reported separately. The tables do not contain any information about the fair value of 
financial assets and liabilities which were not measured at fair value if the carrying amount represents an adequate approx-
imation of the fair value.
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Assets
Amortized cost 

(AC)

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss (FVPL)

Fair value 
recognized in 

equity (FVOCI)

Fair value 
recognized in 

equity (FVOCI) 
without  

recycling

Not assigned 
to an IFRS 9 

category
Carrying 
amount

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Other financial investments 0 78 0 209 0 287

Trade receivables 954 0 0 0 0 954

Receivables from financial services 2,425 0 0 0 0 2,425

Receivables from related parties 114 0 0 0 0 114

Other financial assets 851 85 0 0 0 936

Securities 1 0 0 0 0 1

Cash and cash equivalents 679 0 0 0 0 679

Interest rate and currency derivatives 0 4 0 0 0 4

Other derivatives 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cash flow hedges 0 0 0 0 28 28

Balance as of 29 February 2024 5,024 167 0 209 28

Liabilities
Amortized cost 

(AC)

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss (FVPL)

Not assigned 
to an IFRS 9 

category
Carrying 
amount

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Profit and loss participation rights 23 0 0 23

Bonds and other notes payable 714 0 0 714

Bank liabilities 1,558 0 0 1,558

Other financing liabilities 42 0 0 42

Lease liabilities 0 0 1,042 1,042

Trade payables 2,256 0 0 2,256

Liabilities to related parties 163 0 0 163

Other financial liabilities 620 0 58 678

Interest rate and currency derivatives 0 9 0 9

Other derivatives 0 80 0 80

Cash flow hedges 0 0 37 37

Balance as of 29 February 2024 5,376 89 1,137
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On the reporting date of the comparative period the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities were 
as follows:

Assets
Amortized cost 

(AC)

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss (FVPL)

Fair value 
recognized in 

equity (FVOCI)

Fair value 
recognized in 

equity (FVOCI) 
without recy-

cling

Not assigned 
to an IFRS 9 

category
Carrying 
amount

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Other financial investments 0 111 0 254 0 365

Trade receivables 995 0 0 0 0 995

Receivables from financial services 2,343 0 0 0 0 2,343

Receivables from related parties 107 0 0 0 0 107

Other financial assets 352 85 0 0 0 437

Securities 1 0 0 0 0 1

Cash and cash equivalents 490 0 0 0 0 490

Interest rate and currency derivatives 0 6 0 0 0 6

Other derivatives 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cash flow hedges 0 0 0 0 37 37

Balance as of 28 February 2023 4,288 202 0 254 37

Liabilities
Amortized cost 

(AC)

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss (FVPL)

Not assigned 
to an IFRS 9 

category
Carrying 
amount

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Profit and loss participation rights 26 0 0 26

Bonds and other notes payable 777 0 0 777

Bank liabilities 1,334 0 0 1,334

Other financing liabilities 36 0 0 36

Lease liabilities 0 0 1,157 1,157

Trade payables 2,211 0 0 2,211

Liabilities to related parties 245 0 0 245

Other financial liabilities 563 0 59 622

Interest rate and currency derivatives 0 16 0 16

Other derivatives 0 69 0 69

Cash flow hedges 0 0 27 27

Balance as of 28 February 2023 5,192 85 1,243
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In the 2023/24 financial year and in the previous year, there were no reclassifications between the various levels of the fair 
value hierarchy as provided for in IFRS 13.

The fair value hierarchy for financial assets and liabilities is as follows:

Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Other financial investments 0 0 287 287

Trade receivables 0 0 0 0

Receivables from financial services 0 0 0 0

Receivables from related parties 0 0 0 0

Other financial assets 0 0 85 85

Securities 0 0 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents 0 0 0 0

Interest rate and currency derivatives 0 4 0 4

Other derivatives 0 0 0 0

Cash flow hedges 0 28 0 28

Balance as of 29 February 2024 0 32 372 404

Liabilities Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Profit and loss participation rights 0 0 0 0

Bonds and other notes payable 401 279 0 680

Bank liabilities 0 1,573 0 1,573

Other financing liabilities 0 0 0 0

Lease liabilities 0 0 0 0

Trade payables 0 0 0 0

Liabilities to related parties 0 0 0 0

Other financial liabilities 0 0 58 58

Interest rate and currency derivatives 0 9 0 9

Other derivatives 0 0 80 80

Cash flow hedges 0 37 0 37

Balance as of 29 February 2024 401 1,898 138 2,437
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The following table presents a reconciliation of the respective fair values on the reporting date for financial instruments that 
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis and assigned to Level 3:

Other financial 
investments 

(FVPL)

Other financial 
investments 

(FVOCI)

Other financial 
assets and oth-

er derivatives 
(FVPL)

Other financial 
assets (FVOCI)

Other deriva-
tives, liabilities 

(FVPL)

Other financial 
liabilities, not 

assigned to an 
IFRS 9 category

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

As of 1 March 2023 111 254 85 0 69 59

Gains or losses due to changes in fair value –41 –70 0 0 11 0

Additions 11 71 0 0 0 12

Disposals from sales/repayments –1 –35 0 0 0 –13

Other changes –2 –11 0 0 0 0

Balance as of 29 February 2024 78 209 85 0 80 58

Other financial investments classified as Level 3 correspond to investments in companies and in investment funds. The fair 
value is determined using a measurement method for which the main input factors are based on unobservable market data. 
Measurement is carried out in accordance with the measurement method deemed most appropriate in each case. In most 
cases, the best indication is provided by information from recent financing rounds. In addition, market multiples are also 
used to determine fair value. Due to the large number of investments, sensitivities cannot be presented in a meaningful way. 

Other financial investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income mainly include investments in 
venture capital funds in innovative companies with a focus on Internet and mobile applications, TV shopping, customer 
acquisition and search engine marketing. These investments will support start-ups in innovative growth markets and partici-
pation in new digital media networks. They constitute strategic investments for which there are no short-term profit-making 
goals. Acquisitions and disposals of these investments are based on business policy investment decisions. 

Changes in the fair value of other financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are recognized in other net 
financial income (expense). The recognized changes in the fair value of other financial assets measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income are included in accumulated other comprehensive income and are reclassified to consolidated 
retained earnings when realized. The additions and disposals mainly relate to additional fund investments and sales of fund 
investments in the venture activities. The other changes are mainly due to exchange rate effects and changes in the method 
of consolidation of Group companies.

In the 2023/24 financial year, dividends from shares in companies measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income in the amount of EUR 2 million (2022/23: EUR 5 million) were reported under net financial result. The dividends are 
entirely related to current venture capital funds as of the reporting date. In the reporting period, income of EUR 23 million 
(2022/23: EUR 0 million) was reclassified from other comprehensive income to consolidated retained earnings. They resulted 
exclusively from the disposal of investments and were included in Group equity under other changes recognized directly in 
equity. 

Changes in the fair value of other financial assets and other derivatives measured at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognized in other net financial income (expense).
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Other financial assets include a subsequent contingent purchase price component for a Group company sold in the 2017/18 
financial year in the amount of EUR 85 million (28 February 2023: EUR 85 million). The retrospective purchase price compo-
nent was fully recognized based on an agreement concluded in the 2020/21 financial year, as it was deemed to be very 
probable that the conditions would be fulfilled and the purchase price receivables settled in the 2023/24 financial year, as 
in the previous year.

The assets and liabilities from other derivatives classified as Level 3 involve a put/call agreement regarding shares in asso-
ciated companies. The fair value was determined using an option pricing model. Future expected cash flows were taken as 
the basis for this and, where available, market parameters were applied. Keeping the other input factors constant, a 10% 
increase in the baseline value of the put/call agreement would result in an increase in financial assets of EUR 0 million and a 
decrease in financial liabilities of EUR 3 million. A 10% decrease in the baseline value of the put/call agreement would in turn 
result in a decrease in financial assets of EUR 0 million and an increase in financial liabilities of EUR 3 million.

The additions to other financial liabilities that are not assigned to an IFRS 9 category relate largely to a share-based remu-
neration component from a put/call agreement that was concluded as part of the acquisition of the Medgate Group in 
March 2022 (see Note 31).

The disposals to the other financial liabilities involve a single put option. This option relates to non-controlling interests that 
were granted as part of a Media-4-Equity program and reacquired in the course of the closure of Mytoys.de GmbH, Berlin.

The fair value hierarchy for financial assets and liabilities in the previous financial year was as follows:

Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Other financial investments 0 0 365 365

Trade receivables 0 0 0 0

Receivables from financial services 0 0 0 0

Receivables from related parties 0 0 0 0

Other financial assets 0 0 85 85

Securities 0 0 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents 0 0 0 0

Interest rate and currency derivatives 0 6 0 6

Other derivatives 0 0 0 0

Cash flow hedges 0 36 0 36

Balance as of 28 February 2023 0 42 450 492
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Liabilities Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Profit and loss participation rights 0 0 0 0

Bonds and other notes payable 441 299 0 740

Bank liabilities 0 1,317 0 1,317

Other financing liabilities 0 0 0 0

Lease liabilities 0 0 0 0

Trade payables 0 0 0 0

Liabilities to related parties 0 0 0 0

Other financial liabilities 0 0 59 59

Interest rate and currency derivatives 0 16 0 16

Other derivatives 0 0 69 69

Cash flow hedges 0 27 0 27

Balance as of 28 February 2023 441 1,659 128 2,228

As of the reporting date of the comparative period, the reconciliation for financial instruments that are regularly measured 
at fair value and allocated to level 3 was as follows:

Other financial 
investments 

(FVPL)

Other financial 
investments 

(FVOCI)

Other financial 
assets and oth-

er derivatives 
(FVPL)

Other financial 
assets (FVOCI)

Other deriva-
tives, liabilities 

(FVPL)

Other financial 
liabilities, not 

assigned to an 
IFRS 9 category

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

As of 1 March 2022 105 228 99 0 6 15

Gains or losses due to changes in fair value 0 19 –15 0 63 3

Additions 9 7 1 0 0 46

Disposals from sales/repayments –1 –4 0 0 0 –5

Other changes –2 4 0 0 0 0

Balance as of 28 February 2023 111 254 85 0 69 59
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The net gain/loss from financial instruments after tax (attributable to the Group) includes effects from value allowances, 
currency translation, measurement at fair value and disposal of financial instruments and is broken down into the individual 
IFRS 9 measurement categories as follows:

29.02.2024

Recognized in equity Recognized in income Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million

Financial investments measured at amortized cost 0 907 907

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 0 –1 –1

Financial investments measured at fair value through profit or loss 0 –30 –30

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 0 –40 –40

Financial investments measured at fair value recognized in equity 0 0 0

Financial investments measured at fair value recognized in equity without recycling –43 2 –41

Net gain/net loss as of 29 February 2024 –43 838 795

At the reporting date of the comparative period, the breakdown was as follows:

28.02.2023

Recognized in equity Recognized in income Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million

Financial investments measured at amortized cost 0 946 946

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 0 7 7

Financial investments measured at fair value through profit or loss 0 –40 –40

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 0 –46 –46

Financial investments measured at fair value recognized in equity 0 0 0

Financial investments measured at fair value recognized in equity without recycling 19 5 24

Net gain/net loss as of 28 February 2023 19 872 891

The financial instruments mentioned above were recognized in revenue, in other operating income and expenses, in income 
from equity investments, and in other net financial income (expense) depending on their effects on income.
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( b )	 Derivative financial instruments
Owing to its international activities, the Otto Group is particularly exposed to risks from foreign exchange and interest rate 
changes. The Group companies of the Otto Group use derivative financial instruments to limit these risks.

The use of derivative financial instruments within the Otto Group is governed by specific guidelines and is permitted only 
for hedging existing underlying transactions, or forecasted transactions that are sufficiently probable. These binding guide-
lines define responsibilities, areas of authority, reporting requirements and the strict separation of trading, settlement and 
control functions. According to this guideline, trading transactions with derivative financial instruments may be entered into 
only with banks of sufficient creditworthiness.

The Otto Group uses conditional and unconditional foreign exchange transactions to hedge completed or forecasted busi-
ness transactions in a risky currency. As part of the Group’s interest rate hedging, risks are minimized by concluding interest 
rate derivatives in the form of interest rate swaps.

The derivative transactions that the Otto Group accordingly enters into are reported to a trade repository according to the 
provisions of the European Market Infrastructure Regulation (EMIR). Where possible, the Otto Group makes use of grounds 
for exemption or delegates fulfillment of reporting obligations to its counterparties. Compliance with EMIR is regularly veri-
fied and confirmed by an auditing company.

Currency risk
Within the Otto Group, risks arise from foreign currency transactions for receipts and payments denominated in currencies 
other than the functional currency of the Group companies. These involve cash flows from highly probable future transac-
tions mainly from merchandise purchasing and revenue as well as from refinancing. The euro is the predominant functional 
currency. The transactions in question are primarily denominated in the euro, the US dollar, the Swiss franc and the Hong 
Kong dollar. The main currency risk exposure is hedged. From the point of view of the individual company, hedging can cover 
up to 100% of the estimated foreign currency risks from highly probable future transactions. Foreign currency risk is hedged 
using foreign exchange transactions that are generally classified as cash flow hedges. An overview of the movement of 
currencies that have a material and relevant effect on the consolidated financial statements can be found under Note 2b.

The Otto Group designates the spot component of qualified foreign currency derivatives as the hedging instrument based 
on a 1:1 ratio. The forward components of foreign currency derivatives are not taken into account here. These are reported 
separately as hedging costs and are included under consolidated equity.

The existence of an economic relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged underlying transaction is estab-
lished on the basis of currency, amount and the timing of their respective cash flows. The Group uses the hypothetical deriv-
ative method together with the dollar offset method to assess whether any material ineffectiveness has occurred in rela-
tion to the designated hedging relationships. Ineffectiveness is not expected to occur for these hedging relationships as it 
is not assumed that the currency, amount or timing of the corresponding cash flows from the underlying transaction will 
change before maturity.
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Interest rate risk
The hedging strategy pursued by Otto Group for loans received involves the conversion of the majority of variable interest 
rate loans and bonds to fixed interest payments by means of appropriate interest rate derivatives.

When preparing the consolidated financial statements, the effectiveness of the hedging relationships was tested using the 
critical term match method. Important criteria (critical terms) used to test the appropriateness of the hedging instrument 
for the underlying transaction when hedging interest rate risks include the reference interest rate, nominal value, interest 
rate agreement as well as the timing and amount of the cash flows. The interest rate risk exposure addressed in this way is 
100% hedged using this method.

The Group uses the hypothetical derivative method together with the dollar offset method to assess whether any material 
ineffectiveness has occurred in relation to the designated hedging relationships. The main causes of ineffectiveness in the 
context of these hedging relationships result from taking into account the credit loss risks of the corresponding counter-
parties when determining the fair value of the swaps included in the hedge as well as the interest rate hedging of variable 
interest rate loans through interest rate swaps that already had an intrinsic value when they were included in the consoli-
dated financial statements for the first time (late designation).

Cash flow hedging
As of the reporting date, the remaining terms of the nominal values of instruments held by the Otto Group for the purposes 
of hedging against exchange rate and interest rate changes were as follows:

Remaining term  
of up  

to 1 year

Remaining term  
of more  

than 1 to 5 years

Remaining term  
of more  

than 5 years

EUR million EUR million EUR million

Currency derivatives 642 147 0

Interest rate derivatives 5 50 82

Total assets 647 197 82

Currency derivatives 732 246 0

Interest rate derivatives 0 50 0

Total liabilities 732 296 0

In the previous year, the nominal values of interest rate derivatives and currency derivatives were composed as follows:

Remaining term  
of up  

to 1 year

Remaining term  
of more  

than 1 to 5 years

Remaining term  
of more  

than 5 years

EUR million EUR million EUR million

Currency derivatives 654 350 0

Interest rate derivatives 0 61 84

Total assets 654 411 84

Currency derivatives 753 313 0

Interest rate derivatives 0 50 0

Total liabilities 753 363 0
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The Otto Group recognizes certain derivatives that meet the hedging relationship criteria of IFRS 9 as cash flow hedges. On 
the balance sheet date, the following hedging instruments meet these criteria: 

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

Nominal value Fair value assets Fair value liabilities Nominal value Fair value assets Fair value liabilities

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Currency derivatives

Revenue 209 1 9 265 0 13

Refinancing 614 8 27 534 12 8

Inventories 567 11 1 783 12 6

Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 187 8 0 196 12 0

Derivatives in cash flow hedges 1,577 28 37 1,778 36 27

Positive fair values are recorded under other assets (see Note 22), while negative fair values are recorded under other liabil-
ities (see Note 30). 

The amounts relating to items designated as hedging instruments, and the ineffective portions of the hedging relationships, 
were as follows:

Designated risk component Cost of hedging

Recognized in 
equity

Reclassified to 
cost of inventory

Reclassified to 
profit or loss

Recognized in 
equity

Reclassified to 
cost of inventory

Reclassified to 
profit or loss

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Currency derivatives

Revenue –14 0 11 4 0 –1

Refinancing –17 0 17 –2 0 0

Inventories –4 8 0 10 –6 0

Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps –4 0 3 0 0 0

Change in the fair value of derivatives  
in cash flow hedges before deduction of 
non-controlling interests and deferred 
tax as of 29 February 2024

–39 8 31 12 –6 –1
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Designated risk component Cost of hedging

Recognized in 
equity

Reclassified to 
cost of inventory

Reclassified to 
profit or loss

Recognized in 
equity

Reclassified to 
cost of inventory

Reclassified to 
profit or loss

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Currency derivatives

Revenue –21 0 10 –3 0 –1

Refinancing 6 0 –6 –7 0 0

Inventories 45 –61 0 0 1 0

Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 12 0 3 0 0 0

Change in the fair value of derivatives  
in cash flow hedges before deduction of  
non-controlling interests and deferred tax  
as of 29 February 2024

42 –61 7 –10 1 –1

Amounts from currency derivatives that were reclassified to profit or loss are recorded under revenue (see Note 6) or other 
net financial income (expense) (see Note 13). Amounts from interest rate swaps that were reclassified at fair value through 
other profit and loss are taken into account under net interest income (expense) (see Note 13).

Hedging transaction ineffectiveness in currency derivatives amounted to EUR –1 million in the 2023/24 financial year (28 
February 2023: EUR 0 million) and relate exclusively to refinancing. This is included under other net financial income (expense) 
(see Note 13). The existing ineffectiveness of interest rate derivatives amounted to EUR 0 million in the 2023/24 financial year 
(28 February 2023: EUR 1 million). In addition, EUR –3 million (28 February 2023: EUR –3 million) was reclassified from the cash 
flow reserve through profit or loss due to the discontinuation of underlying transactions. The expenses arising from both 
issues are recorded under net interest income (see Note 13).

As of 29 February 2024, the value of the hedged item changed by EUR –34 million for currency derivatives (28 February 2023: 
EUR –26 million) and EUR –3 million for interest rate derivatives (28 February 2023: EUR 15 million). The hedged underlying 
transaction serves as a basis for recording the ineffectiveness of the hedging relationship. 
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The following table shows the reconciliation of risk categories of the equity components and the corresponding analysis of 
the items under other comprehensive income after tax that result from cash flow hedge accounting:

2023/24 2022/23

Designated risk 
component

Cost of hedging 
forward exchange 

transactions

Cost of hedging 
option transac-

tions
Designated risk 

component

Cost of hedging 
forward exchange 

transactions

Cost of hedging 
option transac-

tions

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Attributable to the owners of Otto  
(GmbH Co KG) after deferred tax as of 1 March –3 –3 –1 9 1 0

Changes in fair values before deduction of 
non-controlling interests and before deferred tax

Currency derivatives – inventories –4 11 –1 45 7 –7

Currency derivatives – revenue –14 4 0 –21 –3 0

Currency derivatives – refinancing –17 –2 0 6 –7 0

Interest rate derivatives – interest rate swaps –4 0 0 12 0 0

Reclassified to profit or loss before deduction of 
non-controlling interests and before deferred tax

Currency derivatives – revenue 11 –1 0 10 –1 0

Currency derivatives – refinancing 17 0 0 –6 0 0

Interest rate derivatives – interest rate swaps 3 0 0 3 0 0

Reclassified to cost of inventories before  
deduction of non-controlling interests and 
before deferred tax

Currency derivatives – inventories 8 –11 4 –61 –4 4

Fair value of derivatives in cash flow hedges 
before deduction of non-controlling interests 
and before deferred tax

–3 –2 2 –3 –7 –3

Change in the fair value of derivatives  
in cash flow hedges attributable to  
non-controlling interests

3 –1 0 –3 1 0

Fair value of derivatives in cash flow  
hedges attributable to the owners of  
Otto (GmbH & Co KG)

0 –3 2 –6 –6 –3

Deferred tax effects resulting from changes 4 –19 13 3 3 2

Fair value of derivatives in cash flow  
hedges attributable to the owners of  
Otto (GmbH & Co KG) after deferred tax  
as of 29/28 February

4 –22 15 –3 –3 –1
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The hedging costs concern transaction-related hedged underlying transactions.

The underlying transactions hedged occur in a period of up to five years in the case of currency derivatives and up to 16 years 
in the case of interest rate derivatives. The probable cash flow effects will occur in the same period. The nominal volumes 
of the hedging transactions are offset by underlying transactions already recognized in the amount of EUR 835 million 
(28 February 2023: EUR 624 million) in the currency derivatives, and in the amount of EUR 187 million (28 February 2023: 
EUR 196 million) in the interest rate derivatives and the planned transactions. In regard to recognized underlying transactions 
from a hedging relationship with currency derivatives, EUR –3 million (28 February 2023: EUR –11 million) from accumulated 
other comprehensive income is included in the acquisition costs of inventories and in revenue. Of this amount, EUR –2 million 
(28 February 2023: EUR –10 million) is attributable to the designated risk component and EUR –1 million (28 February 2023: 
EUR –1 million) to the cost of hedging.

The Otto Group concludes derivative transactions within the scope of the existing German Master Agreement for Finan-
cial Derivatives Transactions (Rahmenvertrag für Finanztermingeschäfte). If certain credit events occur, such as a payment 
default or the termination of transactions concluded under this agreement, all outstanding transactions relating to the deriv-
ative transactions that are in default are terminated and the value as of the termination date is determined. A single net 
amount should be used to offset all transactions. As there is currently no specific credit event such as a default on a bank 
loan and, consequently, no legal entitlement to offset the recognized amounts, the agreements concluded do not meet the 
criteria for offsetting in the balance sheet.

The following financial instruments are subject to the German Master Agreement for Financial Derivatives Transactions:

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

Gross and  
net amount 

presented in the 
balance sheet

Amount not  
set off in the 

balance sheet Net amount

Gross and  
net amount 

presented in the 
balance sheet

Amount not  
set off in the 

balance sheet Net amount

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Financial assets

Interest rate and currency derivatives 32 17 15 42 25 18

Financial liabilities

Interest rate and currency derivatives 46 17 29 43 25 18

As of 29 February 2024, the Otto Group holds foreign currency and interest rate derivatives at the following terms:

Remaining term  
of up  

to 1 year

Remaining term  
of more than  

1 to 5 years

Remaining term  
of more  

than 5 years

Currency risk

Average forward exchange rate EUR/USD 1.102 1.132

Average forward exchange rate EUR/HKD 8.456

Average forward exchange rate EUR/CHF 1.009 0.984

Interest rate risk

Average fixed EUR interest rate (in %) 2.76 2.12 2.15
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On the reporting date of the comparative period, the Otto Group holds foreign currency and interest rate derivatives at the 
following terms:

Remaining term  
of up  

to 1 year

Remaining term  
of more  

than 1 to 5 years

Remaining term  
of more  

than 5 years

Currency risk

Average forward exchange rate EUR/USD 1.069 1.113

Average forward exchange rate EUR/HKD 8.311

Average forward exchange rate EUR/CHF 1.027 1.026

Interest rate risk

Average fixed EUR interest rate (in %) 4.59 2.44 2.15

( c )	 Financial risks
Due to its international positioning, the Otto Group is exposed to financial risks. These include in particular the effects of 
fluctuations in foreign exchange and interest rates. These risks are reduced through existing treasury and risk management 
processes.

All material interest rate change and foreign currency risks are fundamentally limited by refinancing in the same currency 
and/or with the same maturity. Any remaining material incongruities are further reduced by the use of derivatives such as 
interest rate swaps and forward exchange transactions.

Owing to the nature of its business activities, the Otto Group is primarily exposed to currency risks arising from fluctuations 
in the US dollar (USD), the Hong Kong dollar (HKD) and the Swiss franc (CHF). In calculating the sensitivities presented below, 
a hypothetical revaluation/devaluation of the euro against all currencies by +/–10% was carried out as of 29 February 2024. 
All other variables remain unchanged. Under these conditions, the major effects on Group earnings before tax (EBT) and the 
equity of the Otto Group would have been as follows:

EBT Equity

2023/24 2022/23 29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Fluctuation in USD

+ 10% 1 –4 –84 –83

–10% –1 –1 86 91

Fluctuation in HKD

+ 10% –6 –4 –4 –6

–10% 5 3 4 6

Fluctuation in CHF

+ 10% 4 3 17 25

–10% –4 –3 –17 –25

Total effects

+ 10% –1 –5 –71 –64

–10% 0 –1 73 72
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Exchange rate hedges are accounted for in the Otto Group as cash flow hedges to the greatest extent possible, in accord-
ance with IFRS 9. The associated fluctuations in market value are shown under Group equity.

The reported effects on earnings primarily result from fluctuations in the measurement of derivatives that have been 
concluded to hedge cash flows for business operations and internal financing but not designated as a hedging relationship 
in the balance sheet in accordance with IFRS 9. These derivatives are also associated with contracts that are planned but 
not yet concluded in which the currency exchange risk follows a counter trend. When calculating the earnings effects, these 
cash flows are not included in the underlying operating transactions. The actual risk of the net position is thus much lower.

The Otto Group is also exposed to interest rate risks from variable interest-bearing receivables and liabilities.

A hypothetical increase/reduction in the market interest rate of 50 base points for all currencies (parallel shift of the interest 
rate curve) with all other variables remaining constant would result in the following effects on the earnings before tax (EBT) 
and equity of the Otto Group:

EBT Equity

2023/24 2022/23 29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Shift in level of interest

+ 50 bp 0 0 4 4

–50 bp 0 0 –4 –4

There is no risk concentration relating to the above-mentioned financial risks.

( d )	 Default risk
The Otto Group is exposed to the risk of its business partners not being able to meet their obligations. Within the Group, a 
financial asset is considered to be in default if it is expected that the financial partner will not fully meet their obligations to 
the Otto Group or if the financial asset has been handed over to a collection agency. Credit checks are performed to reduce 
the default risk, the maximum amount of which corresponds to the carrying amounts recognized for the relevant financial 
assets. For identifiable default risks, especially in trade receivables and receivables from financial services, appropriate value 
allowances are made using the model to be applied to expected credit defaults in accordance with IFRS 9. Cash and cash 
equivalents are also subject to IFRS 9 impairment rules; however, the impairment loss is not significant. 

Trade receivables and receivables from financial services are essentially due from end customers and are normally not 
hedged by special instruments, with the exception of the usual retention of title typical for the retailing business. Because 
receivables are widely spread, only small amounts are actually allotted to individual customers. The risk of maximum default 
is thus highly improbable.

Deposits at banks and financial assets are only ever held with partners that have a sufficient creditworthiness on a par with 
ratings from an internationally recognized rating agency.

Overdue loans and receivables are monitored intensively in the various lines of business. In the Platforms, Brand Concepts, 
Retailers and Financial Services segments, credit management is a crucial element in operational processes.

The determination as to whether or not the default risk of a financial asset has increased significantly is based on a regular 
assessment of the probability of default, which takes into account external rating information as well as internal informa-
tion relating to the credit quality of the financial asset.

Receivables that are not impaired or overdue solely due to renegotiation, and overdue other financial assets that are not 
impaired, exist only to a very limited extent with a maturity of up to one year. There are no objective indications that the 
debtors are unable to meet their obligations.
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The Group uses an impairment matrix to measure the expected credit losses of trade receivables. Default rates are largely 
calculated using the roll rate method, which is based on the probability that a receivable will enter into arrears in succes-
sive stages. The expected default rates are based on the default history over previous years as well as forecasts in relation 
to future economic events. The default risk of trade receivables is explained in Note 20. 

In the Financial Services segment, receivables primarily consist of fiduciary debt collection and receivables purchased. In 
the context of fiduciary activities, there are no material financial assets or financial instruments that are classed as overdue 
but not impaired. Receivables purchased generally relate to receivables classed as impaired which are already overdue.

In the Financial Services segment, the main default risks result from the purchase of payment-impaired receivables. There-
fore, for managing risks, methods have been developed in order to systematically manage these risks. Important considera-
tions when managing risk include contractual arrangements, analysis of portfolio structures and time series and investment 
calculations as part of due diligence procedures as well as the regular calculation of actual costs. The payment behavior of 
debtors is also monitored continuously so that structural changes can be identified early and taken into account. 

The recalculation is used to check and further develop the forecast quality of the receivables management systems on 
an ongoing basis. Furthermore, structural changes in payment behavior are monitored by debt collection and reported 
to risk management on a continuous basis. This ensures that timely adjustments can be made to the underlying measure-
ment assumptions and that this information can be taken into account when analyzing future purchases. The adjustment 
of underlying measurement principles ensures that default risks within the scope of existing accounting and measurement 
guidelines are already included in the carrying amounts of the purchased receivables. 

Because of the high number of individual receivables in the respective portfolios of purchased payment-impaired receiva-
bles, the risk of default is not tied to a small number of debtors.

A number of these purchased payment-impaired receivables are materially secured. Property is disposed of through sale on 
the open market or through foreclosure, however this does not always result in full settlement of the receivable in question. 
The disposal of property through foreclosure plays a role in supporting debt collection.

The carrying amount of the individual receivables packages purchased are regularly tested using a standardized measure-
ment model. This measurement model is based on the estimated net cash receipts from the respective receivable package 
over the remaining term as of the measurement date. Future net cash receipts are discounted using the original effective 
interest rate. 

Expected credit losses are determined based on the respective portfolio level that applied on purchase. In this respect, there 
have been no changes to the instrument summary.

( e )	 Liquidity risk
The Otto Group’s financial management system ensures that the Group’s liquidity is maintained at all times. It also ensures 
that the Otto Group has sufficient funds at its disposal for its operations and investments. Minimising financing costs is an 
essential ancillary condition for effective financial management. The basic principle is to match open positions through 
natural hedging. Refinancing instruments may include money and capital market products such as loans, bonds or ABS 
(asset-backed securities), along with guarantees, leasing, sale and lease back, and factoring. The requisite underlying data 
is determined using an at least quarterly liquidity budget with a planning horizon of up to 24 months, a monthly liquidity 
budget with a planning horizon of 12 months and a daily budget with a horizon of at least four weeks. Both types of budget 
are regularly reviewed for variances. There is no risk concentration relating to the above-mentioned liquidity risks.
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The following table shows the outflow of existing contractually agreed funds for financial liabilities as of 29 February 2024:

Remaining term  
of up  

to 1 year

Remaining term  
of more  

than 1 to 5 years

Remaining term  
of more  

than 5 years Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Bonds and other notes payable 333 299 122 754

Bank liabilities 743 605 356 1,704

Trade payables 2,285 3 0 2,288

Liabilities to related parties 163 0 0 163

Lease liabilties 247 641 256 1,144

Other financing liabilities 24 10 8 42

Other financial liabilities 531 271 2 804

thereof derivative financial instruments 26 31 0 57

As of 28 February 2023, the outflow of funds from financial liabilities fixed by contract were as follows:

Remaining term  
of up  

to 1 year

Remaining term  
of more  

than 1 to 5 years

Remaining term  
of more  

than 5 years Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Bonds and other notes payable 160 549 125 834

Bank liabilities 639 476 344 1,459

Trade payables 2,254 0 0 2,254

Liabilities to related parties 249 0 0 249

Lease liabilties 267 753 345 1,365

Other financing liabilities 11 15 10 36

Other financial liabilities 486 246 2 734

thereof derivative financial instruments 23 31 0 54
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( 36 )	 Cash and non-cash changes to liabilities  
arising from financing activities 

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities as of the closing date were as follows: 

Non-cash changes

01.03.2023 Cash changes

Effects from 
changes in  

the scope of  
consolidation/

IFRS 5/ 
reclassifications

Effects from 
exchange rate 

changes

Effects from the 
conclusion of 

new and adjusted 
lease contracts

Effects from  
accrued  

interests/ 
compounding 29.02.2024

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Profit and loss participation rights 26 –1 0 0 0 0 25

Bonds and other notes payable 777 –62 0 0 0 –1 714

Bank liabilities 1,334 216 11 0 0 –3 1,558

Lease liabilities 1,157 –256 –27 –11 139 40 1,042

Other financing liabilities 36 6 0 0 0 0 42

Liabilities from financing activities 3,330 –97 –16 –11 139 36 3,381

On the previous reporting date, the liabilities arising from financing activities changed as follows:

Non-cash changes

01.03.2022 Cash changes

Effects from 
changes in  

the scope  
of consolidation/
reclassifications

Effects from 
exchange rate 

changes

Effects from the 
conclusion of 

new and adjusted 
lease contracts

Effects from  
accrued inter-

ests/ 
compounding 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Profit and loss participation rights 23 3 0 0 0 0 26

Bonds and other notes payable 630 148 0 0 0 –1 777

Bank liabilities 401 918 20 0 0 –5 1,334

Lease liabilities 955 –235 2 24 384 27 1,157

Other financing liabilities 39 –3 0 0 0 0 36

Liabilities from financing activities 2,048 831 22 24 384 21 3,330
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( 37 )	 Leases
Leases identified as important leases within the Otto Group relate in particular to the leasing of retail space (chain stores) by 
Group companies in the Platforms and Brand Concepts segments in the United States and Germany, along with the leasing 
of logistics facilities, and corresponding equipping by Group companies in the Services and Brand Concepts segments. 
Important leases also arise from the leasing of office space and office buildings by a large number of Group companies 
across all segments.

The contractual arrangement of the leases is generally carried out by the individual Group companies, taking into account 
country-specific practices. The basic term of current leases varies according to the lease class; and in the case of property, 
according to the respective location. 

As a rule, leases for property include renewal options that can be extended up to a certain point in time before expiry of 
the non-cancellable basic term. The exercising of extension options that are not recognized in the lease liabilities as of 29 
February 2024 would result in a potential lease payment of EUR 1,094 million (28 February 2023: EUR 1,075 million). When 
concluding new leases, the inclusion of renewal options should be agreed wherever possible to ensure a high level of oper-
ational flexibility. 

The remaining terms for reported lease liabilities are as follows:

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Remaining term of up to 1 year 238 244

Remaining term of more than 1 to 5 years 601 640

Remaining term of more than 5 years 203 273

Lease liabilities 1,042 1,157

Reference is made to Note 17 for information on the amount of depreciation and amortization of right-of-use assets.

In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 16, the consolidated income statement for the 2023/24 financial year includes 
expenses for short-term leases in the amount of EUR 6 million (2022/23: EUR 3 million) and expenses for leases for low-value 
assets in the amount of EUR 2 million (2022/23: EUR 2 million) in other operating expenses. In addition, income from subleases 
of right-of-use assets in the amount of EUR 2 million (2022/23: EUR 1 million) is reported under other operating income. Interest 
expenses from lease liabilities included in net financial result amount to EUR 40 million (2022/23: EUR 27 million).

The leases recognized in accordance with IFRS 16 will result in total cash outflows of EUR 256 million in the 2023/24 financial 
year (2022/23: EUR 235 million), which are reported in the cash flow from financing activities. Of this amount, EUR 216 million 
(2022/23: EUR 208 million) is attributable to repayments and EUR 40 million (2022/23: EUR 27 million) to interest payments. 
Remaining in the gross cash flow from operating activities are payments for short-term leases in the amount of EUR 6 million 
(2022/23: EUR 3 million) and for leases for low-value assets in the amount of EUR 2 million (2022/23: EUR 2 million).
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( 38 )	 Related party transactions
Related parties of the Otto Group, as defined in IAS 24, are persons or companies who control the Group or exercise signifi-
cant influence over it, or over whom the Otto Group has control or exercises significant influence. Accordingly, the members 
of the Otto family and the Michael Otto Foundation, the businesses controlled or subject to significant influence by this 
family and the Foundation, the members of the Executive Board of Verwaltungsgesellschaft Otto mbH along with the 
Group companies of the Otto Group, its associated companies and joint ventures are defined as related parties. In addition 
to transactions with Group companies that are fully consolidated in the consolidated financial statements, there were the 
following transactions with related parties:

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

Income Statement

Revenue and income from customer financing 60 64

Financing expenses from factoring –106 0

Other operating income 11 21

Purchased goods and services 84 142

Personnel expenses 16 9

Other operating expenses 514 565

Net financial income (expense) –9 4

29.02.2024 28.02.2023

EUR million EUR million

Balance Sheet

Receivables from related parties 114 107

Cash and cash equivalents 3 10

Pension obligations to related parties 54 50

Liabilities to related parties 163 245

( a )	 Transactions with associated companies and joint ventures
Revenue and income from customer financing with associated companies and joint ventures totaled EUR 55 million in the 
2023/24 financial year (2022/23: EUR 57 million) and mainly involve revenue from factoring settlements with Hanseatic 
Bank GmbH & Co KG, Hamburg, in the amount of EUR 25 million (2022/23: EUR 26 million), along with revenue with Hermes 
Germany GmbH, Hamburg, in the amount of EUR 17 million (2022/23: EUR 17 million). As of the second half of the 2023/24 
financial year, factoring was carried out with Hanseatic Bank GmbH & Co KG via OTTO Payments GmbH, Hamburg, as a 
transaction partner. Financing costs from the factoring of the installment loan business are reported in this context. The 
income pertaining to the transaction and derived from customer financing is not shown with regard to associated compa-
nies but to the end customers. The net amount from these items is shown in the income from customer financing (see Note 6).
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Other operating income from associated companies and joint ventures amounted to EUR 11 million in the 2023/24 financial 
year (2022/23: EUR 11 million) and mainly result from income of EUR 9 million (2022/23: EUR 8 million) from Hermes Germany 
GmbH. 

Other operating expenses in the 2023/24 financial year in the amount of EUR 509 million (2022/23: EUR 488 million) include 
expenses in the amount of EUR 487 million (2022/23: EUR 476 million) from transactions with Hermes Germany GmbH.

Various Group companies in the Platforms and Retailers segments sell trade receivables to Hanseatic Bank GmbH & Co KG. 
The receivables are transferred under normal market conditions and are fully derecognized from the balance sheets of the 
Group companies selling the receivables. In the 2023/24 financial year, corresponding receivables were sold with a total value 
of EUR 2,204 million (2022/23: EUR 2,046 million). The value of these receivables as of the reporting date is EUR 1,698 million 
(28 February 2023: EUR 1,710 million). As of 29 February 2024 cash and cash equivalents at Hanseatic Bank GmbH & Co KG 
amounted to EUR 3 million (28 February 2023: EUR 10 million).

Information regarding the amount of the receivables and liabilities from associated companies and joint ventures is set out 
in Notes 21 and 29. The receivables and liabilities result mainly from transactions in goods and services and from short-term 
financing between Group companies of the Otto Group and from associated companies and joint ventures.

( b )	 Related party transactions with shareholders
As of 29 February 2024 and as of 28 February 2023, no loans had been granted to shareholders of Otto (GmbH & Co KG).

( c )	 Related party transactions with other companies
Otto Group companies have concluded various agreements under normal market terms for the leasing of properties and 
land owned by subsidiaries of ECE Group GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg.

As of 29 February 2024, there were receivables from other related parties in the amount of EUR 26 million (28 February 2023: 
EUR 26 million). Receivables from other related parties mainly result from financial receivables.

( d )	 Related party transactions with individuals
The total remuneration of the Executive Board of Verwaltungsgesellschaft Otto mbH recorded in the expenses for the 
financial year amounts to EUR 11 million in the 2023/24 financial year (2022/23: EUR 5 million), with EUR 7 million (2022/23: 
EUR 7 million) due in the short term and EUR 3 million (2022/23: EUR –2 million) due in the long term from adjustments 
made in the current financial year. The total remuneration of EUR 7 million granted in the 2023/24 financial year (2022/23: 
EUR 9 million) includes variable remuneration components with a long-term incentive effect, provided that all conditions are 
met by the balance sheet date. EUR 4 million (2022/23: EUR 4 million) is attributable to fixed components and EUR 3 million 
(2022/23: EUR 5 million) to variable components. In the 2017/18 financial year, a long-term incentive agreement was concluded 
for directors of Verwaltungsgesellschaft Otto mbH based on rolling annual tranches. Effective from 1 March 2018, each of the 
tranches comprises three financial years and consists of a combination of two variable elements. The elements are based 
on a fixed threshold value and then increase on a linear basis. The benchmarks are revenue and income from customer 
financing and the Otto Group’s return on capital employed (ROCE), which puts EBIT in relation to average capital employed. 
The change in remuneration recorded as an expense for the long-term incentive amounted to EUR 3 million in the reporting 
year (2022/23: EUR –3 million). As of the balance sheet date, a liability totaling EUR 3 million (28 February 2023: EUR 3 million) 
was recognized for this. 

Otto Group 
Annual Report 2023/24 206Notes



Pension obligations to members of the Executive Board amount to EUR 13 million (28 February 2023: EUR 9 million). Alloca-
tions to pension provisions amount to EUR 2 million (2022/23: EUR 1 million).

Remuneration of former members of the Executive Board and their surviving dependents amounts to EUR 3 million (2022/23: 
EUR 3 million). EUR 42 million has been recognized as provisions for the pension obligations toward former members of the 
Executive Board and their surviving dependents (28 February 2023: EUR 41 million).

The total remuneration of the Supervisory Board of Verwaltungsgesellschaft Otto mbH in the 2023/24 financial year amounts 
to EUR 0.3 million (2022/23: EUR 0.3 million).

( 39 )	 Contingent liabilities 
The Otto Group‘s contingent liabilities are composed of guarantees and other obligations that, together, amount to 
EUR 178 million (28 February 2023: EUR 53 million) and are mainly made up of financial obligations toward associated compa-
nies in the Services segment and of grants in connection with pension obligations in the United Kingdom.

( 40 )	 Auditors’ fees
Total fees paid to Otto Group auditors are broken down as follows:

2023/24 2022/23

EUR million EUR million

Fees for auditing the financial statements 4 3

Fees for other auditing services 0 0

Fees for tax consultancy services 0 0

Fees for other services 2 2

Auditors' fees 6 5

( 41 )	 List of shareholdings 
The list of Otto Group shareholdings as of 29 February 2024, including those Group companies exempt from publishing their 
financial statements pursuant to the provisions of § 264 (3) and § 264b of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetz-
buch, HGB) is published on the Otto Group‘s website at www.ottogroup.com/konzerngesellschaften. Otto (GmbH & Co KG) 
makes use of the exemptions stipulated in § 264b HGB.
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( 42 )	 General Partner 
The general partner is Verwaltungsgesellschaft Otto mbH, Hamburg, with subscribed capital of EUR 50,000.

The general partner has the following executive bodies:

Supervisory Board 

Prof. Dr. Michael Otto, Hamburg Chairman, Entrepreneur

Alexander Otto, Hamburg Chairman of the Executive Board ECE Group GmbH & Co. KG

Benjamin Otto, Hamburg Chairman of the Foundation's Board Holistic Foundation

Birgit Rössig, Hittbergen* Deputy Chairwoman of the Works Council Otto (GmbH & Co KG), Chairwoman of the Works 
Council Otto Group

Frederic Arndts, Hamburg Member of the Board OTTO Aktiengesellschaft für Beteiligungen

Marius Marschall von Bieberstein, Berlin Managing Partner evoreal Holding GmbH & Co. KG, until 29 February 2024

Jürgen Bühler, Hanau* Chairman of the Works Council sheego AG, until 23 May 2023

Petra Finnern, Hamburg* Full-time member of the Works Council EOS Region Germany, as of 23 May 2023

Thorsten Furgol, Magdeburg* Division Manager ver.di Trade Union Saxony, Saxony-Anhalt, Thuringia

Rolf Gnatzy, Altenkunstadt* Deputy Chairman of the Works Council BAUR Group, as of 23 May 2023

Oliver Grund, Hückelhoven* Chairman of the General Works Council Hermes Group Germany, as of 23 May 2023

Dr. Rainer Hillebrand, Hamburg Independent management and strategy consultant

Dr. Nicolai Johannsen, Hamburg* Vice President Consumer Interactions Otto (GmbH & Co KG), as of 23 May 2023

Heike Lattekamp, Hamburg* Deputy Regional Manager ver.di Trade Union Commerce Hamburg

Thomas Mort, Luhe-Wildenau* Deputy Chairman of the Works Council Witt Group

Heinrich Reisen, Grevenbroich* Chairman of the General Works Council Hermes Group Germany, until 23 May 2023

Sarah Reitemeyer, Hamburg Member of the Executive Board BPO Capital GmbH & Co. KG, as of 01 March 2024

Lars-Uwe Rieck, Grinau* Regional Specialist ver.di Trade Union Secretary Post and Logistic Hamburg/North

Benjamin Schaper, Hamburg Managing Director GFH Gesellschaft für Handelsbeteiligungen m.b.H.

Hans-Otto Schrader, Hamburg Chairman of the Supervisory Board OTTO Aktiengesellschaft für Beteiligungen

Dr. Winfried Steeger, Hamburg Attorney

Monika Vietheer-Grupe, Barsbüttel* Chairwoman of the Works Council bonprix Handelsgesellschaft mbH, until 23 May 2023

Sandra Widmaier-Gebauer, Hamburg* Executive Employee, Group Vice President Human Resources, until 23 May 2023

Prof. Dr. Peer Witten, Hamburg Member of the Supervisory Board OTTO Aktiengesellschaft für Beteiligungen

Inka Wolff, Haldensleben* Works Council Member Hermes Fulfilment GmbH

*	 Employee representative

Executive Board 

Alexander Birken, Hamburg Chairman of the Executive Board and Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

Dr. Marcus Ackermann, Hamburg Member of the Executive Board, Multichannel Distance Selling Otto Group

Sergio Bucher, Hamburg Member of the Executive Board, Brands and Retail Otto Group

Sebastian Klauke, Hamburg Member of the Executive Board, E-Commerce, Technology, Business Intelligence and Corporate 
Ventures Otto Group

Petra Scharner-Wolff, Hamburg Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Member of the Executive Board, Finance, Controlling, Human 
Resources Otto Group

Kay Schiebur, Hamburg Member of the Executive Board, Services Otto Group
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( 43 )	 Events after the reporting period
The 2-man handling specialist GIRARD AGEDISS, Les Essarts, France, was sold to a French transport company in April 2024. 
As of the balance sheet date, GIRARD AGEDISS was recognized as an asset held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5.

No other events of major significance to the Otto Group occurred after the balance sheet date of 29 February 2024.

Hamburg, 8 May 2024

The Executive Board of Verwaltungsgesellschaft Otto mbH

Alexander Birken 		  Dr. Marcus Ackermann 			   Sergio Bucher

Sebastian Klauke 		  Petra Scharner-Wolff			   Kay Schiebur
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To Otto (GmbH & Co KG), Hamburg

Opinions

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Otto (GmbH & Co KG), Hamburg, and its subsidiaries (the Group), 
which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 29 February 2024, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the financial year from 
1 March 2023 to 29 February 2024, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. In addition, we have audited the group management report of Otto (GmbH & Co KG) for the financial 
year from 1 March 2023 to 29 February 2024.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,
– � the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the IFRSs as adopted by the 

EU, and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: 
German Commercial Code] and, in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
and financial position of the Group as at 29 February 2024, and of its financial performance for the financial year from 1 
March 2023, to 29 February 2024, and

– � the accompanying group management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group‘s position. In all 
material respects, this group management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements, complies with 
German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Pursuant to Section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has not led to any reservations relating to the legal 
compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of the group management report.

Basis for the Opinions

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the group management report in accordance with 
Section 317 HGB and the German Generally Accepted Standards of Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut 
der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities under those requirements and prin-
ciples are further described in the „Auditor‘s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of 
the Group Management Report“ section of our auditor‘s report. We are independent of the group entities in accordance with 
the requirements of German commercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other German professional respon-
sibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appro-
priate to provide a basis for our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report.
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Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information.

The other information comprises the annual report. The other information does not include the consolidated financial state-
ments, the group management report information audited for content and our auditor‘s report thereon.

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report do not cover the other infor-
mation, and consequently we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in so doing, to consider whether the other 
information
– � is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, with the group management report information 

audited for content or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or

– � otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and the Group Management Report

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that comply, in all material respects, 
with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) 
HGB and that the consolidated financial statements, in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of 
the assets, liabilities, financial position, and financial performance of the Group. In addition, management is responsible for 
such internal control as they have determined necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud (i.e., fraudulent financial reporting and misappropriation 
of assets) or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group‘s ability to continue 
as a going concern. They also have the responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. In addi-
tion, they are responsible for financial reporting based on the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention 
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Furthermore, management is responsible for the preparation of the group management report that, as a whole, provides 
an appropriate view of the Group‘s position and is, in all material respects, consistent with the consolidated financial state-
ments, complies with German legal requirements, and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future devel-
opment. In addition, management is responsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) as they have considered 
necessary to enable the preparation of a group management report that is in accordance with the applicable German legal 
requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the group management report.
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Auditor‘s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and of the Group Management Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the group management report as a whole 
provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and, in all material respects, is consistent with the consolidated finan-
cial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit, complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately 
presents the opportunities and risks of future development, as well as to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions 
on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Section 317 HGB and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promul-
gated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a material misstatement. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influ-
ence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements and this group manage-
ment report.

We exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

– � Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and of the group manage-
ment report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

– � Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial statements and of arrange-
ments and measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the group management report in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of these 
systems.

– � Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by management and the reasonableness of estimates made 
by management and related disclosures.

– � Conclude on the appropriateness of management‘s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group‘s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in the auditor‘s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and in the group 
management report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our respective opinions. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor‘s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Group to cease to be able to continue as a going concern.

– � Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclo-
sures, and whether the consolidated financial statements present the underlying transactions and events in a manner 
that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and financial 
performance of the Group in compliance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German 
commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB.
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– � Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our opinions.

– � Evaluate the consistency of the group management report with the consolidated financial statements, its conformity 
with [German] law, and the view of the Group‘s position it provides.

– � Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by management in the group management report. 
On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particular, the significant assumptions used by 
management as a basis for the prospective information, and evaluate the proper derivation of the prospective informa-
tion from these assumptions. We do not express a separate opinion on the prospective information and on the assump-
tions used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that future events will differ materially from the prospective 
information.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

Hamburg, 10 May 2024

KPMG AG

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
(Original German version signed by:)

Schmelzer				    Heckert 
Wirtschaftsprüfer			   Wirtschaftsprüfer 
(German Public Auditor)			   (German Public Auditor)
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